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Strategic Report

Business at a glance

Dixons Carphone plc is Europe’s leading specialist electrical and mobile
phone retailer and services company, employing over 42,000 people
in nine countries.

» Group like-for-like* revenue up 4%, statutory revenue up 3%, maintained
market leading share

* UK & Ireland like-for-like revenue up 2%
* Sfrong growth in International; Nordics like-for-like up 9%, Greece up 11%
* Group headline* PBT of £382 million (2016/17: £500 million):

* Headline basic EPS* 26.2p (2016/17: 33.5p), statutory basic EPS
14.4p (2016/17: 25.6p)

* Total statutory profit before tax of £289 million (2016/17: £404 million) after
non-headline charges of £93 million (2016/17: £96 million)

¢ Free cash flows™ of £172 million (2016/17: £178 million) and net debt reduced
by £22 million to £249 miliion

* Final dividend of 7.75p proposed, maintaining full year dividend at
11.25p (2016/17: 11.25p)

Headline" revenue (€ millions) Headiine* EBIT (£ milhons) Headline* basic EPS (pence)
Headline* revenue by Headline* EBIT by
Division (2017/18) Division (2017718}
" See giossary for dehintion of terns inuiucing Feaglne pcfornian e measures Hesuts 1or 20To 1 Nave been resrated as set oul nnote 31 to the Group hnancial
staternents
Figures presented in charts for 014775 and prev gas oenods e pro fomi e reawlte as detimed 10 e Qiossan
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Business segments

Our European store presence

UK & HELAND NORDICS GREECE
Own Franchise Total Own Franchise Total Own Franchise Total
1,103 ~ 1,103 251 150 401 69 26 95

We operate three segments as follows:

Brands Websites
UK & Ireland Currys PC World currys co uk
Currys 1
* Currys PC World is the largest speciallst viectneal retaiing and services ¥
operator in the UK & lreland pcworld co uk
peworld e

» Carphone Warehouse (s the largest iidependont 1 uamimunie Qs rataie
in the UK & Ireland

carphonewarehouse com
carphanewarehause e

Carphone Warehouse

= Dixons Travel 15 a leading arport electnical retaler witn stores acioss the UK
& Ireland and Oslo

Oons Travel dixonstravel com

+ Team Knowhow 1s our services brand

Team Knowhow teamknowhow com
« 1D Mobile s gur MYNO affering rnovative and Hexioie propositions _ L
1D Mobile idmobile co uk
+ Simpifydigital 1s a leading UK price comparison and switching service tor : L
broadkand, digital TV and home phone services 5|mp|;f‘ydlg_‘t_€.;| 5|mp||[:\,,d\g|1a| oo uk

. s 5 pSss o T - T T
PC World Business proviges compuiing produgls and senices 10 husiness peworldbusmess co uk

) PC Wc;rId éLs]nesé )
business ('B2B") customers ol

Carphone Warehouse business carphonewarshousé com
» Carphone Warehouse Business provices telecommunications products ard Business
services {0 business to business {'B2B" customers
Nordics Elkjop elkjop no
+ The Elkjep Group)s the leading specialist electncal retaller across the Elgiganten elgiganten se
Nordics elgiganten dk
* Eligop and Efkop Phonehouse stores operafe n Norway, Eigiganten and Glgémm o _g_{ggrﬁl?k ) C -

Eigiganten Phone House in Sweden and Denmark and Gigantt in Finland N . o o _ . N

phonehouse se
phonehouse no

Piione House
* Knowhow has been introduced i the Nordic regien

» |nfoCare 1s the largest consumer eleLtneal re pair Lotipany W the region - B e e
operating in Norway Sweden Denmiark and Finland infuGare infocareworkshop no

Greece Kaotsovoios kotsovolos gr

* Kotsovolos 1S Gresce & leading spe idlisl electuc dl retailer

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accoums 20777} ia 777‘3
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s Statement

2017/18 has been a difficult year for Dixons Carphone, both for colleagues
and for our shareholders. We are all disappointed with the financial results
but are determined to build on the many strengths of the Group to drive

the business forward.

We are the ¢lear market leaders in seven countries, have
great people and stores, and a strong financial position We
were delighted to welcome Alex Baidock as the Group's
new Chief Executive Officer. He brings an outstanding
record of value creation across a range of businesses by
focussing oh customers, people and delivery. Already he
has made significant changes to the business and the
energy this 1s releasing within the busimess s apparent.
Shartly we will also welcome Jonny Mason as the Group's
Chief Financial Officer, Jonny brings a wealth of retail and
consumer experience

Despite issues in the UK we have delivered a strong
performance in our Internahonal businesses. We are one

of the largest nternational retailers in Europe, with terrific
stares from Aberdeen to Athens, Trondheuwn to Tralee.

Cur UK & Ireland 3-in-1 stores are n great shape and our
infrastructure unmatched We continue to grow revenues
and gain market share. However, profrtability in the UK &
Ireland has been disappointing and our performance has not
been good enough. This 1s a resihent Group and we know
we can do a lot better.

Headline profit before tax was £382 mifhon (2289 million on
a statutory basis}, with good cash flow conversion and net
debt declining year-on-year to £249 mition The Board has
recommended that the Company will maintain a dividend of
11.25 pence per share for the full year. with final payment of
7.75p to be paid on 21 September 2018.

| believe that businesses should be about more than just
making sales, profits, helping customers and providing good
Jobs although these are all very important Good businesses
should help the communities In which they operate. To be
effective, Corporate Social Besponsibidity ({CSRY must be

at the core of our business Done well, it can enhance our
brand, create new busmess opporiunities, reduce costs

and engage our employees It matters not just 1o the people
we help, but to our colleagues, customers suppliers and
shareholders.

To this end, we have recently launched our new CsSR
strateqy and programme, ‘Live Earth Neutral’ We beleve
that our urique expertise In technology can be used to heip
tackle social 1Issues and we are hugely supportive of our

4 __Dix;)ns Carphone plc Annual Repcrt and Accaunts 2017 1w

colleagues’ roles in contrnbuting to good causes. Dixons
Carphone 1s proud to be one of three Founding Corporate
Partners of Heads Together This mental health inittative

of The Roval Foundation. spearheaded by The Duke and
Duchess of Cambridge and The Duke of Sussex, combines
a campaign to tackle stigma and change the conversation
on mentai health with fundraising for a series of innovative
mental health services, Heads Together has made a
significant progress with tackling stigma and continues to
strengthen the mental health support sector.

The secunty of our data 1s also hugely significant to the
business and in ight of the unauthonsed data access

we recently became aware of, we will further bolster cur
information secunty capabilities and review praocedures by
improving !T secunty controls, traming, monitaring, testing
and oversight,

I would also ke to record my thanks to the more than
42 000 colleagues at Dixons Carphone. Their hard work,
enthusiasm and dedication to providing great customer
sarvice 15 one of the Graup’s enduring strengths

The compostion of the Board has also seen significant
change this year. | would like to take this opportunity to
express my thanks to Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer,
Andrew Harrison and Katie Bickersiaffe who have led this
Group since (ts marger Andrew, althcugh no longer on the
Board remains with us as he focuses once agamn cn The
Carphone Warehouse Limited

Locking ahead, the coming year brings wath it some
further challenges and as a result we have guided market
expectations lower, but we remain optimistic about the
longer term We have though taken the decision 1o invest
further in the coming year, providing our colleagues with
the right tools and our customears with even better service
{ strongly beheve that this is the way to dnve long-term
shareholder value

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Cirairman
20 June 2018



Group Chief Executive’s Statement

| came to Dixons Carphone because | was convinced that this business
had many strengths and plenty of opportunities. A few months in the
business have only cemented that view. We're number one in each of our
markets, with people and capability our competitors can only dream of.
Our future lies in making the most of these strengths which we're well-

placed to do.

Group headhne PBT was £382 million In the year, down
from £500 million iast year Like-for-like revenue was up

4% and we maintained cur market leading shares With
stroenger cash generation year on year we ended the period
with net debt of £248 milhon Statutory profit before tax was
£289 milkon, down from £404 milhon last year

The International businesses had an excellent year with like-
for-bike revenue up 9% in the Nordics and 11% 1n Greece.
Both achieved record levels of market share. extending ther
market lgadership with an increase n operating margins
The Nordics also saw growth in customer satisfaction and
profits white the rebranding of Lefdal to Efkjap has seen
sales transfers exceed expectations In Greace. we continug
to roll out new ranges as weil as an ever-improving digital
platform and achieved record net prometer and employee
engagement scores

In the UK & Ireland, full year like-for-like revenue was up
2% with the final quarter of the year delivered aganst a
more subdued market backdrop while mantaining our
market leading share. Online sales saw another year of
double digit growth, ahead of the market The combination
of channel and category mix effects was more pronounced
in the second halt of the year driving a greater adverse
gross margin. This was due partly to the costs of providing
associated home delivery and mstaliation services

Our UK mobile business mantained s leadership position
dehbvenng flat hke-for-lke sales growth across the year

In a decliming postpay market As seen throughout the
year, postpay market conditions and our contractual
commitments with the networks have meant that gross
margns continued to be challenged

In the coming year, with our Internaticnal businesses in
good shape and set 1o reinforce their market leadership
positions, we're focusing cur immediate actions on the UK

As we did in 2017/18, we're budgeting for a contraction

in the UK electricals market and will use our scale to
maintain our market share We expect some cost increases
In UK electrnicals, including National Living Wage and IT
depreciaiion, partiaily offset by gross margin recovery
inatives including range optimisation, better availlabiity
and reduced levels of markdown

In mobile. we're stabiising our performance through
improvements to our propasition and network agreements.
In both, we'll work hard to improve our cost efficiency. We
expect a further decline in the postpay market against which
we expect to increase our share of SIMO and SiM free
handsets. Overall, gross margins are expected to be down,
partially offset by cost intatives. We'll close 92 Carphone
Warehouse standalone stores thus year, with all colleagues
offered redeployment at other lacal shops.

Looking ahead, we'li invest in both our colleagues and
customers - giving our colleagues the night tools and the
customer an improved expenence For example, we'll help
custcmers avold calling us unnecessarily by improving
online self-service and with better communications. In
stores we'll ncrease product training hours by over a third,

It's far to say that nobody 1s happy with this year’s
performance, but although there's plenty to fix, it’s alt
fixable Because in every market we are leaders. In every
country, major category. in products and services we're
number one, growing the top line, and continuing ta gain
share

It has struck me since my first day here quite how many
very good people we have in this business; from leadership
through to front ine. how much they care and how much
they know

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accourts 2017418 5
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

The core retall capabilities here are as good as anywhere

If we exist to help customers discover and choose the

nght technology for them we need to make the most of cur
strengths as we do so. Our stores are absolutely the heart of
that; exciting shops at scale, in a multi-channel environment
which is what we and nobody efse can offer. They are going
to continue to be at the core of what we do

In services we can do things that our competitors simply
cannot match; things that wl aliow us to bulld more
valuable relationships with our customers

We have a strong online platform and we'll make it easier for
customers to find and buy the nght preducts and services
for them, for example with faster site speed and better
recommendations. We also have a tonne of data that we've
yet to make the most of, for instance we'll direct more
resatrce at digital custamer refationship marketing ({CRM’)
The opportunity to use our data 1s exciting. but only if we
look after and protect it and we must take responsibiiity

for the unauthorised access to cur data that took place
within the past year. We feli short and are deternmined to
put this right, starting by tnphng spend in this space in the
coming year. Cyber crime 1s a continual battle for business
today and we are determined to tackle this fast changing
challenge.

There s a lot of energy to be unleashed in this business and
the important foundations of market strength and capability
are all there This process starts by being ciear and open
about where the business truly 1s today and what it could
be.

We're working at pace to bring long-term direction to the
business, through a new ieadership team that has promoted
top talent, leading to clearer. simpler, and faster decisions
We've removed unhelpful silos, especially those that have
inhibited the development of our services proposition.

Our new Chief Customer Officer role gives the customer a
louder voice in the business and brings together and adds
new impetus to key areas important to our future, such as
data and analytics, marketing services and technology
We're alsc speeding up decision-making. starting with scme
streamiined governance.

6 - Dixons Carphone ple Annual Report antd Acceunts 2017 18

Our vigion for the business will give customers what they
valué and make the most of cur exceptional strengths and
bring thus business much closer together. It will be a plan
that faces nto some tough choices and emphasises what
matters most, with a sharper focus on the core business
where we see plenty of opportunity and much less focus
on peripheral activities We will deliver with conviction and
consistency, we're also setting a clear direction.

It 1s the commitment and know-how of so many of my
colleagues. the breadth and depth of our multichannel
capabuiity, the sheer energy we can release here that | know
will drive our success. I'm energised by the strength of our
market pesition, of our appeal to customers. There's so
much more to come from Dixens Carphone, althcugh plenty
of hard work hes ahead

U'm dehighited tc be part of the team that will shape the
future of this exciting husiness.

Alex Baldock
Group Chigl Exeutive
20 Jupe 2018
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Strategy, KPIs and Risks overview

Multi-channel retalling

After-sales services and support

Our strategic priorities?

Enhance and drive a successful
and sustainable retail business
model in a multi-channel world

Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our unique infrastructure

to drive growth in after-sales
services and support

8 T B_ixo;ls C;!rphone plc Annual Repart and Accounts 201718

Achievements in 2017/18°

Market share and like-for-like revenue
growth in core markets

Sustamned hgh levels of customer
satisfaction and price competitiveness

Completed our 3-in-1 property programme
and announced reduction In standalone
Carphone estate

improved oniine navigation and faster
check outs

Consohdation of cur Norwegian retail
brands

Growth in 1D mobile base and multi-play
share

Strong B2B growth in Nordics

Rebrand and launch of Team Knowhow

Launch of naticnwide same-day delivery
and midnight cut off for next day delivery
across certain categores

Extended network capacity to meet
demands of increased home delivery
volumes



Plans for 2018/19°

Cost nvestmernt ta provide our
colleagues the nght resources and the
customer an improved expenénce

Improved range opbrmisation, better
avaliability and greater promotional
discipling

Unrelenting approach to price and
service

Stabilise performance in mobile
through propositions and network
agreements

Extension of same day delivery and
order up to midright for next day

Evolve the Carphone business io meet

changing customer demands

Closure of 92 standalone Carphone
stores

Enhanced and simplfied online
Journeys

Continued roll-out of Team Knownow

Enhance and expand existing
propositions

Relevant Group KPls*

Headhne revenue

Like-for-like revenue growth

Market position

Headline EBIT

Principal risks®

Dependence on networks
Dependence on key suppliers

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

Greek business

Headline profit before tax

Free cash flow

IT systems and infrastructure

information security

Return on capital employed

Headhne revenue

Market position

Return on capital employed

Do W M —

Non-compliance with Financial Conduct
Authanty ((FCA'"} regulation

Caolleague retention and capability

Business continuity plans are
not effective

Health and safety
Fraud

Imgact of Brexit

Consumer environment and sustanable
business model

IT systems and infrastructure
Infarmation security
Colleague retentton and capability

Business continusty plans are
not effective

Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Qur markats pages 1010 17

Business miodel and strategy pages 11t 13

Chairman s and Group Chief Executive's Statements on pages 4 10 6
Key Performance Indicators are explained on page 14

Principal «isks to actieving the Group's objectives an pages 15 to 18
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Our markets

Where we operate

The Group’s core retail tocus 1s the sale of consumer
electncals and mobile phone preducts and cennectivity The
Group also has a significant services infrastructure focused
on maintenance, support, repairs, delivery and mnstallation of
hardware and services

The consumer electrical and mobiie phone hardware
markets are served by a relatively small number of global
manufacturers and mobile connectivity 1s predominantly led
by a small number of mobile network operators (MNOs)

These suppliers can access markets directly through ther
own branded stores and online channets, or more wideiy,
via partnering with third partes Established businesses.
with well-regarded brands, sizeabile market shares and
nationwide store footprints provide suppliers with the
widest and most efficient access to the largest number of
consumers.

Today the Group operates n markets in which it 1s the clear
market share leader. Its brands, which include Currys PC
World and Carphone Warehouse in the UK & Ireland, Elkjop
and Elkjep Phonehouse, Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phene
House and Gigantt in the Nordic countries and Kotsovolos
in Greece all provide nationwide presence Our key service
brand is Tearn Knowhow n the UK, Ireland and the Nordics

What we do

Multi-channeil retailing

Currys PC World Carphene Warehcuse 1s the only
nationwide consumer electricals and mobile phone retaller
in the UK & treland. The Elkjop Group in the Nordics and
Kotsovoios in Greece are the iargest consumer elactacal
retailers in their respective markets

The consumer electncals retall market can be spht between
specialist electrical retaders, such as Currys PC World and
Elkjop, and general retailers which sell electrical goods as
part of a wider offering. The market can also be broken
down into two distinct distribution channels: *assisted’ and
‘unassisted’” In the assisted channei, specialist retailers
help customers through the buying process in the form of
product advice, add-on services, delivery and installation
The unassisted channel, which includes single channel
internet retallers as well as general retarlers, tends not 1o
offer all of these services

Specalist electncal retalers remain the predominant
destination for customers in the Eurcpean consumer
electncal market. Buying groups, general merchants and
independents also have a retail presence through stores
and / or online.

in each of our markets there are varymg nunibers of
specialist retallers who cormnpete in the assisted market
Whilst we compete against general retailers, this 15 usually
imited to certain lower price categories and we consider
that these retallers do not offer the full range of products,
assisted sale or the other services that we are abie to
provide.

In consumer electricals, own-brand products enable us to
offer customers greater choice and access to a range of
products at competitive prices We have defined a clear

10 Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Aceounts 2017,18

'good, better, best’ brand range including. Essentials,
Logik, Wantit, Advent, Goji and Sandstrem brands We
see particular opportunities i the area of accessories and
essentials with, for example, our own range of Sandstrom
cables

In mobile phone retaiing, Carphone Warehouse is the only
nationwide independent channel and 1s uniquely placed

to offer impartial advice over the vast array of network,
handset and operating platform propositions avalable in the
market.

In addition to Carphone Warehouse, the mobile phone
connectivity and handset market 1s served by MNQOs,

with whom the Group has iong and well-established
relationships, as well as independent and generalist
retailers. The MNOs will offer propositions for their own
networks. whilst ndependent and generalist retailers will
provide a greater variety of propositions on one or multiple
networks as well as handsets There are also online-only
retailers. providing a vanety of these services. This market 1s
also served by Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNOs).

The innovation of meobile phones continues to grow —
albeit the incremental innovation has slowed - from simple
mobile devices to sophisticated hardware with advanced
functicnality. The slowdown in iInnovation has led to the
extension of handset cycles and a consumer shift towards
more SIMO connections and handset only sales. Thereis g
wide choice of operating platforms and network options for
customers. which makes the Group's expert and smpartial
advice, simplified by the tablet based tool, Pin Point,
particularly relevant.

We have seen some significant shifts in capacity in many
of our rmarkets in recent years; in consumer electnicals
some mass merchandisers have been reducing space for
electncal procducts, some single channel internet operators
have de-emphasised cerfain segments, and in some,
specialisis have exited the market entirely. These shifts
help us to gain market share and it underpins our view that
a strong service-led multi-channel operation satisties bath
customer and supplier needs while delivering a sustainable
business as customer shopping habits continue to evolve,
We believe further consolidation will oceur in some of our
markets.

The internet has established seif as an important part

of the retall landscape. It supports enhanced product
nformation as well as prnice comparability 1t 1s an essential
part of the buying process for customers, particularly for
large ticket discretionary products However, the expert
advice prowvided by well-informed sales advisors within
stores s hughly valued by customers and suppliers. Larger
retaers, with an imtegrated mulli-channel offer, with scalable
distribution and systems, together with proven after-sales
service and support are increasingly attractive to both.

The increase in online penetration provides us with the
opportunity to increase both the range of goods on offer and
the avaliabiiity of product information QOur multi-channel
approach 1s well placed to exploit synergies between our
nternet sites and stores

Qur reserve&coliect service {coffect@store in the Nordics),
where customers can order on the internet and collect from
a convenient store, at a time to suit them, remains a strong
advantage of our store netwark Similarly, cur pay&collect
service. where customers can access a wider range of



products than 1s typically available in therr local store for
either home delvery or later collection trom the store, is also
increasingly popular.

Innovation brings new praducts with improved functionality
that drives sales growth. These include smart and
connected washing machines and fridge freezers, OLED
TVs, wearable technology, connectad products for the home
such as heating and lighting and the latest smartphones
Content, such as social media, apps. camera picture quality,
digital medha and cloud storage, also heip to drive hardware
innovation and replacement

The rapid innovation cycle may tead ta price deflatian, but
also drives volumes as products become more affordable
and replacement cycles accelerate For larger ticket items,
the iow frequency of purchases iimits the impact of prnice
deflation on total market sales as consumers typically
trade up to higher specification products. Qut *Customer
Journeys’ are designed to explain the features and benefis
of the latest technoiogy to customers and help them
understand the reasons for trading up to these newer
technologies.

In mobile we are expenencing an extension ot replacement
cycles as the cost of the devices has increased markedly
as incremental iInnovation has slowed This has ted to a
contraction in the postpay market in recent years, against
which we expect to increase our focus on SIMO and SIM-
free handset propositions.

After-sales services and support

Everyday technology, whether smart TVs and apphances.
computing or mobile phones, 1s becoming more
complicated with connectivity and inter-operability
becoming increasingly necessary Familes are dependent
on this technology for keeping in touch with fnends and
family, entertainment, work, finances and school homework

in addition, innovation drives new service requirements,
including TV installation, data backup, computer set up and
instructional *Showhow” teach-ins In this complex world
we believe our assisted sales model s best placed to help
customers navigate the market and to help them choose a
complete solution that best meets ther needs

There 1s a major opportunity to grow our share m these
valuable and growing markets mere closely to match our
share of product sales. Our aim is for Team Knowhow to be
the leader in technology support within the markets n which
we operate.

Importantly we start from a position of real strength, our
services capabilities and operating platform developed

to support our product sales business are already
class-leading and at real scale We are the UK s leading
technology support business with over 11m warranty and
insurance customers, 1.1m maebile repars per year, 4 2m
home visits per year; 700,000 computler and TV repaws per
year, over 550,000 finance customers

We have Europe's largest tech and white goads repan
facility in Newark with more technical support agents than
any other business providing a nationwide solution This s a
complex business to replcate

Business model and strategy model
Tne shopping journey for customers 1s constantly evolving.

Our objective 1s to provide a model that meets the Jjourney
needs of cur customers with a seamless and personalised
experience where convenience, ease of navigation and
simplicity are key in attracting custemers to shop with us
whether it 1s online, in-store or a comtination of both.

We constantly am to develop and improve our customer
Journey by improving stores, making them easier to shop n,
with, for example, improved navigation, better signage, and
enabling customers to interact with products before they
buy. These journeys are supported by product specialists
provicing expert advice on the products’ features and
benefits

Owur websites are a crucial and fundamental part of the
customer shopping journey. A customer’s initial interaction
s often online as 1s more and more of the customer’s
journey. In recognition of how customer trends are evolving
we have made 1t easier for our colleagues, in particular
within our Currys PC World stores, 10 access products and
extended ranges in store Over the year we have focused
on improving the customer relationship and simplifying the
purchasing journey with improved website structures and
navigation and faster check-out.

Our customers need help with ther products, whether 1t

be maintenance and repair or delivery and installation, help
keeping therr products ug and running or repair should
things go wrong. Our business in the UK & lreland sets the
benchmark for our services infrastructure under our Team
Krowhow brand

Our Team Knowhow colleagues in stores, in our call
centres as well as field technicians, can provide set-up and
upgrade services and onhine fix and backup services, Our
market-leading range of help and support services ensure
a customer has the backing of expertise and support that
keeps their technelogy up and running

Through ownership of the service infrastructure we can
ensure the qualty of service delivered to customers. Thig,
we beleve, provides us with a significant campetitive
advantage in meeting the needs of our customers, as well
as a revenue stream not readily avallable to single channel
anline and mass market competitors

Our people

CQur traiming programmes, combned with our product
igarring centres and customer journeys, provide our
colleagues with the tools to understand customers’ needs
and to provide them with the solution to meet those needs.
As we have recently announced, we will continue to improve
the training of our colleagues and the ways in which we can
make thermn experts in the products we sell.

Qur stores

We contiriue ta invest to make our stores best n class

and provide a consistent experience with the latest
categories and lcok-and-feel nght across our estate In the
UK & freland our 3-in-1 stores bring together Currys, PC
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Our markets

World and Carphone Warehouse in an exciting shopping
environment. In the coming year we will consolidate our
Nordic brands as we phase out Lefdal and bring all our
stores under the Elkjop fascia in Norway

We have an ongoing process of reviewing our estate, with
the aim of having the right estate for each terntory in which
we operate and to best utilise our 3-1n-1 stores in the UK

& Ireland. To this end, we have announced that we will

be reducing the number of standafone Carphone stores
during 2018/19 by about 92 stores. Outside of the core
footprint, we have announced the expansion of our Dixons
Travel business into continental Europe and will be opening
five stores across Frankfurt and Dusseldorf arrports in the
coming year.

Our distribution network

The Group sees distribution as cne of the keys to success in
maintaining competitive margins and delivermng outstanding.
market-beating service to customers We operate a
centralised system of distribution centres for each of the
regions In which we operate This delivers significant
competitive advantages, including reduced operating costs
reduced supplier delivery costs, reduced stock volumes in
store, increased flexibility as to where to deliver and when.
and a more efficient home delivery network for both us

and our customers During the year we have enhanced our
delivery and service capabilties and launched midnight
cut-off for next day delivery as well as nationwide same day
delivery for certain categones We have also invested in our
capacity to support the growth of home delivery volumes.

While continuing to reduce costs, we are also constantly
raising the bar, both in terms of successful delivery and
installation rates, but also the range and quality of services
we offer customers nationwide. In the UK alone, we make
more than 70,000 deliveries per week, including some
900,000 instaliations per year

Combining our customer insight with our market-leading
presence we can make sure we have the right range of
products and services in our stores to suit customers’
needs. Our scale and relationships with suppliers mean that
we can work with them to uniquely showcase the latest
technology, connectivity and products in our stores with
areas dedicated to key suppliers naticnwide across the UK
& Ireland, the Nordics and Greece

As market leader with an excellent reputation in the
consumer electncals market we have exceptional
relationships with suppliers In a complex mulh-channel
environment, suppliers trust us with therr new product
releases and stock allocations. as they appreciate the
service and advice offered by our colleagues in stores
and our websites, as well as the exciting environments
offered by our transformed stores in which customers can
experience their hrands and products

Our value creation

Through investing in our people, remforcing our mult
channel retaihng platforms and supply chain infrastructure
and effectively using these resources, to provide customers
with a wide range of competitively prnced goods and
services, we grow share and ingrease revenues At the
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same time, we keep 3 tight control on costs 1o increase the
efficiency of our operaticns and as a result we create long-
term value, generating returns for our shareholders.

Strategy

Dwons Carphene 1s Europe’s leading specialist electncal
and telecommunications retaller and services company,
employing more than 42,000 people In nine countries.
Focused on helping customers navigate the connected
world, Dixons Carphone offers a comprehensive range of
electncal and mohile products, connectivity and expert
after-sales services.

The Group's pnmary brands include Currys PC World
Carphone Warehouse i the UK & Ireland, Etkjap and
Elkjop Phonehouse, Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone
Hause, and Gigantt in the Nordic countries, Kotsovolos
Greece and Dixons Travel in a number of European airports
albeit predormnantly in the UK Qur service brand is Team
Knowhow in the UK, Ireland and the Nordics.

We continue ta drive the Group forward from a position of
strength with a focus on two strategic pnonties. By focusing
on these we can deliver not only a better business for cur
customers and colleagues, but also better returns for our
shareholders

The strategic priotihes are

1. Enhance and drive a successful and sustainable
retail business model in a multi-channel world; and

2. lLeverage our scale, our knowhow, and our unique
infrastructure to drive growth in after-sales services
and support.

Ltocking at each of these i turn

1. Enbhance and drive a successful and sustainable
retail business model in a multi-channel world

QOur customers tell us that when buying consumer electnicals
they want aclvice to ensure they are making the nght
choices, particularly as these are often major purchases
that customers will own for several years. The growth of

the internet has empowered customers, providing instant
access to information including product knowledge and
price transparency.

In mobile, we are uniquely positioned in the UK & Ireland
and the Nordics to provide independent advice and meet
customer requirements for imparnabty, comparability and
flexibiity both online and in-store In consumer electrnicals,
single channel internet operators have a different mode!
whose principal advantage 1s structurally lower costs and
which have historicaily been able to offer competihve
prices versus store-based operators. By focusing on the
advantages that we, as a multi-channel specialst, can offer
customers and suppliers we can offset the cost advantage
that pure-play internet operators have histoncally enjoyed
As a result. we are able to offer customers very competitive
prces agamst our competitor set and shll be more
profitabie



There are four distinct activities that we believe are the key
strengths of our multi-channel, service-based model and
which will support our competitive advantage going forward.

1. Work closely with suppliers to harness benefite available
to our business model: suppliers want to ensure that
customers not only choose their brands, but also
experience the benefiis of the latest products. As a
multi-channel operator, we work with our suppliers to
ensure we can expliain the benefits of these products
and demonstrate them 10 customers in our stores and
our supphers support us in this work in a vanety of ways

2. Ensure a seamless and personalsed multi-channel
experience for customers. we are Indifferent whether
our customers buy In-store or click "Buy’ online, but the
experience across these channels must be joined-up
and consistent Through Improved data analytics. our
‘My Account’ and our finance proposition 'Your Plan’ we
are increasingly able to gain a better understanding of
consumer activity to improve their shopping experience
as well as talloring more focused customer orientated
marketing activity

3. Reduce costs. the scale of our operations across siores,
ranges, logistics, distnbution, repairs and services
means that we can continually improve processes to
reduce costs We have removed a considerable amount
of cost from the business over the last few years by
making the business simpler. easier to operate and more
efficient; we remain relentlessly focused on managing
costs to make our business more efficient

4. Drive our service propositicn we need to be able to
stand shoulder to shoulder with our customers and
for them 1o know they can come to our stores and
get knowledgeable advice and great service 1o help
them buy the nght product They need to be confident
that we will solve their problem quickly and efficiently
Through our Team Knowhow service brand, we offer
our customers services and technical support that can
help them with thew product throughout its ifetime
This 1s expanded in our second strategic priority We
do more than simply sell the product, we will also get i
working and keep it working, as well as delivening 11, and
providing peace of mind through product support and
after-sales services The conversations our colleagues
have n-store with customers give us an opportunity to
explain the benefits of these solutions and sell more of
them than aur single-channel competition

2. Leverage our scale, out knowhow, and our unique
infrastructure to drive growth in after-sales services
and support

We continue to expand and strengthen our proposition to
customers, our service capability and our relationship with
suppliers to underpin and drive even greater advantage in
the markets in which we operate.

Growing complexity and interconnectivity of products
means that customers are increasingly demanding help

and support. not just in choosing the right product, but

also installation, connection, support and repair. We am o
position our Team Knowhow services at the forefront of this.

We must continue to nnovate new services to help
customers and to remain relevant to the way products

and connectivity are evolving, Behind our end-to-end
service aperation, we have a comprehensive infrastructure,
mciuding technical phone support, delivery, installation,
repair and recycling. We can leverage this infrastructure

to widen our customer base either to customers who
bought ther products through a third party, or for business
customers By doing this we can increase the efficiency

of using this infrastructure and deliver even better value
services to our customers,

We are driven to provide unparalleled expertise and services
to help our customers navigate the new digrtal era. We are
focused on improving every possible aspect of the shopping
Journey We want our colleagues to become famous for
service and we want to retain custemers for ife by having
exctting new stores, with the best range at great prices and
providing excellent after-sales support and service We are
making excellent progress; however, we can continue to
make improvernents to dehght customers and to outpace
the cormpetition.
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Key Performance Indicators

What we measure''! Why we measure

Headline
revenue®® to customers and its competitive positicn Its a key measure of the
Group's progress against our strategic prionity to continue to enhance
and drive successful and sustamable retail business models n a multi-

channel world

Like-for-like Like-for-like revenue enables the performance of the Group to be
revenue grawth measured on a consistent year-on-year basis

Market I ine with the Group’s strategy to be the leading speciahst electrcal

position and mobile retaller in Europe. this 1s an important measure of how well
customers are being engaged by the Group's brands in each market.
Retaiing operations should be, or be capable of becoming, the number
one specialist electrical or mobile retader in their market

Headline Continued growth of headline EBIT enables the Group to invest in its

EBIT3 future and provide a teturn for shareholders It 1s a key measure of
progress against our strategic prionty to continue to enhance and drive
successful and sustanable retall business models it a multi-channel

world
Headline Continued growth of headline profit before tax represents a measure of
profit before Group performance to external investors and stakeholders agamst cur
taxa strategic prionties
Free cash The management ot cash usage, In particular working capttal employed

flow® in the business, optimises resources avallable for the Group to invest in
its future growth and to generate shareholder value

Return on ROGE 1s a key measure of the efficiency of the capital nvested by the
Capital Group and the long-term value created for our stakehotders
Employed

(ROCE)™

Headline basic The level of growth in EPS provides a suitable measure of the financiai
earnings per health of the Group and its abiiity to deliver returns to shareholders
share@® {(EPS) each year.

Our performance

The ability to grow revenue Is an rmportant measure af a brand’s appeal

2016717

2017/18
£10,525m £10,242m
2017/18 2016417
4% 4%
Market-leading
pPOsIIoONS In:
UK & Ireland
Nordics
Greece
2017/18 2016/17
£400m £516m
2017/18 2016/17
£382m £500m
2017/18 2016/17
£172m £178m
2017/18 2016/17
18% 22%
201718 2016/17
26.2p 33.5p

(1) Defintions of measurement for Key Performance Indicators are given in the glossary and defintions on pages 163 to 167

2) Headlne performance measures are as defined in the Performance Review on pages 19 to 24

(3) Pror year comparatives restated to remove the impact of businesses to be exted See notes 1 4 and 31 to the Group financial statements

for details of businesses to be exited and restatement
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

The Group recognises that taking nisks 1s an inherent part of doing business and that competitive advantage can be
gamned through effectively managing nsk. The Group centinues to develop robust nsk management processes, integrating
risk management into business decision-making. The Group’s approach 1o nsk management 1s set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 45 to 47 The risks are inked to the strategy and KPls as outlined on pages 8 and 9. The
principai nsks and uncertainties, together with their potential iImpagcts and changes 1in net nsk since the last report, are set
out In the tables below along with an Bustration of what 1s being done to mitigate them

Risks and potential impacts

Dependence on networks

What is the risk?

Farlure to identify and
respond effectively to
shifting market dynamuics
such as network and
hardware disintermediation
multiplay and regulatory
change

Dependence on key supphers
What is the risk?
The Group 15 dependen:
on relatonships with key
Supphers 1o source products
on which avallability may be
muted

impact of Brexs

What is the risk?
Economic uncerainty
and impact on consumer
configence caused by
the decision of the UK to
leave the Eurcpean Urnion
{'Bresxit’)

Longer term changes

in regulation anc cther
frameworks that may impact
our ability to operate across
our Européan businesses

Greek busines:

What is the nsk?

Economic uncertanty and

/ or possibility of Greece's
exit from the Euro ' Grexit'
could lead tc a detenoration
n consumer confidence and
dispesable income resuiting
N & significant iImpact on our
Greek business, Kotsovolos

What 15 the impact?
* Reauceo revenue and
profitabinty

+ Detenorating cash How

* Reduced market share

What 15 the impaci?
+ Reduced revenue and
protitatality

» Detenoraling casn fow

* Reduced market sh€

What I1s the impact?
* Reduced revenue and
proftabiity

e Deterorating cash flow

+ Reduced market share

What 1s the impact?
* Reduced revenue and
profirabity

« Detenorating cash tow

Risk category:
Strategic

Risk owner
Atanaging Orrector Carphone Warehouse

Changes since
fast report

This nisk has
increased over
2017/18 due to the
need tc stabilise
our performance in

How we manage it

Commercial agreements with all the major MNOs  designed
to align nterests and drive value for both parties The
agreements with the MNOs are reviewed and updated
regulariy to ensure they remain sustamable

mobile
Risk awner Risk category:
Cheer Commeond Ofrioe Strategic
How we manage it Changes since
Contiruing to leveraga the scale of operations to strengthen last report
relatonships with key suppliers and maintam a good supply of  TH1s nsk has
LCan 2 products remained stable
over 2017/18
Pisk owner Rlsi( categury:iﬁ
Group Chiet Fagc, tee Strategic

Changes since
last report

Given the potential
tor a transition
penod, the nsk has

How we manage i
s Strategic and business planning

* Long-term credit facihities in place
* Foreign exChange nedging to titigate impact of currency

Huctuation decreased in its
s Contingency planming tc address wider regulatory and immediacy
legistative changes
Risk owner Risk category-
Paniag ng Lirector Kois oo Strategic

How we manage it Changes since

s Ongoing monitonng of local political and ecenomic tast report
developments This risk has
remamned
v Focus on optunising business performance and
nanagement of costs unchanged over
nagemment aTLes 2017/18

+ Opetation of controls over suppher tunding and consurmer
¢ redit arrangeiments o reduce nsk exposure
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Consumer environment and business model

What s the nisk? What 1s the impact?
* Reduced revenue and

Failure to respond with & proftaniity

business model that enables
the business to compete
aganst a broad range of
competitors on service, price
and / or product range

s Detenoraung cash flow

» Reduced market share

Failure to respond
effectively to changes in the
industry, economic and £ or
competitor landscape

Failure to respend to
changes in consumer
preferences and behaviours
Non-comphance with Financial Conduct Authonty {{FCA'} and
other financial services regulabon

What is the risk? What 1s the i1mpact?
Falure to manage the * Reputahonal damage
business of the Group .
in comphance with FCA
regulation to which the
Group 15 subject in a number
of areas Including the molile  *
insurance operations of .
The Carphone Warehause
Limited and the consumer

credit activities of DSG

Retail Limited

Financial penalties

* Reduced revenues anad
profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Customer
compensaticn

The business alsc operates
under financial services
regulations in the Republic
of lreland

Data Protection

What is the risk? What 15 the impact?
Adequacy of Internal * Reputauonal damage
systems. policy, proecedures
and processes 1o comply
with the requirements of
EU General Data Protection
Regulation (‘GOPR") which .
came into effact in May .
2018

Financial penaties

* Reduced revenue and
protitaidity

Detenorating cash flow
Loss of competitive
advantage

Major loss of customer
colteague. or business
sensitive data

Risk owner
Group Chiet Execatinve

How we manage it

+ Focus on the core business and on fewer bigger initiatives

+ Stabihse our performarice in mobile through IMprovements
te our propostion and network agreements

* Investments in both ow customer and colleague
propositions

+ Continued focus on driving COst improvemeants through
cost-ethcency imbatives and review of store estate

« Differentiation trom coimpetitors through strategic partner
reiationships Innovative propositions and tigh quality
customer service

Risk owner
General Counsel arel Compary secietary

How we manage it

* Board oversight and risk management structures actively
momtor compliance and ensure that the Company's culture
puts customer outcomes first

* Approved Persons perform oversight, momtoring of
comphance, adherence to policy and momlornng of any
required mitigating actions

* Internal comimittees ricjuding a dedicated FCA comphance
committes and control structures to ensure appropnate
comphance {& g undertaking quality assurance procedures
tor samples of mabile phone sales) and to react swiftly
showd 1ISsuEs anse

+ Contnuyous revieve of the operation and effectiveness of
compliance standards and controls, with the development
of control improvement plans where required

s Training programimes 'or colleagues implemented across
the retal estate

Risk owner
Data Pratectgr Orfcor

How we manage it

+ A comprehensive GDPR programme has been executed to
put 1 place appropnate policy, pracedures and processes
to comply with requirements of GDPR

s Control activities operate over management of customer
and employee dafta n o cordance with the Group s data
protection policy and {nouesses

¢« Training programmes tor colleagues on requirements for
data protechon

* nwestment m o ntormation secunty safeguards and 1T
secunity controls and maogtorng
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Regulatory

Risk category:
Strategic

Changes since
last repart

This risk has
ncreased in
2017/18 given
changes to
customer
behaviours in the
mokile secter

Risk category.

Changes since
last report
This risk has
remained stable
over 2017/18

Risk category
Requiatory

Changes since
last report

The risk has
increased over
2017/18 with GDPR
having come nto
effect and an
ncreasing externat
threat environment



Information securnity

What is the nsk?
Vulnerability to attack,
malware, and associated
cyber risks

Health and Safety

What is the nisk?
Failure to effectively
protect customers and

/ or colleagues and / ur
coniractors from injury of
toss of Iife

Business Continuity

What is the risk?

A major Incident iImpacts the
Greoup's ability to trade and
business continuity plans
are not effective, resuiting

in an Inadequate nciglent
response

IT systems and infrastructure

What is the risk?

Failure to appropnately
invest in |T systems and
infrastructure. or an mabilty
to effectively integrate {T
assets across the Group
constrains the Group s
abiity to grow and / or
adapt quickly A key systemn
becomes unavailable for a
period of time

What is the impact?
* Heputational damaye

s Finateiat panalties

* Reduced revenue and
protitability

« Deteriorating cash fiow

* Loss of competitrve
advantage

What 1s the mpact?
* Employee customer
IMury or loss of hie

= Reputational damage
* Finanaal penalties

* Legal attion

What 1s the impact?
* Reducedcvenue and
profitabiity

+ Detenorating cash flow
Reputational damadge

+ Loss of compettive
advantage

What 1s the impact?
¢ Reduced revenue and
prottatity

Deteriorating cash tow,

* Loss atcompetiie
advantage

* Restricted growtt . ng
adaptabilit,

* Reputationdt danidage

Risk owner
gt Infoemation Secunt, QMmcer

How we manage it

* |nvestment i information security sateguards. IT secunty
controls monitorng in-house experhse and resources as
prarl of a managed mtormation security improvement plan

v ptormation Secunty and Data Protection Committee
cumprising semnwor management set up with responstbility
tor oversight co-ondination and momtoring of information
secunty policy and nsk

= |niormation security policy and standards defined and
communmcated

* fraining and awarenass programmes for employees

* Audit programme over key supphers information security
standards

* Ongaing programime of penetration testing

Risk owner:
Groap Propert s Directot

How we manage

* Group Health and Safety strategy

« Group Health and Safety policy

+ Health and Safety management / governance committee

* Comprehensive st af pohcies and standards supporting
Lontinued improvement

* Qperational Health and Satety teams located across
HUSINESS units

+ Risk assessiment programivig covering retail support
centres distnbution and home services

* Health and Satety training and develapment framework

+ Health and Safety nepechon programme

* Audit programme ncluding factory audits for own brand
products and third-party supply chaims

Risk owner
Groun Gniet Executne

How we manage it

* Business continuty and ¢rists management plans i place
and tested for key business locations

+ Disaster recovery plans in place and tested for key IT
systems and data centres

* Crisis team appuinted to manage response to significant
eyents

s Major 11sks insured

Risk owner
Cret information Offiee:

How we manage 1t

« Significant investment being made in 1T systems and
nfrastructwe across the Group supported by rigorous
testing processes

Ongoing 1T tanstonmation to akgn 1T mfrastructure to future
needs of ths businasy

Indnadnal systern recovery plans in piace in the event
uf falure which are tested regularly wath full recovery
mfrastructure avallable tor criical systams

s Long-term partnerships with tier 1 apphcation and
infrastructthe providers estaplished

Qperational

Risk categoery:
Operatignal

Changes since
last report

Qur overall
wnformation secunity
risk position has
increased in
2017/18 as a result
of a background

ot an ncreasing
external threat
environment

FRisk category:

Changes since
last report
This nsk has
decreased 1n
2017/18 as a result
of continuing action
to improve our
Health and Safety
processes

Risk category
Operational

Changes since
last report
This risk has
remained stable
over 2017/18

Changes since
last report

This sk has
remained stable
over 2017/18
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Colleague retention and capability

What ig the risk?

Faillure to attract. deveiop
and retain quality and depth
of necessary leadersiup.
management and colleague
talent

Major fraud

What is the risk?
* Payment card fraud

* Marmpulation or misuse
of electronic point of sale
system and / or other
payment systems

s Customer false identity
and other 'no ntention to
pay’ frauds in taking out
network contracts

Tax liabilties

What is the risk?
Crystalisation of potential
tax exposures resulting
from legacy corporate
transactions, employee and
sales taxes ansing from
pernodic tax auoits ang
investigations across the

various Junsdictions in which

the Group operates

What is the impact?
* Reputational damage

* Reduced revenue and
profitabinty

* Dsisriorating cash flow

* Loss of cumnpetitive
advantage

What 1s the impact?
* Reduced revenue and
profilability

* Reputational damage

What is the impact?

« Financial penalties
* Reduced cash flow
* Reputational damage

Risk owner
Grroup HR Directon

How we manage 1t

Ongomng review 10 ensure appropnate and effective roles,
responsibiities and accountabiibies

Defined and standardised performance management
frameworks in place and reward aligned to attract and
retan talent

Long term incentiva programme i place for seniar
rmdnagement
Development of appropnate Board succession planning,

45 set oul in the Nommations Commttee Report on pages
G0 and 62

Risk owner
Growia Chiet B rnasocal Offiuer

How we manage it

Fraud prevertion and detection controls
Real-time transaction monitoring
2d 7 fraud and loss prevention teams

GCustomer identity verification and credit checks for network
¢ ontracis

Liaison with banks cand providers and MNOs to dentity
Jnd mitigate opportuniti=s for fraud

Reporung and oversight Ly the Audt Committee

Winstieblowang arranguements and procedures

Risk owner.
Group Cruet Finanaial Gfficer

How we manage It

Board and internal commuttee oversight that actively
monitors tax strategy mplementalion

Appropnate engagement of third-party specialists to
provide independent advice where deemed appropniate
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Risk category
People

Changes since
last report

This sk has
remained stable
over 2017/18

Risk category:
Financial

Changes since
last report
This nsk has
rermained stable
over 2017/18

Risk category
Financial

Changes since
last report

Trus risk was added
o the Group nsk
profile in 2017/18
as disclosed in the
13 December 2017
intenm statement



Performance review

Highlights: 12 months to 28 April 2018

s Group like-for-like revenue’ up 4%, Statutory revenue up 3%, maintained market leading shares

— UK & Ireland like-for-like revenue up 2%,

— Strong growih in international; Nordics iike-for-like revenue up 9%, Greece itke-for-like revenue up 11%
Graup headline PBT' ' of £382 million (2018617, £500 million)

— International businesses’ EBIT growth of £20m year-on-year. Nordics up £12m, Greece up £8m

— Gross margins Challenges in UK mobile continued given market and current contractual constraints, UK electricals
margin impacted in second half largely by category and channet mix

— Includes c£26m credit from acceleration of trade balances recencilation ahead of new system launch
— Includes a negative £87m year-on-year impact from revaluations and insurance contract terms
— International businesses’ EBIT growth ot £20m year-on-year

— Disposal of honeybee in the period (non-headline item)

Group headline basic EPS™ 26 2p (2016/17 33 5p), statutory basic EPS 14.4p {2016/17: 25 6p)

Total statutory profit before tax of £289 mullion (2016/17. £404 milhen) after non-headline!'' charges of £93 mithon
{2018/17. £96 million)

Free cash flows"* of £172 mullien {2016,47 €178 mulkon} and net debt ' reduced by £22 million to £249 mullion

Final dwidend of 7 75p proposed, maintaining full year dividend at 11 25p (2016/17: 11 26p)
Headline resultst"

Headline revenue'! Headline profit / (loss)"

KIS Reported Local Like-for- ) 201617

2017/18 wrestated rate % currency'’! Iiket 2017/18 {restated}
Note Cmillion Comillar change % change % change £million Erruthion
UK &lreland (5 6645 6,735 )% 2% 2%, 281 417
Nordics (5} 3,470 3,169 10% o 7% ) ?‘ZO_I_ 101 89
Greece = (5) 410 5348 18% 8%  MNM%, 18 10
Group 10,525 10.242 3% 2% 4% ' 400 516
Net finance costs (18) (18)
Profit before tax i 382 500
Tax ) {79) (114)
Profitafter tax ™ 303 386
Headline basic EPS . 262p  33.5p
1l

— In the UK & freland, like-for-like revenues in the full year improved by approximately 2% as a net result of sales
successiully transferred from closed stores and sales disruptions.

Notes.

(1) Headlne results exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transformation costs, businesses to be exited,

property rationalisation costs, acquisition-related costs and other one-off, naon-recurnng items, net intarest on defined benefit pension

schemes and discontinued operations Such excluded Hems are described as ‘non-headiine’ For further details see notes 4 and 24 to the

Group financial statements Comparatives have been restated following the classification of the \D mobile operations in the Republic of

reland as businesses to be exited, and classification of the Sprint joint venture. Spanish and honeybee cperations as discontinued, andg are

therafore included i non -headline results Far further detaits see nate 31 to the Group financeal staterments

2) Change in local currency revenue reflects total revenues on a constant currency and pencd basis

) Like-for-itke revenue 1s defined 11 the glossary on pages 163 to 167

(4) Durning the year the reportable segments of the Group have been changed and comparatives restated accordingly Restatements are
detalled in note 2 to the Group financia! statements

(6) UK & Ireland comprises operations in the UK and heland. the Dixens Travel business and the B2B operations which leverage the
specialist skills operating procsesses and technology of the Group to provide managed services to third parties iooking to develop their
own connected world solutions Nordics Compnses operations in Norway, Sweden, Finland. Denmark. and lceland. Greece comprises
operahons n Greece anag for non-headine resulls, previcusly cisposed operations in the Southern Europe region

(6} Free Cash Fiow compnses cash yenerated from  (utilised by} continuing operations before special pension contributions, less net finance
expense, less income lax paid and net capital expenditure

(7) Net debts defined in the glossary on pages 163 to 167

See glossary on pages 163 to 167 for further definihons of ferms

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 T 19

Strategic Report



Strategic Report

Performance review

Headline results

The performance review below refars, unless otherwise
stated, 1o headline information for continuing businesses
The basis for the preparation of this mformation, mcluding
restatements due to businesses to be exited, discontinued
operations and segmental classification 1s described above.

Group

Group headlihe revenue increased 3% in Sterlng terms

to £10,525 mullion (2016/17. £10,242 mylliont and 2% on a
local currency basis Like-for-like revenue growth was 4%,
reflecting strong performance in Greece and the Nordic
region. UK electncals delivered 3% hke-for-hke growth
whilst UK mabile growth remained flat year on year despite
a 3% like-for-like deciine in the first half

Headhne EBIT was down £118 muthon to £400 million, as
increased headline EBIT in our International businesses was
more than offset by lower UK & Ireland headline EB!IT which
included a negative £87 milion year-on-year impact from

a change In recevables revaluations. changes to customer
support agreement cost profiles and insurance contracts as
indicated earher in the year

UK & Ireland

Revenue in the UK & hreland decreased by 1% to £6.645
million (2016/17: £6,735 muilion), with like-for-like revenue
for the year up 2%, benefiting from sales transfers

Headiine EBIT decreased by £136 mithon to £2871 mullion
£46m of this decrease related to the prior year benefit

from changes in the cost profile of services provided under
long-term customer support agreements {£24 miilon year-
on-year) as well as changes in contractua!l terms for the
sale of third party msurance contracts (£22 millkony and a
further £41million from the negative impact year on year ot
revaluations of network recewvables, Against this, there was
a benefit from a finance systems smplementation where we
accelerated data reconcihiation of trade balances ahead of a
new financial system launch (£25 miilion)

In etectricals, with a softer computing market, our category
mix during the year shifted towards consumer electrorics
and white goods, and online sales saw another year of
double digit growth, ahead of the market. The combination
of channel and product mix effects led to a greater adverse
gross margin year-on-year due to the costs af providing
home delivery and installation services as well as lower
levels of service attachment. In UK mobile. we delivered

flat hke-for-tike sales i a contracting postpay market
However, we have maintaned our leadership position As
seen throughout the year, postpay market conditions and
our contractual commitments with the networks have meant
that gross margins continued to be challenged. this was
partly mitigated by a £16m hugher year-on year contribution
1o network commissions Income Linkad to RPI on mobile
consumers’ Iine rental.
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Nordics

The Nordic businesses delivered strong performance with
9% like-for-ike revenue growth, 7% on a local currency basis
and a reported revenue increase of 10% to £3,470 million
(2016717 13,159 million). Revenue growth was seen across
all countnes with the Nordic business outgrowing the overall
market in consumer electronics, small domestic appliances,
computing and, in particular, telecoms. The business also
delwvered strong onhine growth of 35% n the year.

Reported headhne EBIT growth of 13% to £101 millon
{2016/17° £89 milhon} reflects the revenue growth noted
above.

In the year we announced the censolidation of our Norwegian
brands under the Elkjop fascia with the removal of the

Lefdal brand, we have compieted the programme with

sales transfers exceeding expectations. We also launched
electronic shelf-edge pnce ticketing in Norway, with benefits
vetter than anticipated and we will roll this out across the
other Nordic countries

Greece

Greece has continued to deliver strong results with market
share gains across ali major categories Like-for-lhke
revenues were up 11%, and revenue on a logal currency
basis up 13% Greece headine EBIT was £18 milion
(2016/17: £10 miilion), benefiting from the iNncreased revenue
noted above and cost efficiencies

Net finance costs

Headline net finance costs were €18 milhon (2016/17,

£16 milhony The mncrease in net financing costs reflects
lower finance income, with the prior year benefiting from

£2 milllon mnicorme on the loan with the Group's investment in
the Urieuro operations which was repaid in the prior year.

Tax

The headiine effective tax rate for the full year s 21%
(2016/17- 22%). The rate 1s hugher than the UK statutory rate
of 19% mamnly due to huigher statutory rates in the Nordics
and certain non-deductible tems mamnly in the UK.

Cash and movement on net debt

Free Cash Flow

2016/17
2017/18 {restated)
. Smilen fmion
Headline EBIT 400 516
Depreciation and amortisation 160 140
Working capital {80} {95)
Capital expenditure {173) (222)
Taxaticn (63) (71}
Interest (25) {23)
Other items ~ -2
Free cash flow before restructuring 219 247
items - continuing operations
Restructuring costs {47} {69}
Free Cash Flow 7172 B 177;8 .




Free Cash Flow was an inflow of £172 million (2016/17
2178 million), a decrease of 3%

The Group experienced a working capital outfiow of £80
milkon (2016/17; £95 milion). largely as a result of ncreases
In stock and debtors in the Nordics to support the strong
growth in that market, as well as the finance systems

data reconciliation benett and hugher BPI inked network
commissions income discussed earlier in this repart, both of
which increased working capital, Capital expenchture i the
period was £173 million (2016/17 222 million) The year-
on-year decrease reflacts the increased spend in the prior
year on SWAS stores and the refit of the stores as part of
the property rationalisation programme offset by increased
spend on new IT platforms in the current year The hugher
levels of capital expenditure in pror years has resulted 1n an
increase in depreciation and amortisation in the current year
as these assets have a full year of depreciation associated
with them.

Taxation paid in the year reduced from £71 million to £63
mition, pnmanly as a result of the lower taxabie profit in the
year.

The increase in interest paid 1s pnmarnly as a result of the
interest income in the prior vear from the lpan with Unieuro
as described above.

Restructuring costs pnimarly comprise the cash costs
associated with the transformation activities and the
property rationalisation programme noted below within non-
headline items.

A reconcihation of cash inflow from operations to free
cash flow s presented in note 26¢ to the Greup financial
statements.

Funding
JU1e e
2017/18 rrestatent
o £million ?n\\!onrW
Free Cash Flow 172 178
Dividends {130) (115}
Acquisitions and disposals including 24 143}

discontinued operations

Special pension contributions (46) {43)
Othertems 2 19
Movement in net debt 22 [E5)
Opering net debt 2r1) (267)
Closing net debt {249} 271)

At 28 Apnl 2018 the Group had net debt of £249 mithon a
reduction of £22 million from £271 milhon in the pnior year
Free Cash Flow was an inflow of £172 milhon 1201617
£178 mullion) for the reasons described above

Dividend cash outflows increased from £115 muthon in the
prior year to £130 mullion in current year reflecting a year on
year increase n FY 2016/17 final dividends approved and
paid it the current year and FY 2017/18 intenm dividends
paid.

Net cash inflows of £24 milhon from acquisitions and
disposals in the current year prnimanly represents cash
received fallowing the sale of the Group’s Spnnt jont
venture and Spamish operations, net of the operating and
investing cash flows associated with the now discontinued
honeybee operations Prior year cash outflows relate to
investment in the Spnnt joint venture, cash flows associated
with the honeybee operations, acquisition of Simpifydigital
and the FONA stores in Denmark, offset by cash receipts in
relation to the Group's previously disposed retail operations
n Germany.

The pension contnbutions reflect the agreed deficit
reduction plan foltowing the 2016 triennial valuation, Other
items primarly relate to foreign exchange movements on
net debf.

The average net debt during the year was £405 million
(2016/17 £426 million) with the difference between this and
the April 2018 positicn representing the seasonal funding
requirements of the Group, particularly over the peak
season

Statutory results

Income statement ~ continuing operations

2016117
2017/18 {restated)
£rmllion £mition

Revenue 10581 10.247_

EBIT 321 436

Net finance costs L I - I A

Profit before tax 289 404

Tax _ L. ey on

Profit after tax - continuing cperations 236 307

Profit / (loss) after tax ~ discontinued (70} {12}

Operations N

Profit after tax for the penod 166 295

Basic EPS 20.4p 26.7p

Diluted EPS 20.3p 26.6p

Revenue increased 3% to £10.531 million due to the
raasons discussed earliar i thus report.

Earnings before interest and tax decreased from £436
million to £329 milon in the current penod, largely due to
the reasons discussed earher in this report.

Net finance costs are flat compared to prior year at £32
millon for those reasons described earlier in this report
offset by a reduction in the net interest on defined benefit
obligations as a result of the lower opening discount rates
vear on year

[he tax ¢harge decreased from £97 million to £53 milion
reflecting lower statutory profit in the year. Tax credits on
non-headline items increased as a result of the recognition
of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets n Greece.

Basic and diluted EPS have both decreased year on year
reflecting the lower reported profit after tax
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Non-headline items

Statutory profit before tax of £289 milion (2016/17-

£404 milion} includes non-headline charges of £93 million
{2016/17. £96 milhon}. These charges are analysed below
Further details can be found in note 4 to the Group financial
statements

2016 1y

2M7NE srastated.

o __ } . £mulkon Sonthos
Businesses tgbe éx:ted {9) (1
Merger and transformation-related

costs {23) (313
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (32) 133)
Property ratonahsation costs {29) -
Acquisttion-related costs 2 -
Share plan taxable benefit

compensation 2 (AR N
Unieuro income 10 5
Total nan-headline items before

interast and tax {79} (80}
Net pension interest (14) {16)
Total non-headline iterms before tax i93) (96)
Tax 26 17
Profit / {loss) after tax — discontinued
__Operatons 7o) (12)
Total non-headiine items {137) (91}

Businesses to be exited in both years relates to the trading
losses of the iD mobile operations in the Republic of Ireland

Costs incurred in relation to the Merger relate to integration
costs of £mil (2016/17 £18 milliory and transformation costs
of £23 muillion (2016/17: £13 rmullieny All integration refated
costs were completed in the prior year Transformatonal
costs relate to both organisaticnal and functional
transformation initatives i the UK and the Nordic region
and include third party consultancy costs, redundancy costs
and lease exit costs

The charge for the amortisaticn of acquisiion intanigibles
was £32 milhion (2016/17: £33 million} with the decrease due
to some of the acquisihen intangibles ansing on the CPW
Europe Acquisition being fully amortised during the pnor
period.

Unieuro income relates to a special dividend to the Group to
distribute the proceeds rassed through the 31.8% PO of its
investment in Unieuro on the Milan stock exchange

Net pension interest was £14 milhon reflecting the charge
incurred 1N relation to the Dixons Retail UK pension scheme

Discontinued operations

On 4 May 2018, the Group agreed to seil the honeybee
operations through an asset sale, which was completed
on 31 May 2018. An impairment of €55 million has been
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recognised representing the difference between the
expected proceeds and the book value of the related

assets The impawment. together with the trading loss
recogmsed during the year of £21 mitlion, matenally
represent the current year results from discontinued
operations Prior year losses from discontinued operations
refate to the Group’s share of losses from the Sprint joint
venture operations, prior year honeybee trading losses
offset by mcome from the wnte back of the previously
impaired loan tc Unieuro, which was repaid in the pnor year.

Balance Sheet

2017/18 201617

_ | Smien tmiler
Goodwill 3,088 3,111
Qther fixed assets 872 973
Working capital (96) (203)
Net delbt {249} (277)

Tax. pension & other 419) (555)
3,196 3,065

The movement in goodwill 1s primarily due to the disposal of
the Spanish operations in the year offset by retransiation of
currency denominated balances largely in the Noradics.

Other fixed assets have decreased in the year reflecting
the sale of the Group's Spanish operations in the year,
the impairment of honeybee associated intangible assets
and the reclassification of the residual honeybee assets to
assets held for sale as described above,

Working capital has increased in the year by £107 million
due to a net increase in stock with higher ievels in the
Nordics offset by reduced leveis in mohile stock, refiecting
the changes in trading in both markets in the year, and a
further decrease due to the sale of the Group's Spanish
operations This has been offset by increases in mobile
COMMISSION receivables

Trade and other payables decreased during the year due
to the disposals described above, utilisation of previously
recogmised provisions, reduction of accruals as a result of
the accelerated reconcihation of trade balances previously
described i this report partly offset by an increase in trade
creditors assocrated with the ncrease in inventory.

Net debt has decreased as described above.

Other net habiities (tax, pension & other) have decreased
primarily as a result of the decrease in the 1A519 accounting
pension deficit descnbed below, a reduction in income tax
payable as a result of lower taxable profits in the year, the
sale of the Group’s Sprint jont venture aperations and a
reduction in deferred consideration following current year
payments and revaluation, offset by the reclassification of
residual carrying value of honeybee assets to assets held for
sale as descnibed above



Cash flow statement

201718 ST
L Enutlion Ll
EBIT - continuing operations 321 436
EBIT - disgontinued operations (B84) (19
Depreciation and amortisation 204 186
Working capital e1) {154y
Other operating cash flows _ @8 @)
Cash flows from operating activities 312 363
Acquisitions (10) (46)
Capital expenditure (187) (242)
Gther investing cash flows 685 42
Cash flows from investing activities (132} (246)
Dwvidends paid (130) {115)
Other financing cash flows (62) 51)
Cash flows from financing activities (192) 166)
Increase / {decrease} in cash and_i T S
cash equivalents and bank overdrafis (12) 49

The statutory EBIT decrease, dwidend cash flows, capital
expenditure and working capital outflows in the year are for
those reasons previously outlined in this report

Other operating cash flows relate to pension contributions
of £46 million, taxation cash flows of €62 million offset by
the non-cash impairment of honeybee assets in the year
The decrease year on year 1s principally due to the current
year honeybee asset /mpairment

Acquisition cash outflows comprise £7 milhen of

deferred consideration payments for the acquisstions of
Simplifydigital of £5 mulhon and the ‘Epog’ kitchen business
in the Nordics of £2 million (2016/17° £10 millon and £2
million respectively}, together with £3 million of capital
injected into the US joint venture with Sprint prior 1o
disposal (2016/17: £29 miiion}. The prior year aiso included
£5 miliien for the acquisttion of ten FONA stores in Oenmark

Other investing cash flows refate to proceeds recewved
following the disposal of the Group's Spanish operations
and the disposal of the Sprint joint venture in the penod and
additional consideration recerved in reélation to prior period
disposals.

Other financing cash out flows of £62 milhon relate to
nterest and finance lease payments in the year and
repayment of externat borrowing The increase 1in out flows
from the prior year relates to repayments of borrowings
under the revolving credit faciities of £4 mullion in 2017/18
and higher interest costs in the current year

Comprehensive incame / changes in equity

Total equity of the Group has increased from £3,055 million
to £3,196 million primarily reflecting the tota! statutory

profit of €166 mullicn, the gain on retranslation of averseas
operatiens of £8 milion and actuanal gan (ne! of taxahon)
relating to the defined benefit pension scheme of £71 million
offset by the payment of dividends of 130 million

Other matters

Pensions

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section
of the UK pension scheme of Dixons Retall amounted to
£470 mihon at 28 April 2018 compared ta £589 milion

at 29 April 2017. Contnbuhons during the period under

the terms of the deficit reduction plan amounted to £46
mullion (2016/17° £43 miilion), with future contnbutions
under the current agreement with the Trustees of the fund,
of £46 milhon per annum to be paid untl 2028/29, with a
further payment of £25 miflion in 2029/30. The deficit has
decreased during the year as a result of changes in market
based financial assumptions, primanly the discount and
inflation rates.

Dividends

[he Board declared an intenm dividend of 3 5p per share,
in hne with last year The intenm dwidend was paid on
26 January 2018

We are proposng a final dvidend of 7.75p per share,
maintaning the total dividend for the year at 11 25p per
share The final dividend 1s subject to shareholder approval
at the Company's forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
The ex-cividend date 1s 23 August 2018, with a record date
of 24 August 2018 and an intended final dividend payment
date of 21 September 2018.

Going concern

A review of the Group's business activities, together

with the factors hikely to affect its future development,
performance and positicn, are set out within this Strategic
Report including the nsk management section. The financial
position of the Group, 1ts cash flows, hquidity posthon and
borrowing facihties are shown in the balance sheet, cash
flow statement and accompanying notes to the Annual
Report and Accounts.

The directors have reviewed the future cash and profit
forecasts of the Group, including seasonal borrowing
requirements and avallable faciities on a menthly basis,
which they consider to be based on prudent assumptions.
Based on these forecasts, the Directors consider that it 1s
appropriate to prepare the Group financlal statements on
the going cencern basis.

Viability statement

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2016, the Directors have assessed

the viability of the Group over a perod longer than the 12
months covered by the “Going Concern” provision above.

In assessing the viabiity of the Group, the Directors have
considered the Group's current position and prospects, nsk
appetite. and those principal nsks and mitigating actions as
described on pages 15 to 18 of the Strategic Report.

The Board concluded that a penod of three years was
appropnate for this assessment as it 1s consistent with
the penod of focus of the annual strategic plans of each
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business and reflects a period of greater certainty over
forecasting assumptions

The strategic plan considers the forecast revenue, EBITDA,
working capital, cash flows and funding requirements

on a business by business basis, which are assessed in
aggregate with reference to the availlable borrowing faciiies
to the Group over the assessment penod including seasonal
cash flow and borrowing requirements on a monthly basis
and the financial covenants to which those faciities need

to comply, The model assessed by the Directors has been
derived from the Board-approved annual Group budget for
2018/19, and the locally approved strategic plans of each
business for the remaining two year penod These forecasts
have been subject to robust stress-testing modelling the
inpact of a combination of severe but plausible adverse
scenarios based on these principal nsks facing the Group
Examples include the impact of requlation or informaticn
securty incidents ang reduced forecast profitablity and
cash flow as a result in a significant change i consumer
behaviour. The modet assumes no turther funding facilities
are required over and above those currently committed to
the Group as disclosed in note 18 to the Annual Report and
Accounts.

24 " Dixons é;rphone plc Annual Heport and Accounts 2017 18

Based on the results of this analysis, the Directors have

an expectation that the Company will be able to continue
n operation and meet its habilities as they fall due over

the three year period of their assessment In dong so, it1s
recognised that such future assessments are subject to a
ievel of uncertainty and as such future cutcomes cannot be
guaranteed or predicted with certainty

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director
20 June 2018



Corporate Responsibility

Dixons Carphone 1s committed to high standards of
corporate and social respensibility across the Group

We are creating a rewarding ptace tc work and make a
positive social iImpact, while bullding trust and brand loyalty
across all our brarnds. We operate an ethucal business that
supports rights and prospenty across our value chain and
continually stnve for a sustainable environment with minimal
waste and optimum efficiency

Live Earth Neutral

In 2017/18 we set cut to coordinate activity and improve
visibility of our progress through a new sustainability
strategy and programme, Live Earth Neutral.

Underpinned by key perfarmance indicators across our
People, Environment and Social Impact, Live Earth Neutral
provides a framewaork to set long term targets and strategy
with enhanced reporting.

With stakeholder engagement at its heart, Live Earth Neutral
15 designed to instid a sense of purpose for our people and
across all our brands and geographies. The programme
facilitates discussion around matena! 1ssues and enables us
10 engage and empower employees, encourage grass root
idea generation and successful delivery.

LIVE EARTH | NEUTRAL |

The power 10 build a better future
through collaboration, innovation and investment

rewarding place
to work and do
business with

Circular
People Environment economy
Creating a Limiting our Championing
diverse, happy, effects on the sustamnabie
healthy and emaronment and | busmess

reducing our
dependency on
finite resources

practices and
making a relevant,

valuable impact
within our

commumlies
[ iy o

In March 2018, we signed up to the British Retall
Consortium’s Better Retail, Better World initiative, pledging
to contribute to society, the planet and prosperity through
shared knowledge, learning and best practice To cement
our participation we incorporated five targets supporting UN
sustainability goals into Live Earth Neutral covering modern
slavery, sustainable economic growth, megualities, climate
change and responsible consumption and praduction

In 2018/19 we will be respending to the Carbon Disclosure
Project ({CDP’) questionnarre on Chimate Change for

the third consecutive year with the aim of leveraging

our Live Earth Neutral framework to further improve on
our scoring. We will use COP to disclose actwity being
taken to implement the recommendations of the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Bisclosures ((TCFD"
and will include further details on our approach in future
annual reports. Our progress N developing and reporting
our Economic Sccial Governance "ESQG') performance
has been recognised by FTSE4AGOOD with our nclusion
in the FTSE4GOOD UK Index from June 2018 We are

also working towards independent IS050001 energy
managerent system certification.

Dixons Carphone remains an actiwve member of the
Government's All Party Corporate Responsibility Group and
the Briish Retad Consortum, engaging on areas such as the
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (‘MEES’) regulations.

Approach

Guided by our values and code of ethics, we are building

a sustainable, responsible and ethical business through
understanding best practice and stakeholder expectations
and making sure they are reflected in our business
decisions We aim to defiver transformative change through
innovaticn, collaboration with stakeholders as partners, and
directly or indirectly investing in inthiatives which leverage
our unique capabdities to benefit the communities in which
we operate

Governance

Live Earth Neutral s driven and delivered by a Working
Group made up of subject matter experts who are fully
integrated across the business. This work 13 coordinated

by the Head of Carporate Respensibility and supported

by a formal sign off process and accountability through

a dedicated Committee This comprises a broad mix of
people from different levels across the busingss from Board
member, Andrea Gisle Joosen, through to senmor managers
and store colleagues.

LIVE

Our people are our biggest asset and as a business we are
passianate about attracting, recruiting and retaining the best
talent to help dnve our growth and keep us at the forefront
of innovation and outstanding customer experience,

Our priorities

* Making sure stakeholder views and expectations are
reflected in our busiNess dectsions

+ Equalty of opportunity across all our empioyment
prachces

s Empowering ouwr people and creating experts our

customers can trust

Attracting, retaimng and recrutting the best talent to drive

our growtf

* A healthier and more productive workforce and ensuning
optimum levels of energy and resthence

« Recogrised as a valued and responsible member of our
communties

Organised to deliver

For 2018/19 a new Group Executive Committee (‘ExCo’)
has been established to simplify how we run our business
and give clear and consistent direction. To helip ExCo shape
and deliver our future, a new Group Leadership Team
{'GLT" has alse been formed consisting of our top 100
leaders Together, we are developing a clear vision to give
customers what they value, while making the most of cur
excepticnal strengths and what matters most.
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Learning and development

Ali new starters follow a 90-day induction plan and every
colleague has regular one to one meetings with therr
managers, as well as twice yearly formal performance
reviews to discuss future develepment and career plans

In 2017/18 we recorded over 300,000 learring hours with
aver 80% of this completed digrtally. A big focus of this
activity is to ensure our colleagues are well equipped to
deliver our customers a great experence. helping them
with preduct and technology expertise and bulding great
customer relationships. We also run talent and leadership
development programimes to progress high achievers and
hone management leadership skilis

We also encotrage colleagues to take accountabriity for
their own development and career pianning by giving them
access to a host of digital learning content that they can
access at a time to suit them.

We expect high standards in cur emptoyment practices
to strengthen stakeholder trust, Qur comprehensive suite
of employment policies and procedures includes ant-
corruption and bribery, ethicai conduct, whistleblow:ng,
working time, young worker and work experience. family
friendly guidance, colieague dispute management. as weil
as diversity and equal opportunities. All colleagues are
required to read and digstally acknowledge key company
policies, which are centinually reviewed

We increased our intake of UK appienuces in 2017/18

from 135 to 267. This follows the introduction of new entry
level career programs onginating within transport and
warehousing. Apprentices are recruited through learming
praviders, colleges and soctal meda and are employed
across many different roles, brands and functions. providing
the business with fresh talent. In 2018719 we will launch

a ptoneeting management retall apprenticeship scheme.
enabling participants to earn a degree cver a bespoke four
year programme.

Our graduate scheme is now well established, with 19
university ieavers given the opportunity to establish and
grow their careers at Dixons Carphone in 2017/18, through
a mix of bespoke training, on the job expenence and
management coaching.

in 2017/18, we launchad Aspire across our services
business after a successful introduction to reta) in 2016417,
This targeted talent development programme prepares
colieagues for their first ineé manager role and has already
resulted in 70% of manager vacancies baing filled internally

We are also evolwing our approach ta developing managers
in 2018/19 with improved digital centent and a structured
programme to better support managers in the cniical role
they play in keeping our colleagues engaged

Engaging our people

We are committed to open and honest communication
across the Group and fisten to the views of every colieague
through channels such as our annual engagement

survey, Make a Difference. Administered externally and

in confidence, this balanced scorecard gauges how our
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people feel about working for the company and 15 used o
menior and improve performance while helping us to make
decisions and recognise success In 2017/18 we recorded
an 85% response rate, with engagement remaming the
same year on year at 61%.

Colleagues can access news and information threugh a
variety of channels, with an emphasis on collaboration and
peer-to-peer communication. “Workplace' by Facebook
provides an intuitive channel for colleague engagement and
collaboration

We alse continue to produce 360 Magazine specifically
for Team Knowhow and Connected, a magazine avalable
online and in hard copy format to all colieagues.

We also have a feedback mechanism collecting mput
from across the company on sustamnability 1Issues and
communicating it to the semor management from alt retail
stores.

Employee Benefits

QOur emplovee benefits packages are continually reviewed
to help retan and attract talented individuals. Colleagues
are able to build a personal stake n our business with our
Sharesave scheme. with 20% of our UK & Ireland workforce
currently signed up A new benefits piatform will allow
colleagues i the UK access to our core company benefits
and additional benefits suited to their personal needs and
Ifestyte, such as childcare vouchers, eye care vouchers
and dental plans For 2018/19 we will introduce a new cycle
to work scheme 1o support wellbeing and environmental
objectives

Mirimum Wage

We pay a muimum hourly rate of £7 20 to all colleagues In
the United Kingdom under 21 Colleagues aged 21 and over
in the United Kingdom are paid a minimum hourfy rate of

£7 90 in addition to basic pay we pay location allowance,
where apphcable, and bonus Salanes for apprentices also
exceed the national mimmurn wage.

incilusion and Diversity

We are commmted to equalty of opportunity across all of
our employment practices throughcut the Group. Preventing
unlawful discrirmination in the workplace on the grounds

of sex, race, disabiiity, sexual cnentation, religion or
religlous belief, age, marnage and civil partnership, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and matermty 1s a prionty. We
promote an honest and open environment and encourage
colleagues with concerns to report issues directly through
line managers or via an independent, confidential integrity
line

We encourage all colleagues to be therr true-self at work as
we value the benefits a diverse workplace brings and the
mmportance diversity plays n achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and experience our organisation needs to reach
its potential Diversity in terms of age and gender remains a
key prorty with network groups and recruitment guidetines
i place to support these areas. We also have mentoring
programimes, ine manager traning and a #trueself



communication and awareness campaign for all colleagues
planned to drive diversity further over the coming year.

Diversity across the Group

Al Semar
Work Level Emplayess Managers Direcicrs
; i;_zlt;m_be__r_ _“_ “u | _Number- ' “umber 3
Male 29,085 698 106 757 6 5%
Female 12,985 302 34 243 2 25%
Total 42,974 140 8
Gender Pay

Making sure colfeagues feel valued, are treated fairly and
have the same access 10 opportunities at work 1s a prionty
In Aprit 2318, we weicomed new legisiation requinng every
employer to publish ts Gender Pay Gap

Our median pay gap 1s 6 1% and while significantly lower
than the national median pay gap. we are looking more
closely at how we attraci. recruit and develop colleagues
to see how we can improve. In many of our roles, flexible
working options attract a civerse range of colleagues who
can balance their hours by finding a shift, work pattern or
overtime options to suit them, however, we recognise the
need to further address our gender baiance and are fully
committed to designing and implementing a cocrdinated
approach to close our gap

Health, Safety and Wellheing

Control standards for key nsks as well as responsibilities to
our customers, colleagues and other stakeholders
(franchisees, agency workers, supply cham and contractors)
are set out in our Group Health and Safety { H&S") Policy
Compliance with this policy 1s regularly audited

Through our employee wellbaing strategy, we am to create
a happier, healthier and maore productive workforce, while
reducing time off through sickness and ensuring optimum
levels of energy and resilience

Mental health management traning has been introduced

for HR Business Partners and all colleagues recelve regular
updates and information on health. resilience and wellbaing.
In addition, ergonomics advice and equipment is provided
to prevent musculoskeietal njuries. along with traimng and
protective equipment for installers and delivery teams

Road Safety

Our fleet compliance team wotks with Health and Safety
to ensure all management and drivers are made aware

of our policies and procedures regarding precautions for
chmate-related physical nsks, such as extreme weathar
conditions. To promote safer detensive driving techimques
and further improve fuel efficiency, we are installing a new
in-cab drniver safety alert systern We are also members of
road safety organisation. Brake. and in the UK participate
In national Road Safety Week. Qur driver assessors also
provide safer driver traiming in extreme weather conditions
and official advice 1s always heeded as driver safety s
always of paramount importance

Britain’s Healthiest Workplace
In 2017/18, we achieved ‘Most Improved Large
Organisation’ in the Britain’s Heatthiest Workplace awards,
sponsored by the Financial Times and Vitality Health.
Approximately 600 colleagues compieted a comprehensive
survey, personal to ther health and wellbeing at work. The
resuiting independent report and recommendations have
helped us to identify additional ways to protect employee
welfare and further improve our ranking in 2018/14.

Corporate challenge initiatives encourage healthy living,
while on-site fitness facilities include a gym in our mamn
support centre, shower facilities, secure bicycle storage and
restaurants offering a balanced menu and range of healthy
nutritionist-approved foods. An Emiployee Assistance
Programme operates 24/7 offering support for a range
of 1ssues such as stress, smoking cessation and debt
management

Dixons Carphone Race to the Stones 2017
i July 2017, over 2,600 people chose to run, trek or walk
along the ancient Ridgeway to Avebury Stone Circle, raising
over £310.000 for 186 good causes This mcluded 200
celleagues who raised over £38,000 for our charity partner,
The Mix This two-day 100km ultra challenge won ‘Best
Endurance Race' in the 2018 Running Awards and was
shorthsted for a 2018 Corporate Engagement Award.

We also introduced a ‘half way hub’ where suppliers
including Fitbit, Go Pro and Nutn Bullet engaged
participants with their latest fitness tech and wellness
products We are working with our suppliers to further
enhance this expenence in July 2018.

Since our headline sponsorship in 2014, this event has
raised over £1.15 milhon for charnty.

Ultimate Workplace
For 2018/19 we are bullding on our successful UK
wellbeing intiatives, Average to Awesome and Ultimate
Workforce to deliver a 12-week health programme to
directly improve the fitness of 100 colleagues across

the company and the wider business indirectly using
Workplace as an interactive platform to post work out
videos and monitor performance. This will be our most
innovative and ambrtious pregramme yet, with cutting edge
fitness tech being used to gamify and reward wellbeing.

EARTH

We are fully committed to meeting our environmental
respaonsibitities and fimiting the impact of our operations in
a way that Is both practical and economically feasible. Our
environmental poicy 1s endorsed by the Board and covers
maternial 1ssues including energy consumption, carbon
armissions. supply chan and operational waste. Activities to
address each of these areas and our progress this year 1s
contamed within this report
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QOur priorities

* Manage our UK energy consumption and corresponding
CO: enmussions for optimal efficiency

¢ Help our customers reduce ther environmental impact
through improved product knowledge and awareness of
services

* Range fuigh quality products and services that have
mirimal adverse environmental impacts at cormpetitive
prices

* Be industry leading for our Waste Management and
Recychng services

At Group level, we have a formalised enterprise rnsk
management process including climate change as a sk
category. At store level, chmate change risks are identified
as part of business contingency / continuity processes,
with the identified nsks mainly relating to extreme weather
events,

Green energy

From April 2018, 90% of Dixons Carphone properties

on the UK Mainland and Northern Ireland are now
powered by 100% renewable electricity fuily backed by
Renewable Electricity Guarantee of Onigins (‘REGOs') and
independently venfied.

Energy Management

Thanks to our energy management performance over
the last two years, we have actieved our UK energy
consumption reductian target. At the end of 2017/18,
energy censumption had reduced overall by 33% and
corresponding GOz emissions by 47% agamnst our 2013/14
baseline year.
UK Energy Consumption Reduction target
Dixons Carphone has an agreed target of reducing its UK
energy consumption by 35% by 2020, and corresponding
CQO: emussions 50% (Measured from a 2013/14 baseling,
the year prior 1o the merger between Dixons Retall and
Carphone Warehouse)

Our embedded Energy Management Strategy continues to
deliver great results, reducing our carbon emissions. while
optimising our efficiency and mimimising wastage

Through 2017/18, we invested a further £0 5 mullion n
energy efficiency projects, which are forecast to reduce our
annual energy consumphion by over 1,400 mWh, saving
over 500 tonnes of CO. emussions per year

Emission savings were also made from reusing canteen
cooking oI, In 2017/18 we saved 7.8 tonnes of CO-e from
aur operations wn London, Warrington and Loughibarough

Qur solar PV instaliations allowed us to use over 730mwh
of our own solar PV energy in 2017/18 The greatest
contribution came from our Newark Distribution warehouse
at aver 540 mWh where approximately 10% of the buldings
energy requirements were provided fram the solar PY
Another similar sized PV scheme on our second warehouse
butlding in Newark 1s 1n an advanced planning stage.
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Electric Vehicles

We are championing the use of electnc vehicles ("EV') and
are In discussions with our company car fleet provider for
an EV option. We have also installed EV charging stations
at our Acton Head Office and are set to roll out to other
offices, starting with Newark, in 2018/19 In adaition, we
have reviewed our company car policy and capped CO.e
emissions for the fleet making 1t cleaner, with more vehicies
avallable

Our UK property refurbishment program 1s delivering solid
energy efficiency improvements, with over 25% of our UK
retall portfolio using LED technology as the main source

of hghting Our exceptions monitering alsa continues to
perform well across both our legacy Dixons Retail and
Carphone Warehouse estate, where this work has helped to
mutigate cansumption of approximately 2,234mWh through
2017/18. We have also rolled out enhanced strategies to our
bulding management systems for improved efficiencies.

The energy consumption and carresponding CO» emissions
of our business have reduced year on year. For the UK &
reland portfalio in 1sofation, we have achieved a reduction
In electnicity usage of 3 5% on a Ike-for-tike basis with the
largest mwh contribution from retail space down 3.9% LFL
The energy consumption for the UK & Ireland portfoho has
reduced by 9 3% on an absoiute basis.

Total company-wide kWh energy consumption is as
follows:

Energy

C.Dnt‘,umm_\orhk\f‘.i'n L _”27071@7 L _72915.1;7 . Change (%)
Electricity 251,225,719 279,189,910 (10.0%)
Gas 30,989,326 30,185,349 2.7%
Fuel Oll 152,322 246,555  (38.2%)
Total . 282,367,367 309,621,814  (88%)
Energy consumption (UK&I)

Lrergy Ghange
Sorsunpton ik 2017118 201617 o %)
Electncity 150,343,973 168,599,606 {10 8%)
Gas 29,775,875 20,882,655 (0.4%)
Fuel Ol . 145962 246555  (408%)_
Total 180,265,810 198,728,816 (9.3%)

Carbon Emissions

Dixons Carphone plc: Mandatory Greenhouse Gas
{‘GHG’} Report 2017/18

This section provides our emission data and supporting
nformation required by The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, Part 7:
Disclosures Concerning Greenhouse Gas Emissions.

This report covers the international cperations of the

Dixons Carphone plc Group. including the UK & Ireland,
Nordics and Greece Operatiohs in Spain are not included in
2417/18 as they are no longer part of the company. Spanigh
operations accounted for 1.4% of emissions in 2016/17.



Operational control has been used to determine
organisational boundary All scope one and two ermissions
are included except where noted The pernod covered 1s

May 2017 to Aprd 2018.

We are reporting our 2017/18 Scope 2 emissions on a
Location and Market basis this year. This will help us
accurately report the emissions based on cur procurement
of 100% green electrncity across the UK from Apnil 2018,

The GHG emussions for the Dixons Carphong business are

as follows:

Emissions on location basis:

Reportng perod + May 2017 - 30 Apnt 2618

Tonnes Jonnes
ot Cwe  increase gt CCe
emftted |decrease amitted
Category 2017118 v, 201647
Emissicns from
combustion of
fuel® 23,178 7 71898
Emussions from
purchase of
electricity 67.795 23 ) 88 496
Emissions from
the operation of
any facility 2525 LN 24499
Total: 83,498 (17%) 112,593
Emissions on market basis:
Reporhr?g_penoc; {h];; ZE) 177 - 36 »;pl 12018
Tonnes T ey
ot COze  Increace ot CDe
emitted [aecredse erritea
Categury 2017118 L UTE T
Ermissions from
combustion of
fuel” 23,178 7. 21 648
Emissions from
purchase of
electricoty ! 82,294 (3370w 121 995
Emissions from
the cperahon of
any faciity ™~ Ota 2399
Total: {26%) 146,092
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$27 807
3661

151,028
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161 965

.. 3881
185,386

Intensity measures. The emissions per unit area of occupred

space are as follows.

Emissions on Location basis:

Tonnes
ofCO e
enwtted per
1,000 f*

of Hlear
area'™
204718

4 45

Dixons Cjﬂ)hgﬁé vlc total
Emissions on market basis:
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2017 18
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Overall floor area of the Dixons Carphone busingss 15 estimated

to be 21.014,914 fi- This s spht between the Dixons Retall

business which 15 estmated to be 19,648,862 ft? and the overall

floar area of the Carphone Warehouse business 1s estimated to

be 1,366,052 ft* Carphone Warehouse floor space now includes

back of house areas, contributing to the small increase in this

division’s floor area since last year

‘Emussions from combustion of fuel’, includes a proportion of private

cars being used for business travel, which would be ciassified as

Scope 3 itis not practical o exclude this data from the company’s

expense records so N keepmg with the previous years it has

heen ncluded to provide a conservative view of emissions For

a proportion of our company cars, we moved from using claimed

business mileage 1o fuel card purchases {litres of fuel) in 2016/17.

This i more accurate but has led to a small increase n overall

emIssIcNs

a  We have idenbfied a potential duplication of expenses clams,
relating to private car usage for business travel, for previous
years This has been removed for 2017/18. This duplication
accounted for only 0 3% of total emissions in 2016/17, so
previous years have not been restated,

The electncity consumption figure includes Scope 2 generation
emissions but not Scope 3 transmission and distnbution losses
Electncity and gas usage s based on suppler bills Manual gap
filling was conducted for Apnl 2018 in the UK & Ireland for smaller
elecincity supples. using an average of the consumption year fo
date This I1s because this report was due before some electrcity
and gas bills had been provided by the suppliers, This report does
not Iinclude alectricity consumption through suppiies where the
landiord procures the energy, which represents only 1% of total
energy consumplion

Refngerant data processing methodclogy and exclusions

a  \Where refrigerant top-ups are reported, we assume this
covers all leakage across the area of the estate under that
cantractar's responsibility, 50 have not estimated leakage
from other units where no top-ups were carried out.

b Inprevicus years, seme refngerant charges for new
installations were reported as leakage This practice was
stopped for 2016/17 onwards. which accounts for most of the
reduction in leakage compared to 2015/16.

The calculabions use the methodology set out in Defra’s updated

greenhouse gas reporting guidance, Emvironmental Reporhing

Guidelines (ref PB 13944), 1ssued i June 2013

Water

In collaboraticn with our Water Bureau and Consultancy
Services provider, we delivered a number of water-saving
projects in 2017/18, most notably through leak detection
and rectification where individuat site consumption/ma3

1s higher than average This 1s an ongoing project, with
approximately 35,000m3 per annum of water savings
implemented to date We are close to achieving an
addihonal 10.000m3 of annual savings.

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (‘WEEE”)
Recycling

We are the biggest recycler of waste slectncals in UK Retall,

recycling 69% of waste electricals collected by all retallers
n 2017/18.

We strive ta dehver continuaus improvements to our
recychng and sustainability programme and have several

schemes in place to encourage and anable WEEE recycling.

Onbne customers buying white goods or a TV larger

than 39" are prompted with the aption of having their old
applance collected for recyching for a small fee At thus
point, customers can also chck through to our recycling
page., which provides detalls of our free in-store take back
which covers ali electronics. Our in store sales teams are
also traned to inform customers about our coltection and
recychng service
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All recyclables from our stores are backhauled to our
natianal recychng faciity at Newark. Our 20 Customer
Service Centre depoets deliver consisient grades of
cardboard, plastic and expanded polystyrene to our
recyclers, ensuring minimal transpaortaticn and the best
return for our materal.

We actively encourage cur employees to recycle through
infarmation campaigns and the provision of recycling
facllities at all sites.

QOur collective efforts have resulted n 62,000 WEEE tonnes
being collected in 2017/18 in the UK, saving an

estimated 69,310 tonnes of CO_ In the Nordics we collected
27,043 tonnes and Greece 2.776 tonnes

We also work with twelve UK reuse charities and
organisations who select WEEE from our Customer Service
Centres for repair and sale through our reuse charity
partners Through this operation, we helped 11,470 low
income households save an estimated £2.148.876 and
1,177 tonnes of CO: n 2017/18 This translates to a reuse
percentage of 7%.

End-of-life treatment of sold products

Every three fridges Dixons Carphone recycles save the

equivalent of the average car’s annual emission

In 2017 we recycled 331,441 ndges, equating to 110,480
cars.

We collected and refurbished approximately 345.000
phones in the UK in 2017/18

In 2017/18, our UK aperation generated a total of 15,610
tonnes of waste. 85% was diverted far recychng (5%
increase on 2016} and 2% to energy reccvery We are
currently working on projects within the business to reduce
the remaining 13% currently going to landfill down to 0% by
end the of 2020.
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Reuse and Recycling in Greece

In Kotsovolos, we launched the Second Home (Deutero

Spit) inthative which collects electrnical appliances of

domestic use, such as fndges and washing machines,

that households do not need and would normally dispose

and find a ‘secand home’ for them with families that

couldn’t afford to buy them. Dixons Carphone collects the

apphances, checks them, repairs them if needed and then

distnbutes them to theirr new househoid,

Recycling initiative

We raise awareness, encourage and facilitate WEEE

recycling n three ways:

e We facihtate in-store customer recycling solutions for
smalil electricals, ink cartridges and batteries

* Replacement of electrc apphances' We commit to
collecting WEEE for every appliance we delver to
replace an oid one that no longer works

* Customers in ali our markets can have bulky WEEE
coltectad from ther homes

Saving at home

Dhixons Carphone enables customers in Greece 1o Invest

in demestic energy efficiency through providing incentives

to low-income families to improve the energy efficiency

of their homes through participating  an EU funded

programme The Saving at Home (Exoikonomo kat'oiken)

imbiative subsidizes up to 70% of the cost of energy

efficiency measures.

NEUTRAL

Dixons Carphone strives for continuous, sustainable,
impravement throughout cur business operation and is
commutted to ensuring we contribute to society in a mutually
beneficial way that uniquely reflects our capabilities.

Under Live Farthh Neutral we are increasing focus on
understanding and managing the impacts within our supply
chan We will look to grow the range of products we sell,
that come from ethically and responsibly aware supply
chans We will also consider sustamnability performance
including energy efficiency, climate change mpact, water
use or biodiversity iImpacts when selecting suppliers or
renegotiating contracts.

Our priorities:

* Collahorating with our suppliers to ensure the highest
etincal standards

* A business and supply chain free of explottation and
forced labour

s Distributing our products efficiently

e Leveraging our unique capabilities to benefit our
commumhes and be recogrised as a valued and
responsible member



Ethical sourcing

Our Ethical Sourcing Policy reflects cur commitment to
acting with integrity in our business relationships and

is based on the Social Accountability 8000 standard,
FTSE4Good critena. We also work closely with
organisations such as SEDEX and the Brtish Retall
Consortium to ensure our policies and procedures remain
relevant.

Our Oniginal Equipment Manufacturer ({OEM’) in Hong Kong
sources many product types sold under our own or icensed
brand names. This well established part of our cperation
has been subject to ethical auditing and risk assassment
for many years. OEM suppliers are required to comply with
our strict trading terms and operational procedures, and

to implement and enforce effective systems and controls

fo meet our minemum Standards in respect of Health and
Safety, wages, working hours, egual opportunities. freedom
of association, collective bargaiming and disciphnary
procedures. Employing forced or child {abour is strictly
aganst our terms of operation

Adherence to our policies 1s monitored by assessors who
audit our suppliers prior to selection and on an ongoing
basis. Where working practice failures have been identified,
we work with suppliers to help them improve ther working
practices including ethical sourcing. health and safety

and quahty management. Where this i1s not pessitble or

no improvements are madge, they will not be approved

as a supplier or delisted Durng the year under review.
three of the 11 supplers classified as red falled to make
improvements and therefore the Group did not approve
them to supply our branded products or they were delisted.

The results of ethical supply chain audits carred out during
the period under review are in the table betow

Performance indicators 2017/18

Delisted

ngt

Green Al oo Tt A ed

Audit status 14 72 11 g7 3

Sustainable Supply Chain

Office supplies for our retail stores in UK and lreland

accounting for more than £3 milhon for the penod 1 March

2017 to 28 February 2018 are supplied by a Level 1 Social

Value Quality mark from a Social Enterprise awarded

supplier

e 55% of products ordered classified as green products

« 39% easy to recycle and from a sustainable source

e 15% with an environmental accreditation or s
sourced / produced in a low carbon way

o 1.5% with multiple environmental accreditation

environmental benefits

Modern Slavery and Human Rights

Our Board fully supports the Moderm Slavery Act and 1s
committed to combating sfavery and human trafficking

Modern Slavery and Ethical Sourcing policy

We have created our Group's Modern Slavery policy
and are actively introducing 1t to our business, suppliers,
agents and other partners with the clear expectation it is
universally adhered to

The Group also has an Ethical Sourcing Polcy which
includes anti-slavery and reflects our commitment to
human nghts, acting ethically and with integnty i all our
husiness relationships. We require our OEM suppliers to
implement and enforce effechive systems and controls to
ensure slavery and human trafficking 1s not taking place.

Durning 2017/18 we mapped our entire operation and
are in the process of contacting suppliers in relevant
languages and requesting they complete our workers’

nghts questionnaire so we can better understand the risks

of modern slavery and decide where we need to focus our
efforts going forward. Qur Statement and Policy on Modemn
Slavery can be found on www dixonscarphone.com

Slave Free Alliance and Bright Future Project
We are proud to be the first retailer to sign up to the Slave
Free Afhance, a best practice scheme operated by Hope
For Justice which helps to ensure workers providing

and producing products and services we sell are not
exploited, We are also the first non-food retailer to join the
Co-0p led Bright Future project, giving victims of slavery
the opportunity for a paid work placement leading to full
time employment.

Product and Service responsibility

We continuaily look for ways te help our customers reduce
their envircnmental impact, through providing low carlon
products and offering Waste Electncal and Eiectroric
Equipment ("WEEE'} re-use schemes.

In May 2017, we switched our Gift Card matenal from PVC
to sustainable board at no additional cost and estimate
this small change wiil reduce our carben footprint by 15.86
tonnes within a year,

For 2018/19, a key part of Live Farth Neutral 1s to further
improve our product and service knowledge, by engaging
supphers to understand environmental attributes of
products and services we sell, including the sacial and
ethical ments of manufacturers. More collaborative
programmes are aiso planned, for example, we are working
with Beho and Grundig to donate £200,000 worth of
products through our stores to community causes by 2020,
while highlighting the environmental and social benefits of
their products and operation.

Awards
Our Greece business collected 15 awards n 2017/18
across Best Digital Expernence for the opening of
Stadiou’s Store, to Marketing Excellence, HR and
Manager of the Year for CEQ Antreas Athanassopoulos.

In the Norgiwcs, Elkiop Custorner Centre was awarded Best
Customer Service 2018 in the Electronics category.
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Much of our own label range 1s energy eificient, for example,
all of our OEM TV's are rated ‘A’ or above with 90% of those
rated A+ and above. By purchasing our OEM LED light
bulbs customers can save on their energy bills or they can
make savings through our energy switching service Gther
energy saving products we sell, such as Nest and Hive, heip
consumers reduce their environmental feotprnint

High quality products with minimal adverse
environmental impacts

Cur own brand large white goods, including fridges,
dishwashers, laundry, cockers {both integrated and free
standing) are rated as follows

*  98% rated A or better

* 85% rate A+ or better

Own brand TVs:

*  100% rated A or better
*  95% rated A+ or better

Energy efficiency in Greece
Providing access to energy etficient products suitabie for
local market

Energy efficiency 15 a major challenge in Greece as it
reduces the total cost of property ownership We support
our customers through providing them access tc a

wide range of products including solar water heating
systems (panels fitted to roof) or new generation of air
conditioners.

Four day VAT-Back for energy efficient TVs in Greece
We help our clients acquire energy efficient TVs VAT-free,
which leads to a 24% discount.

Packaging innovation

We recognise the harmfui effects excessive packaging

can have on our envirenment and are it the early

stages of developing an innovative cancept for reusable
packaging which we hope will ehminate single use product
packaging within our supply chan As well as sigrificantly
reducing CO: emissions and minimising our impact on the
environment, we also anticipate considerable cost savings.
We offer cur home delivery customers a free packaging
recycling service and we are the UKs largest recycler of
polystyrene.

In total, over 11,500 tonnes of packaging recycled which 1s
an estimated 13,000 tonnes of CO. saved {tigures from our
waste management agency responsible for alf cardboard.

plastic, polystyrene and wood recycled across our estate).

Distributing our praoducts efficiently

For 2018/19 we wili provide a new fleet of 150 7 2 tonne
vehicles to our franchisee partners, who deliver ta up to
70% of our customers’ homes The fleet 1s Euro 6 comphant
and meets all emissions regulaticns including the new low
emissions zone for Londan, The new madel s an lveco Daily
which will deliver a fuel economy of approx 22 24 mpg.
reducing our fuel censumption by approximately 800,000
litres per annum.
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We are working with suppliers to investigate alternate fuel
commercial vehicles with a view to trialing them by April
2019 and pian to tnal electnc 7/ hybnd commercial vehicles,
vans. 3 5 tonne and 7 5 tonne by Apnl 2019,

Al management and drivers are rmade aware of our policies
and procedures regarding precautions to take in extreme
weather conditions, We operate in extreme temperatures,
high winds and heavy rain, so relevant briefs and mai drops
reminding drivers of the necessary vehicie checks, essential
equipment and potential nisks are regularly issued.

We have procedures in place for dealing with extreme
weather, e g. during our peak trading peniod we take on
additional warehousing to hold stock, maintain supply
chain efficiencies and cope better with larger quantities of
products enabiing us to move more efficiently if specific
centres cannot be accessed

Community and Social Impact

Every decision we make is dnven by insights and our
ambrtion to provide unparalleled expertise and services to
help customers and businesses navigate the digital era,
while bullding brand loyaity and trust We are committed
to baing a responsible member of every community we
do business in: whether it 1s by match-funding employee
fundraising, community initiatives or charrty partnerships,
we leverage our unique capabilities to make a positive
impact locally

Volunteering

For 2018/19 we will trial a new volunteering scheme in
collaboration with national care and housing chanty,
Abbeyfield who run 350 homes across the UK. Dixons
Carphone and Abbeyfield are well established and both
share a passion to remain active and refevant within our
local communities. This partnership allows us 1o leverage
our unigue assets, e.g skills, experience, products, services
and posttion on every high street, to create bespoke
expenences for alder residents and spend qualty tech time
to help them reman independent and well connected, while
combatting the effects of loneliness and 1solation.

Kotsovolos holds an annual ‘Good Deed Day' when
teams across Greece agree locally how they will spend
a day supporting local causes In 2017, more than 1,160
employess participated in 53 separate volunteering
activities

Founding Partner of Heads Together

Dixons Carphone 1s proud to be one of three Founding
Corporate Partners of Heads Together. This mental health
intiative of The Royal Foundation, spearheaded by The
Duke and Duchess of Cambndge and Prince Harry (The
Ouke of Sussexj, combines a campaign to tackle stigma
and change the conversaticn on mental health with
fundraising for a series of Innovative mental health services.
To date, Heads Together has made a significant progress
with tackling stigma. In May 2017, when the campaign
was at its peak. 1.5 mulhon more people were talking about
mental health, compared to three months earlier, In 2018,
The Royal Foundation s rolling out a range of new mental



health programmes to ensure that the nght help is avalable
to anyone seeking mental health support Our tong-term
chanty partner, The Mix, 1s one of the eight mental health
charities compnsing Heads Together

Heads Together will be the main beneficiary of Pennies,
which will rall out in Carphone Warehouse stores from

June 2018. This digital upgrade of the traditional charity
box, will offer customers the opportunity to make a 25p
charitable donation when they pay by chup and pin at paint
of sale. We consarvatively estimate a charitable revenue of
£100,000 per annum across 300 stores (Phase 1 roll-out)
and £520,000 per annum acrass 1,000 outlets, Longer tarrm,
we aim to suppott our relevant local causes through this
fundraising mecharmsm.

The Mix

We continued our long terrn support of The Mix {registered
charty number 1048995) Just as Dixons Carphone
matches customers with the most suitable equipment and
services for thew needs, The Mix supports the physical and
mental wellbeing of young pecple under 25 across the UK,
whatever their 1ssue, through the technology of their choice
The Mix operates a free, confidential support service.
avallable 24/7, 365 days a year. via phone, text, web,

social media and counselling. In 2017, 18 we gave a total of
£2355,000 gift n fnd to The Mix for thewr office and helpline
accommaodation as well as legal support services. and
fundraising through employee events and initiatives such as
our chanty dinner which raised £195,878. Our support over
2017/18 has enabled The Mix to heip almost 250,000 young
people.

The Dixons Carphone Foundation (‘Foundation®)

The Group cperates two chantable foundations, The DSG
international Foundation, registered with the Charities
Commission, and a Dixons Carphone Foundation
fundraising account established under the Chanties Aid
Foundation ('CAF") for the benefit of the chanty or charities
selected by Dixons Carphone and approved by CAF

The Dixons Carphone fundraising account was set up
post-Merger to deliver our ambition of improving tives
thraugh technology and facilitates emplayee match-funding
applications and one-off donaticns to emergencies and
disaster funds. In 2617/18 we gave £83,272 through the
Charities Aid Foundation to a wide vanety of causes,
mnciuding £37,186 via our 475 Give As You Eamn donors

Elkjop Foundation

In the Nordics, for 2018/18 we are establishing the Elkjep
Foundation to enable us to develop cur own projects

and support other established projects / inhatives, with

a focus on helping people to “enjoy the amazing warld

of technology™. Funded by Elkjop, supplers and sales of
branded carrier bags, colieagues, consumers and external
nstitutions will be ebgible to apply for grants.

Qver Chnistmas, £63,000 worth of technology was
donated to 44 worthwhile causes across the Nordic
region. Beneficianes were wide ranging and included
the child cancer treatment unit at Akershus University
hospital. Lorenskog, Norway, and Vid Din Sida, a chanty
that helps elderly homeless people n Stockhalm,
Sweden

Responding to emergencies
Grenfell Tower

When tragedy struck just two miles from our North Acton
headquarters in June 2017, the business responded
immeadiately, sending essential tech inctuding mobile
phones, SIMs, power packs, chargers and fans to the
scene and pledging “starter packs’ 1o help displaced
families resettle. We were alsc quick to identify customers
based in the tower, compile a product hst to support
authonties and write off any outstanding debts Our
Chairman and Executive Team led fundraising efforts
across the business to raise £54,590 to support the
mental health of those affected £14,590 was donated

10 the local Harrow Youth Club, £20,000 to MIND to
support fire fighters and £20,000 was given to Place2Be
n support of their work with children in three community
schools who lost pupils in the fire For 2018/19 we will
work with the chanty, Electrnical Safety First to promote
product safety.

Mobiles for Manchester

Following the act of terror on the Manchester Arena on 22
May 2017, we collaborated with The Daily Mail to support
the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, run by the
Red Cross to raise funds for famiies whose lives have
been devastated in the wake of the attack. Our Mobiles
for Manchester appeal invited the public to drop their old
handsets into any of cur Carphone Warehouse stores for
recychng. raising £118,326 far the provision of practical
and professional emotonal support.

Other charitable support

We donated over £150.000 warth of gift in kind stock to
local Save the Children charity shops. This ‘nearly new’
stock was generated through our Christmas 2017 ‘Tech
Tree’ marketing promotion.

Our B28 & Strategic Partnerships teams have supported
485 charnties as well as 1096 schools with over £100k of
chscount over 2017/2018
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Corporate Responsibility

Within UK Retail, we are working with the British Heart
Foundation to remove their third party WEEE recycling
costs by allowing them to transact directly through us

Since January 2018, we have saved the chanty £19,000 and
plan to roll the scheme out from 20 to all 100 of therr stores
from July 2018. As part of this partnership we are also
looking to facilitate access to defibnilators in our stores

During 2017/18, colleagues also raised thousands of
pounds for good causes via a variety of fundraising events
and activities For exampie, colleagues in cur Binmingham
3-in-1 store raised over £24,000 for commurnity causes,
including Edwards Trust, a chanty supporting bereaved
families. The store also facilitates a weekly ‘Tech Club’ for
tocal children

Employees at Sheffisld Contact Centre raised over £31 000
far 17 different local and national chantable causes,
including a chanty that provides ife-saving equipment and
funds for research at The Sheffield Children’s Hospital

Online safety

We took part in a tnial with Victim Support and South Wales
police to help raise awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation
and online safety among children and young pecple
Uniformed police officers jomed representatives from Victim
Support to tram store colieagues and engage customers

in four stores. Over two weekends, 120 parents and

carers were actively engaged, with teaflets handed out 1o
approximately 7,000 customers and the activity shared with
South Wales Police's 113k Twitter followers.
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We also continue to work with Child internet Safety experts,
Internet Matters.

Newark Distribution Centre

During 2017/18 Dixons Carphone maintained its positive
presence within the local Newark commurity through

a range of employee led social and environmental
initiatives Over £51,000 was raised for local charitable
causes, including the Guide Dogs and Lincs and Notts
Aw Ambulance, Colleagues also supported community
projects, such as the construction of an eco-greenhouse
at Chuter Ede Primary School and renovation works at
Beaumond House Hospice Newark 1s aiso committed to
local employment, and with 4,000 colleagues it 1s the
largest employer in the local Newark area.

Approval of Strategic Report

Thus Strategic Report was approved by the Board and
signed on its behalf by.

Alex Baldock
CalouE R A et
A0l 207

Humphrey Singer
Grovip Finance Director
2(rJune 2018



Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Lord Lwvingston of Parkhead
Chairman N

Lord Lavingston of Parkhead 15 the Charrman of Dixons Carphone and
the Nominations Committee He joned the Board as Deputy Charrman
and Non-Executive Director in 2015. He was previously Minister of
State for Trade and Investment from 2013 to 2015 and chief executive
officer at BT Group plc from 2008 to 2013 Pror to that he was chiet
executive officer, BT retail and group chief financial officer of BT

He 15 a chartered accountant and previously held the position of

chief financial officer of Dixons Group plc between 1996 and 2002,
having served in a number of roles over more than a decade with the
company He 1s chairman of Man Group plc. a non-executive director
of Belmond Ltd and a rustee of Jewish Care

Teny DeNunzio GBE
Deputy Charrman ana
Senior Independent Director N A

Tony DeNunzic CBE s Deputy Chairman and Senvct Indspendent
Director of Dixons Carphone Tony is Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee He held
the position of president and chief executive officer of Asda © Watman
UK fram 2002 15 2005, having previousty served as chief tmancial
officer of Asda PLC He started his career in the tast-maoving
consumer goods sector with financial positions in Unilever PLC.
L'Oréal and PepsiCo, Inc He was also previously non executive
director of Allance Boots GnibH, chairman of Maxeda Retail Group
BV, and deputy chairman and senicr mdependent director of MFI
Furniture Group plc (now Howden Joinery Group Ple; He has also
been chairman of the adwvisory board of Manchester Business Schoot
and was awarded a CBE for services to retail n 2005 Tony 15 non-
executive chairman of Pets at Home Group Ple. senior adviser at
Kohlberg, Hraws, Roberts & Co L P, and a non-executive director of
PrimaPrix SL.

Key

A Audit Committes

D Brisciosure Committze

N Nominations Committee
R Remuneration Comimitiee
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Alex Baldock
Group Chief Executive D

Alex Baldock jained the Board as Group Chef Executive of Dixons
Carphone on 3 April 2018 He was group chief executive of Shop
Direct from 2012 to eatly 2018 Pnor to that, Alex was managing
director of Lombard {a divisien of Royal Bank of Scotlandj, and was
commercial director and corpotate director at Barclays Bank His
eariter career included consultancy roles with Bain & Company and
Kalchas

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director D

Humphrey Singer has resigned from Dixons Carphone to become
chiet hnance officer of Marks & Spencer Group PLC, and will be
stepping down from the Board at the end of June 2018 Humphrey
was appointed Group Finance Cirector of Dixons Carphone on 6
August 20 14 following the merger of Dixons Retal with Carphong
Warehouse He was apponted group finance director of Dixons in
September 2011, having joined 1ts board in July 2011 Since joning
Dixons in 2007 he has held a number of finance roles, namely
finance director of Currys group financial controiler, and finance
chirector of the UK & Ireland division Prior to joining Bixons, he held
a number ot finance roles at Cadbury Schweppes plc and Coca-
Cola Enterprises UK Limited, including finance cirector at the latter,
Humphrey 15 also 2 non-executive director of Taylor Wirnpey plc

Jonny Mason
Group Chief Financial Officer Designate

Jonny Mason 1s expected 1o join the Board as Group Chief
Financial Officer by September 2018 Jonny has been chief financial
officer of Halfords plc since 2075 and was intenm chief executive
officer between September 2017 and January 2018 Prior to that,
Jonny was chief financial officer of Scand Standard AB, chief
financial officer at Odeon and UCI Cinemas and finance director of
Sansbury s Supermarkets His early career included finance roles
with Shell andg Hanson pic



Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent Non-Execultrze Duector N B

Andrea Gisle Joosen was appointed as a Non-Executive Director

of Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger ot
Dixons Retall with Carphone Warehouse Andrea joined Dixons

as a hon-executive director on 1 March 2013 Her former roles
include charman of Tekntkmagasinel AB, non-executive director of
Lighthouse Group, chief executive of Boxer TV Access AB in Sweden
and managing director {Mordic region; of Fanasonic Chantelle AB
and Twentieth Century Fox Her early career involved several senior
marketing roies with Procter & Gamble and Johnson & Johnson

She 1s currently a non-executive director of ICA Gruppen AEB, James
Hardie Industnes pic, Mr Green & Co AB and BillerugKorsnas AB

Jock Lennox '
Independent Non-Executive Director A

Jock Lennox was appointed as a Non-Executive Director ot Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retal
with Carphone Warehouse and 1s Charrman of the Audit Committee
Jock joined Dixans Retall as a non-executive director on 10 January
2012. He 1s a chartered accountant and worked for over 30 years

(20 years as a partner) for EY {farmerly Ernst & Young in the UK and
globally He retired from EY 1n 2009 and has subseguently acted as

a non-executive director of @ number of companes Jock is the non-
executive chairman of EnQuest PLC and Hill & Smith Holdings PLC. a
non-executive director of Barratt Developments PLC and chairman of
trustees of the Tail Ships Youth Trust

Nigel Paterson
General Counsel and Company Secretary D

Nigel Paterson was appotnted General Counsel and Gompany
Secretary in April 2015, He has a strong background in UK and
international telecoms and held several senior legal roles at BT
Group plc before joining Dixons Carphone These mncluded general
counsel of BT consumer, head of competition & reguiatory law and
vice president and chief counset for UK and major ransactions
Prior to BT, Nigel was engaged as legat counsel at baxonMati
Internaticnal Limited He trained and quabfied as a sohcitor with
Linklaters

Board skills and experience

Fiona McBain
Independent Non-Executive Director A 2

Fiona McBain joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 1
March 2017 Fiona was chief executive officer of Scothish Friendly
Group until December 2016, having joined the company in 1998. She
was previously engaged in the finance functions at Prudential pic and
Scothsh Armicable She guahfied as a chartered accountant with Arthur
Young inow EY) in London, working across a number of industry
sactors in the UK and then in the US Frona is currentty chairman

of Scottish Mortgage Investment Trust PLC, vice-chair of Save the
Children and a trustee of the Humanitanan Leadership Academy.

Gerry Murphy
Independent Non-Executive Director A R

Gerry Murphy 1s a Non-Executive Director of Dixons Carphone
and joined Carphone Warehouse as a non-executive director

on 2 Apnl 2014 He s a former Deloitie LLP partner and was
teader of its Professional Practices Group with girect industry
expenence i consumer busmess, retail and technology, media
and telecommurications He was a member of the Deloitte board
and charman of its audit comimittee for a number of years and
also charman of the Audit & Assurance Faculty of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Gerry 1s senior
independent director of Capital & Counties Properties PLC and
a non-executive board member of the Department of Health and
Social Care

1 Jock Lennox will be stepping down from the Board with effect
from 31 December 2018 and will remain as Audit Committee
Chairman until the conclusion of the Annual Generai Meefing
'AGM’) on 6 September 2018

2 Fiona McBaim will take over as Chair of the Audit Commnttes at the
conclusion of the AGM. subject to her re-election by sharehoiders
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Corporate Governance Report

Chairman’s introduction

| am pleased to present my introduction to the Corporate
Governance section of the Annual Report and Accounts
2017/18. | set out below how the Company 1s commuttecd
to good corporate governance practice and effective
stewardship as the foundation of long-term shareholder
value craation.

Corporate governance

Good governance 1s at the heart of any well-run business
Our Board pohcies, such as dwersity, ime commitment, the
roles of the Chairman, Group Chief Executive and Senior
Independent Director, external appointments and external
advice are reviewed and refreshed annually The Board

has reviewed our policies and practices against the 2016
UK Corporate Governance Code (the 'Code’), ensuring
continuing alignment with best practice

Changes to the Board

The Board has been streamhned n the last year t¢ enable

it to function more effectively. Tim How and Sally Morgan
stepped down as Non-Executive Directors at the conclusion
of the annual general meeting on 7 September 2017 Andrew
Harnson resigned as Deputy Chief Executive and as a
Director on 21 December 2017 1o become Chairman of The
Carphone Warehouse Limited and fecus on the challenges in
that business.

Sebastian James resigned as Group Chief Executive on

2 Aprit 2018 and left the Company on 27 Apnl 2018. On

10 January 2018, Humphrey Singer notified the Board that
he would be stepping down as Group Finance Director at
the end of June 2018. Finally, Katie Bickerstaffe stepped
down fram the Board on 28 April 2018. We are immensely
grateful to Sebastian, Humphrey and Katie for therr nspiring
leadership since the Merger of Dixons Retail and Carphone
Warehouse 1in 2014, and wish all of them well in ther new
roles.

Alex Baldock joined the Board as Group Chief Executive on
3 April 2018. Alex brings strong retail:ng and e-coinmerce
experience from his previous role as group chief executive
of Shop Direct and we look forward to working with im On
27 March 2018, the Company announced that Jenny Mason
would be appointed Group Chief Financial Officer, with
effect from a date to be determined Jonny brings valuable
listed company expernence from finance leadership roles in
both the UK and the Nordics

Jock Lennox will be stepping down from the Board with
effect from 31 December 2018. Fiona McBan will take over
as Chair of the Audit Committes at the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting {'AGM’} on 6 September 2018 Jock
has made a great contribution to the Company’'s success. as
a valued member of both the Dixons Retaill and the Dixons
Carphone boards, and as Audit Committee Chainman. On
behalf of the Board, | would like to thank Jock for his service
over the last six years

Role and compaosition of the Board
The members of the Board are as set out on pages 36 and
37 of this Report.
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The Nominations Committee reviews each year the
composition of the Board, including the independence and
commitment to the Company shown by the non-executive
directors during the year, That review encompasses

all forms of diversity, ncluding gender, professional,
international and ethnic diversity At year end, the Board
had two female directors, one of whom 1s based outside the
UK and who provides strong suppaort on matters relating to
the Eurcpean business environment and corporate socal
responsibility.

After this year's review, 1t was again concluded that the
Board possessed the necessary skills and expernence to
discharge its duties fully and to challenge management
effectively

As part of the annual reviews. the non-executive directors
were asked to confrm that they continue to have enough time
to dedicate to Company business and all have formally done
so As a unitary Board, the directors acknowledge therr joint
responsibility for the business’s success. We have clearly
differentiated the roles between executive management
running the business and our non-executives, who provide
the appropriate leve! of scrutiny and oversight. In this way,
the directors work together to challenge as well as support
each other with the aim being effective decision-making,
leadership and accountability for all aspects of the business

Development and induction

The directors have continued to widen therr knowledge

of the business as a whole through formal presentations,
visits to stores and facilities, and informal discussions. Alex
Baldock participated in a tallored nduchion programme
upon joining the Board, including meetings with
rmanagement at different levels and visits to sites wortdwide.
Jonny Masan will take part in a similar, tallored induction
programme when he joins the Board.

Board evaluation

The trnienrial external Board evaluation in 2016 was followed
by nternal Board evaluations last year and this year. This
evaluation invoived an in-depth review of the Board’s
activities and those of its committees, the directors’
interaction and thair effectiveness in carrying out their roles.
Further information can be found on pages 43 and 44

Committee structure

The main committees of the Board are the Audit, Disclosure,
Nominations and Remuneration committees. Each has a
dedicated section in this Report Beneath Board level, the
Group Executive Committee delegates actions and reports
back to the Board as necessary

Conctusion

We possess a strong, balanced and diverse Board
supported by sound poiicies and procedures. This provides
us with a goed framework to support future business
success My fellow directors and | look forward to meeting
you at this year's AGM in September

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Charman
20 Jdune 2014



The Board and Committees Structure

Corporate Governance statement

The Board confirms that throughout the year ended 28 April
2018 and as at the date of thus Annual Report and Accounts,
the Company has been fuily comphant with the Code.

This Repart, together with the Directors’ Report and the
reports fraomn the Audit, Disclosure, Nominations and
Remuneration committees, provides details of how the
Company has applied the principles and complied with the
provisions of the Code durning the year The Code can be
obtained from the Financia! Reporting Council's website,
www frc.org.uk

Board responsibilities

The overnding responsibility of the Beard s to provide clear
and responsible teadership to the Group, giving due weight
to the views of alt stakeholders. within a framewark of

efficient and effective controls so as to allow the key Issues
and risks facing the business to be assessed and managed

Composition of the Board

At the year end, the Board camiprised eight members the
Chairman, two executive directors and five non-executive
directors, each of whom is determined by the Beard to be
independent in character and judgement and who provide
effective challenge to the Board and the business These
independent non-executive directors are Tony DeNunzio
CBE, Andrea Gisle Joosen, Jock Lennox, Fiona McBain and
Gerry Murphy, More than half the directors (excluding the
Chairrman, Lord Livingston of Parkheadj are considered 1o e
independent in accordance with the Code.

In accordance with the Code, all directars who remain in
office will stand for election or re election at the Company's
AGM. Biographical information s shown on pages 36 and
37. Alex Baldock was appointed as Group Chief Executive
and |joined the Disclosure Committee on 3 Aprii 2018 Jonny
Mason will be appointed as Group Chief Financial Officer
and will join the Disclosure Commuittee by September 2018
Both Alex and Jonny will stand for election at the AGM on

6 September 2018

The dwision of responsibility between the Chairman and
the Group Chief Executive s formally defined, set out in
writing and 1s reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, as
it was in March 2018 The Charrman s responsible for the
overall operation, leadership and governance of the Board.
The Group Chief Executive 1s responsible for the executive
management of the Group’s business and for implementing
the Group’s strategic and commercial objectives.

The role of the Semor Independent Director (*SID) 1s also set
out in wnting and reviewed annually by the Board, as 1t was
i March 2018 The SID's role 1s to support the Chairman,
be available to any shareholders who feel they are unable to
raise 1ssues with the Chairman directly, and to discuss with
the Chairman the results of the latter’s performance review.
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* Topic refers to pnncipal nsks on pages 15 to0 1

Board topics considered in the financial year 2017/18

2017
May

Q4 trading statement

corporate strategy discussion
budgetary approva!

internal Board effectiveness review
Health and Safety

diversity pahcy approval

pension update

corporate governance review and
update

annual review of conficts

Audit and Nominations commitiees
Terms of Reference approval
Board policies approval

executive shareholding palicy
approval

June

»

* & & & @

preliminary announcement and
annual report and accounts 2016/17
annual general mesting documents
final dividend approval

IT infrastructure

cyber security

banking facitities

EU General Data Protection
Regulation ( GDPR ) programme
plan

» environmental matters

modern slavery statement approval
Disclosure and Remuneration
comimittees Terms of Reference
approval

1

July

Invastor relations activities
honaybee update

competiton law update

tax update

Delegation of Authonty approval
share dealing code approval

September

-

annual general meesting

risk regtster review”

consumer multiplay and energy
switching strategies

falent review and succession
planning update

diversity reporting

Information Commissioner’'s Office
{ICCY update

Payment Card Industry (PCH)
compliance

Qctaber

contracts approval
network relabonships
property rationalisation
banking tacihties

ICO update

Insurance update

December

intenm announcement apptoval
interim dividend approval
commercial systems upgrade
contract approvals

nsk register update’

GDPR progress updale

FCA traning

Schedule of Matters Reserved for
the Board approval

Nordics strategy sesson

The Board’s areas of focus in 2018/19 are expected Yo include:

ahgnment of the Group's purpose, values and culture.

review of Group strategy and pnornities,

financial and operational perfarmance;

review of the Carphone Warehouse,
review of principal nsks and nisk appetite.

the implications of Brexit on the Group's activities,
regulatary compliance,
IT infrastructure;

cyber securty and data protection.
leadership and suscession planning.
diversity and inclusion:

Health and Safety.

CSR; and

updates on corporate governance best practice

49

2018

January

¢ Christmas trading update guwde

* business to business update

* D ireland update

* regulatory relationship and oversight

« EU Market Abuse Regulation traning

* Disclosure Committee Terms of
Reference approvat

March

* sk register and nisk appetite review”

= commerciat systems upgrade

* MNordics update

* honeybee update

= corporate social responsibility
('CSR") update

+ diversity policy and reporting

* gender pay gap reporting

* employee engagement

* non-executive director fees

« data protection policy approval

* Delegation of Authority approval

Apnt
* property rahonahsation

Standing items
* Carphone Warehouse trading model
* regulated businesses’ compliance

Exceptional items covered during
2017/18

* dispoesal of the Company's Spamsh
operations

* August trading statement

+ appointmeants and resignations of
executive directors



Reserved matters

There are documented schedules of matters reserved for the Board and matters delegated tc committees of the Board The
formal Schedule of Matters Reserved for the Board was last reviewed n March 2018 and includes

* approvai of published financial statements dividend policy and other disciosures requirng Board approval;

s declaration of intenim and recormmendation of final dmidends,
s approval of budget and Group strategy and objectives,

* appointment and remuneration of directors Company Secretary and other senior executives
* approval of major acguisitions and disposals.

* approval of authonty levels for expsnditure

s approval of Group policies,

* approval of treasury / internal control and sk management policies. and

+ approval of shareholder commumcations

Chairman’s responsibilities

* manage the Board;

represent all stakeholders’
Interests,

lead the Board in review:ing and
approving the Group’s strateyy.
budget and husiness proposals.
* ensure Board and committee
effectiveness;

promate (with the Company
Secretary) the highest standards
of corporate governance;
faciitate effective contributions of
the non-executive directors.

* ensure constructive relations
between the executive and
non-executive directors; and
aversee inducthien, development,
performance evaluation, and
succession planning of the Board

Board attendance

Group Chief Executive’s
responsibilities

+ formulate the Group strategy and
direction {with the Chairman) and
develop Group objectives,

« dehver Group financial
performance;

« provide leadership to the Group
and senicr management and
ansure effective performance and
SUCCESSIoN.

» identify business development
opportunities,

» manage Group nsk profile ana
ensure internal controls and nsk
miigation measures are In place,;

* represent the Company with key
stakehoiders.

* oversee the operational and
support functions, and

¢ sef standards of performance
throughout the Group.

Senior Independent Director's

responsibilities

be available to communicate with
shareholders,

appraise the performance of the
Chairman annually;

oversee an orderly succession for
the postion of Chawrman;
support the Charrman in the
performance of his duties; and
work with the Chairman, other
directors and shareholders to
resclve significant 1ssues and to
masntamn Board and Company
stability in pericds of stress

The Board attended eight scheduled meetings and one unscheduled meeting dunng the period under review. The Board

has met three times since the year end

Member Appointed Resigned Auem:lancg 11} Alex Baldock attended the only Board

Alrw Balodeelt o ) 1 1 meeting following his appomntment

Alex Baldock 3 Apr 2018 of (27 Andrea Gisle Joosen was unable to

Tony DeNunzio CBE 8of8 attend one Board meeting due to

i) 7of8 medical reasons.

Andrea Gisle Joosen 13) Fiona McBain was unable to

Jock Lennox 8ofB attend one Board meeting due to a
8of 8 commitment that was planned before

Lord Livingston of Parkhead she joined the Board and couid not be

Fiona McBain”® 7of8 changed

Rof8 ) Former dirgctors attended all Boarg

Gerry Murphy mesatings if any) prior 1o therr

Humphrey Singer Bof8 respective resignations,
Former directors®

Katie Bickerstaffe 28 Apr 2018 8of8

Sir Charles Dunstone 30 Apr 201/ UofQ

Andrew Harrisen 21 Dec 2017 G of 6

Tim How 7 Sep 2017 4 of 4

Sebastian James 2 Apr 2018 80f8

Baroness Morgan of Huyton F Sep 2017 4 0f4
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Committee members

There are four man Board committees: Audit, insclosure, Nominations and Remuneration. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources via the Company Secretary and. where necessary, have direct access to independent

professional advisors to undertake their duties

Audht
e . 7(pages 51 h:fB)
Lord Livingston of Parkhead'™
Tony DeNunzio CBE

Andrea Gisle Joosen

Jock Lennox Chairman
Fiona McBawn Member
Gerry Murphy* Member
Humphrey Singer

Alex Baldock®

Nigel Paterson
Former directors

Sir Charles Dunstone™
Tim How®

Sebastian James'”

Baroness Morgan of Huyton™

hsclosure Nommnations Remuneration
fpage58) (pages60to6Z) (pages®3todN)
o Chairman
Member Chalrman
Member Member
Mermber
Chairman
Member
Member

(1} Lord Livingston of Parkhead succeeded Sir Chanles Dunstone as Charman of the Nominations Committee following the latter's
resignation from the Board on 30 April 2017 Lord Lhvingston was Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee untl 30 Apn! 2017, and was
a member of the Disclosure Committee between 27 June 2017 and 6 November 2017,

2) Tony DeNunzio CBE succeeded Lord Livingston as Ghairman of the Remuneration Committee on 30 April 2017

(3) Fiona McBain was appainted to the Audit Committee on 7 September 2017

{# Gerry Murphy was appointed to the Remuneration Committee on § May 2017

(5) Alex Batdock was appointed 1o the Disclosure Committee upon his appointment to the Board on 3 Apni 2018

© Tim How and Baroness Morgan stepped down from the Board and committees at the conclusion of the annual general meeting on

7 September 2017

(7} Sebastian James was a member of the Disclosure Commitiee untd his resignation from the Board on 2 Apnl 2018

Board governance matters

The Chawrman is responsible for ensunng that all directors
are properly bnefed onissues ansing at Board meetings and
that they have full and hmely access to relevant information.
The Company uses an electronic board paper system
which enables the safe and secure dissemination of quality
information to the Board All Board and committee papers
are sent out on a timely basis with sufficient information

for the directors to be able to discharge theirr duties The
format, content and timely production of Board papers s

a continually evolving process o ensure relevance and
clarty of communication Formal minutes of the Board

and commuttee meetings are prepared by the Company
Secretary, or fus nominee, and approved by the Board and
committees at thew next meeting.

The Chairman mamntains regular communications with the
non-executive directors, both between meetings and at
Board dinners, which are usually held on an evening pnor to
a Board meeting. This provides the opportunity to discuss.
amongst other matters, corporate stidategy and business
performance
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Board meetings are usually held at the Company’s head
office and occasionally at othier Group locations, tc assist
all Board members in gaining a deeper understanding of
the business and to provide semor management across
the Group with the opportunity to meet the Board. This
year, a Board meeting was held 1n Sheffield, UK. Visiting
our varous operational locations also ¢nables the Board
to meet other members of the team, and to visit stores
throughout the business's portfolo.

New directors appointed to the Board receive a personal
induction programme, together with guidance and traning
appropriate 1o theirr level of previous expenence. Each
director 18 given the opportunity to meet with senior
management and store colieagues and to wvisit the Group’s
key sites This enables familansation with the businesses,
operations, systemns and markets in which the Group
operates New directors are also encouraged to meet with
the Group’s auditor and advisars.

As a newly appointed Executive Director, Alex Baldock

was given an individual induchon programme talored to his

responsibibties and past experience Jonny Mason will take

part in a sunilar, tatlored induction programme when he joins
the Board



A typical Induction programme includes the fellowing elements. as appropnate for each individual director:

Training and information provided

Business and strategy

+ business model and strategy

* markets and competitive landscape
* overview of each business area

* opportunities

Finance and audit

+ finance, treasury and tax overviews

+ current financial position and future projections
* budget

* accounting 1ISsues

+ audit report and findings

* risk and internal controls

Investor relations

» shareholder base and communications
* analyst coverage and perspectives

* communication pohcies

Governance

+ overview of committees

* UK Corporate Governance Code and cther best practice
guidance

¢ UK listed company requirements

¢ directors’ duties

People to meet

= directors

+ committee chairpersons

* General Counsel and Company Secretary

« members of the Group Executive Commuttee

* senior management, including the Head of Internal Audit
and the Group IT Director

« members of the external audit team

+ store and distnbution centre colleagues

Sites to visit
* vanous stores and operational locations around the
Group

in accordance with the Code’s requirement for directors

to regularly update and refresh therr skils and knowledge.,
trairing 1s provided as appropnate 1o indwvidual directors and
o the Board as a whole. The Board receives reguiar updates
on governance, compliance and company knowledge in the
form of training sessions from external advisors and in-house
briefings from senior management The Board has set aside
time on the current Board agenda as appropnate for these
training and briefing sessions to ocour.

Succession planning

In recent years, succession planning has been identified as
an area where greater focus 1s required This was addressed
N the refreshing of the Board, including the appointment

of a new Group Chief Executive and Group Chief Financial
Officer Planning continues for the future, In seeking an
optimal balance of skills, expenence, ndependence.
knowledge and dwersity required at Board level, the
directors endeavour 10 sahsfy themselves that adequate
plans are In place to ensure an orderly succession of
appointments to the Board and sentor management The
Board reviewed n Qetall succession and talent management
plans for senior management at the September 2017 Board
meeting.

Performance evaluation

The Coade recommends that the perfonnance of the Board
be reviewed externally every three years The last external
evaluation of the Board was carried out in 2015/16

This year, the Company Secretary facilitated an ntermnal
evaluation of Board perforimance and that of the Audit,
Nominations and Remuneration committees The Disclosure

Commuittee will be individually evaluated as part of the
externally faciitated Board evaluation next year.

The review examined the level of skills, knowledge and
expenence of the Beard which invelved all directors
responding to guestionnaires about themselves, the
Chairman. the Board, and its commuttees. A summary of the
rasults together with anonyrmised comments, was collated
into a comprehensive report. The Company Secretary
submitted the draft report to the Chairman and presented it
to the Board for consideration at its May 2018 meeting.

The report addressed all matters relating to the performance
of the Board which ncluded, but were not limited to, the
roles of the executive and non-executive directors, the
Beard, committees, preparation for and performance

at meetings, the effectiveness of each dwrector and the
Chairman, leadership, culture, strategy and corporate
governance. The report also included a year-on-year
comparison showing to what extent the areas identified
for further focus in the 2016/17 report had tmproved. The
results of this companson are inctuded in the table on the
next page

The Board 1s of the opimion that the Charman had no other
commitments durning the year that adversely affected his
perforrnance in hus role, that his effectiveness in leading

the Board was not impaired and that he cultivated an
atmosphere for positive, challenging and constructive
debate Following the results of the evaluation, the Board
confirms that all directors. including the Chairman, continue
1o be effective and demonstrate commitment to the role,
including having time to attend all necessary meetings and
to carry out other appropriate duties.
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The conclusion of the evaluaton was that there were no major areas for action Some of the themes identified for further

improvement, together with agreed associated actions, are set cut i the table below:

Key areas of focus in
2017/18

Acthions for ymplementaton
{from annual report and
accounts 2016/17)

1 Board composttion,
succession planning and
tatent management

= continung to focus on * more time was spent al both -
Board and Nominaticns
Cummittee meetings n

201718 discussing succession
planming, talent management

aversity i all s forms
thchuding tversity of
thougaht

= renforoing the pipehne
of future appointments
of the Board and sernix

and diversity

s zuccessien planming has been
evident across key roles
inclushing several Board and
execyutive appoimntments

management

Change from 2016/17 to 2017/18  Actions for implementation in 2018/18

continuing te focus on diversity in all
its forms, including ethmic diversity

reinforcing succession and talent
planming for serwor management,
including providing more
opportunities for Board interaction

considennyg how best to
utiise key performance
mndicators to aid and

2 Stakeholder
management and

+ key performance ndicators .
measures and targets are
currently being reviewedd
toy align with the Group's

customer engagement
encouwage further

QISCLESILN refreshen sirategy

3 Format of Board + commutting more time 1« o the Board s 0 the process .
meetings ot refreshing the Group »

im0l and stralegy Inliowing

the appaintment of New

srratégy JISCuLNons

* further e reasing the
trequency of ntoimal
non-executive directon
dISCUSSILNS

exeC Utive dieClors and senor
management

= the Board schedule now
ncludes more inform. i
non-executve director
meetings and dinnets

ensuring that Boars sessions during
the course of the year cover ail key
stakeholder groups

fengthening Board meetings to allow
more time for strategy discussions
and other topics

scheduling mate frequent  +  the Board scheduled more tme »

4 Company vision and

working with the new Group Chiet
Exgcutive to re-define the Company's
vision and values

values Boatd discussions within the Boara agenda in
dedicated 1o this topic 200171138 for this topic
5 Corporate Social = greater tacus on CSR * the Board had an extended .

session on CSR topics this
yedr and provided the support
required to set up the new
sustanabiity strategy and
programme Lie Earth Neulral
further details of which can be
tound on pages 25 1o 34

Fesponsitiity (CSH) topics In the Board

schedule

spending more time on CSR intiatives
under the gurgance of the new Live
Earth Neutral committee, which s
attended by a non-executive drector

6. Devoting more time to * N/A - new this year
reviewing lessons iearnt
from previous decisions

*

.

Capital and constitutional disclosures

committing more time to reviewing
previous decisions to ensure 'lessons
learned’ are captured

ensunng that gebriefs are provided
15 the Board as appropriate on key
projects

Information on the Company's share capital and constitution required to be included in this Corporate Governance
statement 1s contained In the Directors’ Report on pages 48 to 50 Such information 1s incorporated into this Corporate

Governance statement by reference and is deemed to be part of it
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Risk and internal controls

Committed to effective risk management

The Board has averall responsibility for the Group’s system
of nsk management and internal control, and for reviewing
its effectiveness.

Effective nsk management requires coliective responsibility
and engagement across the entire business Dixons
Carphone's senior management team, operating through
the Group Risk & Compliance Commitiee, 1s accountable
far:

¢ identifying, mitigating and managing risk wy their areas of
responsibility,

The systemn of risk management and internal control

« unplementing and monitoring controls which are designed
to mitigate the nsks to which their area of the business
s exposed The controls by their nature are designed to
manage rather than eliminate nsk and can only provide
reasonable but not abselute assurance aganst matenal
rmisstatement or loss, and

* ethical and policy complance.

Dixons Carphone’s system of nsk management and internal control consisted of a number of components, which are

described below.

Framework

The Board and its vanous sub-committees have defined

* a delegation of authonthes that cascades throughout the
Group, and

= the risk appetite whichi sets out the boundaries
within which risk-based decision-making can occur

Activities

The Group Risk & Compliance Committee meets quarterly
and reports 1o the Audit Commuttee to review the
management of sk ansing out of the Group's activities
and to monitor the status of key nsks and actions at
Group and business unit level.

The
and outlnes the expectations for the operation ot Board
the control environment.
Senwr management undertakes Quarterly business reviews covering financial and
* annual business planning. Senior coperational performance by each business unit, which
* objective setting and performance reviews, and Management involved comparison of actual results with the original

* gstablishes the policy framework for the business

budget and the updating of a full year forecast.

A nsk management policy and framework which
outlined the principles and approach to risk
management withun the business

Risk Management

e Group risk process which identifies the principat
nisks faced by the business, their potential impact
and likelihood of occurrence (assessed on a gross
and net basis), together with an evaluation of the
key controls and rnisk mitigation plans. Each
business unit gperates a nsk management

process In accordance with the risk

management framework and

maintains a rnsk register.

A ‘How We Do Business’ framework and
Minimum Control Standards that outhine the
requirernents of the control envircnment
that each business unit has to follow

Interral Control

An annual control self assessment over
operation of the Minmurm Control Standards.
There are ongoing control improvements to
enhange control design and effectiveness.

Control procedures operate over the
Company's operations and IT gereral
controls. Fraud and loss prevention
operates across our retail online

and togistic activitiss

People, process and procedures

Training 1s provided to colleagues
1o cover their risk and compliance
cbligations. A 24/7 whistleblowing
hotline enables colleagues

to report breaches of ethics

or pohcy.

An internal audit function and an
annual plan approved by the
Audit Commuttee

Assurance

Internal audit executed the annual
audit plan. External audit conducted
statutory audits of the Group’s
financial statements
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Group Risk Management Structure

The diagram above shows the governance structure 1 place
over the Group's nsk management activibes, as at 28 Apri)
2018.

From 1 May 2018, the mempership of the Group Executive
Committee (‘ExCo’} was reconstituted to comprise

* Group Chief Executive;

» Group Finance Director;

s Chief Customer Officer and CEO Financiat Services:
o Chief Commercial Officer;

« Chief Operations Officer,

* Managing Director, Carphone Warehouse:

* Group HR Director;

* Strategy & Transformation Director,

* IR, PR & Corporate Affairs Director

* CEO International, and

s General Counsel and Company Secretary.

The members of the Group ExCoe now comprise the Group
Risk & Compliance Committee.

Statement on risk management and internal control

The system of nsk management and internal contrel
described above was in place and effective throughout the
penad under review and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts (ARA’) 2017/18

The effectiveness of these systems 1s regutarly monitored
and reviewed by the Audit Committee and the systems
refined as necessary 10 meet changes in the Group's
business and associated nsks The system of nisk
management and internal control can only provide
reasonable and not absclute assurance against inatenal
errors, losses, fraud or breaches of laws and regulations
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The Board also monitars the Company's system of nisk
management and internal control, and conducts a review
of its effectiveness at least once a year. This year’s review
covered all material controls during the year and up to the
date of approval of the ARA 2017/18, which were approved
by the Audit Commuttee and the Board.

The Board has carrned aut a robust assessment of the
principal nsks facing the Compeany, including those that
would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or iquidity, A description of these nsks, together
with details of how they are managed or mitigated, 1s set out
on pages 15to 18,

Risk appetite

Dixons Carphone faces a broad range of nsks reflecting

the business environment in which it operates The nisks
ansing from the Dixons Carphone business environment
and operating model can be significant. Successiul financial
performance for the business i1s achieved by managmng
these rsks through intelligent decision-making and an
effective control environment that details the processes and
controls required to mitigate risk.

Dixons Carphone’s general sk appetite 1s a balanced one
that allows taking measured risk as the Company pursues
its strategic objectives, whilst aming to manage and
minimise rnisk in (ts operations Dixons Carphone recognises
that 1t 1s not possible or necessarily desirable to eliminate all
of the risks inherent in its activities. Acceptance of some nsk
1s often necessary to foster innovation and growth within its
business practices.



Internal audit

The Group has an internal audit department which conducts
audits of selected business processes and functions each
year. The Group's internal audit plan set out the internal
audit programme for 2017/18, which was prepared taking
into account the principal ngks across the Group and input
from management and the Audit Committee The three-
yaar railing assurance plan s designed each year to test
the robustness of financiai and operational controls and
determine whether operating procedures are designed and
operating effectively. The Committee approves the internal
audit plan and considers the aiignment of the audit plan with
the principal nsks faced by the Group as part of its approvai
process.

The Audit Committee Chairman recewves and reviews

alt reports from the internal audit departiment detailing

its material findings from testing performed and any
recommendations for mprovement The Audit Committee
recetves a summary of these reports at each meeting. with
the full reports available 1o all members on request The
internal audit teamn tracks and reperts on the progress and
implementation of achon plans agreed with management
Once closed, the action plans agreed with managerment
are eligible for follow-up procedures to determine whether
new controls and / or procedures have been implemented
effectively.

The Audit Committee considered the effectiveness of the
internal audit department by holding discugsiong with
management and external auditors, considenng the quaity
of reports submitted, the timeiness of the clearance of
action points and the perceved impartiality of the internal
audit team The Committee concluded that the internal audit
department has in all respects been effective dunng the
period under review

Authorisation of conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place 1o 1denify,

authorise and manage conflicts of interest, and these
procedures have operated effectively Potential conflicts are
approved by the Board, or by two independent directors if
authonsation s needed quickly. and then reported to the
Board at its next meeting A register of directors’ conflicts s
maintainead.

Communication with investors

The Board supports the imhatives set out in the Code

and the UK Stewardship Code and encouragas reguiar
engagement with both existing and potential nstitutional
shareholders and other stakeholders 1t believes that it s
important to explan business developments and financial
results to the Gompany's shareholders and to understand
shareholder concerns The principal cormmunication
media used to impart iInformation tc shareholders are
news releases (including results announcements}, Investor
presentations and Cormpany publications

The Group Chief Executive has principal responsibility for
investor relations, He s supported by a dedicated investor
relations department that, amongst other matters, ensures
there 15 a full programme of reguiar dialogue with major
insttutional sharsholders and potential shareholders as
well as sell-side analysts throughout the year In all such
dialogue, care 1s faken to ensure that no price-sensitive
infoarmation is released.

The Charman ensures that the Board receives updates
on investor refations matters at each Board meeting. The
Board also recerves penodic reports on investors’ views
of the performance of the Company. The Charman and
non-execulive directors are avalable o meet with majer
sharehotders If such meetings are required, and the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee communicates
with major shareholders on matters of remuneration.

The Company 1s comimitted ta fostering effective
communication with all of its members, be they insttutional
investors, private or employee shareholders. The Company
communicates formally to its members when s full year
and half year resuits are pubfished. Thase results are posted
on the 'Investors’ section of the corporate website, as are
other external announcements and press releases.

The annual general meeting 1s an important medium by
which the Company communicates with shareholders, at
which an account of the progress of the business over the
iast year. along with a review of current 1ssues facing the
business. 18 given. Shareholders are encouraged to ask
guestions and the directors, including the Chairmen of

the Board commuttees, are in attendance to answer them.
In accordance with the Code, formal notfication of the
Company's annual general meeting I1s sent to shareholders
at least 20 working days in advance of the meeting.

Further financial and business information s avaltable on the
Group's corporate website, www . dixonscarphone.com.

Lord Livingstoen of Parkhead
Charman
20 June 2018
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Corporate Governance statement

As required by Rule 7.2 1 of the Financial Conduct Authority
(‘FCA’} Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules
(‘OTR’), the Corporate Governance statement 1s set out on
page 39 of this Annual Report and Accounts (‘ARA’) All
mformation detalled in the Corporate Governance statement
is Incorporated by reference inte this Directors’ Report and
is deemed to form part of this Birectors’ Report

Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules

For the purposes of DTR 4.1 5R(2) and DTR 4 1 8, this
Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 34
comprise the management report

Employee involvement

The Group piaces significant emphasis on its employees’
involvernent at all levels of the organisation Empioyees
are kept informed of 1ssues affecting the Group through
formal and informal meetings and through the Group’s
internal publications. The management tearn regularly
communicates matters of current interest and concern with
employees. Further information on employee engagement
is Included in the Corporate Responsibility report on pages
25 to 34. Details of the employees’ involvement in the
Group's share plans are contained in the Remuneraticn
Report.

Employment of disabled people

The business is committed o providing equal opportunities
in recruitment, training and development, and promotion.
We encourage applications from indwviduals with disabiities
who can do the job effectively and candidates will be
consideraed for each role for which they apply All efforts
are made to retain disabled colleagues in our employment
including making any reasonable re-adjustments to ther
roles. Every endeavour 1s made to find suitable alternative
employment and to re-train any employee who becomes
disabled while serving the Group.

Information on greenhouse
gas emissions

The information on greenhouse gas emissions that the
Company 1s required to disclose (s set cut in the Corporate
Responsibility report on pages 28 and 29 This information
is Incorporated into this Directors’ Report by reference and
1s deemed to form part ot this Report

Donations

No political donatiens were made dunng the penod by the
Group.
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Directors

Gerry Murphy was appointed to the Remuneration
Committee on @ May 2017 Lord Livingston was appointed
to the Disclosure Committee on 27 June 2017, and stepped
down from the Committee on 6 November 2017. Baroness
Morgan and Tim How stepped down from the Beard at the
conclusion of the annual general meeting on 7 September
2017. Andrew Harnson stepped down as Deputy Chief
Executive and from the Board on 21 December 2017 to
become Chairman of The Carphone Warehouse Limited

Alex Baldock was appointed as Group Chief Executive
and a director o 3 April 2018 Sebastiant James resigned
on 2 April 2018, and left the Company on 27 Apri! 2018 to
join Walgreens Boots Allance as semwor vice president. and
president and managing director of Boots.

On 10 January 2018, Humphrey Singer notified the Board
that he would be stepping down as Group Finance Director
to take up the position of chief finance officer at Marks &
Spencer Group PLC On 27 March 2018, the Company
announced the appaintment of Jonny Mason as Group
Chief Financial Officer, with effect from a date to be
determined”

On 6 Aprl 2018, Katie Bickerstatfe mformed the Board of
her decision to step down from the Board to take up the
positicn of chief executive designate at the new energy
supply business recently announced by SSE plc and
Innogy SE Katie stepped down from the Board on 28 April
2018 and will be taking up her new role at a date to be
determined later this year.

Jock Lennox will be stepping down from the Board with
effect from 31 December 2018. Fiona McBain will take over
as Charr of the Audit Committee at the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) on 6 September 2018.

The names. biographies and dates of appomtment of the
current Board of Directors are provided on pages 36 and 37.

With regard to the appointment and replacement of
direciors, the Company 15 gaverned by its Articles of
Associaton (' Articles”, the UK Corporate Governance Code
{the "Code’), the Companies Act 2006 {the 'Act’} and related
legislation

The Articles themselves may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders The Board has the power to
appoint new directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total
number of directors does not exceed the maximum of 15 as
set out In the Articles. Any director appointed by the Board
will be appointed until the next annual general meeting
where they shall stand for election by shareholders.

From 271 May 2018 until Jonny Mason joins the Company, Clare
Pettittis Interim Group Chief Financial Officer (though not a
director of the Company)



In ine with best practice and the Code. the Company

has determined that all directors will retire and offer
themselves for election or re-election on an annual basis
The Remuneration Report provides details of apphcable
service agreements for executive dectors and terms of
appontment for non-executive directors. All the directors
proposed by the Board for ether election or 1e-glection are
bemg unarumously recommended for ther skills, expenence
and contribution they can biring to the Board This
recommendation follows an miternal performance evaluation
of the Board, its committees, and the contrnibution of
individual dwectors

During the year, no director had any matenal nterest in
any contract of significance to the Group’s business Their
interests, including those of any connected persons, in the
shares of the Company are outlined in the Remuneration
Report.

Subject to the Company’s Articles, the Act and any
directions given by the Company by special resolution, the
business of the Company will be managed by the Board
which may exercise all the powers of the Company, whether
relating to the management of the busingss of the Company
or not. The matters reserved for the Board are detalled in

a speofic schedule, which is reviewed annually and detalls
are provided in the Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions {as defined in the Act) for the benefit of ts
directors during the year* these provisions remain in force at
the date of this Report

In accordance with the Articles. and 1o the extent permitted
by law, the Company may indemnity 1ts directors out of ds
own funds to cover habilties incurred as a result of thew
office. The Group holds directors™ and officers’ hability
insurance cover for any claim brought against directors or
officers for alleged wrongful acts in connection with their
positions, to the pont where any culpability for wrongdoing
15 established. The insurance provided does not extend to
clams arsing from fraud or dishonesty

Information required by Listing
Rule 9.8.4R

Details of long term incentive schemes as reguired
by Listing Rule 9 4.3R are located in the Directors’
Remuneration Beport on pages 63 to 91. Details of
dividends waived by shareholders are given on page 50
of thus Directors’ Report. There s no further intormation
required to be disclosed under Listing Rule 9 8 4R

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors’ respansibilities for the financial statements
contained within this ARA and the directors’ confirmations
required under DTR 4.1.12 are set out on page 92.

Capital structure

The Company’s only class of share 1s ordinary shares.
Details of the movements in 1ssued share capital during
the year are provided in note 22 to the Group financial
statements The voling nghts of Dixons Carphone shares
are identical, with each share carrying the nght to one vote.
Dixons Carphone holds no shares 10 treasury.

Detalls of employee share schemes are provided in note 5
to the Group financial statements. As at 28 April 2018, the
Dixons Carphene pic Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT) held
850,721 shares. The EBT did not undertake any market
purchases of the Company’s shares during the year under
review

Restrictions on transfer of securities
of the Company

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holkding
nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed

by the general provisions of the Articles and prevailing
legislation. The directors are not aware of any agreements
between holders of the Company’s shares that may result in
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

No person has any special nghts of control over the
Company's share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

Change of control - significant
agreements

All of the Company's sharg incentive scheme rules contain
provisions which may cause options and awards granted
under these schemes to vest and become exercisable in the
event of a change of control

The Group’s main committed borrowing faciiity has a
change of control clause whereby the participating banks
Gan require the Company to repay all outstanding amounts
under the faciity agreement in the event of a change of
contral There are a number of significant agreements
which would allow the counterparties to terminate or alter
those arrangements in the event of a change of control

of the Company Thease arrangements are commercially
confidential and their disclosure could be seriously
prejudicial to the Company.

Furthermore. the directors are not aware of any agreements
between the Company and 1ts directors or employees that
provide for compensation for loss of office or employment
that occurs in the event of a takeover bid.
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Significant shareholdings

As at 28 April 2018, the Company had been notified cf the
following voting interests in the ordinary share capital of
the Company in accordance with Chapter 5 of the FCA’s
DTR. Percentages are shown as notifled, calcufated with
reference to the Company's disclosed share capital as at
the date of the notification.

Percentage

Number of of share

Name L i {@?res caQutal
Standard Life Aberdeen 162,450,169 14 03%
Sir Charles Wilham Dunstone Cv0O 126,965,305 10.96%
Ruffer 62,845,115 543%
Lansdowne Partners 57,675,527 5 00%
D P JRoss 55,738,699 4.83%
Legal & General Investment 43,359,831 3.768%

Management

Newton Investment Management 41,792,133 362%
Capital Group 35,711,000 3 10%
Cobas Asset Management 35,289,062 305%

Foliowing the year end, on 16 May 2018, Cobas Asset
Management disclosed 1o the Company a holding of
34,601,321 ordinary shares, representing 2 99% of the
Company’s share capital, On 18 June 2018, Standard
Life Aberdeen disclosed to the Company a hotding of
159,153,007 ordinary shares. representing 13 74% of the
Company's share capital.

At 20 June 2018, being the last practicable date pror
to the publication of this ABA, no other changes to the
sharehoidings reparted above had been notified ta the
Company i accordance with DTR 5

Directors’ interests in the Company’s shares and the
movements thereof are detailed in the Annual Remuneration
Report on pages 76 to 81.

Dividend

The Board has proposed a final dividend for the year ended
28 April 2018 Details of this and other dividends paid for
the year are as follows

Year ended Tean enden

28 Apni 2018 3 Bl 201

Interim dividend 3.50p 3.50p
Finaldwvidend 7.75p 775p
Total dividends 11.286p 11.25p

The nght to receve any dividend bas been waived by the
trustees of the Company’s EBT cver a holding ot 650,721
shares
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Issue of shares

in accordance with section 551 of the Act, the Articies and
within the mits prescribed by The Investment Association,
shareholders can authorise the directors to allot shares in
the Company up to one third of the issued share capital of
the Company Accordingly, at the annual general meeting
in 2017 sharehclders approved a resolution to give the
directors authority to allet shares up to an aggregate
nominal value of £384,445 The directors have no present
intention o 15sue ordinary shares, other than pursuant to
obligations under employee share schemes. This resolution
remains valig until the conclusion of this year’'s AGM.

Authorty was given by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting in 2017 to purchase a maximum of
115,333,528 shares, such authonty remaining vald for 15
manths or unti the conclusron of the Company’s AGM n
2018. The authonty was not exercised dunng the penod or
prior to the date of this Report. The Company will seek the
usual renewal of this authonty at the forthcoming AGM but
has no current intention to make such purchases.

Use of financial instruments

Information about the use of financial Instruments 1s given In
note 25 to the Group financial statements

Post-balance sheet date events

Events after the balance sheet date are disclosed in note 32
to the Group financial statements

Auditor

tach director at the date of approval of this ARA confirms
that.

« so far as the director 1s aware, there 1s no refevant audit
information of which the Campany’s auditor 1S unaware;
and

the director has taken all the steps that he / she cught to
have taken as a director in order to make himself / herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditor 1s aware of that information.

Ttws confirmation 1s given and should be mterpreted
accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Act.

Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness 1o continue in
office as auditor and a resclution to re-appoint it will be
propased at the forthcoming AGM

Certain information required to be included i this Directors’
Report may be found within the Strategic Report.

By Order of the Board

Migel Paterson
Company Secretary
20 June 2013



Audit Committee Report

Chairman’s statement
Introduction

I am pleased to present the Report of the Audit Commitiee
for the year ended 28 Apnl 2018, In this covening letter | set
out our key areas of actvity in delivening on our objective of
ensunng that the Commitiee provides independent scrubiny
of the Company’'s financial reporting and risk management
systems of internal controi. and that they remain effective
and approprate

This year the Committee has continued tc oversee the
continuing development of reporting and controls as well
as responding to specific matters that have arisen. The
assurance activities encompass. in proportionate measure,
nen-regulated and regulated operations, the international
footprint and the nisk profile of the Group. We have also
considered the Terms of Reference and workings of the
Group Risk & Compliance Committee

Key activities

The Commuttee's work, carrned out during the year and
subsequently, inciuded

¢ fully considering the requirements of the Code and its
application to the Annual Report and Accounts (ARA’)
2017/18;

considering significant accounting and reporting
|udgements, appropriateness of taxation disciosures.
including the approprateness of the Group s going
concern position and longer term viabiity staternent more
Information on which can be found on pages 23 and 24,

L

caonsidering and reccmmending that the ARA 2017/18.
when 1aken as a whole. are farr balanced and
understandable;

reviewing the effectiveness of the nsk management
system and internal controls, operated by management.

considering the increased nsks of cyber-attacks and
complexity of the external threat environment and
management’s corresponaing T secunty controfs and
recovery plans;

* reviewing the Financial Reporting Council ' FRC') Audit
Quality Review team’s review of Deloitte LLP's audit of
the Company’s 2016/17 financial statements

considenng and challenging management's judgerments
and estimates relating to the planned implermentation of
IFRS 15 and '{FRS 9;

* raviewing the trading statements on 24 August 2017 and
29 May 2018, and considenng any subsequent impacts
on accounting judgements and valuations,

» providing oversight of the businesses regulated by the
FCA and other reguiators, including reviewing reports
from the FCA Compliance Committee ('FCACC').

approving the nternal audit annual plan, considerng
nternal audit reports and management actions, andg
monitoring the effectiveness of internal audit In ling with
the approved internal aucit charter,

receiving presentations and suhsequent updates
from management on such matters as the tmance
transformation programme, minimum control

improvernents, MNO data assurance plans, Hong Kong
sourcing office and nisks, HR control systems, Brexit
update. anti-bribery and cerruption, data protection, and
IT strategy and governance; and

» monitoring the robustness of the information secunty
environment and its vulnerabilities, and the longer term
strategic transformation of the Company’s information
security capabihties

Looking ahead

Fiona McBain joined the Audit Committee on 7 September
2017, brnging with her a wealth of regulated sector
experience, as well as sigritficant general management and
finance expertise. Humphrey Singer notified the Board that
he would be stepping down as Group Finance Director
and the Company also announced on 27 March 2018 that
Humphrey will be succeeded by Jonny Mason from a date
to be deterrmined”. ! would Like to thank Humphrey for hig
leadership of the Company and its finance team, and wish
him all the best in his new role We look forward to working
with Jonny and providing support and chalienge in this
period of change

Having served on the boards of Dixons Retall and Dixons
Carphone since 2012, | have agreed with the Board that |
should step down as a director at the end of the calendar
year. Fiona McBan will succeed me as Chair of the Audit
Committee at the conclusion of our Annuat General Meeting
(‘AGM’) on 6 September 2018. | am proud to have been a
member of a well-regarded and effective Board in a peried
of great change through the Merger and subsequently. | am
confident that ! leave the Committee in the capable hands of
Fiona, who has provided insightful contributions in her first
year Fiona will be well supported by Gerry Murphy as | have
bean

As the Group continues to refine its strategy and business
plans. the Committee continues to provide support and
oversight In key and evolving areas of financial reporting and
risk management and has requested management to prepare
and present its assessment of the structure, governance and
contral environment across the Group’s businesses

The work programme will continue to be responsive to the
changing risk landscape, the developing business model,
the regulatory envirenment, and the changing shape of
the systems (including IT) architecture. In particular, the
Commuttee wiil continue to recewve reports and updates
from management on the IT secunty improvement actions
and plans. In light of the recent data breach, these have
been re-assessed and accelerated.

I will be in attendance at the forthcoming AGM and will be
available to talk to you then [n the meantime, If you have
any questions, please do get in touch.

Jock Lennox
Charrman of ihe Audit Commuttee
20 June 2018

From 21 May 2018 untl Jonny Mason joins the Company, Clare
Pettitt 15 Intenm Group Chief Financial Officer (though not a
director of the Company)
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Members

In compliance with the Code. the Committee continues to
consist exclusively of ndependent non-executive directors

who, along with therr attendance at scheduled meetings

are set out n the table below Biographical detads on cach

member can be found on pages 36 and 3/

Meetings
The Committee met four scheduled times during the

period under review Since the year end there have been

two further meetings. All eligible members attended
each of the meetings duning which they were 4 member
of the Committee. The Chairman of the Beard. Group

Chief Executive, Group Finance Director Group Financial

Controller (who attended as interim Group Chuet
Financial Officer from 21 May 2018), Group Director of
Intesrnal Audit, Deputy Company Secretary. other senjor
management and representatives of the Company’s
externat auditor (Deloitte LLP) attended the relevant
Commuittee meetings by invitation

Scheduled
Current members meetings
Eclz Eén;c; (Chgurman) 4 of 4
Fiona McBain 4ot 4
Gerry Murphy doft

The Board continues to be satisfied that the Chairtman of
the Committee, a member of the Institute of Charterw-d

Accountants of Scotland. and Fiona Mc Ban and Gerry BMurphy

both members of the Instrtute of Chantered Accountants n
England and Wales, all meet the requirement for recent and
relevant financial experience The Comimitiee as a whole

has competence relevant to the sector m which the Company

operates. The Cormpany Secretary, or his nominee acts as
Secretary to the Committee and dttends alt meetings The

Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Charman at the

subsequent Board meeting and the mimutes of each meeting

are circulated to alt members of the Board foliowigy approval

In order to aliow discussion of private matters wich the

audrtor may wish to raise, at each meeting. discussion may
be held between the Committee membere and the external
auditor without the presence of management If appropnate.

a discussion may be held amongst Committee mambers,

the external auditor and the Group Director of Internat Audn
Aninformal pre-discussion s held by Cormnitise members

prior to the Commitiee meetings

in undertaking its duties, the Committes has access to the
services of the Group Director ot Internal Audit, the Group

Finance Director, the Company Secretary and then respective

teams, as well as external professional advice as necessary
In addition, the Chairman meets regularly with the external
auditor and the Group Oirector of Internial Audit outside of
formal meetings and without management present

External advice

The Board makes funds avallabie to the Committee to
enable it to take independent legal accounting o other

advice when the Cormmittee believes it necessary 1 do <o
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Responsibilities

The Comimittee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities by acting independently from the executive
directors There 1s an annual schedule of items which are
allocated 1o the meetings during the year to ensure the
Committee covers fully those items within its Terms of
Reterence These items are supplemented throughout the
year as key matters anse

The principal duties of the Committee are:

Accounting and financial reporting matters

+ monitonng the ntegnty of the intenm statement
and annual report and accounts, and any formal
announcements relating to the Group's financial
performance;

*

reviewing sigrnificant financial reporting judgements
and accounting policies,

advising the Board on whether, as a whole, tha

annual report and accounts are fair, balanced and
understandable.

* considenng the going concern statement;

considenng and reviewing the statement of the
Company’s viability over a specified period,

Risk management and internal control

+ reviewiny the Group’s financial controls and internal
contral effectiveness and matunty,

s reviewing the Group's nsk management systems and
nsk appetite,

Internal audit

+ monitonng and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's internal audit function,

¢ considering whistleblowing arrangements by which
employees may raise concerns about possible
mproprieties in financial reporting ot other matters,

¢ considenng the major findings of internal
nveshgahons

External audit

» counsidenng recommendation of the external auditor's
appomtment 1o the shareholders in general meeting
and approving their remuneration,

« reviewing the results and conclusions of wark
performed by the external auditor,;

¢ reviewing and monitonng the relaticnship with the
external auditor, including their iIndependence,
objectivity. effectiveness and terms of engagement,

General matters
« any specific topics as defined by the Board, and

+ referrng matters to the Board which, in its opinion,
should be addressed at a meeting of the Board.

The Comimittee’s Terms of Reference are reviewed
annually In the 2017718 financial year, they were reviewed
i May 201/ and subsequently approved by the Board.
The Committee’s Terms of Reference wili once again be
reviewed and aligned with the FRC's revised corporate
governance code upon s pubiication. The Terms of
Reterence retlect all the recent legislative and reguiatory
changes as well asrecently published best practice
gundance atid are avalable on the Group’s corporate
website, vwive dixonscarphone com



Key matters considered during the year
Accounting and financial reporting matters

The Committee 1s responsible for considenng reparts trom the external auditor ang monitoring the integnty of the interim
statement and annual report and accounts in conjunction with semor management During the year ended 28 April 2018,
consideration was given lo the suitability and application of the Group's accounting policies and practices, including areas
where significant levels of jJudgement have been applied or significant items have been discussed with the externai auditor.
Accounting and Matters considered and how the Committee discharged s duties
financial reporting

matters

Going concern and  The Cominittee reviewed the processes and assurmptions underlying both the going concern and longer
viability statements  term viabilsty statements made on pages 23 and 24 of the ARA 201718

In particular, the Committee considered
management’s assessment of the Group’s prospects including its current position, assessment of
principal business risks and its current business model future cash forecasts, histoncal cash flow

forecasting accuracy profit projections available financing facilities, faciity headroom and banking
covenants

* the appiopriateness ol the three-year time period under assessment, noting the alignment of the
period with the Company s strategic planning process. as well as the shorter-term nature of the retail
market i which the Company operates. and

* the robustness and severty of the stress-test scenanos with reference to the Group's risk register.
those principal nsks and mitigating actions as descnibed on pages 15 to 18 of the ARA 2017/18, the
latest Board-approved budgets business unit approved strategic plans, and indicative headroom
under the current facilities avadable - examples of which included the impact of reguiatory, taxation
or information secunty ncidents and reduced forecast profitability and cash flow as a result of a
sigmficant change i consumer behawviour

The Committee concurred with management 5 conclusions that the viability statement, including the
three-year penod of assessment disclosed on pages 23 and 24 of the ARA 2017/18 is appropriate. The
Board was advised accordingly

IFRS 15/ 9 The Committee airanged specific review meetings with management to challenge the key judgements
and accounting estimates underlying the adoption of IFRS 15 (new accounting standard for revenue
recognition) and {FRS 9 thew accounting standard for classification and measurement of financial
nstrumenits) Due to the complexity a number of turther discussions were held with financial
management to review the development of the proposals to implemeant RS 15 and 8 The Committee
considered the robustness of the pocess undertaken the approprate expertise and experience of
management performeng the unplementahon project and the use of third-party experts engaged to assist
in the most cemptlex. jJudgementat and matenal revenue streams

The Cormmittae reviewed detailed accounting papers prepared by management and third-party experts
in relation tc comnussion income from MNOs, third-party insurance providers and revenues associated
with customer suppert agreements The papers included considerahion of all judgements and estimates
for each of the five steps of the IFRS 15 model, particular attention was paid to the valuation and level

of constrant associated with varniable commission revenues, identification of individual performance
obligations and therefore the timing of revenue recognition and conclusions reached with regard to agent
versus principal judgements

Following these reviews discussions with management and the external auditor, the Cormmitiee
apptoved the proposed accounting treatment which will be adopted for the year ending 27 April 2019
and the transitional impact as disclosed in the ARA 2017/18

Trading statements  Durnng the year o 24 August 2077 and subsequently on 28 May 2018, the Company 1ssued two trading
statement updates The Comnuttes caretully considered the impacts of these on the financial staterments.
In particular the Committee considered the reflabiity of cash flow forecasts used by management
N assessing the carrying value of goodwill (specitically the UK & Ireland cash-generating unit), the
appropriateness of the gomg concern assumphion and viability assessment and both the current
accounting key estunates underlying the valuation of network commission receivable and the proposed
accounting estimiates under IFRS 15 In addition the Committee considered the appropnate disclosure
of the hey contnbuting factors o the trading announcements in the Strategic Report when assessing the
fair, balanced and understandable nature of the ARA 2017/18

Following detalled ieview. ol the underlying models as described eisewhere In this report and the ARA
2017/18 as a whole the Committee agreed with management’s conclusions that the judgements and
estimates underaken and disclosures given reman appropriate

Review by the The Rewiew loam sglected 1o revigwe the audit o} 1he: Company s 2016/17 hinancial statements as part

FRC's Audit Quality of the Bevievs teain 5 201, 18 annual mspection of aucht firms  The focus of the review and the Review

Review team {the team s reporting s on ientifying areas whete improvements are required rather than highlighting areas

‘Review tearm’) pertormed 16 or above the expected level The Chammnan of the Commutiee had a meeting with the FRC
review team lsader to discuss the audit prior to the review commencing, received a full copy of the
Review team's findings and has discussed these with the external audtor There were no significant
areas for improvement identified within the report. The Commuittee 1s also satished that there is nothing
within the report which nught have a bearnng on the audit appointment
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Fa, balanced and
understandable

In ensunng that the Group s reporting (s far balanced and understandatle, the Committee reviewed

the classification of items between headline and non headline including consideration of the £93 mullion
pre-tax non-peadline charges disciosed in note 4 to the Group financial statements, including tax impact
thereon The assessment consideres whether items fall within the Group's definiien of non-headline as
well as the consistency of treatment of such tems year on year

In addition, the Committee gave due consideration 10 the integrty and sufficiency of information
disciosed in the ARA 2017/18 along with other relevant matters to ensure that they explained the Group's
position performance business model and strategy An assessment of narrative reporting was included
to ensure consistency with the financial reporting section including appropnate disclosure of matenal
one-off items. and appropnats balance and prominence of statutory and non-statutory performance
measures In response to the guidelines on Aiternative Performance Measures (APMs) issued by

the European Securities and Markats Authority { £SMA ) the Committee considered the use of such
measures and the additional information on those APMs used by the Group is provided in the glossary
on pages 163 10 165

The Committee conciuded that the ARA 2017418, taken as a whole. are farr, balanced and
understandable. and that the measures used and discloswes made were appropnate to provide users of
the ARA 201718 with a meaningtul assessment of the performance of the underlying operations of the
Group, the Board was advised of the conclusion

Matters of significance and areas of judgement

The Committee receved reports and recornmendations from management and the external auditor sething out the
significant accounting 1ssues and judgements applicable to the tollowing key areas These were discussed and challenged,
where appropriate, by the Committee Following rebate the Committee concurred with management’s conciusions

Matters of
significance and
areas of judgement

Revenue recognition

Suppler funding

Imparrment testing
of goodwill and
intangible assets
within the UK &
Ireland

Taxation

Matters considered and how the Committee discharged its duties

Revenue recogition is considered to be a critical accounting policy and the jJudgements are set outin
notes 1e) and 1) to the Group financial statements Key compenents of judgement are largely in relation
o the recogrution ot network commission receivable

The Committee reviewed management s assessiment of these poiicies with reference to contractual
terms, the Group s historical expenence of customer behaviour, rehability of information recewved from
MNQOs legislative changes and changes in the general mobile industry Particular attention was pad

to the consistency of application of the underlying assumptions used significant changes in Inputs to
the valuation model histonical forecasting accuracy and the sensitivity to the carrying value of ongoing
nehwork recenables recognised to changes in key assumphions and the disclosure of the impact of
changes n assumptions as presented in note 25N) to the Group financial statements The carrying value
of ongong network commission recevables at the balance sheet date was £1.057 million (2016/17
21,014 milhon)

A number of arrangements axist refating to suppher funding across the Group. including promational
support and valume rebates The Comimittee has continuead to challenge and debate with management
its approach 1o 1its tecagniion and accounting treatment of suppler funding In addition, the Committee
cantinues o monnté the effectiveness of the controls in place to mitigate the risk of materal
misstatement ot suppher funding recognition, No Major 1Issues were noted Further information in relation
1o supplier funding wan be feund n note 1d} to the Group financial statements

The Group has sigmbcant goodwill and mntangible assets associated with the UK & Ireland cash
generating unit which are reviewed for imparrment annually or where there 1s an indicator of impairment
The Committee reviewed appiopriateness and accuracy of business unit approved cash flow forecasts,
discount rates and long-terr growth rates used m the impanment review performed at both the year end
and intenm dates Specific attention was paid to cash flow forecasts used in hght of the August 2017
and May 2018 trading statenients and the level of sensitinties apphed by management in determining
reasonably possible changes 1o cash tlows The Conmnittee also considered the approprateness of
disclosures made in note 9

The Group operates across multiple tax junsdictions [he complex nature of tax legislation in certain
Junsdictions can necessitate the use of Judgemant

The Committee reviewed the judgernents and assumptions concerning any significant tax exposures,
including progress made on matters being discussed with 1ax authorities and, where applicable, advice
provided by external advisors The total provisions recognised at the balance sheet date amounted to
£66 milllon (2016:17 £66 million)

The Committee also reviewed the appropriateness of the disclosures made around tax provisions, and
the disclosure of related contingent hatnlities
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Risk management and internal control

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group's nsk miandgementt and nternal controf systems. Details of the
overall sk management and govetnance policies and procedures are given in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
38 to 47 of this ARA 201 7/18 The Cormnmittee 1eviewed management’s assessment of risk and internal control, resuits

of work performed by the second lines of defence and internal audit and the results and controls observations ansing
from the annual audit and interin review procedures perfarmed by the external auditor. The Committee also ensured

that all topics are appropnately covered, as dehned by its Terms of Reference. with deep-dives of nsk topics scheduled
throughout the year to ensure good visibility of any potential areas of concern

Specific matters considered by the Committee to discharge its duties are detailled below
Risk management Matters considered and how the Committee discharged its dutnes
and mternal control

Regulated activities  + The Commuttee reviewed the nature of inancial services regulated activities across the Group's
business operations and the governance and oversight arrangements for the operation of an effective
FCA compliance regime in the business The Committee considered compliance and regulatory
reports prepared by the FCATC and monitored key devetopments and ongoing actities for the
comphance team in areas of governance, polcy and compiiance monitoring

The Committee was reassured that the compliance programme was being embedded throughout
the Group noted current arrangements at both Group and local levels and concurred with

the business plans for further investment in centralised compliance capabiity. This included
consideration of the impact of business re-organisations which have impacted regulated
businesses

Informatuon security  * The Commuittee regularly reviews the progress of the ongong information secunty improvement

and IT controls programme and periodically considers and reviews the IT contrals framework and related

framework improvernent initiatives progressed by the management team, in order to ensure that approprate
actions are taken

« Atats meeling on 18 June 2018. the Commitiee received a report from the secunty leadership on
the data breach annhounced on 13 June 2018 The Commuttee, in conjunction with the Board, had
been kept Informed s the existence of the hreach emerged In particular, discussion focused
on undet standing allynment with the pre-existing secunty improvement plans and the adequate
resourcing for the updated and accelerated plans Reporting of progress against plans will
continue for the foreseeable future

Data protection ¢ [he Commutiee reviewed data protection throughout the Group, particularly in relation to the
implemnentation of new pohcies, procedures and processes in hight of the coming into effect of the
new U General Daia Protection Regulation ("GDPR').

* The Committes concurred with the business’s plans to undertake a comprehensive GDPR
readiness assessment and has requested management to present its findings and
recomimendations in the coming year

Whistleblowing * The Commitiee reviewed twice yearly a summary of all whistleblowing calls received by the Group,
arrangements hoth through the independently operated hothne and other channels

+ The Commitiee confirmed that the calls had been appropriately dealt with (both individually and in
aggregate, in accordance with the Group's whi Stleblowmg pohcy

Internal controls = As per the obligations placed on the Committee under the Code, the Commlttee formally
considered a review of the system of risk management and internal control. The Committee noted
developments in the system of nsk managernent and internal control, management plans for
2018/19 and agreed the statements contained in the ARA 2017/18 The Committee continues to
request that internal audit venfy the self-assessment returns that are made by the businesses to
confinm the implementation of internal controls This verification forms part of the annual audit plan
approved by the Cormmittes

The table below shows the number of limes specific matters were considered by the Committee in 2017/18.

Audit Committee topics coverage 2017/18
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Internal audit

Internal audit 1s an independent objective assurance function that impartiaily appraises the Company’'s control activities
Internal audit works with management to help improve the averall control environment and assist Group management, the
Audit Committee and the Board 1n discharging their respective duties relating to maintaining an adequate and effective system
of miernal control and risk managemenit and safeguarding the assets actn ities and nterests of the Group

internat audit Matters considered and how the Cominittee discharged its duties

Audit reviews of » The Committee considered the aignment of the annual internal audit plan with the key nsks of
significant risk areas the business,

Durnng the period, internal audits included coverage of the following significant nsk areas of the
business

— information security and data protection;
-- T resiience, ntegnty and disaster recovery-
— relationships with major supplers:
Greek business,
-— f4ealth anu Safety,
— business continuity and
-~ regulatory comphance

¢ The Cornmittee conswiered the key trends and matenal findings ansing from internal audit's wark
and the adequad y ot the agreed management actions in relation to those findings

Assurance » The Committee approvaed the annual internal audit plan and received an update relating to the
programme execution of the annual plan at cach Committee meeting

As part of the three-year rolling assurance programme, audits were performed over the following
processes to provide assurance to the Commuttee that controls were operating within these
areas

— general busingss controis relating to UK & lieland operations inciuding the Hong Kong
soucing office, customer support agreements, SimplifyDigital, Dixons Travel and Currys PC
World business 1o business

— Nordics revenue. payroll supplier funding warehousing and distribution processes and
controls

— general IT controls in the UK and Nordics.
— general business controls in Greece: and

— the Groug's treasury activibes

The Commitiee considered the actions taken by rmanagement i relation to the audit findings

The Commitiee considered the results from these audits during s assessment of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control operated by management. The Committee
concluded that the system of internal control was appropriately monitored and managed.

The Committee approved the internal audt charter. concluding the role and mandate were

Effectiveness of

mternal audit and apptopnrale to the current needs of the organisation The Committee has approved a third-party
adeguacy of its review of the effectiveness of internal audit The results will be considered at the September
reésources 2018 Comninitiee meeting

The Comnittes mantored the work of nternai wudit and fonnally reviewed the effectiveness of
internal audit and the adeguacy of its resources, constdering

— scope. resources and access to informaton as lad cut in the internal audit charter,
— e cepartny e of rternal goachit,
- the wnnwal witernal audit work plan, and

~ the reaults of the work ot nternal audit

The Committes concludad that the niternal audit department had in all respects been effective
during the period unden review, and performed its duties in accordance with its agreed charter.,
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External audit

The external auditor 1s appointed by shareholders to ptovide an opinion on the annual report and accounts and certain
disclosures prepared by Group management Deloitte LLP acted as the external auditor to the Group throughout the
year. The Committee Is responsible for oversight of the external auditor meiuding approving the annuar audit plan and all
agsociated audit fees. The key rnatters in relation to external audit that were considered by the Committee were

External audit Matters considered and how the Committee discharged its duties

Effectiveness of the ¢ The Committee reviewed and agreed the annual audit plan. specifically considering the
external auditor appropnateness of the key nsks identified and proposed audit work, the scope of the audit and
matenahty levels applied which are detalled in the Independent Auditor's report on pages 93 to 99.

+ As part of the reporting ot the half year and tull year results, the Committee reviewad the reports
presented by Deloitte LLP in assessing the Group’s significant accounting judgements and
estimates and considered the audit work undertaken. level of challenge and quality of reporting.

+ [he Committee also considered the fndings of the Review team’'s review of Deloitte LLP's
201617 audit and the FRC report on the conduct of Deloitte LLP UK's audit work taken as a
whnole

» Feedback on the sffectiveness of the audt process in addressing areas of key audit risk was
obtained from members of the Committee and regular attendees, members of the finance team
and senior management within the busmesses via a specifically designed questionnaire The
1esponses were ther considered by the Committee in conjunction with the cutputs receved and
responsiveness of the auditor dunng the audit process The results showed a favourable view
of the audit process and of Deloitte | LP as the external auditer, specifically in relation to the
consistent performance noted for quality of audit delivery, integrity and service of the team. the
constructive relationship and the effectiveness of the communication.

» Followmg due censideration of the above, the Committee continues to be satisfied with the quality
and effectivenass of the external audit

Auditor + The Committee considered the external auditor's assessment of and declaration of iIndependence
independence presented in the annuat audit plan and final audit report, and these safeguards in place to make
such declarations.

* The Committee considerad the annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services, with due regard
o the balance between audit and non-audit fees and the nature of non-audit fees undertaken In
accordance with the policy as set cut on the next page

¢ The Comimuttee reviewed and approved the Group policy on the employment of former employees
of the external auditor i September 2017, and subsequently in June 2018
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Policy on provision of non-audit
services provided by the external
auditor

Under the Company’s pcolicy an audior independence the
auditor may only provide services which nclude

a) audit services comgrising 1ssuing audit opiras on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and on
the statutory financial statements of subsichares and
joint ventures;

b} audit-related services comprising review of the
Company's conschidated ntenm financial statoments
and opinions / audtt reperts on ntormation provided by
the Campany upon request fram a thud party such as
prospectuses, comfort letters and rent certificates. etc
and

¢} services otherwise required of the auditor by local law or
reguiation,

Any exceptions are subject to pre-approval by the Group
Finance Director, and such permission is only granted

In exceptional circumstances. Where the non-aucht
assignment 15 expected to generate tees of over ¥100.000
prcr approval must be obtained from the Comnutiee

During the period under review, the non-audit services
performed by the external auditor primariy arose from the
interim financial review procedures and the requirement in
Greek law for the external auditor of the company to provide
certan taxation services The Commuttee has rev.iewed the
services performed by the external audior dunng the vear
and is satisfied that these services did not prejudiee the
external auditor's independence and that it was approprate
for them to perform these services

The level of non-audit fees paid to Lhe external auditot
which was approved by the Committeg, 15 et out in

note 3 to the Group financial statements and amounted to
£0.4 mullion (2016/17: £0 3 milhon) compared with

£1.6 million {2016/17° £1 8 milkon} of audst fees The non
audit fees as a percentage of audn fees were 22 (2016/17
17%), which reflects the restrictive policy governing the use
of Deloitte LLP for non-audit services
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Consideration of auditor appointment
and independence

The Cammittee continues to cansider the appropnateness
af the re-appointment of the external auditer, including
rotation of the audit partner. Deloitte LLP has been the
Company’s external auditor since August 2002, prior to
Carphone Warehouse's demerger from TalkTalk Deloitte
LLP was also the external auditor of Dixons Retall. In
accordance with the Auditing Practices Board Ethical
Standards, there 15 a five-year rotation of the lead audit
partner Siephen Griggs, the current lead audit partner, was
appointed for the 2016717 audit

In accordance with the Competition and Markets Authonty

{ CMAYY Statutory Audit Serviges Order, which s designed to
ahgn with provisions of the EU Regulations on external audit
tender and rotation, and current guidance, the Company

15 regquired to conduct a competitive audit tender by June
2023 This will be the latest penod that Deloitte LLP may
remain as auditor The Committee will continue t¢ evaluate
annually the performance of the auditor, in particular at
each five-year rotation of the lead audit partner, and will
recommend a tender for this service If the circumstances

so warrant

in accordance with FRC's International Standards on
Audting (UK and Ireland) 260 and Ethical Standard 1 1ssued
by the Accounting Practices Board. and as a matter of best
practce, at year end Deloitte LLP formally confirmed to the
Board 1ts independence as auditor of the Company.

In determirning whether to recommend the auditor for
re-appointiment this year. the Committee considered the
firm's internal control procedures, the most recent audit
effectiveness review and the tenure of the current lead audit
partner. and thereby affirmed that the audit processes are
effective and that the appropnate independence continues
to be met Accordingly. the Company confirms that it
complied with the provisions of the CMA Statutory Audst
Services Order for the financial year under review and the
Committes: concluded that it was in the best interests of
the Company's sharehoiders to re-appoint Delortte LLP as
the independent auditor of the Company. The Committee’s
recommendation, that a resolution to re-appoint Deloitte

L LP be proposed at this year’'s AGM, was accepted and
endorsed by the Board

Jock Lennox
Charimar of thie Aucht Caomitiee
20 June 2014



Disclosure Committee Report

Chairman’s overview

The Disclosure Commuttee’s principdl role s 1o vnsure that
adequate procedures, systems and conlrals an: mamtamed

to enable the Company to fully comply with ts cbligations
regarding the timely and accurate identdication and disclosure
of all information to meet the Company s legal and regulatory
obhgations

The Commuttee compases the Group Finance Lirector
{Chairman), the Group Chief Executive and the General
Gounsel and Company Secretary The Company Secretary,
or his nominee, acts as Secretary to the Comnmuttee The
Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Charman at the
following Board mesting and the minutes of each meeting are
circulated to all members of the Board following approval

The Commuttee will review its performance constrution,
Terms of Reference and responsibiiities peniodically and at
least once a year. The Terms of Reterence were last reviewed
In January 2018. The Committee will be indwvidually evaluated
as part of the externally facilitated Boara evaluation next year

Mare information about the Commitiee and s position n the
Company’s governance framework 1 shown below

Humphrey Singer
Charman of the Disclosure Cormutte
20 June 2018

Meetings

¢ The Committee meets as and when required, and at
least annually.

¢ The Committee met thiee times during the penod
under review Since the year end there have been two
further meetings.

Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Committee are shown i the table
below along with therr attendance at meetings for

the period under review. Bicgraphical details on each
member can be found on pages 36 and 3¢

Scheduled
Current members meetings
H‘u%p;‘rﬁeyémger {Chaurmany 3ot3
Alex Baldock™ P oto
Nigel Patersen 1of3
Former members
Sebastian Jamesg'" RESINE]
Lord Livingston'* HET

(1) Alex Baldock was appointed to the Commitize on 3 Apnl 2018

2y Sebastan James was unable 10 attend one meeting due
to an unavoidable diary clash He siepred dos from the
Commuttee o 2 Apn! 2018

{3 Lord Laingston was appointed to the Lommittee on 2, Jutie
2017 and steoped down on 6 Nowember 2017

The Committee receves input as appropnate from other
directors senior management and the 1R, PR and Corporate
Affairs Director The Committee may invite them to attend
all or part of any meeting, as and when appropriate and
necessary

Responsibilities
The principal duties of the Disclosure Committee are to.

¢ establish and maintan adequate procedures, policies,
systems and centrols to enable the Company to fully
comply with its legal and regulatory obligations regarding
the timely and accurate dentification and disclosure of all
information:

+ implement and monitor complhiance with the policies,
inciuding arranging traming where appropriate;

identfy insige informanon for the purposes of mantaning
insider lists,

determine whether inside mformation requires iImmediate
disclosure or can be legitmately delayed, subject to
ongoing assessment and recording of the delay;

moniter communications receved from any reguiatory
hody in relation to the conduct of the Group, and review
any proposed responses:

+ consider generally the requirement for announcements,
ncluding in refation to the delayed disclosure of inside
intormation, substantive market rumours, and leaks of
mside nformation:

* consider and give final approval for trading statements
and  or results to be released in order to meet legal and
regulatery requirements. and

* review the content of all matenal regulatory
announcements, transactional shareholder crculars,
prospectuses, and any other documents 1ssued by
the Company, and ensure that these comply with ail
apphcable requirements.

The Committee’s Terms of Reference were last reviewed
and approved by the Board n January 2018. The
Committee’s Terms of Reference are available on the
Group ¢ corporate website, www . dixonscarphone.com.

Key matters considered

Durnng the year ended 28 April 2018, the Committee met to
consider the following key matters:

* the preliminary results and the annual report and accounts
for the financial year ended 29 Apnil 2017;

» the intenm results for the 26 weeks ended 28 October
S0y

+ the Chngtmas trading update. and

s the announcement of the appointment of a new Group
Chiet Executive
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Nominations Committee Report

Chairman’s overview

The Nominations Committee bas an important role in the
Dixons Carphone governance structure. evaluating the skills
required to lead the business effectively and ensuring the
nght talent and experience is availlable In order to ensure
continuity of purpose and effective lsadership. 1t is important
1o ensure succession planning cbhgations are met

The Committee reguiarly reviews its obligations under
governance guidelnes, the last review 1n February 2018,
included an apprassal of Board expernence. compasition,
dversity, time commiiments of each director, and diector
independence.

As previously announced, Sir Charfes Dunstone stepped
down as Charman, and | was appointed as Chairman with
effect from 30 Aprii 2017 from my previous rofe as Deputy
Charrman, and Chairman of the Remuneration Commuittes
On the same day, Tony DeNunzio CBE became Deputy
Charman and Senior Independent Diector. and Chairman
of the Rermuneration Committee Gerry Murphy joined the
Remuneration Committee on 9 May 2017 | was appomied
to the Disclosure Committee on 27 June 2017, and steppec
down from that Committee on 6 November 2017 Tim How
and Baroness Morgan stepped down as Non-Executive
Directors at the Cormnpany’s annual general meeting on

7 September 2017, and fiona McBain joined the Company's
Audit Committee at the same time Andrew Harnison
stepped down as Deputy Chief Executive and from the
Board on 21 December 2017 1o become Charman of The
Carphone Warehouse Limited.

Alex Baldock was appointed as Group Chief Executive and
a director on 3 Apnt 2018 Sebastian James resigned on
2 Aprit 2018, and left the Company on 27 Apnl 2018

On 10 January 2018, Humphrey Singer natified the

Board that he would be stepping down as Group Yinance
Director. On 27 March 2018, the Company announced the
appointment of Jonny Mason as Group Chief Financial
Cfficer, with effect from a date to be determined” Katie
Bickerstaffe stepped down fram the Board on 28 Aprit 2018

The Board has become more streamhned, reducing in size
from 13 members at the end of the last financial vear to
eight members at year end

Jock Lennox will be stepping down from the Boasd with
effect from 31 December 2018 Fiona McBam will take over
as Chair of the Audit Committee at the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting ({AGM'} on 6 September 2018
Jock has made a great contribution o the Company’s
success, as a valued member of both the Mixans Retail
and the Dixons Carphone boards. and as Audit Committee
Chairman.

More information about the Nominations Committee and 1ts
position n the Company’s governance framewaork 15 shown
on the nght

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Charman of the Nominations Commttee
20 June 2018
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Meetings

+ The Comimittee meets as and when required and at
least twice a year

¢ The Committee held three scheduled meetings
during the period under review. One of the scheduled
meetings was postponed from March 2017 1o May
2017

Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Committee are shown in the table
below along with therr attendance at scheduled meetings
for the penod undet review Biographical details on each
member can be found on pages 36 and 37

Scheduled
Current members meetings
Lord Livingston of Parkhead {Chatrman) 3o0f3
Tony DeNunzio CBE 3of3
Andrea Gisle Joosen

3of3
Ihe majority of the meainbers are mdependent non-
executive directors as required by the Caode. Other
members of the Board or senior management may be
hvited to attend meetings at the request of the Chawrman

The Company Secretary, or his nominee, acts as Secretary
to the Commuittee The Committee’s deliberations are
reported by its Charman at the following Board meeting and
the minutes of each meeting are circulated to all members
ot the Board icllowmng approval

Responsibiiities

The princpal duties of the Nomiinations Cammittee are 16:

* review tho structure. size and composition of the Board,
and recomimend changes as necessary;

dentify evaluate and nominate candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board,

« Board succession planning.

¢ carry out a formal selection process of candidates;

evaluate the skills, knowledge and experience of the
Board. ncluding reviewing the results of any Board
patformance evaluation;

*

conscler other commitments of directors relative to the
time reguired for thern to fulfit thew duties; and

mdke recemmendations to the Board regarding the
continuabion in office of a director upon the expiry of any
specified terms of appointment

From 21 May 2018 untit Jonny Mason joins the Company, Clare
Pettitt 15 Intenm Group Chief Financial Officer ithough not a
direcior of the Company



The Committee’s Terms of Reference are reviewed
annuably. In the 2017/18 financial year they were reviewed
in May 2017 and subsequently approved by the Board

The Commuttee’s Terms of Reference wili once agan be
reviewed and aligned with the Financial Reporting Council’s
revised corporate governance code upon its publication
The Committee's Terms of Reference are available on the
Group’s corporate website, www dixanscarphone.com

Key matters considered

In addition to the principal duties noted above:, the
Committee (excluding any member whose potential
appointment was being discussed) also considered the
appointments of Gerry Murphy to the Remuneration
Committee, and the appointments of Alex Baldock and
Jonny Mason.

The Committee also considered these matters

+ an evaluation of the size. compaesition and structure of the
Board and its committees,

¢ the Company's diversity poiicy and considerations of
the Hampton-Alexander Reviev , Parker Review, and
McGregor-Smith Review,

« independence and time cormmitments ot the directors,

the external appointments policy

+ directors retinng and bemng elected  re-eled ted at the
2018 AGM,

s the Commuitiee’s performance and Terms of Reference.

a review of the roie descriptions of the Chaiman, Senior
Independent Director and the Group Chiet Executive,

corporate governance updates relating 1o the
Committee’s work. and

the ncreased governance guidance on stakeholder voce
in Board decision-making and the boardroom actions
required to strengthen various stakeholder perspectives
and visibility.

Board evaluation

During 2017/18 the Board evaluation was conducted
internally again, following the 2015716 review which was
undertaken by an independent external company and the
internal review In 2016/17 The internal reviev. includead
the Board and the Audit, Nonunaticns and Rermuneranon
committees and examined all aspects of the Board's
procedures and activities Further details of the evaluation
process can be found on pages 43 and 44

Appointments to the Board

The Committee has a formal, nuorous and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new directons
Appointments are made to the Board based on aobjective
criteria and with due regard 1o the berefits of diversity and
the leadership needs of the Cainpany Fxteinal search
consultancies are usually retaned when recruating diectors

An independent global search firm, JCA Associates was
appointed to consider the list of potential new Group Chief
Executives and Group Chief Financial Officers Candidate
profiles were developed indicating the skills, knowledge and
expernence required for each role, taking into account the
Board's existing composition and skill sets. The Committee,
led by the Chairman, relied on the specific candidate profile
developed. Both internal and external candidates were
considered for the roles of Group Chief Executive and
Group Chiet Financial Officer The Committee and the Board
were unammous 1in their decisions to appoint Alex Baldock
and Jonny Mason

Succession planning

The business requires a talented Board with approprate
experience, expertise and dersity. This process wili need
to be refreshed following the new executive appointments
The Board considers no additicnal appointment 1s
necessary at this tme but remains mindful of each of

the Board member’s tenures. Board succession and
composition will remain a priority, as the Board 1s conscious
that it must look further and wider for the leaders of the
future In securing the long-term prosperity of the business,
the Board must look deeper within the orgamsation to
dentity a wider range of talent, for potential directors with
the appropriate skill-sets to meet the demands of an ever
more camplex business environment

Jock | ennox will be stepping down from the Board with
eftect from 31 December 2018. Fiona McBamn will take

over as Charr of the Audit Commuttee at the conclusion

of the AGM on 6 September 2018 Jock has made a

great contribution to the Company's success, as a valued
mermber of bath the Dixons Retaill and the Dixons Carphone
boards and as Audit Committee Chairman.

Diversity

The Company 15 committed to developing a diverse
workforce and equal opportunibies for all. The Board
recoghises the importance of diversity In achieving

the nght mix of skills, knowledge and experience to

help the organisation reach its full potenhal. The Beard
acknowledges the November 2016 Hampton-Alexander
Review on FTSE Women Leaders, which recommends

a voluntary target of 33% female directors in FTSE 350
companies by 2020 As at the year end, 25% of the Board,
and 6% of the Group senior management team, are female.
The Committee also considered the recommendation

of the Parker Review that each FTSE 250 board should
have at least one director of colour by 2024, and the
recommendations of the McGregor-Smith Review.

Whilst noting the recommendations of the reviews
mentioned above, the Board does not establish targets on
gender balance or ethnicity as it believes that candidates
should bhe appomted on ment The Board recognises the
henefits of greater diversity, which 1s not just gender or
ethnicity specific but alse encempasses age, background
and diversity of thought The Board 1s conscious of the
need to give weight to these factors in future appointments.
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A new Inclusian and Diversity (18D} Commuittee was
recently established 1o raise the profile of 18D matters
throughout the orgamisation. The 18D Comumittes  which
compnses members of the Executive Commitiee and sermior
management:

» ensures that 1&0 remains at the forefront of the Group's
day-to-day activities,

* champions 1&0 and acts as ambassadors,

sets the programme’s cbjectives, and

+ ensures that changes are adopted and embedded across
the business

More information en employee diversity can be found on
pages 26 and 27

in performing 1ts annual review, the Board also looked at
other aspects of dwversity relevant to the Group With a

large proportion of the business in the Nordics, we have a
Swedish Non-Executive Director on the Board to provide
knowledge of these infernational markets, and o hewly
appointed Group Chief Financial Officer who also brings a
proad range of financial experiences hoth in the UK and the
Nordics.
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Election and re-election

At the torthcoming AGM. all directors as listed on pages 36
and 3/, except Humphrey Singer. will present themselves
for election or re-elechion. Each of the directars 1s being
unanimously recommended by the other members

of the Board due to therr experence, knowledge and

wider management and industry experience, continued
effectiveness and commitment to their role



Remuneration Report

Chairman’s statement

On behalf of the Board. | am pleasad to present the 2017/18
Directors’ Remuneration Report setting oul our philosophy
and policy for directors’ remuneration. which was approved
by shareholders in 2016, together with the activities of the
Remuneration Commuttee for this inancial year ending 28
April 2018.

The past year has been ancther challenging one for

the business, as we faced both economic and pelitical
uncertainty it has also been a year of significant leadership
change. Whilst we regret the departure of many of the
senior team who brought about the successiul Merget

of our two businesses, the rasulting recrutment of new
leadership talent 1s an important part of transtorming

the business The new team s focused on mesting the
apportunities and challenges of Dixons Carphone as it
moves forward into its next phase of growth

Pay and performance for 2017/18

The Committee 1s aware that much ot the success o

the Group 1s due to the dedication and hard work ot alt

our calleagues competing in a chailenging economic
environment The Committee is also mindful of the braader
context in which executive remuneration decisions are
taken. In evaluating the averall Company results the
Committee has determined that no cash bonus should be
pard to the executve directors and other semor managers
this year, this outcome 1s consistent with the majonty ot
the UK & Ireland workforce. Full details of the performance
targets and actual performance are provided in the Annual
Remuneration Report on pages 85 to 86 Thers are no
payments made to directors in 2017/18 relating to fong
term incentive plans other than those in relation tc the
Share Plan, discussed below. The Company did implement
arestrnicted share plan to management levels below the
executive directors far retention purposes

Pay and performance for 2018/19

As a result of ther recent appointments, neither of the
newly-appointed executive directors will recere an
increase n base pay this year Inline with owr strategic
intent to enhance our focus on customers' and colleagues’
experience, we have increased the weaighting of these
elements of the annual benus We have also sunphified the
financial measuraes to two EBIT and average net debt For
the 2018 LTIP cycle we have retained the TSR measuwe
whilst introducing free cash flow (in place ot earnings per
share) in order to underscore the busimess’s focus on cash
generation.

Board Changes

QOver the course of this year we made two execulive
director appomtments and four executives left the Board

In January 2018, we announced the appointment of Alex
Baldock as Group Chief Executive etfective from 3 April
2018, to succeed Sebastian James who stepped down
from his position on 2 Apnil 2018 after six years in the
role. Sebastian remained i the business 10 work part of
his notice and ensure a simocth transition with Alex, fo

which the Board is grateful. The Comrmuttee considered
the appropnate termination terms for Sebastian on his
departure It applied the principle of mitigation i limiting
these payments to four months' salary and benefits
followmg his termination date, representing payment up to
the time he will be joiIning Walgreens Boots Alkance.

Alex jomns us from Shop Direct, the UK’s second largest
pure-play online retailer, where he held the position of group
chief executive from 2012, Whilst at Shop Direct Alex led
the busmess through one of UK retail's fastest, most far-
reaching and successful digital transformations, delivering
tive consecutive years of record financial performance,
with sirongly nsing sales and an almost tenfold increase in
profits We are already seeing the impact as Alex brings his
leaderstup skills to the Group. as we build on our market-
leading posttion The Committee agreed the remuneration
package for Alex on hus appointment. His package and

the buy out awards. which were necessary to compensate
for awards lost from his previous employer, are consistent
with our Remuneration Policy and, we belheve, represent
an excellent iInvestment in securing a leader with Alex’s
expenence and capabilittes Full details of his remuneration
packages and the buy-out award are set out on page 76.

in January 2018 our Group Finance Director Humphrey
Singer advised the Board of his intention to leave the Group.
Humphrey 1s expected to continue In his role until the end of
June 2018 with no salary payments thereafter or pay in ieu
of netice He will not be entitled to any bonus for 2017/18
and his outstanding share awards will lapse In March 2018
the Board announced the appointment of Jonny Mason

as Group Chief Financial Officer, with a joining date to

be confirmed Jonny had been CFO of Halfords plc since
2015 and was intenm chief executive officer of Halfords plc
between September 2017 and January 2018 As with Alex,
the Commuittee agreed the remuneration package for Jonny,
within the parameters of our Remuneration Policy Fuli
details of his remuneration package and the buy-out award
are set out on page 76

We also announced that Katie Bickerstaffe wili be leaving
the Company on 20 September 2018 to take up a role

as chiet executive designate at the new energy supply
busingss recently announced by SSE pic and Innogy SE.
She will not be entitled to any bonus for 2017/18 and her
outstanding share awards will lapse

v addhition 1o these changes, in Decermnber 2017, we
announced that Andrew Harnison had stepped down from
his role as Deputy Chief Executive in order to become
Chairman of The Carphone Warehouse Limited under a
new contract with a mintmum term of 12 months. With the
ongamng changes to the mobile market, this appointment
dllows Andrew the opportunity to focus fully on the
Carphione Warehouse business as it now enters the naxt
stage ot its development.

I would aiso like to thank Tim How for his contribution to the
Hemuneration Committee Tin stepped down as a Non-
Executive Director in September 2017 and was replaced on
the Remuneration Committee by Gerry Murphy
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The Share Plan

We set out In last year's Charmen's statement, the
performance of the previous long tenn plan (the Share
Plan’) which was measured in July 2017, and the proposed
treatment of the plan.

The Share Plan consisted of two separate awards the
Carphone award that was granted pre-Merger in December
2013 and the Dixons award that was granied in Gctobe:
2014, after the Merger. Althaugh the two awards had the
same performance conditicns and measurement Jate.

thear different start dates meant that ther performance wus
assessed separately.

The Carphone award met the threshold far vesting and

680% of the resuiting award vested In July 2017, with the
remaining 40% due to vest on 29 June 2018 A total of 60,
of the loans that were made to part.cipants to purchase
participation shares in a subsidiary company (plus accrued
interest) were repaid by the participants in July 2017 and the
remairung 40% {plus accrued interesth will be repad when
the remaining portion of the awards vest

As expected, and as stated n last year's report due te the
performance of the Group's share price n the 12 months
prior ta vestmg, the Dixons awards did not meet the
performance conditions required for vesting and as a result
the awards lapsed. On the tapsing of the Dixons awards.
the loans that were provided by the Group to participants
became repayable. Under the Share Plan iules, v.here an
award has lapsed, repayment of 90"+ of the loan plus
accrued interest) was an obhigahion of the Group tand not
the individual participants) ana therefore this portion ot the
toans made to participants with Oixons awargs was waved
The remamning 10% of ihe loans (plus accrued interast)
were repaid by the executive directors in July 2017 in
addition, the wawving of the lcans tnggered a benefit in kind
income tax and social security charge for the participants
Participants had not been informed of this potential tax
liabnlity at the time the awards were made participants
were advised that the maximum they wouid have lo repay
woulld be 10% of the loan (plus accrued interest; As
disclosed in last year’s report. the Company was advised
that participants could clawn agamnst the Group for losses
ansing cut of these unforeseen set of circumstances, and
that according to legal advice, such clarns would have a
strong likelihood of success. On that basis the Company
compensated the participants for the tax and social security
charges that were incurred. The compensation payments
were made to the executive directors in February and March
2018,

Further information on the Share Plan awards, lean and
compensation payment amounts are set out on pages
86 to 88
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Gender Pay

Dunng the year, n preparation for the Gender Pay Gap
reporting reguiations, the Committee reviewed the gender
pay gap for the business and discussed approaches to
minimising the gap

The combined gender pay gap for the two parts of our
business was 6 1%. Analysis of this data suggests that
the gap anses from the higher number of men who

nave built thewr career with the Company and, over ime,
orogressed 10 more senor positions  Another key driver
15 the proporticnalely higher number of women who have
embraced our flexible working arrangements and chasen
tu work part me Closing the pay gap will take some time
before we see significant movement in the numbers, but
it 15 something we are committed to doing as a business.
We have already begun this journey and have set up an
Inclusion and Diversity Committee that wil be monitoring
and dnving inibatives across the business

Looking ahead

The current Remuneration Policy was approved by
shareholders at the 2016 annual general meeting. It s
effective for three years and will therefore fall due for
renewal next year Inthe coming year the Committee
plans to conduct a full review of the Policy to ensure that
continues to ahgn with the Company strategy and motivates
our high performing people to deliver long-term growth

for the business whilst refiecting best market practice and
comphance with the UK Corporate Governance Code. As
part of this review, we will be looking to engage our major
shareholders to ensure that any proposed changes to the
Poncy wil align with shareholder expectations

As always we would welcome any feedback or comments
on this Report The Remuneration Committee remains firmly
committed to the principle of pay for performance, ensuring
that rewards 1o the senior leadership team are aligned with
the retumns of long-term shareholders

Tony DeNunzio
Chainnan ot the Remuneration Cominittes
20 June 2014



Remuneration Report - Remuneration Policy

introduction

The purpose of this Report i1s to mfonn shareholders of the
Company's directors’ remuneration for the year ended]
28 April 2018. This Report 1s divided mite two sections

* the Remuneration Policy; and
» the Annual Remuneration Report

The current Remuneration Policy was approved by
shareholders at the annual general meeting ot 8 September
2016 and was effective from that date The Annual
Remuneration Report will be pul to an advisory vote at the
Annual General Meeting an 6 September 2018

The rele of the Remuneration Commutice (the Comimttee’)
is to determine on behalf of the Board a remuneration pahcy
for executive directars and sermor management which
promotes the long-term success of the business through the
attraction and retention of executives who ha. e the abiity
expenence and dedication to deliver outstanding returns tor
our shareholders,

The Commuttee has adopted the princples of good
governance relating to directors remuneration as enshnned
in section D of the Corporate Governance Code (the *Code )
and has complied with those principles in the ,ear under
review

These reports have been prepared by the Conpmittee on
behalf of the Board in accordance with the Companies

Act 2006, Schedule 8 to the Large and Medwm-sized
Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended) and the Listing Rules of the Fiancial
Conduct Authority. The Remuneration Policy (which is

not subject to audit) details the role of the Commttee. the
principles of remuneration and other matters The Annual
Remuneration Report {elements of which are audited) details
the directors’ and former dirsctors’ fixed and variable pay
share awards, share options and pension arrangements

The policy set out here 1s the version approved by
shareholders other than minor updates 1o certan sechons
such as the Remuneration Commuttee objectives, iustration
of remuneration poiicy. shareholder ardd employes
consultation, service agreements and didution imits The
actual version which was approved by sharel olders can be
found in the annual report and accounts 2015 16

Remuneration Policy -
unaudited information

The Remuneration Policy was approved ovenvhelimingly by
shareholders at the annual general meeting wn 8 September
2016. In ine with the authority given by sharelolders. the
Policy may remain in force for up to three yems

Remuneration Committee objectives

The Board has delegated to the Comimittee r-sponsibihty (01
determining policy in relation to the remuneration packages
for executive directors and other semor management

This delegation includes their terms and conditions of
employment in addition to the aperation of the Group's,
share-based empioyee incentive schemes The Commitiee’™s

Terms of Reference are reviewed annually. In the 2017/18
linancial year, they were reviewed i June 2017 and
subseyuently approved by the Board The Committee’s
Terms of Reterence are avallable on the Group’s corporate
website www . dixonscarphone.com. The Terms of
Reference reflect ail the recent legislative and regulatory
changes as well as recently published best practice
gudance

Remuneration strategy

Put simply. our aim 1s to generate superior returns for our
shareheclders and the key to achieving this s our pecple.
Our remuneration strategy is therefore designed to motvate
high-pertorming pecple to deliver our business strategy.

The objectives of our remuneration strategy are to:
* attract, motivate and retain high quality talent;

* be transparent and align the interests of senior
management and executive directors with those of
shareholders, by encouraging management to have a
significant personal stake in the long-term success of the
busmess.

+ weight remuneration to variable pay that incentivises
outperformance particularly over the iong term whilst
discouraging inappropriate nsk-taking,

¢ ensure that supernor rewards are only paid for exceptional
performance against challenging targets,

* apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and teamwork,

+ recognise the importance of delivering across a balanced
set of metncs to ensure the night behaviours are adopted
and the long-term heaith of the busness 1s protected; and

+ avod rewarding failure
In developing 115 policy the Committee has regard to.

* the performance, roles and responsibilities of each
executive direcior or member of sermor management,;

* arrangements which apply below senior management
levels. including average base salary increases across the
workforce;

infonmation and surveys from internal and independent
soureres,

the economic enviromniment and financial performance of
the Company, and

goodd corporate governance practice

Guideiines on responsible investment disclosure

I ine with the Investment Association Guidelings on
responsible investment disclosure, the Commitiee 1s
satisfied that the incentive structure and targets for
executive directors do not raise any environmental, soctal or
governance risks by inadvertently motivating irresponsible
or reckless behaviour. The Committee considers that

na element of the remuneration package will encourage
mappropriate risk-taking by any member of senior
management
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Remuneration Policy table

The individual elements of the remuneration packages offered to executive directors are summarised in the following table:

Base salary {fixed pay)

e Purpose and link to strategy To aid the recruitment, retention and motivation of high-performing people.
To reflect ther skilis. expenence and importance to the business.
e Operation Mormally reviewed annually

The review reflects a range of factors including ment lavels, internal relativity,
external market data and cosl Our overall policy, baving due regard to the factors
noted s normally to target salanes up to the mid-market level

Salanes for new appomntments as executive directors will be set in accordance with
the Recruitment Policy set out on pages 72 to 74 of this Remuneration Policy,

The Committee takes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the
package as a whole, as other elements of pay (such as pension contnibutions) are
generally based an a percentage of salary

* Maximum opportumty Ordinarly increases tor executive directors will be in lne with increases across
the Group Increases beyond those granted across the Group may be awarded n
certain cicumstances such as changes in responsibiities, progression in the role
and sigmficant mcreases in the size complexity or value of the Group.

Salary levels for current directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration Report

» Performance assessment / targels  Salanes are normally reviewed annually by the Committee at the appropnate
meeting having due regard to the individual’'s expenence. performance and added
value to the business

Benefits {fixed pay)

* Purpose and link to strategy In hne with the Company's strategy to keep remuneration weighted to vanable pay
that incentivises outperfermance. a modest range of benefits 1s provided.

Benefits may vary based on the personal choices of the director.

Provision uf reflocation or other refated assistance may be provided fo support the
appointment or relceation of a director

s Operation Executive tirectors are entitled to a combination of benefits which include, but are
not imited to*

s Lal allowance

* private medical cover,

+ jung-term ncapacity coves

s life assuwance

+ holiday .ind sick pay. and

* & range of voluntary benetits including the purchase of additonal holiday.

Executive chrectors will be eligible tor other benefits which are introduced for the
wider workforce on broadly similar terms

Any reascnable business-related expenses (including the tax thereon) can be
reimbursed if determined to be a taxable benefit

Should an executive director be recruited from or be based in a non-UK location,
penefits may be determined by those typically provided :n the normal country of
residence and ’ or reflect local market legislation

Relocation or other related assistance could include, but 1s not imited to, removal
and other relocation costs. tax equalisation, tax advice and accommedation costs.

« Maximum oppartunity he nost to the Groun of providing such benefits will vary from year to year in
accordance with the cost of providing such benefits. which s kept under regular
eV

* Performance assessment / targets  Not appluable
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Pension (fixed pay}

* Purpose and link 1o strategy A pension 15 provided which 1s consistent with that provided to managers across the
Group and m hine with our strategy to keep remunerahon weighted to variable pay
that mcentivises outperformance

« Operation Defined contrbution plans are offered to all employees. A defined benefit pension
pfan continues in operation for Dixons' longer-serving employees, which 1s now
closed 1o new participants and future accrual.

Execunve ditectors may choose to recerve a cash allowance in lrgu of pension
Lcontributions

« Maximum opporturity Normal Company pension cantribution of up to 10% of base salary, which can be
taken in whole or in part as a cash allowance in heu of pension. However, a greater
contnbution of up to 20% may be made where necessary to recrurt or retain an
axecuhve director

* Performance assessment / targets  Not applicable

Annual performance bonus (variabie pay)

* Purpose and link to strategy Annual performance bonuses are in place to incentivise the delivery of stretching,
neat-term business targets based on our business strategy

These bonuses prowide a strong link between reward and performance and drnve the
creation of further shareholder value

The principles and approach are consistently applied across the Group ensuring
alignment to a common vision and strategy

They are based on a balanced approach ensunng appropnate behaviours are
adopted and encouraging a longer-term focus.

* Operation Bonus paymeants are determined after the year end and subject to a mimimum profit
threshold being achieved before payment 1s due

For threshold level of performance a bonus of up to 25% of base salary s payable.
A shiding scale determmes payiment between the minimum and maximum bonus
payable

The annual bonus s typically paid in July » August in cash and 1s non-pensionable,
pased nn the audited performance over the previous financial year

The annual bonus can instead be settled in shares or a mixture of cash and shares
which could be deferred, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee

Performance 15 reviewed by the Committee using its judgement where necessary
to assess the achtevement of targets The Commuttee retains the discretion to
adjust downwards bonus payments where achigsvement of targets wouid result in
a paynent of a bonus at a fevel which would not be cansistent with the interests of
the Company and its shareholders

Recavery and withholding provisions apply for matenal misstatement, misconduct
and ieputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of
sums already paid These provisions will apply for up to three years after payment.

* Maximum apportunity Maximum annual bonus potential for all executive directors 1s 125% of base salary.
No bonus 15 payvable if the mimimum profit threshold is not achieved.

« Performance assessment / targgets Al measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of
the financial vear with a view (o supporting the achievement of the Group strategy

Ihe bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard The balanced
scored ard may malude both fimancial and non-financial measures, such as
employvee. customer and strategic measures The weighting of measures will be
Jdetenrmined by the Committee each year Financial measures (such as profit and
cashy will represent the maonty of the bonus opportunity. with cther measures
representing the balance
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Long term incentive scheme (variable pay): Long Term Incentiv&iPIan (‘LTIP’)

* Purpose and link to strategy

¢ Operation

* Maximum cpportunity

¢ Performance assessment / largets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aligned with the
interests ol shareholders over the long term

The LTIP 15 designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term whilst
aligrung an indmwidual's interests with those of shareholders and in turn delivering
sigiificant shareholder value

Discretionary awards of nil-priced options or conditional share awards are granted
over Dixons Carphone shares

Awards will be granted annually and will usually vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achievement of performance conditions.

The level of vesting s dependent on achievement of performance targets, usually
over a three-year period

The post tax number of share awards vesting will be subject to a further two-
year holding period, during which they cannot be sold, unless in exceptional
circumstances and with the Committee’s permission

Dividend equivalents may be acorued on the shares earned from any award.

Awards wiil be subject 1o recovery and withholding provisions for matenal
misstaterment, misconduct and reputational damage enabling performance
adjustments and « ar recovery of sums already paid. These pravisions will apply for
up to three years after vesting

If employment ceases dunng the vesting perod. awards will ordinanly lapse in full,
unless the Comimiltee exercises its discretion

The Comnittes has the discretion i certain circumstances 1o grant and / or settle
an award i cash For the executive directors this weuld only be used In exceptional
crrecumstances

In the event of a change of cantrol. any unvested awards will vest immediately.
subject 1o satisfaction of performance conditions and reduction on a time-
apportivned basis

Grants under the LTIP are subject to overall dilution hmmits.

The normal maximum grant per participant in any financial year wiil be g market
value of 2 /5% of base salary, with up to 375% In exceptional circumstances,
e.g recruitment

Mare detalls on the award levels for executive directors in 2018/19 are set out
n the Annwal Remuneration Report on page 79

Performance targets are reviewed by the Committee prior to each grant and are set
1o 1eflect the kKey pnonties of the business at that time

The Comnuttee determines the metrics from a range of measures, including but
nol himited to. market-based performance measures such as TSR and internal
finarcial metrics such as EPS The Commuttee retains the flexibihty to introduce
new measures in the future f considered appropriate given the business context,
although 1SR will not be weighted any less than 40% of the total award. Material
changes vl be subyect to consuitation with majer shareholders

Thes actual metncs for awards will be set out in the Annual Reimuneration Report
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All employee share plans

* Purpose and Iink to strategy

» Operation

* Maximum opportunity

¢ Performance assessment / 1argets

Share ownership guidelines

¢ Purpose and hnk to strategy

+ Qperation

+ Maximum oppertunity

¢ Performance assessment s targets

Details of the diractors’ shareholdings are shown in the table on page 90

Encourages employees to make a long-term investment in the Company’s shares
and therefore be aligned to the long-term success of the Company.

Executve directors are eligible to participate in any all employee share plans
operated by the Company which have been approved by shareholders on the same
terms as other eligible employees

Currently share options are granted under the Dixons Carphone HMRC-approved
SAYE schame. subject to three- or five-year vesting periods.

Parhicipants can save up to £o00 per month for enther three or five years, and in
return recelve a share option granted at up to 20% discount to the market price at
the tume of the invitation

The Committee reserves the nght to increase this savings it for future schemes in
accordance with the statutcry irmits 1n place from time to time

The SAYE scheme s not subject to any performance conditions.

Proides close ahignment betvieen the longer-term interests of executive directors
and shareholders in termis of the Company’s long-term success.

The Company 1equires executive directors 1o retain a certain percentage of base
salary i the Company s shares Executive directors have a five year period to reach
these lmts

The shares which count towards this requirement are beneficially-owned shares
yboth directly and indirectly)

Not apphicabie

The Lumnparny requires all executive directors to retain 200% of base salary in the
Company s shares
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Non-executive directors and Chairman / Deputy Chairman fees

* Purpose and link to strategy o provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties,
sufficiert 1o attract tugh calibre indhviduals 1o the rele

* Operation The fees are set 1o align with the duties undertaken, taking into account
market rates and are normally reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken mto
consideration include the expected tme commitment and specific experience

Addchtional fees are payable for acting as the Senior Independent Director or
for acting as Char of any Board comnmitiee, and for membership of a Board
Committec

Non-executive directors do not participate in the annual performance bonus or the
iang term ncentive plans or pension arrangements

Ay reasanabie husiness-related expenses {including the tax thereon) can be
reimbursed if determined to be a taxable benefit

for material, unexpecied increases In time commitments. the Board may pay extra
fees on a pro-rated basis to reflect addiional workioad

* Maximum opporfumty Aggregate annual it of £2,000,000 imposed by the Arlicles of Associahon for
directors’ tees (not including fees in relation 1o any executive office or Charman,
Deputy Charman. Senior independent Director ar Committee Charr fees).

« Performance assessment / targets  Nol apphicable

Notes:

(T} The Committee intends 1o honour all commitments previously provided 1o executive directors and current employees. including the terms
and conditions of cutstanding long ter wicentives such as those previously approved by shareholders under the Dixons Carphone Share
Plan Details of these awards for execulive chrectors are set aut an pages 86 to 85
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HINAR S

The Remuneration Policy scenaiio charl belov. liustrates the level and mix of potent:al total remuneration the ohgoing
executive directors could receive under the Remuneration Policy at thiee levels of performance mirimum, target and
maxinum.

Remuneration Policy scenario chart

Notes:

)
@

3}

Fixed pay 1s based on the basic saiary payable as at the start of the cutrent year, taxable benefits and pension contributions

Annual variable pay represents the annual bonus entillement No bonus s assumed at the minimum performance level Target performance
assumes a payment of 75% of salary 1 e 60% of maximurn) and at maximum performance a payment of 125% of base salary

Lang term incentives relate to the Long Term incentive Plan, which was approved in the remuneration policy in 2016 These are lilustrative
amounts and the actual outcomes may differ depending on share price grewth No awards vest at the minimum performance level Target
performance assumes a vesting of 1519 of satary 1 e 59% of maxmum awad and maximurm performance vesting of 275% of salary.
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Remuricr o

The Committee operates the annual bonus plan. lng term
incentive and all-employee plans in accardance with therr
respective rules, the Listing Rules and HMRC rulus (or
overseas equivalent} where relevant The Committee retains
discretion, consistent with market practice, cver 4 number
of areas relating to the operation and administration of these
plans These include but are not imited to

* entitlernent tc participate i the plan.
* when awards or payments are to be made

* size of award and / or payrment (vathin the rules of the
plans and the approved pclicy).

determination of a good leaver for incentive plan purposes
and the approprate treatment based on the rules of each
plan;

* discretion as to the measurement of performance
conditons and pro-rating in the event of a change of
control;

* any adjustment to awards or performarnice condibons tor
significant events or excephional circumstancas, and

¢ the application of recovery and withholding provistons

Sharetnee: | .

The Committee has a policy te consult with its major
shareholders when making any significant changes to

the Remuneration Palicy of the Company. Any teedback
received is taken Iinto consideration when determinng future
pohcy.

The Committee also takes into consideration remuneration
guidance 1ssued by large investor bodies. 10 addition to
the principles of good governance relating to directors’
remuneration as set out in the Code

Whilst employees are not formally consulited oni cxecutive
remuneration, a number of them are shajeholder:, and as
such are able to exercise their influence We also momitor
our employee discussion boards and employee forums to
ensure employee feedback in yeneral 1s considered in al)
our strategy execution The Company also conducts regulas
employee surveys throughout the business The Committee
is kept mformed of general empioyiment conditiins acrsss
the Group, ncluding the annual pay review ocutComes

Hembaig e

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of people across
different countries. Our reward framework is structured
around a set of common principles with adiustiments made
to suit the needs of the different businesses and employee
groups Reward packages differ for a varety of reasons
including the impact on the business, local practice, custom
and legislation.

In determining salary increases to apply acioss the wider
workforce, the Company takes into cansideration Company
performance and other market metnes as necessary When
setting the policy for executive directors the Commitiee
takes info censideration salary increases throughout the
Company as a whole
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hiscretionary share pians are extended o both senor
management and other key members of the werkforce, as
the Company feels that it 1s important to incentivise and
retain these empioyees over the fonger term in order for the
Company to continue to grow

The Company encourages wide employee share ownership,
and as such the Group's UK & Insh employees, who meet
the eligibilty cntena, are aiso invited to join the Company’s
UK & Ireland approved SAYE,

On appaintment ar promaotion, base salary tevels will be

set taking inte account a range of factors including market
levels, expenence. internal relativities and cost. If an
indnadual is appointed on a base salary beiow the desired
markel positioning, the Committee retains the discretion to
re-align base salary over one to three years, contingent on
indnadual performance, which may result in a higher rate of
annuaised increase above ordinary levels If the Committee
ntends to rety on this discretion 11 wili be noted i the first
Remuneraton Repart tollowng art individual’s appointmernit.
Other elements of annual remuneration witl be in line with
the polcy set out In the Remuneration Policy table. As such,
vanable remuneration wiil be capped as set out in the Policy
table

The fellowing exceptions will apply

* 1 the event that an internal appointment 1s made or
an executive director joins as a result of a transfer
of an undertaking, merger, reconstruction or sirmlar
reorganisation, the Committee retains the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, including
pension contnbutions and the provision of benegfits;

+ as deemed necessary and appropriate to secure an
appomntment, the Commuttee retams the discretion to
make additional payments linked to relocation (including
any fax thereon),

« for an overseas appomntment, the Committee wili have
discretion to offer cost-effective benefits and pension
provisions which reflect local market practice and
relevant legislation.

« the Committee may set alternative performance
conchitions for the remainder of the inttial annual
bonus paerformance pencd. taking into account the
circumstances and timing of the appointment; and

* the Committee retains the discretion to provide an
immediate interest in Company performance by making
a tong term eentive award on recruitment (or shortly
thereafter if in a prohibited period) In accordance with
the Policy Table under its existing long term incentive
schemes or such future schemes as may be mtroduced
by the Company with the approval of its shareholders.
The Committee will determine the level of the award,
the petformance condifions and time honzon that would
apply to such awards at the time of award, taking nto
account the strategy and business circumstances of the
Company



Service contracts will be entered into on lenms sirmilar o
those for the existing executive directors, summansed in
the recruitment table below However, the Commuttee may
authonse the payment ol a relocation and » or repatniation
allowance, as well as cther associated international matahity
terms and benefits, such as tax equahsation and tax advice

In addition to the annual remuneration elemeants noted
above, the Committee may consider buying oul. on a like-
for-like basis, bonuses and / o iNcentive awards that an
individual forfeds from a previous employe: i accepting the
appointment The Commuittee will have the authorty to rely
on Listing Rule 9 4.2(2) or exceptional himits of awards of up
to 375% of base salary within the Long Term Incentive Plan
If made, the Committee wili be informed by the structure.
time honzons, value and performance targets associated
with any forfeited awards, while retairing the discretion

to make any payment or award deemed necessary and
appropnate The Committee may also require the appointee
1o purchase shares in the Company m accoidance with its
shareholding policy.

With respect to the appointment of a new Chairman or nan-
axecutive director, terms of appomntment will be consistent
with those currently adopted. Vanable pay will not be
considered and as such no maximurm agphes. With respect
to non executive directors, fees will be consistent with the
poiicy at the time of appamtment. If necessary, to secure
the appomntment of a new Chairman not based in the UK,
payments relating to relocation and / or housing may be
considered

Elements of rermmuneration on appoitment are set out in the
Recruitrment table below

A timely announcement with respect to any director’s
appointment and remuneration will be made to the
regulatory news services and posted on the Company’s
corporate website

oo oo
Area Feature Policy
Service contract and Notice perod + Lp to 12 months from either side.

Incentive plan
provisions

Entitlements on termmnation e As summansed in the Policy on loss of office.

Restrictive covenants ¢ Provisions tor mitigation and payment in heu of notice

Varnable elements + Gardening tleave provisions

+* Non-compete, non-solicitation. non-dealing and confidentiality
Provisions

* The Conimttee has the discretion to determine whether
an individua! shall participate in any incentive in the year of
appairtment

* The Comnmittee shall have the discretion to determine
appropriate honus performance targets if participating in the

vear of appontment.
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Salary .

Annuai remuneration

L]

Salary progression

Benefits and allowances .

P{’“(_f i :\l 4t
Service contracts contain neither a iguidated damages nor
a change of controi clause

The Company shall have a right 1o make a paymest i

lieu of notice In respect of basic salarv, benefits. ncluding
car allowance and pension contnbubions. enly for the
director’s contractual period of notice or 1f termination 1s
part way through the notice period, the amount reiating 1o
any unexpired notice to the date of termination There 15
an chligation on directors to mitigate any Juss which they
may suffer If the Company terminates their service contract
The Committee will take such mitigation obligation inta
account when determining the amount and tinung of any
compensation payable to any departing diector

A director shall also be entitled to a payment m respect of

accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitiements
on termination. No compensation s paid for dismissal, save

for statutory entitlements.

A directar shall be entitled to recerve a redundancy paynent

in circumstances where In the judgement ot the Committee
they satisfy the statutory tests goverming redundancy
payments Any redundancy payment shall be calc ulated
by reference to the redundancy payment policy i force

for all employees in the relevant country at the time of the
redundancy and may inciude modest wulplacement costs

If a director’s employment terminates prnor to the relevant
annual bonus payment date, ordinarly no bonus .« payable

for that financial year The Comimittee shall retain ciscretion

to make a pro-rated bonus payment in circumstances
where It would be apprepnate to do so having reqard 1o

the contribution of the director during the financial year the

To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors
including market levels. experence, internai relativities and
.ost

if apponted «l below market levels, salary may be re-
aligned over the subsequent one to three years subject to
performance in rale In this situation. the Commuittee reserves
the discretion to make Increases above ordinary levels

This initial market posiioning and intention to increase pay
above the standard rate of increase in the Policy table {subject
to perfermance) will be disclosed 1n the first Remuneration
Report following appointment

The Comimnittee retains the discretion to provide additional
benefits as reasonably required. These may nclude, but are
not restricted to relocation payments, housing allowances
and cost of lving allowances (including any tax thereon;).

and the best unterests of the Company. The default position
of the Long Term Incentive Plan is that awards will lapse
on termination of employment. except where certan good
leaver circumstances exist (e.g death. ill-health, injury,
disabiity 1edundancy, transfer of an undertaking outside
of the Group or retwrement or any other circumstances at
the Commuttee’s discretion) whereby the awards may vest
on cessation or the normal vesting date. in both cases
subject to performance and time pro-rating Although, the
Comimittee can decide not to pro-rate an award (or pro-rate
to a lesser extent) if it regards it as appropnate to do son
the particular circumstances

The Comimittee shall be entitled to exercige its judgement
with regard to settlement of potential claims, including but
not mited to wrongful disnussal. unfar dismissal, breach of
contract and discnmination. where it 1s appropnate o do so
i the interests of the Company and its sharehalders

In the event that any payment 1s made in relation to
termination for an executive director, this will be fully
disciosed in the following Annual Remuneration Report.

A tmely announcernent with respect to the termmnation of
any director’'s appointment will be made to the regulatory
news service and pasted on the Campany’s corporate
wehsite

Service agieements for executive directors
Fach of the executive directors’ service agreements
provides for

+ the remmbursement of expenses incurred by the executive
airectar n performance of ther duties,

cireurnstances of the depariure and the best nterests of the o 95 gays paid holiday each year for Alex Baldock and

Company

Any entitiements under long term ncentive schienies
operated by the Company shall be determined based on

the rules of the refevant scheme The defauit posiion undss:

the Dixons Carphone Share Plan s that awards will lapse
on the termination of employment unfess the Commitiee
exercises the discretion set out in the scheme rules The
Committee retaing the discretion to prevent awards from
lapsing depending on the circumstances of the departure
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Jonny Mason,

o sick pay and

nohee penods whereby Alex Baldock has a notice penod
ol 12 months from either party and Jonny Mason has a
notice penod of 12 months from the Company and six
months from him
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In situations where an executive direclor 1s dismissed,
the Commuttee reserves the night to make additional exit
payments where such payments are made in good fauth
such as:

+ in discharge oi a legal obligation; and

* by way of settlement or compromise of any claim ansing
in connection with the termination of the director’s office
and employment.

Letters of appointmant

Each of the non-executive directors has a ietier of
appointment. The Company has no age imit for directors
Non-executive directors derive no other benefit from therr
office, except that the Committes retains the discretion to
continue with existing remunerztion provisions including
pension contributions and the provision of benefits where
an executive director becomes a non-executng director 1t
Company policy not 1o grant share options or share awards
to non-executive directors The Chawrman, Deputy Chairman
and the other non-executive directors have a nohce period
of three months from either party

Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendabions made to the Board
accordingly

External appointments

The Board supports executive direciors taking non-
executive directorships as a part of their continuing
development, and has agreed that the executive directors
may retain therr fees from one such appointment Further
details on current externdl directorships and fees can be
found in the Annual Remuneration Report on page 78

Availabiity for inspection

The service agreements for the executive directors and

the letters of appointments for the non-executive directors
are availabie for mspection dunng busmness hours at the
Company's registered office and at the venue for the
Annual General Meeting, 15 minutes prior to and dunng the
meeting.

Legacy arrangements

Far the avaidance of doubt, in approving the Remuneration
Policy authority 1s given to the Company to honour any
comnutiments previously entered nte with the current

or former directors

All the Company’s equity-based mcentive plans incorporate
the cirrent Investment Association Share Capital
Management Guidelines (‘Guidelines’) on headroom

which provide that overall dilution under ail plans should
not exceed 10% over a ten-year period 0 relation to the
Company’s issued share caprtal {or reissue of treasury
shares) In additon, the Leng Term Incentive Plan operates
vath a 5%, i ten-year dilution mit {exciuding historic
discreticnary awards). The Company regularly monitors

the posthon and prnor to making any award the Company
ensures that it will remain within these hmits. Any awards
which wilt be satisfred by market purchase shares are
excluded from such calcuiations As at 20 June 2018, the
Company s dilufion position. which remains within the
current Guidelines. was 4 2% for all plans (aganst a imit of
10%;) and 2.4% for the Long Term Incentive Plan {against a
limit of 5%)

Corporate Governance
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Introae e -

This part of the Report has been prepared m accordance
with Part 3 of Schedule 8 1o the Large and Medium-sized
Comparves and Groups tAccounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), and contain those alements required by
section 9.8.6R and stipufated in 9 8 8 of the Listing Rules
This Annual Remuneration Report will be put to an advisory
vote at the Annual Generat Meeting on 6 Seplember 2018

The following sections set out how the Remuneration
Policy was implemented during 2017/18 and how it will be
implemented for the following year

Leaviss (o e

Alex Baldock

In January 2018, we announced the sppointment of Alex
Baldock as Group Chief Executive from 3 Apnl 2018

As outiined in the Remuneration Committee Chairman’s
letter, Alex joined the Company from Shop Direct. the

UK's second largest pure-play online retaller, whete he

held the position of group chief executive since 2012 The
Committee agreed the remuneration package tor Alex on his
appointment.

His salary from date of appomtment is £850.000 He s
eligible to receive a pension of 10% of base salary Inline
with policy, he 1s eligible for a maximum bonus of 125% ot
base salary His normal LTIP will be 275%) of base salary
per annum. Alex is on a 12-month notice penod from either
side.

On 3 April 2018 he receved an award egual to 100% of
base salary under the 2016 LTIP. Detalls of the performance
conditions can be found on page 84 In addition Alex
recewed buy-out awards which were necessary to
compensate for awards lost from his previous employer
Under the Listing Ruie 9.4.2 12) he receved an award

with a reference value of £1,938,000 The details of this
campensatory award can be found on page 85 These
awards are consistent with our Remuneration Policy and
we batieve, represent an excellent investment in securing o
leader with Alex’s experence and capabilities

Jonny Mason

In March 2018 the Board annhounced the appointment of
Jonny Masan as Group Chief Financial Officer. with a joining
date ta be confrmed. As cuthned in the Remuneration
Committee Chairman’s letter, Jonny had been chief financial
officer of Halfords pic since 2015 and was interini chief
executive officer of Halfords pic between September 2017
and January 2018.

His salary fram date of appointment will be £470 000 He s
ehgible to receve a penson of 10% of base salay In line
with peolicy, he 1s eligible for a maximum bonus of 125% ol
base salary. His normal LTIP will be 275+ of bdawe salary
per annum Jonny s on a 12 month notice period from the
Company and a 6 months’ nctice peried from the bxecutive

Upen joinng, Jonny will receive 274« of base sdalary unde:
the 2016 LTIP for the financial year 2018-19 I additiorn,
he will receve an award equal to 100% of base sdlary as
an additionai LTIP and a buy-out award of nd cost options
In order to compensate for awards 1ost from his previous
employment, up to a maximom value of £390,000 subject
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to confirmation of the actual loss incurred from his previous
employment Details of the performance conditions will be
disclosed on grant. These awards are consistent with our
Remuneration Policy and necessary to secure an individuat
of Jonny's calibre

Sebastian James

Sebastian stepped down from the Board on 2 Aprl 2018
and remamned as an employee until he departed from the
business on 27 Aprit 2018 to join Walgreens Boots Allance.
The Committae considered the appropriate termination
terms for Sebastian on fus departure. His termunation
arrangements were in ine with the approved Remuneration
Policy He did not receve a bonus for 2017/18. The
remuneration he recewved In respect of services as Executive
Director 15 set out In the Single Figure Table in respect of the
year ending 28 Apnl 2018

in agreeing an exit date of the 27 April 2018, the Committee
appiied the principle of mitigation in limiting pay n heu of
notice payrients to four months’ satary and benefits from
the date of his termination to the timea he wili be joming
Walgreens Boots Allance This resulted in a payment of
£317.000, pad on leaving the Company The Committee
has determined that Sebastian will receive good leaver
status in respect of his ocutstanding LTIP awards which are
due to vest in September 2019 and June 2020, pro-rated for
his penod of employment.

Humphrey Singer

In 2018 Humphrey Singer advised the Board of his intention
te leave the Group Humphrey 1s expected to centinue in
his 1oie until the end of June 2018, with no salary payments
thereafter or pay in heu of netice. He will not be entitled to
any bonus for 2017/18 and his outstanding share awards
will lapse His remuneration arrangements were in line with
the approved Remuneration Policy. The remuneration he
recelved i respect of services as Executive Director are set
cut in the Single Figure Table in respect of the year ending
28 Apnl 2018

Katie Bicker staffe

Katie Bickerstaffe stepped down from the Board on 28 April
2018, after resigning from the business. Katie will be leaving
the Group on 20 September 2018, with no salary payments
thereafter or pay in heu of notice, to take up a role as chief
executive designate at the new energy supply business
recently announced by SSE ple and Innegy SE. She was
not entitled to any bonus for 2017/18 and her outstanding
share awards will lapse Her remuneration arrangements
were In lne with the approved Remuneration Policy

The remuneration she received In respect of services as
Executive Director are set out in the Single Figure Table in
tespect of the year ending 28 Apnil 2018.

Andrew Hariison

On 21 Decernber 2017 Andrew Harnson stepped down from
s role as Deputy Chuef Executive to becorne Charman of
Carphone Warehouse Limited under a new contract with

a manimarm term of 12 months With the ongoing changes
to the mobiia market, this appointment allows Andrew

the opportunity to focus on the Carphone Warehouse
business as it now enters the next stage of its development.
The remunerahon he recerved in respect of services as



Executive Director are set cut in the Single Figure Table in
respect of the year ending 28 Aprl 2018

Graham Stapieton

Graham Stapleton stepped down froin the Board on 27 Aprl
2017 In accerdance with the Share Plan outcomes detailed
on pages B6 to 87, Graham received an award value of
£713,788 1n the year in respect of the Carphone award

and a compensation payment of £94.852 i respect of the
ncome tax and employee national insurance contributions
that were due in respect of his loan on the lapse of the
Dixons award These payments are reported in respect of
his services as an Executive Thrector in prior vears

DOV s

Service contracts

The following table summarnses key terms of the service
contracts i place with the exaculive directors

- . BRI TN
Aiex Baldock 3 Apr 18
Humphrey Singer 2 Sep 11

Humphrey Singer was appointed to e Board on 6 August
2014.

Andrew Harnson, Sebastian James anda Kate Bickerstafte
stepped down from the Board as execulive airectors with
effect from 21 December 2017, 2 April 2018 and 28 Aprid
2018, respectively

More details are set out in the singte tigure of directars’
remuneration tables on pages 82 to 83

Letter of appointment

Non-executive directors are normally appointed for three-
year terms, subject to annual re-glection at the annual
general meetings, although appomntments may vary
depending cn iength of service and succession planning
considerations. Appointments are reviewed annually by
the Nominations Commuittee and recommendations made
1o the Board accordingly The contracts i respect of

the Chawrnan's, Deputy Chairman’s and non-executive
directors’ services can be terminated by either party. the
Company or the director, giving not less than three months’
notice

The date of the letters of appointinent are shown below

[N
B b

Tony DeNunzio 16 Dex, 15
Andrea Gisle Joosen & Aug 14
Jock Lennox G Aug 14
Lord Livingston of Parkhead Tt Dec 19
Fiona McBain 1 Mar 17
Gerry Murphy v Aug 14
Tim How and Barcness Morgan stepped dov.a from the

Board on 7 September 2017

More details are set cut i the single igure of directors
remuneration tables on pages 82 to 83

Meetings
« [he Ramuneration Comnmittee meets as and when
required and at least twice a year.

» The Commuttee attended five scheduled meetings and
two unscheduled meetings during the penicd under
review.

¢ The Committes has met twice since the year end

Members

Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Remuneration Committee are
shown in the table below aleng with ther attendance
at scheduled meetings for the pericd under review.
Biographical details on each member can be found on
pages 36 to 37.

Scheduled
Current mgmbers meetings
Tony DeNunzio CBE {Chairman) S5of5
Andrea Gisle Joosen 5of5
Gerty Murphy S5of5
Forimer member
Tim How 3013

11 Gerry Murphy was apponted to the Committee on @ May
EGIN

20 Tun How attended all scheduled meetings up to the date of
le.aving the Committee on 7 September 2017

Only members of the Remuneration Committee are entitled
to attena Committee meetings The Chairman of the
Board. Group Chief Executive, Group Finance Dwector,
Deputy Company Secretary, Group Human Resources
Directur, Group Reward Director, other members of senior
managemeant, and representatives from the Company's
remunaration adwisor (Aon Hewitt) attended the relevant
Committee meetings by invitation.

No director participates in discussions about thetr own
remuneration

The Company Secretary, or his naminee, acts as

Secretary to the Committee and attends all meetings. The
Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Chairman at
the subseguent Board meeting and the minutes of each
meeting are circulated to all members of the Board following
approval

Responsibilities

Responstbility for the establishment of an overall
remuneration policy for the Group lies with the Board. The
Remuneration Comnuttee has the following principai duties:

= making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
framewaork of executive remuneration,

¢ determining the fees of the Chairman and Deputy
Chawrman.

+ conadenng and making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of the executive directors and senior
management relative to performance and market data;
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approving contracts of employment wiich exceed defined
thresholds of total remuneration or have unusuat terms or
termination periods;

« considening and agreeing changes to the Remuneratian
Policy or major changes to employee benefit structures.
and

approving and operating employes: share-based incentive
schemes and associated performance conditions and
targets.

Activitres dunng the year
The principal activities of the Committee dunng 2017/18

Included:

¢ reviewing and approving the Direclors Hemuneration
Report;

approving share awards to senior management uander the
2016 Long Term Incentive Plan.

approving the Sharesave grant,

assessing the parformance of executive directors against
pre-determined targets sat for the 2016 17 annual bonus
and approving the payments,

* agreeing design of the 201718 annual bonus micluding

performance measures and targets,

¢ assessing the performance of the Share Plan at the

vesting date and confirming the actions to be taken in
respect of the awards under the Share Plan which did not
vest,

assessing the performance of the 2010 Leong Term
Incentive Plan at the vesting date for senior managers

applying good leaver treatment 1o parucipants fransferring
out of the business following the sale of the Spanish
business;

e agreeing the remuneration packages for Alex Baldock and

Jonny Mason;

+ agreeing the termimation terms for the exiting executive

directors;

* assessing retention options for the semor Managers

reviewing the Gender Pay submission

monitoring the developments in the corporate governance
environment and investor expectations and

noting remuneration practices across the Group

¥ FTTRY

The Commuttee retained Aon Hewitt throughout 2017718

as independent advisors Aon Hewitt 1s engaged to provide
advice to the Committee and 10 work with the directors

on matters relating to the Group's exccutive remuneration
and its long-term incentives They are members ot the
Remuneration Consultants Group and operate under its
code of conduct In relation to the pravision of executive
remuneration advice In the UK and have confiimed that they
adhered to the Code during 2017/18 tor all remuneration
services provided to the Group Aci Hewtt recerved fees ot
£136,400 (2016/17- £92,000) 1n relation to the provision ot
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those services, In addition, during the year, the Committee
took external legal advice from Aon Hewitt and Freshfields
Bruckhaus Dernnger LLP with respect tc the awards made
under the Share Plan.

External directorships

The polcy relating to external directorships i1s outlined in the
Remuneration Policy, the following external directorships
were undertaken and the fees retained by the executive
directors

» Andrew Harnson has been a non-executive director of
Ocado Group ple dunng 2017/18 and was paid a fee of
£32.000 for the penod to 21 December 2017

* Sebastian James has been a nen-executive director of
Direct Line Insurance Group plc dunng 2017/18 and was
paid a fee of £84.000 for the period to 2 April 2018

+ Katie Bickerstaffe has been a non-executive dwrector of
Scottish and Southern Energy pic dunng 2017/18 and
was paud a fee of £85,000 for the perod to 28 April 2018

+ Humphrey Singer has been a non-executive director of
Taylor Wimpey pic during 2017/18 and was paid a fee of
£65,000 for the year to 28 April 2018.

Executive directors

The foilowing salanes will apply dunng the 2018/19 financial
year, with effect from 28 Apni 2018°

Salary at Ingrease Salary at
28 Apnl In salary 1 August
2018 " 2018/19 2018
£'000 £ 000 £000

Current directors
Alex Baldock 850 0 850
Humphrey Singer 494 4] 494
Jonny Mason' 470 0 470

1y Salary 1= ettective from date of appointment

Company pension contributions or allowance 10 heu of 10%
ot base salary will be pad

Ihe maximum annual bonus for 2018/19 wilt be 126%

of base salary and will operate on a similar basis as in

the previous year The measures have been selected to
reflect the Group's key cbyjectives and for 2018/19 include
an mcreased weighting on the customer and employee
expernence. and a simplified approach to the financial
element with just two measures EBIT and average net debt.
A minimum profit threshold must be achieved before any
bonus is paid out The proposed target levels for the year
have been set to be challanging relative to the business
plan The Committee feels that specific targets relating

to the 2018/19 bonus scheme are currently commerciaily
sensitive and as such will not be disclosed. Retrospective
disclosure of the targets and performance against them wil!
be provided in next year’s Remuneration Report



The performance metrics and therr weightmags for 201819
are shown in the table below
tlegt ! aadpe te e ol
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AP b

BT 50%
Average net debt 20%
Customer Net Promoter Score 15%
Employee engagement 15%

Recovery and withholding provisions apgly for matenal
misstatement, misconduct and reputational gamage
enabling performance adjustments and / o1 recovery of
sums already paid. These provisions will apply for up to
three years after payment

In lene with the LTIP as approved by shareholders at

the annual general meeting on 8 September 2016. the
Committee intends to make an award of 275%, of base
salary to Alex Baldock shortly after the announcement

of the results for the 2017/18 financial year and 375% to
Jonny Mason on joining the Company These awards will
vest after three years based on continued service and the
achieverment of the performance measures noted below

These awards will be subject to a turther twe vear post
vesiing holding penocd. during wiich the executive director
15 not permitted to sell any shares vesting, other than those
required to settle any tax obligations

For 2018/19 the awards of 275% of hase salary to Alex
Baldock and 275% to Jonny Mason will be subject to

twao equally weighted performance conditions Half of the
awards will be subject to the actuevement ot i relative TSR
performance condition, measured agamnst the companes
ranked FTSE 51-150 at the start of the performance penod
The remaining half of the awards will be subject to the
achievement of a cumulative free cash flow target

The additional 100% of base salary, awarded o Jonny
Mascn as a buy-out of awards from his previous employer,
will be subject to the achievernent of the relative TSR
performance condition only, measured against the
companies ranked FTSE 51-150 at the start of the
performance pericd

The relative TSR condiion will be assessed aver a three-
year penod. with vesting deterrmined as follows.

Bane 10 ey TSR agaest Camparaer

[CYISITIN = ‘o 0f TSR element vesang

Below Median 0%

Median 25%

Betweson Median and Upper- Pro rata between 25%
Quartile and 100% on a straight-

ine basis
Upper Quartile or above 100%

For this coming cycle, the second element of LTIP
performance will be free cash flow, measured cumuiatively
over the three-year performance period. This measure,
which replaces EPS, provides an additional focus on cash
generation The Board believes this has the potential to
drive enhanced performance The percentage of the award
vesting will be as follows

Coowlal g cash fiow up fa the end ot the o ot the free cask flow element
52 21 rncrond yearn vesting

Below £517m 0%

£517m 10%

Between £517m and £574m Pro rata between 10%

and 25% on a straight-

ine basis

L5740 25%

Between £574m and £689m Pro rata between 25%
and 100%

Above FG89m 100%

e free cash flow targets take into account a number of
mputs ncluding market consensus at the ime of the award
and the market within which the Cempany 1s operating,
Calculations of the achievement against the targets will be
independently performed and approved by the Committee
Free cash flow s defined 1n the glossary on page 165;
however the Committee wili retain discretion to adjust

for exceptional tems which impact cash flow during the
performance period and will make full and clear disclosure
of any such adjustments in the directors’ remuneration
report together with details of the achieved levels of
performance, as determined by the above definitions, at the
end aof the performance period

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding
provisions for rmatenal misstatement, misconduct and
reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and
/or recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will
apply tor up to three years after vesting.

No award will be made to Humphrey Singer as he has
resigned from the Company
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Remuneration details for 2017/18

Fartrita. » . -

The graph below shows the Gioup's performance measured
through TSR on a holding of £100 i1 the Company's shares,
compared with the FTSE 350 Index, since 29 March 2010
The FTSE 350 has been used as it 15 a broad market which
includes the Company and a number of its competitors

Total shareholder return

Soum e Datdstedr i fleaseg, oo

Thrus graph shows the value, by 28 Aprl 2018 of ©100 rnested
Dixons Carphone on 29 March 2010, commpared wath the  alue of $100
invested in the FTSE 350 Index on the same date

The other points plotieo are the values at intervéring tinancial yeat
endis.

The start date of the graph reflects the date of adnuttanc » to the
Lordon Stock Exchange of Oixons Carphone  previousty calied
Carphone Warehouse Group plc
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The following table shows, over the same eight year period
as the pertormance graph, the Group Chief Executive’s
single total igure of remuneration. the amount of bonus
earned as a percentage of the maximum remuneration
possible, and the vesting of long term awards as a
percentage of the maximum number of shares that could
have vested where applicable

Long term
Incentive
Annual vesting
bonus rates
CEO single payout agamst
figure of against maximurm
remuneration’” maximum opporturity
Year 000 % %%
Alex Baldock 75 0% n/a
Sebastian James 2.1 6‘“_’_ 0% n/a

201718 Total 2,791
2016/17 Sebastian James 1,795 83% n/a
2015416 Sebastian James 1,616 68% n/a
Hebastian James 1,687 100% n/a
Andrew Harrison 420 100% n/a

201315 Total 2.107
Andrew Harrnson 679 54% n/a
Roger Taylor 159 nfa  n/a

2013714 iotai 838
201213 Roger Taylor 958 55% n/a
2011/12 Roger Taylor 474 0% n/a
2010/11 Roger Taylor 1.193 82% n/a

11 Excludes remuneration receved from long term incentive
scheme s estabhshed by Qld Carphone Warehouse prior to the
demerger from TalkTalk because that company 1s not part of
the current Group Detalls of remuneration associated with Old
Carphone Wareghouse ncentive schemes were provided in that
company s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012
Future reports will include long term incentives operated by the
currerit Group when they have vested

21 Roger Taylor waived a bonus of 25% maximum potential and

instead chose for it to be paid directly to charity

The single higure includles the taxable benefit relating te the

walking of the loan from the Dixons Share Plan award

s



Pryes b ..

The table below provides the percentage change inemuneration for the Group Chief Executive and the percentage
change for all UK head office-based employees as this group provides the best ike-for-like companson. The majority of the
UK head office-based employeas (¢ 85%) wark for the UK & Ireland business and are bonused against the performance

of that business. No bonus was paid out for 2017/18 for either the UK & treland or Group, due to the EBIT performance
threshold not being met by the business areas Other smaller business groups also based in the UK head office did
however receve a bonus. as their performance threshalds were met

UK head

Group Chief office

Executive emptayges

Salary and fees 0% 2%
Taxable benefits ' 0% 0%
Annhual bonuses'" {100%) (90%4)

(1} Changes in salary telating 10 Changes i oles ana  or 1esponsibiliies have been excluded from the increase presented for the wider Group

{2} The percentage change in taxable penefits 15 considered 1o be 0%, since there have been no matenal changes in Group benefits,

3} No bonus was paic out for 201718 for ether the VK & lrelandg or Group. due to the EBIT pertormance threshoid not being met by the
business areas Cther smaller business groups also basea in the UK head ot e did however receive a bonus, as their performance
thresholds were met

Mool Lo
The following table sets out both the total cust of remuneration 1or the Group compared with pro forma Headline EBIT and
profits distnbuted for 2017/18 and the pnor year

Restated

2017118 2016/17
B B E_mullon Smullon ! Change %
Dvidends paid™ 130 115 1304%
Headline EBIT 400 516 (22.48%)
Total staff costs — continuing operations 1,138 1,120 1.61%
) Numter Number } Change %
Average employee numbers — continuing operations 43,760 44,432 (1.51%)

(1) 2016/17 numbers have been restaled to eflect the curent period classfication of the Spanish operations and the honeybee operations as
iscontinued operations

@) Extracted from note 23 to the Group financial statements

(3) Extracted fiom note 5 to the Group inancial statements
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Audited information

Sanghe o
Basic salary Pension Annual Taxable Total LTIP Total
and fees comnbubons® konus benefits''  emoluments payments’”  rermuneration
e £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Executive - ) - T T
Current directors
Alex Baldock™ 67 7 - 1 75 - 75
Humphrey Singer-'« 492 49 - 1,184 1,722 - 1,722
Former directors
Sebastian James" > 790 79 - 1,847 2,716 - 2,716
Andrew Harnison e 411 21 - 343 775 1,388 2,163
@?@ke@tﬁaﬂe”“"l ot 508 51 - 1,178 1,737 - 1,737
B - ) 2,268 207 - 4550 7,025 1,388 8413
Non-executive
Current directors
Tony DeNunzio 140 - - 1 141 - 141
Andrea Gisle Joosen 70 - - 4 74 - 74
Jock Lennox 75 - - - 75 - 75
Lord Livingston of Parkhead™ 300 - - b 302 - 302
Ficna McBain 65 - - 10 75 - 75
Gerry Murphy 70 - - - 70 - 70
Former directors - - - - -
Tim How"! 23 - - 2 25 - 25
_B_aiones_swrgﬂ of Huyton 23 - - 1 24 - 24
L 766 - - 20 786 - 786
3,034 207 - 4570 7,811 1,388 9,199
{1) Remuneration 1s shown for the penoa served on the Boars Alex Baldock was appointed to the Board on 3 Aprl 2018 Sebastian James

=

82

stapped down from the Board on 2 April 2018 and leh the Company on 27 Aptil 7018 Andrew Harnson and Kate Bickerstaffe stepped
down from the Board an 21 Decemper 2017 and #8 Aprl 2018 1espectvely Tin How and Baroness Morgan stepped down from the Board
on 7 Septemnber 2017

Katie Bickerstaffe purchased annual tedve under the Lioup's holiday purchase scheme reducing her salary by 10,000 in 2017/18
Pension contnbutions compnse the Company § contnbution ur aliowance in heu together with the salary supplement which 1s based on the
difference between basic salary and the scheme earnings cap set by the Company  The contnbution amount was 10% of salary for Alex
Baldock, Sebastan James, Humphirey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamson

Taxable benefits for executive directors include private medical insurance car allowances and loan warver benefit amounts For
non-executive directors they Include routing travel expenses relating to travel accommodation and subsistence costs ncurred in
connection with attendance at Board meeatings ard other Board business dunng the year, which are considered to be laxable by HMRC.
Taxable benefits for Sebastian James, Andrew Hanison, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe include the benefit amount relating to the
loan wawved In respect of the Share Pian {Dixons award) The loan waver amounts are £1,835.000 £334,000, £1,168,000, and £1,168,000
for Sebastian James, Andrew Harnson, Humphrey Singer and Kate Bicherstafie respectively. Further detadls relating to the loan waiver can
be found n the Directors’ Interest in Share Plan section on pages 87 to 88

Details of the Share Plan compensation payments (Dixons awarcy are not mcluded i the single higure table as they are not deemed to be
emoiuments. Further nformation relating to these payments are set out in the Direclors interest in Share Pian section on pages 87 to 88,
LTiP payments compnse of the amount paid out n 12spest of the Share Plan (Carphone award) Further information relating to thus payment
has been sel out in the Directors interests 1 Share Plan sechion on pages 86 to 87

ian Livingston has a deferred pension i the Dixons Hetirement and Employee Secunty Scheme

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Beport 1na Accoonts 2017 1§
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Base Lo [ i lasabre Tota we Tota
i) T L frisuhions RSLITES Lerefits el Ol e payments remuneraton
e R b 8 00 L o0c f0OO0  £000 €000
Executive
Current directors
Sebastian James 832 83 867 13 1,765 — 1,795
Andrew Harrnison 558 28 581 13 1,180 — 1,180
Humphrey Singer 482 48 502 13 1,045 — 1,045
Katie Bickerstaffet 494 51 528 11 1,088 - 1,088
Eral'l_am Stapleton' 467 23 486 76 1.052 - 1,052
. 2.837 233 2.964 126 6166  — 6,160
Non-executive
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone: 280 - - - 280 — 280
Tony DeNunaic 90 - - -- 90 — 80
Andrea Gisle Joosen 7 - - -— 70 — 70
Tim How 65 — — 65 — 65
Jock Lennox Iz - 75 - 75
Lord Livingston of Parkheaa: 1Ty - - — 140 - 140
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 65 - - - 65 - 65
Gerry Murphy 65 - - - 65 - 65
Fiona McBain' 11 — - 11 — 11
- 861 - - - 861 - 861
3,698 233 2964 126 7,021 — 7,021

m

(2)
13

Remuneration s shown for the peread secvad on the Board Fiona McBain was appointed to the Board on 1 March 2017 and the fees shown
were from appomntment 10 29 Apnt 2017 Graham Stapleton stepped down from the Board on 27 Apnl 2017 Charles Dunstone stepped
down from the Board on 30 April 2617

Katie Bickerstaffe purchased annual leave under the Group s hohday purchase scheme, reducing her salary by £10,00011n 2018/17
Pension contnbutions compnse ihe Company's contnbution o allowance In heu together with the salary supplement which 1s based on
the difference between basic salary and the scheme earnings cap set by the Company The contnbution amount was 10% of salary for
Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamson and Graham Stapleton

Taxable benefits include private medical insurance and var aliowances

Taxable benefits for Graham Stapleton include expenses of £63 000 pard by the Gompany 1n relation to spousal and family travel

LTIP payments would compnse armowits under the Share Plan however, the performance penod does net end until July 2017 Further
information has been set out on pages 86 1o 88

lan Livingston has a deferred pensian in the Disons Retrtement and Empioyee Secunity Scheme

No payments were made 1o tormer directors and no payment for loss of office was made duning the year
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LTIP Awards made during 2017118

Nil cost optian awards were made 1o executive directors on 29 dune 201, Half of each award 1S subject to the
achievement of a relative TSR pertormance condihon, measured against the companies ranked FTSE 51-150 at the start
of the performance period. The remaning half of each award wilf be subject tc the achievement of adjusted EPS growth
targets.

The vesting level of the relative TSR condition will be determined as follows.

_FE\k of Co_r_rfpany TSR agan st Conpara's Mrou. 1 s EEsb zle ot o stirg

Berow MeHEﬁ o a 0%,

Median 28%

Between Median and Upper Quartile Pro rata between 254 and
100% on a straight-line
basis

Upper Quartile or above 100%

The vesting level of the EPS condition will be detenmined as follows

Three-year adjusted EPS growth to tne ena of th-

201920 fnnelr‘.mal year ot F L e e Lt

Below 7.5% 0%,

7.5% 254

Between 7.5% and 20% Pro rata between 25% and
100% on a straight-line
basis

20% or above 100w

The table below sets out the LTIP awards made to the executive directors on 29 June 2017

Srwe Broe ot

Too vy st €0 s Jate e ot by halug £nag ot Performange
o 1. "d,w s e o Pericd o VEE_-.T‘_:;_Dat(L
Sebastian James*! 783.146 2 937 2 300,100 2 May 2020 29 Jun 2020
Andrew Harrison™ 525,280 2937 1,542,747 2 May 2020 29 Jun 2020
Humphrey Singer' 453,692 2937 1 332,376 2 May 2020 29 Jun 2020
Katie Bickerstaffe:#- J77 528 2937 1,402,500 2 May 2020 29 Jun 2020

{1) The face value is calculated based o e nuanber of oplions awarcied multiphed Ly the share price at the date of award

(2} Sebastian James stepped down 1o the Board on . April 2018 and Jeft the Company on 27 Apnl 2018 The Remuneration Committee
exercised its discretion to allow gaod leaven treatmiertin respect of this award The award will be pro-rated for service

{3) Andrew Harnson and Katie Bickerstaffe stepped down from tne Board on 21 December 2017 and 28 Apnl 2018 respectively

{4} Awards made to Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstffe will lapse m full on terrmimation

On joining the Company on 3 April 2018, Alex Baldock receved an award equal to 100% of base salary under the LTIP.
100% of the award 1s subject to the achievement of a relative TSR performance condition only, measured against the
companies ranked FTSE 51-150 at the start of the pertorrnance penod

The vesting level of the relative TSR condition wiil be deternined as follows

Rank of Company TSR agairst Lomparat o Gt o FoE R B I

Bei;w Medan o 0%

Median 259

Between Median and Upper Quartile Pro rdata between 25% and
100 on a straight-line
basks

Upper Quartile or above 100"

This element was based solely on a 1SR performance measure, as it was clear to the Commuttee that, with this recruitment,
the business would be entering mto a pened of transformation and setting an EPS target at that tme would be challenging,
but TSR reflects Alex’s clear mandate 10 improve shareholder returns
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The tabie below sets out the detail of the award

e Hoe
R A (I \'M‘:( ofav Fau = value E d aof Performance
Grant date RO - o i Period - . VELWP_BE‘L
3 April 2018 455,641 1 8655 850,000 2 April 2021 3 April 2021

(1} The face value is calculated based un the number of options awarded multiplied Dy the share pnce at the date of award.

In addition, on 3 April 2018 the Company granted Alex Baldock a buy out award to facilitate his recruitment and
compensate for awards lost from his previous employer

The award was granted under a one-oft award agreement in accordance with Listing Rule 9.4 2{2} of the Listing Rules.

The award comprises a nil cost option over 989,078 shares in the Compdny. The award was calcufated based on a
reference value of £1,938.000, with the number of shares subject 1o the award based on the price of £1.9594, being the
average market price of the Company's shares in the week prior to the anpouncement of his appointment.

The award will ordinarily vest three years from the grant date (the "vesting date”), subject to continued service and that
neither party nas served notice to terminate employment prior to such time.

The award will then ordinarily become exercisabie in three tranches as set out below

Ag from an exercise penod commencing Mee o reslogtet =wlon shares gvorg Lal'e

3 April 2021 329,692 (1 ranche 1) o N
3 Apnl 2022 329,693 Tranche 2)

3 April 2023 329 693 (Tranche 3)

QOther significant terms of the aveards are as follows
Qnce exercisable, the respective tranches shall ordinanty remaimn exercisable unty the tenth annversary of the grant date.

Additicnal shares may be added to each trand he on exercise, by referance 1o the value of dividends that would have been
payable between the grant of the award and the commencement of the relevant exercise period

The award 1s non-pensionable and will be satished with existing shares other than treasury shares.

In the event of cessation of service or notica being served prior 1o the vesting date. the award shall lapse unless in
exceptional crcumstances the Cominittee determines otherwise {in wiuch case, it shall specify to what extent and on what
terms the award may continue)

In the event of cessation of service or notice on or foilowing the vesting date, the award shall remain capable of becoming
exercisable on normal timetable. but the exercise period for each tranche shall be shortened to six months

in the eveni of a qualifying change of control prior to the vesting date, the award shall vest early. to such extent as the
Committee determinés appropriate but as to no less than a pro-rata exient based on tme elapsed into the normal vesting
period. In the avent of a quahfying change of control on or following the vesting date, the award shall become exercisable
early (as relevant) at such time Early vesting may also exceptionally anse at the discretion of the Committeg in response
to a demerger, delisting, special dividend or similar event which, iy the opinion, would affect the market price of the
Company's shares to a materal extent

The number of shares subject tu the award may be adjusted m the event of a vanation of share capital.

No further award will be made under this arrangement and no amendments will be made to the advantage of Alex Baldock
in relation to (1) the basis for determinmg his entitienent to, and the terns of, shares 1o be provided under the award;

and (i) any adjustment that may be mnade 1or iy vanahon of share capital or special divdend without prior shareholder
approval in general meeting except for minor amendiments 1o benefit the administration of the award. to take account of a
change n legislation or 1o obtamn or mantain favourable tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment

The award 15 personal to Alex Baldock and cannot be transferred, assigned or otherwise disposed of by him {other than to
his personal representative following his death)

EXCTTVPOS
The maximum bonus opporturily tor all exed ntive directors 1s 125% of base salary based on performance in the 12-maonth
perod ta the end of the financial vear

The Committee determined at the begininng ut the vear that the disclosure of performance targets were commercially
sensitive and therefore these were not disclosed in last year s direcior-' remuneration report This was because targets
were set within the context of a longet term business plan and this disclosure could give information to competitors
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to the detriment of business performance The Committes has, however disclosed i the table below the targets ena
retrospective basis and the actual pertorinance agamst these

The maximum annuai bonus of 125% of base salary 18 payable at the maximum level of performance, 25% of base salary
on achievement of thresheld performance and 75% of base salary on achievement of target performance.

AL T pEELent L

of maxrr uin Potential
Lon Bonus %

Measure o papertu t, Fhresicid Target Muaximim _:\ctrua\ _gAchu_e_\io_a_d__
Headline EBIT 60%, €501 mulbon £521 millon £541 mulhien £400 milion 0%

Average net (debt] / funds - variance

vs budget 10, £150) millon £O0 £50 mithon  >£50 millicn 10%
Return on Capital Employed 10 19.5% 20% 20.5% 18.1% 0%
Customer Net Promoter Score 104, 84 5% 85% 85 5% 85.8% 10%
Employee engagement score 109, G644 65% 66% 63% 0%
Total 20%

Due to overall business performance the EBIT threshold was not met and therefore the Committee has determined that,
notwithstanding the performance of the underlying measures, there will be no annual borus paid for 2017/18.

Do ive -

The Share Ptan, created in 2013 was desiyned to share 10% of the incremental value created in Dixens Carphene in
excess of an opening valuation (assessed over an appropnate penod) and beyond an annual rale of return of 7% on
invested capntal. The plan was also underpinned by a rmmimum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance
of the median TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index

The participants were offered the opportunity to subscrbe for an agreed number of participation shares (‘the participation
shares’) in Dixons Carphone Holdings Limited (previously known as New CPW Limited) (DCHL"} The participants funded
the subscnption prce for the participation shares via a {oan from the Group The price paid by the participants for the
participation shares was equal to the full unrestricted market value of the participation shares at the date of subscription.

Under the Share Plan, two pools were created, one for the onginal grant in December 2013 {the *Carphone award’) and
one for the second grant in October 2014 (the 'Dixons award’) each being subject to a cap of 2% of the total 1ssued share
capital of the Company

At the end of the performance perod in July 201/ the performance conditions for each award were measured from thewr
respective start dates.

TSH anta g -
The plan was underpinnad by a minimum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of
the constituents of the FTSE 250 Indax

Ensesies it
Dixons Carphone TSR TSR giowt onden o, TT0E D TSR ter

-059% 15 3% 33 2%

The Dixons award did not satisfy either ISR undespin, and therefore no pool was created for this award

Curst oo
Dixons Carphone TSR TSR yrowtn a1 1elp Frt Wbk et
54.2% 217w 5450w

The Carphone award met both TSRE underpins and therefore a pool was reated equal to the value growth above the hurdle
value (being the opening valuation plus an anaual rate of return of 7% oninvested capital)

e ooy,
[T AT VR U] Sl Tt te,
Opering valuation Hiraie * o tn b Losdl prsrhicippan®s
roon COo0 AP ~an $000
1,132,569 1283813 1 L37,088 253274 25327

(1) Calcuiation Opening valuation + annual 1ate of returr -7 %) onnvested capital
(2) Calculation final valuation - hurdle vaiue
13) Calculation 10% of incremental value ¢reate.
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An incentive pool value of £25 327m was therefore created in respect of the Carphone award

The pool value was then apportioned according to the number of participation shares awarded at grant and 60% of the
participation shares which had been allocated vested The participation shares were then purchased by the Company
for cash, in order to repay 60% of the loan (plus accrued interest), and the remainder of the participation shares were
purchased by the Company in exchange for the Company’s ordinary shares The remaining 40% of the Carphone award
will vest on 29 June 2018 and the remaining 40% of the loan (plus accrued interesty will be repad at that time The value
of the award to the participants 1s equai to the value of the participation shares on vest after the deduction of the original
purchase price of the participation shares paid at grant

Details of the value of the Carphone award to the director are shown in the table below”

Qeginai
purChase
At wtie ot valug of 50% value of 40%
sevatol Lo alocalcr o o 0% Avaard Award atveston Award at vest on
RS ETRA At oot share, vale Sy 2007 29 June 2018
Former directors vl oy pesl LR 500U £ 000 000 £ 000
Andrew Harnison ' 25,327 7% 1,773 385 1,388 833 555

(1) Andrew Harnson stepped down from the Board on &° Decernber 2017

Detalls of the ocutstanding loan 1ssued to enable the director to subscribe for the participation shares relating to the
Carphone award are set out in tha table below

A ordinary Crniginal Total
shares In Loan n Loan ptus Loan Loan
Ao oar, subsidiary respect of Total outstanding Repad {plus outstanding
hojies altocated purchase interest wnterest nterest  (plus imerest
Py SUD=hay as at price of 7% accrued to as at accrued) to accrued) as
[[-TSON CERTILT I 28 Aprid Atlocation 30 Apnl 30 April 28 April at 28 Apnl
Sl Gy LT 2018 of A shares 2017 2017 2018 2018
T Vs M biet Number £'000 £'000 £'000 €000 £'000
Andrew Harrison 70U (420) 280 385 az 427 (252) 175

(1) Allocation relates 1o the pre-Merger pooi in resp.ect of A ordinary shares Face value 1s not included as due 1o the structure of the Share Plan
1t s not considered a representatne tigute
12} Andrew Harnson stepped down from the Boara 1 21 December 2017

As the Dixons award did not meet the performance conditions required for vesting the Dixons award lapsed On the lapsing
of the Dixons award the loans that weare pronded by the Group to participants in order to purchase participation shares in
a subsidiary company became repayable Under the Share Plan rules tar the Dixons award, repayment of 90% of the loan
{plus accrued intarest) was an obligation of the Group 1and not the individual participants) and therefore this portion of the
loan was waived The remaining 10% of the loan (plus accrued interest) was repaid by the executive directors in July 2017,

Prior to vesting, the Committee receved detailed advice from Aon Hewitt, Freshfields Bruckhaus Dernger LLP and Darnef
Oudkerk QC on the position of the Company 1 the event that the performance conditions were not met. This advice
conciuded that the satistaction by the Group of the loans would tigger a benefit in kind income tax charge and social
secunity contributions for the participants on the portion of the loan met by the Group The Committee determined, on the
basis of this advice. that as parlicipants were not informed of this possible outcome at the time the loans were taken out,
and as they were advised that the maximum they would have to repay would be 10% (plus accrued interest), the Company
would compensate them for any income tax charge and sccial secunty contributions incurred. Otherwise participants
would have ciaims against the Group for losses ansng out of the unfureseen set of circumstances, which according to the
fegal advice would have a strong hkebhiood of success Compensation payments were therefare made to the participants
2017/18 In order to compensate them for the income tax and sccial security contnibutions that they incurred
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Detasis of the loan repayments and compensation payments made are set out in the table beiow

Current directors )
Humphrey Singer
Former directors
Sebastan James™
Andrew Harrison™
Katie Bickerstaffe®

b ardiae
thires
subsidia
wWhor ated
ol

1300
200
700

B g
Sl s b
s adiir
Tor oteried
ERIAL
onparn,
Pt

(700)
{1,100)

{200)
(700)

8 ordinary
shares 1n
subsidhary
atlpcated
as at

28 Aprel
2018
Number

Loan Loan
outstanding  outstanding
as at as at

30 Apri 6 July
2017 2007

£'000 £000

1,292 1,298

2,030 2,039
369 371
1,292 1,298

10¥c of
Loan

repaid
£000

{130)
{204)

{37)
(130}

909, of
Loan
waived
£'000

{1,168)
(1,835)

(334)
(1,168)

Loan
oputstanding

asat Compensation

28 Apnit
2018
£4000

157
549

(1) Allocation reiates to the post-Merger poot in respect of B ordinary shares Face vailueg rs notincluded as due to the structure of the Share
Plan it s not considersd & representative igure

{2) Sebastan James stepped down from the Board on 2 Aprl 2018 and Jeft the Conpany on 27 Apni 2018

(3} Andrew Harnson stepped down frorm the Board on 21 December 2017
{4} Katie Bickerstafie stepped down from the Board on 28 Apnl 2018

Dhvactogs o

Curreht directors
Alex Baidock'™
2018 LTIP

Section 9.4.2
Humphrey Singer
2017 LTIP

2018 LTIP

Former directors
Sebastian James*
2017 LTIP

2016 LTIP

Andrew Harnson'®
2016 LTIP

2016 LTIP

Katie Bickerstaffe'®
2016 LTIP

2016 LTIP

Date of grant

3 Apr 2016

3 Apr 2018

29 Jun 2017
9 Sep 2016

29 Jun 201/
9 Sep 2016

29 Jun 2017
9 Sep 2016

29 Jun 2017
9 Sep 2016

At
30 Apri
207

342,512

591,284

396,592

360,538

Awarded
in the
year

455,641
989,078

453,652

783,146

525,280

477,528

Lapsed of
forteited in
the year

567,353
269,993

Exercised At
m the 28 april  Date from which

year 2018
— 455,841 3 Apr 2021
— 989,078 3 Apr 2021
— 453,652 29 Jun 2020
— 342,512 9 Sep 2019
— 215,793 29 Jun 2020
— 321,291 9 Sep 2019
— 525,280 29 Jun 2020
— 396,502 9 Sep 2019
- 477,528 29 Jun 2020
— 360,538 9 Sep 2019

Expiry of the

first exercisable  exercise period

3 Apr 2028
3 Apr 2028

29 Jun 2027
9 Sep 2026
29 Jun 2027

9 Sep 2026

29 Jun 2027
9 Sep 2026

29 Jun 2027
9 Sep 2026

Exercise

Price {p)

{1) Alex Baldock joined the Company on 3 April (018
(2) Sebastian James stepped down from the Board on = Apnl 2018 and left the Comeany on 27 Aprl 2018 The Remuneration Committee
exercised its discretion to aliow good feaver Treatmenrt i respect of these awards The gwards viere pro-rated for service n accordance

wath the plan rules.

(3} Andrew Harnison stepped dowrn from the Board on 2 December 2017
(4) Kate Bickerstaffe stepped down from the Board or 24 April 2018
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Sroecioe

Date of grant

Current direct_or:s
Humphrey Singer

Sharesave 22 Feb 2017
Former directors

Sebastian James!"

glﬂ‘gsaver 22 Feb 201/

Andrew Harrison?#
Sharesave
o EJJan 2014
Katie Bickerstaffe® 15 &
Sharesave
26 Feb 2610
25 Feb 2016
22 Feb 2017
21 Feb 2018

Exercise
price (pf

252 00

252 00

24 00

o=k U
dyd 00
252 00
165 00

At
30 Apnil
2017

7142
7,142

7.142
7142

4.017
4014

4.500
334
560

5,334

Awarded
in the
year

10,145
10,145

Lapsed or
canceled i
the year

(7,142)
(7,142}

(4,500)
(334)

{4,834)

Exercised
inthe year

At
28 Apnl
2018

7,142
7,142

500
10,145 )
10,645

Date from which
first exercisable

1 Apr 2020 30 Sep 2020

1 Mar 2017 31 Aug 2017

1 Apr 2018 30 Sep 2018
1 Apr 2019 30 Sep 2019
1 Apr 2020 30 Sep 2020
1 Apr 2021 30 Sep 2021

1) Ssbastian James stepped down trom the Boara on 2 apnl 2018 and lett the Lompany on 27 Apal 2018 All awards lapsed on leaving
(2) Andrew Harnison stepped down trom the Board on 21 December 2017
(3) Katie Bickerstaffe stepped down fiom the Board on 28 Apnil 2018

{41 The options exercised by Andrevws Harnson an <« July 2017 had a market price of {22 648 on the date of exercise The gain made on the

date of exercise was £1,631

{5} Katie Bickerstaffe cancelled the 2015 and 2016 year Sharesave contracts in urder to participate i the 2018 award
161 The face vaiue of awards granted on 21 Febiuary 2018 was £16 732 for Katie Bickerstaffe The exercise pnice was set at a 20% discount to
the mid-market closing share price at 23 January 2018 of £2 0625
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Dried tar o S6 oo
Details of directors' interests in shares of the Company are shown in the toliowing table

Executive directors
Current directors
Alex Baidock
Humphrey Singer

Former directors
Sebastian Jameg@
Andrew Harnson®'
Katie Bickerstaffe' @

Non-executive directors
Current directors

Tony DeNunzio™

Andrea Gisle Joosen™

Jock Lennox

Lord Livingston of Parkhead -
Gerry Murphy'

Fiona McBain™

Former directors
Tim How '@

Baroness Morgan of Huyton

f

28 Apnl
218

444,748

631,835
4,285,762
369,568

100,000
20,176
22,625

105,631
50,000
19,129

12,400
8,183

30 Apnl
Gy

419,748

506,835
5,000,000
369,568

50.000

9.076
11.625
31.889
20,000

12.400
8,183

Total beneficial

Total beneficial
share ir

interests under
share ownership
guidelines

28 April

2018

444,748

asa
% of
salary'™®
28 Apnl
2018

0%
179%

N/A
N/A
N/A

8
)

{10) Tim How and Baroness Margan both steppect down tram the Board on 7 September 2017,

Date of appointment. if later

On 25 August 2017 Humphrey Singe and Senastian James puchased 25 000 shares each The purchase price was £1 7780 per share.
On 10 July 2017 Andrew Harnison sold 1 200 000 shares The sale price was £2 7825 per share In addition Andrew Harnison acquired
281,745 ordinary sharas on 6 July 2017 follpeing the  asting of the CPW Share Plan and 4,017 ordinary shares on 25 July 2017 fallowing

the exercise of the 2014 Sharesave

On 6 September 2017 Katie Bickerstatte purcnas=d 1, 000 shaes The purchase price was £1 8524 per share

On 25 August 2017 Tony DeNunzio purchased 50 OGu shares The purchase price was £1 7792 per share

Andrea Gisie Joosen purchased 2,600 and 38 500 shares on 25 August 2017 and 12 September 2017 respectively The purchase price per

share was £1.7790 and £1 8572 respectively

Lord Livingston purchased 19,087 and 54 655 shares on 13 July, 2017 and 25 August 2017 respectively The purchase pnce per share was

£2.80 and £1 8160 respectively

Gerry Murchy purchased 30,000 shaies on 30 August 2017 The purchase price v,as ©1 7610 per share
Fiona McBain purchased 19,129 shares on 25 August 2017 1he purchase price was ©1 8180 per share

{11) Sebastian James. Andrew Harnson and Katie Bickerstaffe stepped down from the Board on 2 April 2018 21 Decermber 2017 and 28 Apnl

2018, respectively

{12) The percentage s based on base salary as at 28 spit 2018 and an average share price ovar the month to 28 Apnl 2018 of £1 9847

There were no changes in the direciors’ restrictad or unrestricted share interests between 28 April 2018 and the date of
this Report
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The fees for the independent non-executive directors, ncluding the Deputy Chairman, are determined by the Board
(exciuding non-executive directors) after considering external market research and are reviewed on an annual basis.
Factors taken into consideration inciude the required time comnutment, specific experence and / or qualifications A base
fee is payable and additional fees are paid for channg and membership of committees The Chairman 1s not involved in the
setting of his own salary, which 1s dealt with by the Remuneration Committee annually. Non-éxecutive directors receive no
variable pay and receve no additicnal benefits, except In situations where an executive director becomes a non-executive
director, and benefit and pension arrangements continues

The Chairman and Deputy Chairnman receive Al-inclusive fees refiecting therr duties Other independent non-executive
directors received a basic fee of £60 000 (2016/17 £60.000) and additional fees as set out In the table below for chairing or
membership of committees Fees will remain unchanged for 2018/19

2017118 2016/17
e . o E000
Chawrman'™ 300 280
Deputy Chairman' 140 140
Chair of Audit Committee 15 15
Member of Audit Committee 5 5
Member of Nominations Committee 5 5
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5

(1) The Chairman’s fee ncludes Charrmanstup of the Nominations Committee
(2) The Deputy Charrman's fae includes the Senior Independert Director Charmarstup of the Remuneration Committee, and membership of
the Nominations Cormmittee fees

Srbe

The Company ts carmmitted to ongoing sharcholder dialogue i respect of directors’ remuneration, and takes an active
interest in votng outcomes Where there are substantal voles against iesclutions explanatory reasons will be scught, and
any actions in response will be communicated (o sharsholders

The following table sets out the voling resulls i relanon to the approval of the rtensuneration policy when it was last put to
shareholders at the annual general meeting 2016

Resolution Vol VrTEs AQANG Ve Withheid

Approval of directors’ remuneration policy 880 154 462 9886 10 177.401 114 1,579,648

The following tabie sets out the voting resuits in relation to the resclutions put to the annual general meeting 2017:

Resoluton wles o Y V}}}&E‘ agamst - 77777% o ___V\ﬂlhheid
Approval of annual remuneration report 717,538,187 8514  125.204,961 14 86 1,719,340
Cooungda o

As required by the Regulations, a resalution 1o approve this Remuneration Report will be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting on 6 September 2018

Tony DeNunzio
Chairman of the Remuneration Comeaitte v
26 June 2018
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are regponsible for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare tnancial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors are
required to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Campany financial statements i accardance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework Under company law the directors must not approve the accounts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and tar view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that periad.

In preparing the Company financial statements the directors are required to
* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.
* make Jjudgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

= state whether Financial Reporting Stangard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’ has been followed. subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained i1y the financal statements and

¢ prepare the financial statements on the yong concern hasis uniess 1t is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue In business.

In prepanng the consoiidated financial slatement- 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that directors:
¢ properly select and apply accounting policias

e present information, including accounting policies 1 @ manner that provides relevant, reliable. comparable and
understandabie information,

* provide additionai disclosures when compliance with the specific reguirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular ransactions. ather events and conditions on the Group's financial positon and
financial performance, and

+ make an assessment of the Group's abiiity to continue as a going concern

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
the Group and enable them 1o ensure that the financial staterments comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The directors are responsibie for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Group’s website. Legislaben in the United Kingdom goverring the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in ciher unsdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that tc the best of our knuwledge:

« the financial statements, prepared n accordanc.a with the relevant inancial reporting framework, give a true and far
view of the assets, liabiities. financial position wnd profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the
consclidation taken as a whole.

= the Strategic Report inciudes a far review of the developinent and pertormance of the business and the position of
the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the
principal nisks and uncertainties that they face and

« the annual report and financial siatements, taken as a whole, are lair, bajanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the Company’s performance, business model and
strategy.

By Order of the Board

Alex Baldock Humphrey Singer
Group Chief Executive Group Fisan - Drector
20 June 2018 20 June A1
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Independent Auditor’s report

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements of Dixons Carphone plc

In our opinion,

* the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs
as at 28 April 2018 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

» the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union;

* the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 101 '‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’; and

* the financial statements have heen prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements of Dixons Carphone ple (tne ‘parent company’) and s subsidiaries (the ‘Group’)
which comprise

* the Consoldated Income Statemenit.

* the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income,

¢ the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets.

* the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes i Equity,

s the Consoldated Cash Flov: Statement, and

« therelated notes 110 32 and C1 to C11

The financial reporting framework that has been apphed 1n the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s applicable
law and IFBSs as adopted by the European Linion The inancial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the parent company financial statements s apelicable iaw and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework” tUnited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinicn

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)) and apphcable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described i the auditor’s responsibilties for the audit of the financial
staterments section of our report

We are independent of the Group and the parent company n accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the hinancial statements in the LK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as appled to hsted public interest
entities, and we have futfiled our other ethical responsibilities 1 accordance with these requirements We confirm that the
non-audit services prohibied by the FRC s Fitueal Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent company.

We beheve that the audit evidence we have chilained s suffioent and appropnate 1o provide a basis for our opinion
Summary of our audit approach

Eey audit matters 7 The key audit matiers that we dentified n the current year were”
s mparment of goodwill of the UK & Ireland (UK&H cash generating unit,
s revenue recognition ~ valuation of UK network recewables,
* bax provisiomning, and
+ data breach

Last year our report ncluded key audit matters in relation 1o inventory provisioning and UK
suppher funding These are no longer matters which are of most significance i our audit of
the financial statements and therefore are no longer reported

i\ﬂéteriai&i’ The matenality that we used for the Group financial statements was £16 0 million which was
deterrmined on the basis of 5% of adjusted headling profit before tax. consistent with the
CrEVIOUS yedar

§éoping ) Qur tull scope audit procedures provided coverage af the Group’s key locations, belngithe
retal oparations i the UK and Nordics, representing 84 % of the Group’s revenue and 84%
of headhne profit befores tax

Significant changes in There have been no sigmficant changes i our audit approach in the current year other than
our audit approach the changes i key audit inatters as set cut above
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Independent Auditor’s report

Conclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and viability statement

Going concern

We have reviewed the directors’ staternent it nate 1a to the financal
statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparnng them and their identification
of any matenal uncertainties to the Group’s and Company’s ability to
continue to do so over a penod of at least twelve months from the date ot
approval of the financial statements

We are required to stale whether we fave anythinig matenal to add o draw
attention to in relation fo that statement required by Listing Ruie 9 8 6R(3)
and report if the statement 15 matenally inconsistent with our knowledge

Principal risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the directors statements and considenng whether
they were consistent with the knowledge we cbtained in the course of the
audit, ncluding the knowiedge obtained in the evaluation of the directors
assessment of the Group's and the Company s ahiiily to continue as a
going concern, we are regured to state whether we have anything matenal
to add or draw attention to in relation to

» the disclosures on pages 15-18 that descnbe the principal nsks and
explain how they are being managed or mitigated

» the directors’ confirmation on page 46 that the, have carned out a ribust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that
would threaten its business maodel. future performance solvency or
liquidity, or

the directors' explanation on pages 23-/4 as tu how they have assesseq
the prospects of the Group. cver what penod they have done so and why
they consider that peniod te be appropriate, and their statement as to
whether they have a reascnable expectation that the Group will be able
to continue i operation and meet its Labrities as they fall due over the
period of therr assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary quatfications or assumptions

We are also required to report whether the directors’ statement refating to
the prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) 1s matenaily
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit
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We confirm that we have nothing
material to report, add or draw attention
to in respect of these matters.

We confirm that we have nothing
material to report, add or draw attention
to in respect of these matters.



Key audit matters

Key audit matters are thase matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance In our audit of the
financial statemenits af the current periad and include the most significant assessed risks of matenal misstatement
{(whether or not due to fraud) that we dentified These matters incliuded those which had the greatest effect on: the overall
audit strategy. the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team

These matters were addressed in the context of our audrt of the financiat statements as a whole, and Iin forming our opmnion
thereon, and we do not provide a sepdrate opinmion on these matters

Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key  Key observations

audit matter

Impairment of goodwill of the UK&I We avaluated the design and wnplementation of We concur with the

cash generating units controls around the preparation of management’s  treatment adopted in
impairment models relation tc the impairment

Goodwill of £2,065 milhon (2017
£2,066 million) was held on the Group’s  We assessed the assumptions used by
balance sheet and allocated to the UK&I nanagement to generate the short to medwum
group of cash generating units as at 28  term UK&I cash flow projections aganst

of goodwll and are satisfied
that the assumptions In

the impairment model are
within an acceptable range.

Apnl 2018 For a number of years the inanagesment ¢ histoncal forecasting accuracy.
) We are satisfied with the
Group’s resuits have been in ine with the tustonical performance of the UK&I and
\ sensitvities applied by
management’s forecast cash flows aganst market rates We also cansidered the
¥ management and concur
However in the current year there was 3 Jappropriateness of the sensivities applied by
that headroom remains
dechne in UK&I profitability management
following tha apphcation of
Our work 15 therefore focused on We validated the mechanics of the impairment these sensitivities.
the accuracy of the short to medium models prepared by manayement.

term UK&I forecast cash flows
including forecasts relating to network
recelvables.

The key judgements and estimates
involved are described n more detail
1n the Audit Committee repaort and in
notes 1k and 9 to the Group financial
statements
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Independent Auditor’s report

Key audit matter description

Revenue recognition - valuation of
UK network receivables

The manetary value of commission
recelvable on sales (£1,057 million at

28 Apnl 2018, 2018417, £1,014 rmilhon}
being commission for which there 1s a
contractual entitlement based cn mobile
phone connections already made.,

and for which there are no ongong
performance obligations, is dependent
on managament estimates of customer
behaviour beyond the point ot sale

The vaiuation of the expected recewvable
1s determined by four key assumptions
expected tevel of customer spend. the
level of customer default rate withun
the contract penod, customer renewals
and customer behaviour beyond the
imtial contract penod Due to the high
level of judgements invelved. we have
determined that there was a petental
for fraud through possible manipulation
of this balance.

The key judgements and estimates
involved are described in more detall in
the Audit Committee report and in notes
1e, 1t and 25h to the Group financial
statements

Tax Provisioning

The Group operates in a number of
different tax junsdictions The nature

of the Group’s operations and related
transactions can give rise to uncertan
tax treatments, thereby requinng the
use of estimates and assumptions
which may be subseqguently chalierged
by the relevant tax authonties. The
Group has recogrised provisions in
relation to uncertain tax positions

as set out in note 30 Our key audit
matter 1s focussed on the vaiuation and
disclosure of certain open matters with
HMRC Further information in this area
1s discussed in the Audit Commuittee
report and In note 1t to the hinancial
staterments.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key
audit matter

We gvaluated the: design and implementation of
both the relevant manual and automated controls
aver the revenuea recognition process in respect
ot commission recewvable, utilising IT specialists
to assist with testing of automated controls. in
addition we tested whether these controls were
opeiating effectively throughout the penod.

We tested the valuation of revenue recognised
thwough review of the contractual arrangements
and performed substantive testing of the four key
managemeant assumptions 1o data received from
networks together with testing of cash receipts.

we reviewed the status of settlement agreements
with the networks to ensure amounts have been
recogmsed approprately

We reviewed management’s assessment of

the accuracy of historical estimates against
subsequent cash received to consider the
appropniateness of the hustorical data as a proxy
for future behaviours. We also benchmarked
management assumptions agamst relevant
external market data tc determine any future
trends

We assessed any changes in estimate in
compangon tou the pnor year and reviewed year
on year movement in key assumptions

We used our ntarnal tax specialists to evaluate
and test management's assumptions in respect
of these tax relatect provisions including
assessment aganst local tax legislation and
review of supporting documentation In assessing
the provisions we have considered the tax
enviranment ur which the Group operates, the
cutcome of past settiements and the status of
matters being discussed with tax authorties

Our tax specalists reviewed correspondence with
tax authonties as wel! as reviewing the opinions
or ather support received from external advisors
which management have utihsed in calculating
the provisions
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Key observations

We consider the treatment
adopted in relation te the
valuation of the UK network
commission receivable and
the related assumptions
applied by management to
be appropnate.

As described on pages
145-147 an adjustment

15 made to the amount of
UK network commission
receivable following an
assessment of a vanety of
nsk factors inciuding the
risk of potential changes
in consumer behaviour

We reported to the Audit
Committee that while we
cansider the amount of the
adjustment to be reasonable,
in our view, the level of
adjustment is less prudent
than the prior year.

We also agree that the
disclosures relating o
network commissions,
including disctosure of the
reascnably possible change
in estimates, as summarised
In note 25 provide an
appropnate understanding
of the estimates taken by
management.

We concur with the
treatment adopted and
amourits recognised

N relation to taxation
orovisioning for these
certain open matters, and
believe that management's
provisioning methodclogy
includes a reasonable
consideration of all uncertain
positions.



Key audit matter description

Data Breach

As referred to within the Audit
Committee report, the Group
announced on 13 June 2018 that they
were the subject of a data breach

There is a nisk that the Group has not
identifled and incorporated the potential
impact on cash flow forecasts ansing
from the data breach, which are used
in support of the conclusions made
by management in respect of goodwil
imparrment and going concern The
existence of such a data breach could
also impact the nature andg extent of
our audit procedures in respect of the
Group’s IT systems and applications
that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements

Our application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the fimanciai statements that makes it probabie that the
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledugable person would be changed or influenced. We use matenality both in
planning the scope of our audit work and In evaluating the results of cur work Based on our professional judgement, we

How the scope of our audit responded to the key
audit matter

Supported by our T specialists. we have
reviewed and assessed the incident reports
prepared by management in order to understand
the nature of the breach

In light of the data breach. we have evaluated
the appropnateness of the downside sensitivities
applied within management's going concern
assessment, and re-evaluated the conclusions
management reached n their annual assessment
ot goodwill impairment We have challenged the
assumptions used in these assessments through
consideration of the potential iImpact on the
Group’s forecast cash flows and the headrocm
avallable in each model We also considered

the possible impact of the data breach on the IT
systems and applications that are relevant to our
audht and whether our audit approach remaned
appropriate

determined materniality for the financial statements as a whole as follows

Koy observations

We are satisfied that the
additional audt procedures
undertaken in response to
the data breach provide
sufficient assurance in
respect of the matters
described above.

Group materiality
Basis fo;'_detern:l_i-ning
materiality

R‘ati_onaier iiir' the
benchmark applied

Group Financial statements
£16 0 rmthon (2016 17, €21 5 milhon)

We have determined matenatity on the pass
of 5% of adjusted headline profit befole tax
In using adjusted headhine profit before tax
we have followed the Group’s definition of
headline results in note 1a and adjusted this
to add back the amortisation of acquisition
intangibles and pension finance costs due 1o
thew recurnng nature. We have determined
materahty on a consistent basis with the
previous year and the decrease 1n matenahty
in the current year 1< due to the decrease in
the Gioup's Headline profit before tax

We have assessed the use of a headline
measure to be appropriate as this centinuas 1o
be a key drnver of business valle. 1s a critical
component of the fimancial statements, ang
the main measure «hich management uses to
mondar the performance ot the busimess and
cormmuriccate this to sharehaiders

We agreed with the Audit Comimittes that we would report 1o the Conurittee all audit differences in excess of £0.8 million

Financial Staterents

Parent company financial statrér;lreiﬁts
£15 2 million (2016/17* £20.4 million)
We have determined materlal]i; an the bgsts
of net assets. taking into account Group

matenaity Materality s approximately 0.5%
of net assets

Net agsets was selected as an appropnate
benchmark for determining materalty, as the
parent company does not trade, and only acts
as a holding company

(2016/17 £1.0 milion) for the Group a8 welt as differences below that threshold that. in our view, warranted reporting on
gualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Comniittee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the
overall presentation of the financial statements

An overview of the scope of cur audit

Our Group audit was scoped by obtanung an understandmg of the Gioup and 1its environmant, ncluding Group-wide
controls, and assessing the nsks of matenal musstatement at the Group level Based on that assessment, we focused our
Group audit scope primarily on the audit work of the retal! operations m the UK and the Nordics, which 1s consistent with
the previous year. Each of these components requires a local statutory audit
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Independent Auditor’s report

These locations represent the principal business units and account for approxmmately 94% of the Group’s revenue from
continuing operations {2016/17: 90%) and 84% of the Group's headline prohit before tax {2016/17° 87%). Each logation
was selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the risks of matenal misstatement
identified above, Our audit work at these jocations was executed at levels of matenalty applicable to each individual entity
which were lower than Group matenality and ranged from £10 0 milhen to £10 4 milhon (2016/17° £11 8 miltion to £12.9
mithon).

At the Dixons Carphone plc parent entity ievel we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical
procedures to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant nsks of matenal misstatement of the aggregated
financial information of the remairing components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances

The Group audit team 1s closely involved in the audit of the UK components, being the largest part of the Group,
throughout the year including atiendance at key audit planning and closing meetings In addition, the Group audit team
continued to follow a programme cf planned visits (o0 Overseas companents that has been designed so that a seruor
member of the Group audit team visits the most significant locations where the Group audit scope was focused at least
once each year For the year ended 28 Apnl 2018 senior members of the Group audit team visited Norway, where the
Nordics head office is located and a sub consolidation s performed, on lwo occasions

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information  [he other informaton comprises We have nothing to

the information included in the annual report othen than the financial statements and our report in respect of
auditor’s report thereon these matters.

Qur opinion on the financial statemenrts does not Cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our repait we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with cur audnt of the hnancial statements, ow responsibility 15 to read the other
information and, in doing so. consider whether the other information 1s matenally nconsistent
with the financial staterents or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated

If we identify such matenal inconsistencies or apparent matenal misstatements, we are
required to determine whether there 1s a matenal nusstatement in the financial statements or
a matenial misstatement of the other informanon 1. based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there 1s a matenal misstatement of this other information we are required to
report that fact

In this context, matters that we are specifically reauired to report to you as uncorrected
material misstatements of the other information niclude where we conclude that:

s Fair, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the directors that they
consider the annual repart and financial statements taken as a whole 1s far, balanced and
understandable and provides the nformation necessary tor shareholders 1o assess the
Group's position and performance, business model and strategy. 18 matenally inconsistent
with our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

s Audit committee reporting  the section desciibwng the work of the audit committee does
not appropnately address matters communicated by us to the audit comnuties, or

Directors’ statement of comphance with the UK Corporate Governance Code - the parts
of the directors’ statement required unger the Listing Rules relating o the Company's
complance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containng pravisions specified for
review by the auditar n accordance with Listing Rule 8 8 10R(2) do not propenly disciose a
departure from a relevant prowision of the UK Corporate Governance Code

Respans:bility of directors

As explaned more fully in the directors responsitilities statement the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satishied that they give a true and far view, and for such internal controi as the directors
determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error

ln prepaning the hnancial statements the drectars are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern disclosing as applicable matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to lquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have 1o realistic alternative but to do so
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Auditor's responsibiibies for the audit of the financial statements

Our abjectives are to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the hnancial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance s a high level of assurance but 1s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1ISAs (UK) will
always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists Misstatements can anse from traud or error and are considered
matenal if, Individually or in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisicns of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements

A further description of our responsibiities for the audit of the financial statements 1s located on the Financial Reporting
Councit's website at- www frc.org uk/auditorsrespensibiities  This description forms part of our auditor’s report

Use of our report

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Comparnies Act 2006 Our audit work has teen undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose Ta the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibiity to anyene other than the Company and the Company's members as a
body, for cur audit work, for this report. or for the opinions we have formed

Report on other legal and regulatory reguirements
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In cur opinion the part of the dwectors remuneration report 1o be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit

* the iInfformation given In the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared i1s consistent with the financial staternents, and

*+ the strategic report and the drectors’ repart have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements,

In the light of the knowledge and understandinig of the Group and of the parent company and therr environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not dentified any matenal misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accournting records We have nothing to
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are requirad to report to you if. i our opimion report in respect of
these matters.

* we have not received all the informanon and explanations we reguire for our audit, or

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company. or returns
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us. Ot

* the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

Directors’ remureration We have nothing to
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are afso required to report if in our opinion certam report arising from
disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not been made or the pan of the Directors’ these matters.

Remuneration Report to be audited 1s not in agreement with the accounting records and returns

Other matters

Audit tenure

Foliowing the recommendation of the audit committee, we were apponted by the Board on 31 July 2003 to audit

the financial stateiments for the year ending 24 March 2003 and subseguent financial penods The period of totai
uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappomtments of the firm 1s 16 years, covering the years

ending 2003 to 2018

Consistency of the audit report with the additonal report 16 the audit committee
Our audit opinion 1s consistent with the additiunal report to the audit committee we are reguired 10 provide in accordance

with 1SAs {UK)

Stephen Griggs (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Delaitte LI 12

Statutory Auditors

London, United Kingdom

20 June 2018
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Consolidated income statement

weog ended M Apn MR

velr ended 29 Apnl 2017 {restated)

Non-
Non- Hueadine haadl?n‘g
Headlne* headline* Total nestated!’ trestated)” Total
o _ P Emdiion fmilien . Ei‘l‘l}”lf)n Canthian B Em_l\i\_gll _E‘m\\_hon_

Continuing operations
Bgvenue - L 2 10,525 6 10,531 10.242 5 10,247
E!-c_)fit / {loss) lggfq_rgﬁinrterest aﬂd tax 2.3 400 {79) 321 516 @O) ) 436
Finance income 14 — 14 17 — 17
Finance costs 32} (14 {46) (33) (1e) (49
Net ﬁp_ergc_:c_e  costs ) (18) {1 4)” (?2} e "7(1 6 (32
Profit / (loss) before tax 382 {93) 289 500 96) 404
l_l:ligme tax [expense} / credit ! (79) 26 (53} ) (114 17 ©@n
Profit / (loss) after tax — continuing operations 303 (67) 236 386 {79) 307
Loss after tax — discontinued operations 2.4 — {70} {70) — (12} {12)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the period 303 {137) 166 384 81) 295
Earnings per share (pence) 4
Basic - continuing cperations 26.2p 20.4p 33 5p 26.7p
Diluted — continuing operations 26.1p 20.3p 33.4p 26 6p
Basic - total 14.4p 25 6p
E)_iluted - togglﬂ_w 14.3p 25.5p

' Headline results exclude amortisaticn of acquisitior mangites teargenintegration and vansformation costs, property rationalisation costs,
acquisiion related costs nel interest on defined benett pension schemes busingsses 16 he exited and discontinuead operations Such
excluded items are described as non-neading’ as discussed in note 4 The headune and non-headhine results have been restated for year
ended 29 Apni 2017 to1efiect the current penod classihcation of the Spunt Jamt Venture operations  Sparnish operations and the noneybee

operations as discontinued as discussad i note )
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

tems that may be reciassifred to the mcome staterment in subsequent years'
Cash flow hedges

Fair value movements recegrised 1 Other comprehensive income
Reclassified and reported in income statemenit

Amount recognised in inventories

Avaliable-for-sale financial assets

(Losses) / gains ansing dunng the penod

Exchange gain ansing on translaton of foreign operations

Tax on tems that may be subsequently reclassthed to profit or loss

fterns that will not be reclassified 10 tne ncomie statement 11 subsequent years
Actuanal gains / {losses) on detined benefit pension schemes - UK
Overseas

Other pomprehgnsivé ?ncome / (expense) for the period (taken to equity)

Total comprehensive income for the period

Note

25

iz

21
21

Year ended veat ended

28 Apnl 29 Apnl
2018 2017
Ermlhor: o ,Smm‘i
166 295

{5) 20

(11) (18)

29 22

{2} 19

8 78
- &
e s

87 {144)

(1) -
5 21

71 {123)
o @

256 288
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Consolidated balance sheet

28 Apnil 29 Aprl
2018 2017
MNote Fmillion __}ir?ﬂ\gn _
Non-current assets -
Goodwill 9 3,088 3,111
Intangible assets 10 478 553
Property, plant & equisment 11 394 420
Investments 12 17 19
Interests in joint ventures and associates 12 1 18
Trade and other receivables 14 507 531
Difer_rt?q tax assets 7 240 253
- T 4725 4905
Current assets -
Inventory 13 1,145 1,101
Deferred consideration - 3
Trade and other receivables 14 1,154 1,133
Derivative assets 25 27 17
Assets held for sale 24 17 —
Casﬂ and cash equivalents 15 228 209
] L 2571 2,463
Total assets :1?236_ N ?,368'
Current liabilities T
Trade and other payables 16 {2,505) (2,502)
Derivative liabilities 25 (7} (13)
Deferred and contingent censideration 17 mnm (8)
Income tax payabie {72) (94)
Loans and other borrowings 18 (63} (10
Finance lease obligations 19 {3} (3)
Liabikities held for sale 24 v -
Provisions } , 20 B0 84
) 2,720 (2.714)
Non-current fiabilities -
Trade and other payables 16 {318} {368)
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 (12) (14)
Loans and other borrowings 18 {329) {381)
Finance lease obligations 19 (82} (86)
Retrement benefit obligations 21 {472) {591)
Deferred tax yiabilities 7 (135) (138)
Provisions _ _ ) 20 B8y @21
o (1,380)__(1599)
Total liabilities {4,100 (4,313)
Net assets 3,196 3,055
Capital and reserves 22
Share capital 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,263 2,260
Accumutated profits 1,643 1,613
Translation reserve 39 31
Demerger reserve @0 (750
E&uﬁﬁﬂril;utable to equity holders of the parent company 3,196 3,055

The financia! statements were approved by the directors on 20 June 2018 and signed on the&r behalf by.

Alex Baldock Humphrey Singer
Group Ghiet Executive Gt s Frecariees three ta
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

At1May 2016

Profit for the penod

Other comprehensive income and expense
recognised directly in equity

Total comprehensive income and expense
for the pencd

Ordinary shares issued

Equity dividends

Net moverment in refation to share schemes
Tax on items recogrised ditectly in reserves

At 29 Apnl 2017

Profit for the percd
Other comprehensive income and expernise
recognised directly n equity

Total comprehensive income and expernse
for the period

Ordinary shares 1ssued

Equity dwvidends

Net movement in relation tu share schames

Tax on nems recognised directly in reserves

At 28 April 2018

Share

Share premium  Accumuiated

capital reserve profits

4t £mHhor £million £rmillion
1 2.256 1,398

- - 295

- - (83)

- - 212

— 4 _
23 -- - {115)
— 17

- - 1

1 2.260 1,513

- — 166

- — 82

- - 248
- 3 (2}
23 - - {130)
- - 14

1 2,263 1,643

Translation
reserve
Cmilion

5

39

Demerger

reserve Total equity

Lemalion

(750}

£milhion

2860
295

)

288

4

(115)
17
t

(750)

3,065

166

Dixans Carphone plc Annual Report and Accouﬁts 2071 7/18 _1[)3

Financial Statements




Financial Statements

Consolidated cash flow statement

Cash generated from operations

Special contributions to defined benetit pension scheme
Ip_cgm_t_ax paid

_lEtiaE!HIows from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Net cash outflow ansing from acquisitions

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment
Proceeds on sale of business

Devidends received from available tor sale investrments

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and other intangibles
Investment in joint venture

Net cash flows from investing activities
Er?ancim; activi"ties

Interest paid

Repayment of obligations unider finance leases
Issue of ordinary shares

Equity dividends paid

Decrease in borrowings

Fflmhty arrangement fees paid

Net CEEH flows from financing activities

Decrease inW(V:ash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts

Cash and cash eqguivalents and bank overdrafts at beginining of the period

Currency translation differences

Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of the period

Year ended

28 Apnil

2018

hote £million

26 420
(48)

(187)
(3

Year
ended
29 April
2017
Ernihon

(242)
(29)

(132 (248

(19}
(19
1
(130}
(32)
2

(192)

12

199
I
26 185

(17)

®

4

(115)

(28)
e
166

(49)

233
15
199
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1 Accounting policies

a} Basis of preparation

Dixons Carphone plc (the Company) s a pubzhc company
limited by shares incorporated n the United Kingdom, which
15 registered in England and Wales under the Companias
Act 2006

The consolidated financial statements have heen prepared
on a going concern basis in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the EU. IFRS 1ssued by the Internaticnal
Accounting Standards Board those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to those companies reporting under
IFRS and Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

The hnancial statements have been presented in UK
Sterling, the functional currency of the Compary, and on
the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certan
financral nstruments, as explaimed below Al amounts have
been rounded to the nearest €1 mullion, unless otherwise
stated. The principat accounting policies adopted are set
out below

The Group's Income statement and segmental analysis
identify separately headline performance and non-headline
tems. Headline performance measures reflect adjustiments
to total performance measures The directors consider
‘headhne' performance measures 1o be an nformative
additional measure of the ongoing trading performance

of the Group and believe that these measures provide
additional useful iInforrmation for shareholders on the
Group’s performance and are consistent with how business
performance s measured Internally.

Headline resufts are state:d betore the results ot
discontinued operations or exited  to be exited businesses.
amartisation of acquisition intangibles acquisition related
costs, any exceptional items considered so one-oft and
matenal that they cistort underlymg performance (such

as reorganisation costs, imparment charges propetty
rationalisation costs and non-recurnng charges), Income
from previcusly disposed cperations and net pension
interest costs. Businesses exited or to be exited are those
which the Group has exited or comimitted to or commenced
to exit through disposal or closure but do not meet the
defirttion of discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS
and are material to the results and/or operations ot the
Group.

A reconciliation of headline profit and losses o total profits
and losses i1s shown in note 2, a descnigtion ot the nature

of the non-headline results recorded is shown in note 4
tems excluded from headline results can evolve from

one financial year to the next depending on the nature

of exceptional items or one-off type activities described
above. Headline performance measures and non-headline
performance measuras may not be directly comparable with
other similarly btled measures o ‘agjusted ravenue or profit
measures used by other compares

The accounting policy for the use of these nie asuras s
outhined in the ‘Alternative Pertormanee Measures’ secticon
of the Giossary.

Going concern

The Group’s tunding arrangements and processes for
managing s exposure to hquidity nsk are set out in notes
18 and 25

In their consideration of going concern, the directors

have reviewed the Group’s future cash forecasts and

proftt projections. which are based on market data and
past experience. The directors are of the opinion that the
Group s forecasts and projections, which take into account
reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show
that the Group 1s able to cperate within its current facilities
and comply with 1ts banking covenants for the foreseeable
future In arrving at their conclusion that the Group has
adequate financiat resources, the directors were mindful of
the level of borrowmngs and facilities as set out In note 18
to the Group financial statements and that the Group has a
robust policy towards liguidity and cash flow management,

Accordingly the directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and the Group have adequate resources
1o contnue n operation for the foreseesable future and
consequently the directors continue to apply the going
concern basigs in the preparation of the financial statements.

The principal accounting pelicies are set out below.

b) Accounting convention and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incarporate the
flnancial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (s subsidianes). Control 1s achieved where
the Company has the power over the investee; is exposed,
or has rights, to vanable return from its involvement with

the mvestee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its
refurns

The resuits of subsidianes and joint ventures acquired or
sold during the year are included in the consolidated iIncome
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of dispesal as appropriate, which 1s the date
from which the power to control passes. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the tinancial statements of
subsichianes to bring the accounting policies used iNto hne
with those used by the Group All intercompany transactions
and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

c) Foreign currency translation and transactions

Matenal transactions in foreign currencies are hedged using
forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and
are racognised in the financial statements at the exchange
rates thus cbtaned Unhedged transactions are recorded
at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

Material monetary assets and habiliies denominated in
foreign currencies are hedged, manly using foerward foreign
exchange contracts to create matching hiabilities and assets,
and are retranslated at each balance sheet date. Hedge
accounting as defined by 1AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ has been applied by
marking to market the relevant financial instruments at

the balance sheet date and recogmsing the gamn or loss (n
reserves 11 respect of cash flow hedges, and through profit
ar loss in respect of far value hedges
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The resuits of overseas operations are translated «ach
month at the monthly rate, and then balance sheets are
translated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date
Goodwill and acquisition intangible assets are held i the
currency of the operation to which they relate Exchange
differences arising on the transiation of net agsets. goodwill
and resuits of overseas operatons are recegnised in the
translation reserve. All other exchange differences are
ncluded in profit or loss In the year in which they anse
except where the Group designates financial mstruments
held for the purpose of hedging the foregn currency
exposures that result from matenal transactions undertaken
in foreign currencies as cash flow hedges, hedge
accounting as defined by IAS 39 "Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement’ 1s apphed The effective
porticn of changes in the fair value of financial instruments
that are designated as cash flow hedges 1s recognised

in other comprehensive Income The gain or joss 1slating
to the ineffective portion 1s recogrised in profit or loss
Amounts previously recognised i equity are reclassified
to profit or loss In the periods when the hedged item 1s
recognised in profit or loss

Where a foreign operation 1s disposed of 1he gain or [08s
on dispesal recognised in profit or loss s determined after
taking nto account the cumulative currency translation
differences that are attributable to the operaton The
principal exchange rates aganst UK Sterling used in these
financial statements are as foliows

A grdge L

T oma - 2018

Euro - 7113 118 1.14 118
Norwegian Krone 10.73 1086 1098 T
Swedish Krona 11.10 1132 11.94 1147
US Dollar 1.34 129 1.38 129

d} Revenue and suppiier income

Revenue

Revenue comprises sales of goads and sewvices excluding
sales taxes. The following accounting policies are apphad
to the principal revenue generating activities in wiuch the
Group 1s engaged:

* network commiIssion ravenue 15 recoghised with
reference to the stage of completion of the ser.ice under
the individual contract with the MNO_ as outlined in
section (g),

* revenue from the sale of goods s 1ecogmised ot the point
of sale or, where later, upen delivery to the customer and
is stated net of relurns,

* revenue earned from the sale ot customer support
agreements 1s recognised aver the term of the contracts
when the Group obtains the right to consideration as
a resuit of performance of its contraciual obhgalions
Revenue in any one year 1s recogmsad by reference to
the stage of completion of the contractuaf terni- at the
balance sheet date The stage of completion 15 estinated
with reference to the propeortion of the expected costs
of fulfiling the Greup’s total obligations under the
agreements, determined by reference fo extensive
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historical claims data. Rebance on histonical data assumes
that current and future experience witi follow past trends.
The directors make an annual assessment of this data

to ensure this continues 1o reflect the best estimate of
expected future trends;

s revenue ansing an services (INcluding delivery and
installation. product repars and product support) is
recogrised when the relevant services are provided; and

= Insurance revenue relates to the sale of third-party
nsurance products. Sales commission received from third
parties 1s recogmsed when the insurance policies to which
it relates are sold. to the extent that it can be rehably
measured and there are no ongomng service obligations
Revenue from the provision of insurance administration
services 15 recognised over the life of the relevant
pohcies. Changes in contractual terms for the sale of
third party insurance contracts resulted in addrional
revenue recogmsed of £nil in the current year (2016/17:
£22 million)

income received from supphers such as vofume rebates
The Group has provided enhanced disclosure on supplier
funding foflowing guidance 1ssued by the Financial
Reporting Council n December 2015 This disclosure is
aimed at assisting the users of the financial statements

n understanding the judgements and estimates made in
the recogrition of supplier funding in the Group’s financiaf
statements

Vhe Group s agreements with suppliers contain a price for
unmits purchased as well as other rebates and discounts
which are summarnised below

Yolume Rebates This incame 1s Iinked to purchases made
from suppliers and 15 recognised as a reduction to cost

of goods sold as inventory 1s sold Unearned rebates that
relate 1o inventory not sold are recognised withun the value

of inventory at the penod eng Where an agreement spans
period ends. jJudgement 1s required regarding amounts to be
recognised [Forecasts are used as welil as hustorical data in
the estimation of the level of income recognised Amounts are
only recognised where the Group has a clear entitiement to
the receipt of the rebate and a relable estimate can be made

hscounts [his income 18 received from suppliers on a price
per unit basis The lavel of estimation 1s minimal as amounts
are recognised as a reduction tc cost of goods sold based
on the agreement terms and only once the item |s soid

Marketing mcome” This income 1s received In relation

to marketing activifies that are performed on behalf of
supplers Judgement s required to ensure that ncome 1s
anfy recognised when ali performance cbligations within the
contract have been fulfilled and the income 1s expected to
be collected

Supplier funding amounts that have been recognised and
notinvoiced are shown within accrued income on the
balance sheet

e) Network commissions

The Group operates under contracts with a number of
Mobiie Netwark Operators ((MNOs'). Over the life of these



contracts the service provided by the Group 16 each MNO
1s the procurement of connections to the MNOS' netwarks.
The individual consumer enters intc a contract with the
MNQ for the MNO 1o supply the ongoing airtime over that
contract period.

The Group earns a commission for the service provided to
each MNO (‘network commissiony Revenue 1s recognised
with reference to the stage of completion of the service
under the individual contract with each MNO A key
judgement associated with this recagmtion 15 the unit of
account used in recognition. The Group has deternuned
that the number and value of consumers provided to

each MNQ 1n any given month ta cohort’) represents

the best output measure of stage of comgletion of eacn
contract. As invoices to MNOs are raised on a monthly
basis, the monthly billing cycle has been dearmied 1o be the
appropriate unit of account for the purposes of applying
IAS 39 to the financial assets ansing from the provision of
Services.

The level of network commussion camed (s based on g share
of the monthly payments made by the consumer to the
MNGOQ. The total consideration receivable 1s determmed by
both fixed {mcnthly line rentall and vanable elements and s
therefore subject to significant judgement and s dependent
on consumer behaviour after the point of recognition See
note 25 for further information around this judgemernt

The method of measunng the fair value of the revenue and
associated receivables in the month of connection 15 to
astimate all future cash flows that will be recewved from the
network and discount these based on their iming of receipt

The determined comrmssion is tecognised i tull in the
month of connection of the consumer to the MNQ as this 1s
the point at which we have completed the service obhigation
relating to the consumer connection

Comnussion revenue 1s only recognised to the extent it
can be reliably measured for each cohort of consumers
Estimates are based on extensive nistoncal evidence
abtained from the networks. Rehance on histonical data
assumes that current and future expenence il follow past
trends. Management make a guanterly and the directors

a twice-yearly, assessment of this data to ensure this
continues 1o reflact the best estimate of expected future
trends.

The associated receivables are subseguentiy ineasured at
amortised cost with remeasurements due to Lhanges n
consumer behaviour recognisad in the income staternert
Assumptions are therefore required, particularly in relation
to levels of consumer default within the contract penad.
expected levels of consumer spend, and catisurmer
behaviour beyond the imitial contract penod urther details
of estimates used to initially value revenue recognised and
subsequently value commission recevabile at the balance
sheet date, effects on the current year incoms statement of
changes in estimates and sensiivity analysis of the carrying
value can be found in note 25

In addition to remeasuremnent due 1o changes in consumer
behavicur, changes to revenue may also be made, where
for example, more recent information becomes avalable

enabling the recogniion of previously unrecogrised
commission Any such changes are recognised in the
income statement See note 25 for further detail of these
changes recognised in the current perncd.

In addition to the above, the Group may also receive
marketing support and volume ncentives from the MNO,
which are recognised when the iIncome bacomes highly
probable

f) Discaontinued operations and assets and liabilities
held for sale

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group
which represents a significant separate line of business,
either through s activity or geographical area of operation,
which has been sold. 1s held for sale or has been closed.

Where the sale of a component of the Group s considered
highly probable at the balance sheet date and the business
15 avaulable for immediate sale in its present condition, 1t 1s
classified as held for sale Such classification assumes the
expectation that the sale will complete within ong year from
the date of classification Assets and liabilities held for sale
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and far value
less costs to sell Once classified as beld for sale, intangible
assets and property, plant & equipment are no fonger
amortised or depreciated

g) Share-based paymenis

Equity settied share-based payments are measured at far
value at the date of grant, and expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting penod, based on an estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest.

Where share-based payments are subject only to service
conditions or internal performance critera (such as EPS
targets). far value 1s measured using etther a Binomial
mode! or a Black Scholes model Where share-based
payments have externai performance critenia (such as TSR
targets) a Monte Carlo model 1s used to measure farr value.

For all schemes, the number of options expected to vest

15 recaloulated at each balance sheet date, based on
expectabons of leavers prior to vesting For schemes

with internal performance criternia, the number of options
expected to vesl is alsc adjusted based on expectations

ot performance against target. No adjustment s made for
expected performance against external performance criteria.
The muvement in cumulative expense since the previous
palance sheet date 1s recognised in the income statement,
with & cotresponding entry in reserves.

h) Retirement bhenehit obligations

Company contributions to defined contribution pension
schemes and contributions made 10 state pension schemes
tor certamn overseas employees are charged to the income
staterment on an accruals basis when emplioyees have
rendered service entithng them to the contnbutions

For defined benefit pensian schemes, the difference
hetween the market value of the assets and the present
value ot the accrued pension habilities 1s shown as an asset
or hability in the consolidated balance sheet. The calculation
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of the present value 1s determined using the projected umt
credit method.

Actuanal gains and losses ansing from changes it actuarial
assumptions together with experence adjustments and
actual return on assets are recogrised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and expense as they
anse. Such amounts are not reclassified to the mcome
statement In subsequent years

Defined benefit costs recogmsed m the income statement
comprise mainly net mterest expense or mcome with such
interest being recognised within finance costs Net interest
is caleulated by applying the discount rale to the net defined
benefit liability or asset taking into account any changes in
the net defined benefit obligation during the year as a resuilt
of contribution or benefit payments

i} Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee The determimation of
the ciassification of property leases 1s mude by reference
to the land and buildings elements separately All leases
not classified as finance leases are classified as operatng
leases.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases 1s recogrsed on

a straight-lne basis over the term of the relevant lease
Initial direct costs incurred In negotiating and ananging an
operating lease are added to the carrying armoun! of the
leased asset and recognised on a straighi-line tasis over
the lease term

The Group as a lessee

£

Assets, held under finance leases are capitalised at thewr

fair value on acquisition or, If lower, at the present value

of the mimmum lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease and depreciated over ther estimatad
useful lives or the lease term if shorter The corresponding
obligation to the lessor 1s included in the balance sheet as a
liability. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation Finance
charges are charged to the income statement over the term
of the lease in prapertion to the capital element outstanding

Fioe
B

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight-hine basis over the period of
the lease. Contingent rentals ansing under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the perod in which they
are incurred.

Benefits received and recevable as an ncentihve 1o enter
tnto operating leases are amartised through the 1come
statement over the period of the lease:
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j} Taxation

Current tax

Current tax 15 provided at amounts expected to be paid or
recovered using the prevalling tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of previous
years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax habiities are recogrised for all temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or
habihty 0 the balance sheet and the tax base value and
reprasent tux payable in future pericds. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it s probable that taxable
profits will be avallable against which deductible temporary
ditferences can be utiised

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences ansing on mvestments in subswdianes, except
where the Group 15 able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary
difference wili not reverse in the foreseeable future. No
provision is made for tax which would have been payable on
the distnbution of retained profits of overseas subsidiaries
ar associated undertakings where it has been determined
that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseesable
future

A deferred tax asset 1s recogmised only to the extent that
1t 18 probable that future taxable profits will be available
aganst which the asset can be utihised. Current and
deferred tix s recognised in the mcome statement except
where it relates 1o an item recognised directly in other
comprehensive Income or reserves, n which case it 1s
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or
reserves as appropriate

Deterred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that

are expected to apply m the years in which the timing
cifferences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and
laws that have been enacted, or substantially enacted by
the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each
ather when they relate 1o income taxes levied by the same
tax junsdiction and when the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and llabilities on a net basis Deferred tax
balances are not discounted

k) Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsiciary or associate, the far value of
the consigeration 1s allocated between the identifiable net
tangible and \ntangible assets and hiablities on a far value
basis, with any excess consideration representing goodwill.
At the acguisiton date, goodwilt s allocated to each group
ot Cash Generating Units (' CGUs’) expected to benefit from
the comhination and held in the currency of the operations
tu which the goodwlll relates.

Goodwill 1w not amortised, but 1s reviewed annually for
impanment or more frequently where there 1s an indication
that goodwil may be wnpaired Imparment 15 assessed

by measunng the future cash flows of the group of CGUs
te: which the goodwill relates, at the level at which this is



monitored by management. Where the future discounted
cash flows are less than the carrying value of goodwill, an
imparment charge 1s recoymised in the income statement

On disposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses. the
relevant goodwil 1s included in the calculation of the profit
or loss on disposal

I} intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Acguisition intangibles comprise brand names and
customer relationships purchased as part of acquisitions
of businesses and are capitalised and amortised over
thewr useful economic lives on a straight-line basis These
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accuimulated
amortisation and, where appropriate, provision for
impairment In vaiue or estimated 1oss on disposal

Amortisation 1S provided to write off the cost of assets on a
straight-line basts on the following bases

Brands 7,

Customer relaticnships 1384, - 50 per annum

20% per annum

This amartisation 1s recogrused in non headhe
administrative expenses

Software and licences

Software and licences include costs incurred to acquire the
assets as well as internal infrastructure and design costs
incurred in the development ot software n order 1o bring the
assets into use.

internally generated software s recogrised as an intangible
asset only if it can be separately identified, it 1s probable
that the asset will generate future economic benefits

which exceed one year, and the development cost can be
measured reliably, Where these conditions are not met,
development expenditure 1s recognised as an expense

in the year in which it 1s incurred Costs associated

with developing or maintaning computer sohware are
recognised as an expense as incurred unless they Increase
the future economic benefits of the asset. n which case
they are capitalised.

The expenditure capitahised mncludes the cost of matenals,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of averheads
Subsequent expenditure 1s camtalised only when it
increases the future economic benefits embaoched i the
specific asset to which it relates

Software 1s stated at cost less accumulated amorhisahon
and, where appropriate, provision tor imparment 1 value or
estimated loss on disposal Amortisation s provided to write
off the cost of assets on a straight line: basis Letween three
and eight years, and s recorded in administrative expenses

Intangible assets are assessed on an ongoiry basis to
determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to
the conclusion that the net book value 15 NGt supportable
Where assets are to be taken out of use, an imparment
charge 1s levied Where the intangible assets torm part

of a separate CGU. such as a store or busmess unit,

and business indicators exist which could lead to the

conclusions that the net bock value is nat supportable, the
recoverable amount of the CGU 1s determined by calculating
ifs value in use The value in use 1s calculated by appiying
discounted cash flow modelling to management’s projection
of future profitability and any impairment is determined by
comparing the net book value with the value in use

m) Property, plant & equipment

Praperty, plant & equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

With the exception of land, depreciation s provided 1o write
off the cost of the assets over their expected useful lives
from the date the asset was brought into use or capable of
being used on a straight-lne basis

Rates applied to different classes of property, piant &
equipment are as follows

Land and buldings 1..% — 4% per annum

Fixtures fittings and equipment  10% - 33%% per annum

Assets capitailsed as finance leases are depreciated over
the term of the lease

Propetty plant & equipment are assessed on an ongoing
basis 1o determine whether circumstances exist that

could lead to the conclusion that the net bock value 1s not
supportable Where assets are to be taken out of use, an
impaitment charge s levied Where the praperty, plant &
equipment form part of a separate CGU, such as a store
or group of stores, and business indicators exist which
could lead to the conclusions that the net book value 1s
not supportable, the recoverable amount of the CGU is
determined by calculating its value in use. The value in use
15 calculated by applying discounted cash flow modeling
to management’s projection of future profitability and any
impairment 1s determined by comparing the net book value
with the value in use

n} Financial assets and investments

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's balance
sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the investment The Group’s financial assets
comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables which
mvolve a contractual night to receve cash from external
parties and investments classified as avallable-for-

sale Financial assets compnse all tems shown in notes

14 and 15 with the excepbon of prepayments. Under

the classifications stipulated by 1AS 39, cash and cash
equivalents and denvative financial nstruments, which

are further descnbed in notes 1r) and 25, are ciassified

as “foans and recenables’ and ‘held for trading unless
desigriated in a hedge relationship’, respectively Financial
assets are derecognised when the contractual nghts to the
cash fiows from the financial asset expire or the Group has
substantially transferred the rnisks and rewards of cwnership.

irade and other receivables

Irade and other receivables (excluding derivative financial
assets) are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Trade
and other recewvables are inttially recognised at fair value
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and subsequently held at amortised cost. less provision

or impairment ff there 1s objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect the full amount of the
receivable, impairment is recognised through the mcome
statement, Significarit financal difficutties of the debtar
probability that a debtor wilf enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinguency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade recewvable 1s impared
The impairment 1s calculated as the difference between the
carrying value of the receivable and the present value of
the related estimated future cash flows. discounted at the
onginal interest rate,

Available-for-sale investments

The Group has investmerts ii unhsted sh.ires that are riot
traded in an active market but are classified as avaable-
for-sale financial assets and stated at tar value (because
the direciors consider that they faw value can be rehably
measured). Fair value 1s deterrmined in the manner descnibed
in note 12. Gains and losses ansing frum changes in far
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the accumulated profits reserve VWhere
the investment 1s disposed of or 1s determined to pe
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recogniserd
In the accumulated profits reserve 15 reciassified to the
income statement. Diwidends on avalable-for-sale equity
instruments are recogrused in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the cividends 1s established

o) Interests in joint ventures

Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement. These consohdated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the total recognised
gains and losses of joint ventures using the equity method
less any imparrment losses, When the Group's interest in a
joint venture has been reduced to t il because the Group s
share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint venlure, the
Group only provides for additional fosses tu the extent that
it has incurred legal or constructive obhgations to tund such
losses, or where the Group has made payiments on behalf of
the joint venture. Any associated goodwill is included within
the carrying value of the investment and s assessed for
impairment as part of that investment

p) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value, and on a weighted average cost Lasis
Cost comprises direct purchase cost and those vverheads
that have been incurred In kringing the inventores to

thewr present location and condition less any attnbutable
discourits and bonuses recened fram suppliers w respect
of that inventory. Net realisable vaiue 1s based on estmated
selkng price, less further costs expected 10 be incurred to
disposal. Provision 1s made for obsolete. slow moving or
defective items where appropnate

q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and in
hand, bank overdrafts and short term highly hquid deposits
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
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value Bank overdrafts, which form part of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement, are
shown under current liabilibes

r} Borrowings and other financial liabilities

The Group's financial iabiities are those which involve a
contractual obligation to deliver cash to external parties at
a future date Financial hatihities compnse all items shown
in notes 16 to 19 with the exception of deferred iIncome.
Financial habiities are recognised in the Group's balance
sheet when the Group becomes a party ta the contractuat
provisions of the instrument Financial iabllities (or a part
of a financial iabihty) are derecognised when the obligation
spectfied i the contract 1s discharged or cancelled or
expires

Borrowinigs

Borrowings in the Group’s balance sheet represent
committed and uncommitted bank loans Borrowings are
inthadly recorded at far value less attributable transaction
costs Transaction fees such as bank fees and legai costs
associated with the securing of financing are capitalised and
amortised through the incorme statement over the term of
the relevant faciity  All other borrowing costs are recogrused
in the income statement in the period in which they are
ncurred

Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are stated

at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recognised in the iIncome statement
over the penod of the borrowings on an effective interest
basis.

Under the classifications stipulated by IAS 39, borrowings,
finance lease obligations and trade and other payables
(excluding derivative financial habilities) are classified as
financial hatilihes measured at amortised cost’ Dernvative
financial nstruments. which are described further in note
25, ae classified as "held for trading unless designated in a
hedge relationship’

frade and other payables

Trade and other payables {excluding dervative financiai
habiities) are imally recorded at fair value and subsequently
measured al amortised cost Derivative financial instruments
are invbally recorded at far value and then subseguently
remeasured to fair value at each balance sheet date and are
held within assets or habilites as appropnate. Gans and
losses arising from revaluation at the balance sheet date are
recogiised I the income statement unless the denvatives
are designaled as hedges and such hedges are proved to
be effective

Where the Group has night of offset in relation to trade and
other recewvables and payables under IAS 39, these are
presented on a net basis See note 25 for a description of
the financial assets and labihiies presented on a net basis.

Denvative financial instiurnents and hedging activity
e Group uses derivatives to manage its exposures to
fluctuatng interest and foreign exchange rates These
nstruments are initially recognised at farr value on the
date the contract 1s entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at thewr tair value The treatment of the



resulting gan or loss depends on whether the dervative 1s
designated as a hadging mstrument and 1f so the nature of
the item being hedged. Dervatives that quality for hedge
accounting are treated as a hedge of a highly probable
forecast transaclion (cash flow hedge) in the case of foreign
exchange hedging and a hedge of the exposuie arnising
from changes in the cash flows of a tinancial ability due

to interest rate nsk on a floating rate debt instrument in the
case of interest rate hedging.

At inception the relationship between the hedging
nstrument and the hedged item 1s documentead, as 1s an
assessment of the effectiveness of the dervative instrument
used in the hedging transaction in offsetting changes

in the cash flow of the hedged item This effectiveness
assessment 1s repeated on an ongomy basis dunng the

life of the hedging instrument to ensure that the instrument
remains an effective hedge of the transaction

1. Denvatives ciassified as cash flow hedges the effective
portion of changes in the fair value 1s recognised in
other comprehensive income Any gain o 10ss relating
to the ineffective porticn 1s recognised mimediately
N the iIncome statement in sales cor cost of sales, to
match the hedged transaction Amounts recognised
In other comprehensive income are recycled to the
income statement in the period when the hedged
tem will affect profit or foss [f the hedging nstrument
expires or 15 sold, or /o longer meets the rnitena tor
hedge accounting, any gumuiative gain 1 108s existing
in other comptehensive Ncome at that tane remains in
other comprehensive income. and s recogmsed when
the forecast transaction s ultimately recognised in
the income statement If the torecast transaction s no
longer expected to occur. the cumulative gan or loss In
other comprehensive income 1s immediately transferred
10 the Income statement

2. Derivatives that do not quaify for hedge accounting
these are classidied at far value through profit or loss
All changes in fair value of derivative instruments that
do not qualfy for hedge accounting are recognised
wmmediately in the income statement

s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a legal or constructive
chhgation exists as a result of past events and it 18 probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation Provisions are discounted where
the time value of money is considered to be matenal

All provisions are assessed by referenice 10 the best
avalable information at the balance sheet date

t} Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

Critical accounting judgements and estimates used in
the preparation of the financial staterments @+ continuaily
reviewed and revised as necessdry

Whilst every effort 1s made to ensure that such Judgements
and estimates are reascnable, by their nature they are
uncertain, and as such changes may have a matenal impact.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Heveritie recogritian — network COmmissions

For certain transactions with MNOs, commission receivable
on mobile phone connections depends on consumer
behaviour after the point of sale. Further details of the
wdgement mvoived can be found at note 1 {e), and further
detalls of estimates used to value commission receivable,
carrying ameounts at the balance sheet date, effects on the
current year income statement of changes in estimates and
sensitivity analysis of the carrying value can be found in
note 25

Revernue recogntiion — customer support agreements

As set out in note 1(d), revenue relating to customer support
agreements 1s recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contractual ferms at the balance sheet
date The stage of completion 1s estimated with reference to
the proportion of the expected costs of fuifiling the Group’s
total oblgations under the agreements, determined by
reference to extensive historical clams data. The estimation
techniques used tor revenue and profit recegnition in relation
to the agreements require forecasts to be made of the
outcome of the agreements and the timing of costs, based
on historical cost profiles for each type of agreement. Dunng
the year changes in estimates relating to contracts entered
n previous penods totalled £4 million income, as a credit

to reveniue in the current year income statement {2016/17:
£28 mithon income).

Defined Lenefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit pension
scheme that 1s recognised through the consolidated
staterment of comprehensive ncome and expense 1s subject
to a number ot assumptions and uncertainties. The calculated
latlities of the scheme are based on assumptions regarding
nflation rates, discount rates and member longewity.

Such assumptions are pased on actuanal advice and are
benchmarked aganst similar pension schemes. Refer to note
21 for turther information.

Taxation

Tax laws that apply to the Group's businesses may be
amended by the relevant authontes, for example as a

result of changes in fiscal circumstances or pronties.

Such potential amendments and their application to the
Group we monitored regularly and the requirement for
recogntion of any labilites assessed where necessary The
Group 1s subject to ncome taxes n a number of different
unsdic tions and Judgement 1s required in determinng the
appropnate provision for transactions where the ultimate tax
determination 1 uncertain. The Group recognises a provision
when 1t probable that an obligation to pay tax will crystallise
as aresult of 2 past event The guantum of provision
recognised 1s based on the best information avalable and
has been assessed by in-house tax experts. and where
appropnate third party taxation and lega! specialists, and
represents the Group's best estimate of the most likely
cutcomea Where the final outcome of such matters differs
from the amounts nitially recorded, any differences will
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impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
year to which such determination 1s made The Group has
recognised provisions in relation to uncentan tax pousitions
of £66 million at 28 April 2018 (2017 £66 milhon Due to
the nature of the provisions recorded, the timing of the
settlement of these amounts remains uncertan In addition.
the Group is currently cooperating with HMRG in relation to
several open tax enquiries ansing from pre-merger legacy
corporate transactiens, ncluding a specthc enquiry into the
tax treatment as a result of the formation of the joint venture
with Best Buy Inc. in 2008, which may result in htigation
The potential range of tax exposure relating to this specific
enquiry Is £nif - £40 milion excluding interest and penalties
for which no provision has been made.

Provisions

The Group’s provisions are hased on the best information
available to management at the balance sheet clate
Judgement is required to assess the likellhood of success
af any claim made against the Group and if any hability will
arise. The most significant provision currently 15 1t relation
to the store reorganisation programime described 1N note 4
The costs and timing of cash flows are dependent on axiting
the property lease contracts or subietting the property
Significant assumptions are used 1 estimating the ultimate
cost to the Group including the nature tirmung and cost of
axiting a lease and the level of sublease inceme The future
costs assumed are inevitably only estimates, which may
differ from those ultimately incurred Reter to note 20 for
further information.

u) Recent accounting developments

There were no new IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that had
to be implemented during the year that significantly atfect
these financial statements.

The following new standards, which are applicable to the
Group, have been published but are not yet effective

» |FRS 15 '‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’
provides guidance on the recognition timing and
measurement of revenue IFRS 15 15 applicable for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and
therefore will be apphed by the Group in the 2018/19
financsal year.

The Group will apply a modited retruspective appreach
to application, and therefore comparative amaounts will
not be restated Any transimonal impact will be recognised
through reserves in the 2018/19 openina balance sheet

The majonty of Group sales are for goods sold in store
and online, where there s a single pertormandc.s obligation
and revenue 1s recognised at the point of sale o, where
jater, defivery to the end customer [here 1s no inmipact
from the adoption ot IFRS 15 on these sales other than
reclassification of returns provisions currently recorded
within accruais in the halance sheet, 1o a1 gross expecterd
return iability and asset.

For network commission revenue  there s no anhicipated
significant iImpact from the adopton of IFRS 15 and it i
expected revenue will continue to be recogmsed in line

with the current accounting pohcy as detaded n note 1a)
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FFor certain other revenue streams, the adoption of
IFRS 15 will have an impact on the timing of revenue
recogrition and the allocation of total transaction price
between performance obligations based on relative
standalone farr values

«  Customer support agreesments - under IAS 18 revenue
1s cuntently recognised with reference to the stage of
completicn of the contract based on the contracted
term or (for monthly contracts) our estimate of
customer tenure, and the profile of total expected
costs IFRS 15 introduces new requirements relating
to the assessment of the centract length over which
revenue 1S recognised, and recognution over time or
at a point in time  Due to the cancellation options and
customer refund clauses within the agreements, the
term has been reassessed to be either monthly or a
senes of day to day contracts Revenue will therefore
be recognised in full as each perfermance obligation
s satisfied For monthly agreements revenue will be
recognised in full in the month to which payment
refates For arrangements assessed as being a series
of day to day contracts revenue will be recognised
on a stlaight-ing’ basis The provisional net impact
of these changes will be a release of £2.25 rmillon
of currently recogrnised deferred income in the FY
2018.19 opening balance sheet for current contracts.
This impact s expected 1o unwind to the income
statement over a 5 year penod

*  The Jroup recelves sales commussion from the
sale of third-party msurance products and for the
provision of brokerage and cther claims handling
services on behalf of the nsurance provider
Under 1AS 18, sales commission from the sale of
these products 1s recogrised when the insurance
policies are sold, and revenue from the provision of
admimistration services 1s recognised over the life
ot the relevant policies. Under IFRS 15 the Group
has re-assessed the standalone selling price of the
commussion and administration services provided,
which will provisionally result in a reduction in the
level of commission receivable recognised on the
opening balance sheet of £16 mullion, to realiccate
consideration from commission (recogrised up front)
to other services {recogrised over time). We do not
currently consider this will have an impact on reported
ESIT i1 2018/19 ar tuture periods.

The adoption of IFRS15 will have no impact on lifetime
profitabiity or cash fiows of any contract. No matenal
impact 15 expected gver ali remarvyng revenue streams

IFRS ¢ 't inancial Instruments’ becomes effective for
periods beginming on or after 1 January 2018, and wili be
effactive for cur 2018/19 financial year IFRS 9 introduces
new requirements for the classification and measurement
o iinancial assets and financial habilities, a new model
lor 1ecoynising imparrment provisions based on expected
credit losses and new hedge accounting requirements.
We have established a new risk management policy and
aligned hedge accounting documentation with the new
standard. and do not anticipate any impact on cur current
hedging relaticnships  In relation o credit losses, the



primary change relates to provisioning for potential future
credit losses on our inancial assets We do not expect
this to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements

* {FRS 16 ‘Leases' 1s applicable for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019, and wili therefore be applied by the
Group In the 201920 financial year IFRS 16 will require
the Group to recognise a lease habiity and a nghi-of-
use asset for most of those leases previously treated as
operating leases This will have a maternal effect on both
non-current and current liabibties, fixed assets and the
measurement and disclosure of expense associated with
the leases which under the new standard will be treated
as depreciation and financing expense which were
previously recognised as operating expenses over the
term of the lease

The adoption of the standard wili matenally increase total
assets, as leased assets will be recognised on balance
sheet, primaniy relating to our trading store portfoho
There will also be a matenal increase in habilties
relation to these committed leases Lease expenditure vall
be reclassified and spht from the current presentation in
cperating expenditure to depreciation and interest costs
This will result im a change to the profile of the net charge
taken to the income staternent over the perniod of the
lease.

The Group intends to apply the modified retrogpective
approach on transition A project continues across the
Group to assess the overall impact of the standard
including considering the systems and processes reguired
for implementation and key assumptions such as the
discount rate to be used. Given the complexities of the
standard, and the sensihvities to these key assumphons.
it 1s not yet practicabie to provide a full estimate of the
impact,

Certain other new accounting standards. amendments to
existing accounting standards and interpretations which
are Inissue but not yet effective, arther do not apply to the
Group or are not expected to have any matenal impacl on
the Group's net results cr net assets

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operating segments reflect the segments
routinely reviewed by the Board and which are: used

to manage performance and allocate resoutces This
information 15 predominantly based on geographical areas
which are either managed separately or have simuiar trading

(a) Segmental resuits

Headline external revenue
Inter-segmentai revenue

Total headline revenue

Headline EBIT

charactenstics such that they can be aggregated together
nto ong segment

The Group operatas three operating segments as descnbed
below [hscontinued operations are excluded from this
segmental analysis. Results are reviewed by the Board on a
headline basis by segment.

* UK & Ireland comprises operations in the UK and Ireland,
the [ixons Travel business and the non-honeybee B2B
operations which leverages the specialist skills, operating
processes and technology of the Group to provide
managed services to third parties looking to develop thewr
own connected world sclutions

Nordics operates in Norway. Sweden, Finland, Denmark
and Ilceland

Greece consisting of our ongoing operations in Greece
and for non-headline tems, our previously disposed
operations In Southern Europe.

MNon-headline results are allocated to each reportable
segment Where these relate to businesses to be exited or
ncome or expense from previously disposed operations,
they are aflocated where practicable to the region in which
the operation was ongmally held.

UK & Irgland. Nordics and Greece are involved in the sale of
consumer electronics and mobile technelogy products and
services, primarly through stores or onling channels.

Durnng the period, the reportable segments of the Group
have changed, and refiect the updated segments reported
1o the Beard. who are considered the Chief Operating
Decision Maker under IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.
Previously, segmental results for Connected World Services
consisted of both cur honeybee and Connected World
Services divisions, which was the B2B operations providing
managed services to third parties. The Connected World
Services division has now been allocated to the respective
segmerial market (either UK & reland, Nordics or Greece),
and honeybee has been treated as a discentinued
operation In addition, as a result of the disposal of our
Spam operations and the Sprint Joint Venture, these results
have also been excluded from the segmental result as are
treated as discontinued operations

1he restatement of comparative information for these
segments has been set out in part {b) of this note

Transachons between segments are on an arm's length
basts

Year ended 28 Apnl 2018

ln::ni Nordics Greece  Elrunations Total
Emulion Emiltion £milion fmlhion Emillign
6,645 3470 410  — 10,525
67 - = 7 -
6712 3470 410 67) 10,525
281 101 18 - 400
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2 Segmental analysis continued

{a) Segmental results continued

Reconciliation of headline prott to total profit before tax

Year ended 28 Apnl 2018

Share plan
Amorti- Merger taxable
Headune sation ot integration Fension benetit
profit Businesses acquisition  and transfor- Property scheme  Acquisition Umeuro compen-  Total profit
f{loss) to be exsted intangibles matan costs rationahsation interest related ncome sation / (loss)
e gmilhon _Emuuun___‘_jmmiorz_ Cmulion £rmdlton Emul_luor] En’ﬂll:)n imllln:'m Elnlll_cf_ __Elm_lgnﬁ
UK & Ireland 281 (o (19) ) (29) - 2 - 2 219
Nordics 101 - 12) {(14) - - - - - 75
Greece 18 - ) - - - - 10 - 27
EBIT 400 (9) (32) {23) {29) - 2 10 2 321
Finance income 14 - —- - - - - - - 14
Finance costs 32 - - - - (14) - - - (4e)
Profit / {loss)
before tax 382 © {32) (23) 29)  {14) 2 10 2 289
year ended 297“?“7'29)7 restated)
[ESE
o Nord co (Greece Enrnrnations Total
- . _ - Lo srmaban Trrullion emulon Lmilhon
Headline external revenue (rastated, 6.735 3,159 348 — 10,242
Inter-segmental revenue 81 - - e =
_Totai Ilga_d_li_ggrgypnue (restated)” 6816 3,159 348 {81) _ 10,242
lieradline EBIT (restated)” 417 89 10 — 518

«

Headhne results and total prafit  Josu) have been restated 1o exclude the results of the Spont Joort Venture operations, Spanish operations
and honeybee operations which have been classifiec as discontnued operations as discussed in note 31

Reconcthation of headiine profit to toral profit before tax

Year ended 29 Apnl 2017 restated)

ot HEN L

Fle.irt ° - . 1 Fension Share plan
[FRS1E BETE bae L shen o sItnn ranatanr gt SCIRITE Uniguie  1axabie benefil Total profit
vestatats 4, e euted nta gikiles A et st Income  campensation /{loss)
Sl n “1elion s hion e lon CHnll Crmfion Crtion Cruthion -
UK & {reland 417 {10y 21 28) - — (R10)] 348
Nordics 89 - (12 3 - - m 73
Greece 10 - - - > - _ 15
EBIT 516 110 {33 (31) — 5 n 436
Finance income 17 - - - - — 17
Finance costs ) 33) - (16} — - (4QL
Profit / {loss) before tax 500 (10 {33} {31 (16) 5 (11j 404

“  Headlne results and total profit / flass) nave been restated 10 eaciude the results of the Sprint Joint Venture operations, Sparmsh operations

and honeybee operations which have been clagemen as discontinuad operahons as discussed in note 31

b) Restatement of segmental information

As discussed above, during the penod the Group » repurtable segiments nave been changed, and comparatives have been
restated accordingly. The below tables provide reconcihatons tor the heaatine revenue and headline EBIT for the year
ended 29 Apnl 2017 The relevant adjustiments are

* Removal of honeybee revenue trom Comected World Services to discontinued operations

e Aliocation of previous B2B ope:ations vathin Connected World Services to geographic segments

¢ Removal of Spain resuits from Southern Europe ds treated as a discontinued operahion (see note 31) and the segment
renamed as Greece

114
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2 Segmental analysis continued

b} Restatement of segmental mformation continued

Year ended 28 Apnl 2017

Tatal

Year ended 29 April 2017 (restated)

neadhne Heallgrate
TevBNaR 35 Remove ramaning Remove
LT TR roceybee WS Span
saparted 18 JBTHES revenues resuits Total
erallion Timulion mulion Smilion £milion
UK & Ireland 6,550 - 185 - 6,735
Nordics 3,156 — 3 - 3,159
Southern Europe » Greece 661 — 10 {323) 348
Connected World Services 213 (15) {198) - -
Total headline revenue 10,580 {15) - 323) 10,242
vear endea 29 Apn 2017 prestate
Tatal
dead e
EBIT as Fer ove Realocats Remove
Ve oS!, oy e reimairing Span
TepC e resul's  LWVS results resuits Total
ST s o Tmulian £rndhion fmilign
UK & Irefand 385 - 3z - M7
Nordics 89 - — - 89
Southern Europe / Greece 22 - — {12) 10
Connected World Services 21 1 L
Total headline EBIT 517 11 — (12) 516

¢) Geographical information

Revenues are allocated to countines according to the entity’s country of dormucile,
different to that shown by domicile

d) Other information

L_J;(_E _lreic-ind
Nordics
Greece

N

Year ended
28 Apri

2018
Emithon
2,670

1,266
24

3,960

Srient assels

Yea
ended
23 Aprr
2017
nestated!
Crnddlioy

2,691
1.268

20
3.9/9

Revenue by destination 15 not matenially

Captal expenditure Depreciation * Amortisation”

Year ended
28 Apnl
2018
Emullion
125

40

8

173

Year Year
ended ended

29 Apni Year ended 29 Apnl
2017 28 April 2017
restated) 2018 (restated)
Cmillion Emillion rmihicn
176 133 128

40 54 43

6 5 3

222 192 174

*  Non-current assets above exciude hna al assel », deterrad tas assels and assets related to discontinued operations Figures for 2016/17
have been restated to exclude assets reated to  nscontitaled operabons
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3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and taxation

Year ended 28 Apnl 2018 Year ended 29 April Q_LE(res_laledl
i i Non-
Non- Headline headhne
Headline headline Totail estated! uestated) Total
Ermuion Eruihon £mihon Cremdhon S_‘nlpﬂpon ,,,,s,’m”'m
Revenue 10,525 6 10,531 10,242 5 10,247
Costof sales {8,365) ® (8371) (7.986)  (7) (7.999)
Gross profit 2,160 - 2,160 2,256 {2} 2,254
Operating experises B (1,760) {79) (1,839} (1,740 {78) (1.818)
Profit / (loss) before interest, taxation 400 (79) 321 516 {80) 436
Revenue can be further analysed as follows
Year ended 28 April 2018 Year encad 29 Apnt 2017 (restated)
NDFI-' T
Non- Heaglhere headghne
Headline headiine Total e stated” restated) Total
e o . Livulhon £mithon Lrmhon Tmmkor Sjmslhqf) Lrenlhion
Sale of goods 8,031 - 8,031 7.550 — 7,560
Revenue from services 2,494 6 2,500 2,692 5 2,697
10,525 6 10,531 10,242 5 10,247

Headiine results and revenue have been restated as sathned i note 31

Revenue from services predominantly comprises those relating to commissions from MNOs. insurance. customer support
agreements, delivery and installation product repairs and product support

Profit / (loss) before interest and taxation for continuing aperations 1s stated after charging / (crediting) the following:

Year ended
Year ended 29 Apr|
28 Apnl 2017
2018 (restated)
—_— . Emilion frmuihon’
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 101 92
Amortisation of acquisiticn intangibles 32 33
Amortisation of other intangibies 59 48
Impairment of trade receivables 1 8
bmparment of inventory 67 49
{Gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (1) 3
Cost of inventory recognised as an expense 7,439 7,593
Rentais paid under operating leases
Nan-contingent rent 310 316
Contingent rent 24 24
Rentals received under operating leases - subleases {2} (3)
Investment property rental income m )]
Net foreign exchange losses / {gauns) 1 @
Share-based payments expense 14 16
Other employee costs {(see hote 5) 1,124 1,104

* Amounts for the year ended =9 Apri 2017 have beer restated to exclude amounts, atirbutabie to the Sprint Joint Venture. honeybee and
the Spanish operations. which have peen classified 4y discontinued operations i1 fne cunent year
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3 Revenue and profit / {loss) before interest and taxation continued

Auditor’s remuneration comprises the following

Eees payaialé_fc; the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accounts
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its assocates for their audit of the Company's

_sﬁs}digrles

Total audit fees

Tax comphance services
Other assurance services

Other services

Yeat ended
28 April
2018
Lrhon

Yeal

re:

r ended
29 April

2017
stated;”
£rmilhan

0.1

1.6
Pta
0.1
0.2

2.0

* Amounts for the year enced 29 Apni 2017 have been restated to exclude amuunts attributable to honeybee and the Spanish operations,

which have been classihed as discontinued oper-4tions in the cunent year

4 Non-headline items

Year ended
Year ended 29 April
28 Apnil 2017
2018 (restateq)”
- Er:)le ) £million Emjhon
Included in revenue
Businesses to be exited b6 5
R . % 5
Included n profit / {loss) belfore interest and fax.
Businesses 1o be exited m 9) {10)
Amaortisation of acquisition intangibles {n (32) (33)
Exceptional items - Merger and transformation related costs (nr {23} (31
- Property rationahsation costs v} (29) -
- Acguisition reiatecd {v) 2 -
Share plan taxable benefit compensation il 2 (11
Unieuro income b 10 5
L BLLC N
Included In net finance costs
Net non-cash finance costs on defined beneht pension sphemes ) Vi) L (14) @)7
Total En?ac{;r} p;'E)f;t / (_Ioss) before tax (93) (96)
Tax on non-headlne items k) 26 17
Total impact on profit / (foss) after tax  continuwng opsiations (67) (79)
Discontinued operations 24 oy 02
Tatal impact on profit / floss; after 1ax {137} {91)
Comparative non-headiing resu't - 'Or e e £ 0osed 29 800 2011 Buave been r2stated as set out i note 31
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4 Non-headline items continued
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{v)

(v

(vily

18

Businesses to be exited:

Comprises the trading result of businesses to be exited where they do not meet the criteria under IFRS 5 for separate
disclosure as discontinuad operations In the current perod, this compnses of the 1D mobile operations in the Repubtic
of Ireland.

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

A charge of £32 million arose dunng the year in relation to acguisition intangibles ansing on the CPW Europe
Acquisition, the Dixons Retall Merger andg the Simphfydigstal acquisition {2016/17 £33 million}

Exceptional items - Merger and transformation related costs

Year ended Year ended

23 April 29 Apnl
2018 2017
________ ) . Emillen _ Smilon
Merger Integration costs - (18)
Transformation related costs ] 23) (13
{(23) {31}

The Merger has given rise to the following custs which have been lreated as non-headline

* Merger integration costs of Cril (201671 y18 mulhon) relate to the recrganisation of the Group following the Merger
and primardy compnse professional fees. employee severance and incentive costs associated with the integration
process, which are now comglete

e Transformation costs of £23 mmthon in the urrent year relate primanly to the business restructuning and rebranding
in the Nordics of £14 mithon 2016, 17 £3 mmwlion), together with UK business restructuring and functional
transformation costs of £9 mullion (2016, 1/ £10 mulilon) primarily 1elated to redundancy and consultancy fees

Property rationalisation costs

Following the Merger it was announced that the Group would launch a major roll-out of its fully refurbished 3-in-1
store concept in the UK & ireland This involves merqing the remaring PC World and Currys stores and inserting a
Carphone Warehouse, reducing the overall store pertfolo by 134 The costs associated with this initiative, being early
lease termination premiums. onarous iease provisions, dilapidations and fixed asset impairments, have been treated
as exceptional items.

An additional £29 militon has been provided 1ollowing a review of the current status of the remaining stores vet to be
exited.

Acqguisition related:

The Acquisition related credit of £2 million 15 a result of changes to the farr value of contingent consideration payable in
refation to the Simphfydigital acquisition in 2016

Net non-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

Under 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefils' the net nitarest charge on detined benefit pension schemes s calculated by
applyng the corporate bond yield rates apphcable on the last oay of the prewious inancial year to the net defined
benefit obligation Corporate bond yield rates vary over time which i 1urn creates volatiity in the income statement
and balance sheet and resuits in a non-casl remeasurement cost which can be volatile due to corporate bend yield
rates prevaling on a parbicular day and 1s also unrepresentative ot the actual investment gains or losses made or the
labiities paid and payable Consistent with & number of other companies the accounting effects of these non-cash
revaluations of net defined benetit pension habiliies have been excluded from headhine earnings.

Share plan taxable benefil compensatiuin

In the prior year a provision was made for cormpensation payable to participants of the Share Plan for any
taxable benefit ansing on the waiver ot any portion of loans granted under the scheme Following the payment of
compensation to the participants in the current year the excess provision has been released

Dixons Carphone pic Annual Feport ana Accoants 2017 18



4 Non-headline items continued
{vin) Unieuro income.

In November 2013, the Group disposed of its Unieuro operations, but retained an investment of 14.96% in the
operations. The investment was mitally recognised at £nil based on the farr value of the retained interest. in March
2017, Unieurc undertook an IPO 1or 31 844 of its shareholdings, which reduced the Group's mvestment to 10.2% of
the Unieuro operations As a result of the (PO, the Group received a didend from the intermediate holding company
of £6 million, which was treated ag non-headline in 2016/17 as it related to a disposal of a portion of our iInvestment.

In October 2017, IEH announced a corpurate restructunng, whereby the Group obtamned direct control of the
investment of 7.18% of Unieiro, together with a recarvable tar previous dividends and the share sales. The amaunt
realised as a result of the dividend and share sale of £10 millien has been recycled to the iIncome statement.

(x) Taxation

The effective tax rate on non-headhng items of 28'% 18 higher than the statutory UK tax rate of 19% due to a one-off
credit In relation to the recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets in Greece of £10 mullion.

5 Employee costs and share-based payments

a) Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration racognised in the ncome statement for continuing operations is as follows

Year ended
Year ended 29 Apal
28 Aprd 2017
2018 Irestated)
ool 775"‘"'"0" emiflion
Satanes and parformance tbonuses 982 970
Social secunty costs 116 110
Other pension costs } % 24
1,124 1,104
Share-based payments 14 16

1,138 1,120

Aggregate remuneration for discontmued operations are salaries and performance bonuses of £22 miilon (2016/17: £36
milion) and social secunty costs of £4 million 12016117 £8 mullion)

The average number of employees for continuing operaticns 1s

Year ended

Year ended 29 Apri

28 Apnl 2017

2018 wrestated)

Number o Number

UK & Ireland 31,479 3z2,0m
Nordics 10,014 10,309
Greece 2,267 2,112

43,760 44,432

The average number of employees for discontinued operations s 836 (2016/17. 1,860)
Compensation earned by key managemeant. comprising the Board of Directors and senior executives, 15 as follows:

Year ended Year ended

28 April 29 Aprl

2018 207

Fm'“'ml, Crmillion

Short-terrn employee benefits 19 11
Share based payments = 3
19 14

Short-term employee benefits inciudes €11 mullion (2016.17 Cruly i relation to the satisfaction of share-scheme related
loans by the Group on behalt of the employees aong with the associated benefit in kind income tax charge and social
security contributions
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continusd

a) Employee costs continued

During the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 and year ended 29 March 2014 l1oans were advanced to members of key
management in relation to the Share Plan At 28 April 2018 loans to key management in relation 1o these schemes
totalled £0.2 mdhon (2017: £8.7 million) Interest 1s charyed on loans at market rates and interest of £0.1 mibhon has been
recognised during the penod (201617 €0 2 million)

Further nformation about individual directors’ remuneration, share intgrests share options, pensions and other
entitlements, which form part of these financial statements, 1s provided in the Rermuneration Report

b} Share-based payments

1) Share Plan

During the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group ntroduced the Share Pian which allowed participants to share 10%

of the incremental value created in the Group in excess of an opening value {assessed on the value of CPW over a
three-month penod prior to approval of the plan by shareholders in June 2013 and. for new entrants during the 13 months
ended 2 May 2015, assessed on the aggregated value of CPW and Dixons Retall over a one-month penod prior to the
announcement of preiminary Merger digcussions i February 2015) and beyond an annual rate of return of 7% on invested
capital. The plan was underpinned by a nurimum annual cempeund TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median
TSR of the FTSE 250

Participants acquired. at market value, participation shares in a subsidiary company that holds the Group’s interests in
CPW Europe and, since the Merger Dixons Retall The Group granted loans to participants at a commercial rate of interest
to acquire the shares. Loans were repayable i full if parformance conditions are met.

The performance of the scheme was measured after the publication of the prehminary announcement for the year ended
29 April 2017, when 60% of the shares vested, 2 ith 0% deferred for a further year When the awards vested, the value of
the shares heid by participants was based on the incremental vafue (if anv) of Dixons Carphone in excess of the opering
valuation together with the mimmum returm on investad capital These shares would then be purchased by the Company
for cash and / or the Company's ordinary shares

A ‘bad leaver’ 1s required to transfer the participation shares to such party as the Company designates for an amount equal
to the total amount outstanding under the loan If the market value of the shares 1s less than the amount of the outstanding
loan (and any accrued interest) then the participant may be required to repay up to 20% of the shortfall out of their own
reSOUrces.

A participant shail be a "good leaver’ at the sole wiscretion of the Remuneration Committee and may be permitted to retain
an award notwithstanding the termination of then employment

The mechanics of the scheme could be vanad by the Remuneration Committee f necessary to ensure that participants are
neither advantaged nor disadvantaged by « vanation of the share capital of the Company. bona fide merger. reconstruction
or similar re-arganisation.

As expected, and as stated In last year's report, due to the performance of the Group's share price in the 12 months prior
to vesting, the Dixons award did not meet the perfermance conditions reguired for vesting and this award lapsed. On the
lapsing of the Dixons award the loans that were provided by the Group 10 participants in order to purchase participatton
shares in a subsidiary company became repayable Under the Share Pian rules for the Dixons award. repayment of

90% of the loan (plus accrued interest) was an obhigation of the Group (and not the individual participants) and therefore
this porhion of the ioan was waived The remaining 10% of the loan (plus accrued interest) was repaid by the executive
directors in July 2017 In addition as the wanving of the Inans tnggered a benefit in kind income tax and social security
charge for the participants, and the Rermuneration Committee had previcusly determined that participants were not
informed of this possible outcome at the tme the Ioans were taken out, and as they were advised that the maximum they
would have to repay would be 10% of the loan (plus accrued interest), the Company compensated the participants far
the tax and sociat secunty charge arising Gtherv)se participants could claim aganst the Group for losses ansing out of
this unforeseen set of circumstances which according 1o the legal advice: would have a strong likelihood of success. The
compensation payments were maci2 to the exscutive directars i February and March 2018.

The Carphone award met the threshold for vesting and 60% of the resulting award vested in July 2017, with the remaining
40% due to vest on 29 June 2018 A total of 6071 of the loan iplus acerued interest) was repaid by the participants in July
2017 and the remaining 40% (plus accruea interest) will be repaid when the remaining portion of the award vests.

1) Share option schemes

During the year ended 29 March 20114, the Group introduced a share option scheme which allows nil- priced options 1o
be offered to serior employees Options were first granted under the scheme in January 2014 The options are subject to
continuing empioyment and certain awards are sabyect to perdformance conditions
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued

b) Share-based payments continued

For options granted during 2015/16 and earber periods, performance conditions are based on a combination of absotute
TSR performance and relative 1SR performance against the FTSE 250 or FTSE 350 For options granted during the year
ended 29 Apnril 2017, performance conditions are based on a combination of EPS growth and relative TSR performance

against the constituents of the FTSE 51-150 at 1 May 2016

For options granted during the year ended 28 Apnl 2018, awards granted to executive directors are subject to performance
conditions based on relative TSR performance aganst the constituents of the FTSE 51-150 at the start of the perfermance
period and, for some awards, on a combination of relative TSR performance and EPS growth For options 1ssued to other
senior executives, awards are not subject 1o pertormance conditions

The following table summarises the number and weighted average exercise price of share options for these schemes:

Year ended Year ended
2%.&}72[28113 ) o 29 April 2017
Nurnber WAEP Number WAEP
milhon £ millkon e
Outstanding at the beginning of the penod 25 - 14 —
Granted dunng the perod 13 - 12 -
Forfeited during the pericd 13 — (1) —
Exerc!§§grcriur|ng the period (3) - - =
Outstanding at the end of the penod 22 — o5 — % |
Exercisable at the end of the period - - — - g i
T
Year ended Year ended 9
28 Apni 29 Apnl 2
- ot A0 5
Weighted average market price of options excroised in the penod £2.62 n/a £
Weighted average remaining contractual e of awards outstanding 8.7 yrs 83 yrs
Exercise price for options outstanding £nil £nil

iy SAYE scheme

The Group has SAYE schemes which allow participants to save up to £500 per month for edther three or five years At
the end of the savings period, participants can purchase shares in the Company based on a discounted share price
determined at the commencement of the scheme

The following table summanses the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes.

Year ended Year encled
28 Aprd 2018 23 Apett 2617
Numbe; WAEP Nurmber WA.Eii'i
milhion £ mithen B £
(_)LJ_'L_S?EIF_\-dlng at the beginning of the period 15 2.85 13 3.22
Granted during the pericd 14 1.65 9 2.52
Exercised during the pencd - 2.24 2) 2.21
Forfeited during perod {10} 277 B Cifli
Outstanding at the end of the period 19 2.00 15 2.85
Exercisable at the end of the penocd 1 3.31 - 229
Year ended Year ended
28 Apnl 2018 29 Apri 2007
Wé;bﬁ:gd avé}ége market price of oplinng exercised n the penod £2.94 £3 42
Weighted average remanung contractual e ol awards outstanding 3.1 yrs 29 yrs
Range of exercise prices for opuons outsianding £1.65 — £3.77 £224 — £3.77

) Fawr value mode!

The fair value of ophons was estimated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo model The model combines the
market price of a share at the date of grant with the probability of meeting performance cnitena, based on the historical
performance of Carphone Warehouse and. for options issued subseqguent to the Merger on 6 August 2614, the histoncal
performance of hxons
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments ~ontinued

b) Share-based payments continued

The weighted average fair value of options granted dunng the period was £1 32 {2016/17 £1 40). The following table hsts
the inputs to the model:

Year ended Year ended
28 Aprd 2018 29 Apnl 2017
Exercise price o £nil — £1.65 il — £2.52
Dividend yield 0% — 5.8% 26% — 3.0%
Histoncal and expected volatility 29% — 35% 309%
Expected option iife 4 — 10 yrs 4 — 10 yrs
Weighted average share price £2.33 £3.26

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatiity s mdicative of future trends, including
consideration of the historical volatility of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons pniar to the Merger

v) Charge to the ncome staterment and entries i "eserves
During the year ended 28 Apnl 2018, the Group recognised a non-cash arcounting charge to profit and foss of £14 million
{2016/17: £17 milllon) In respect of equity settied share-based payments with a corresponding credit through reserves.

¢} Employee Benefit Trust ({EBT’}

28 April 2018 29 &pnt 2017
Market Nominal farker Nominal -
value value Number - alue value Number
Lmilbion Erthon rullion Crillion erillion milhon
Investment in own shares 1 - 0.7 2 - 05
Maximun number of shares held during the penod 11 — 3.5 3 — 0.7

The number of shares held by the EBT. which are shown in the table above remain held for potential awards under
outstanding plans. The costs of funding and adminmistering the EBT are charged to the income statement in the year to
which they relate. Shareholders’ funds are reduced by the net book value of shares held in the EBT.

The EBT acquired 4 5 million of the Company's shares duning the year ended 28 Apnit 2018 at nominal value (2016/17 no
additional shares were acquired)

The EBT has waived nights to recaive dividends and the shares have not been allocated 10 specific schemes.

6 Net finance costs

Year ended Year ended

28 April 29 Apnl
2018 2017
£milion £mihion
Wnd of discounts on trade recevables 14 15
interest recevable - 2
Finance income _ a7
Interest on bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings {13} {12)
Finance lease interest payable {6) (6}
Net interest on defined benefit pension obligations (14) {16)
Unwind of discounts on liabilities {6) (8)
Amaortisation of facility fees’ {1) {1)
Other Interest expense i Jﬁ) _(E)
Finance costs a6) 49
Total net finance costs {32) (32)
Headline total net finance costs (18} (16)

() Headline finance costs exclude net miterest un def.ned benght pension onhgaton: (see note 4)
) Al finance costs in the above table represe: Lntarast £ osts of financal labiities ard assets, other than amortisation of facifity fees which

repregent non-financial assets
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7 Tax

a) Tax expense

The corporation tax charge comprises

Year ended
Year ended 29 Apni
28 April 2017
2018 {restated)
Cmullion E:n\L«wai
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 19% (2016,17 19920 - Headline 42 87
- Non-headline (4) 9
Overseas tax - Hsadhne 21 19
T 89 97
Adjustiments made in raspect of prior years
UK corporation tax - Headline 4) {20)
Nan-headline (2) (1)
Overseas tax - Headlne v 5
(5 (16)
Total current tax 54 81
Deferred tax
UK tax - Headlne 10 13
- Non-headling (3) (3}
Overseas tax Headhne 8 3
- ) Non-headhne o {17 4}
@ 9
Adjustments In respect of prior years
UK corporation tax - Headlme 1 [
_%r_sgas tax - Headline N - ‘1 B
o 1 7
Total deferred tax M e
Total tax charge =
Headline tax cr{érge 79 114

(il The UK corporation tax rate for 1he yeur ended 24 April 20138 was 19, For the year ended 29 Apnil 2017, the UK corporation tax rate was
209 for the 11 months to 31 March 201, and 192, thereafter

Tax related to discontinued operations s ncluded in the figures set out in note 24
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7 Tax continued

b) Reconciliation of standard to actuat (effective) tax rate

The pnncipal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard
rate of UK corparation tax to profit / loss) before taxation are as follows

Year ended 28 Aprik 2018 Year ended 29 Apri 2017 restateds
Non- i ’ - 7NOI-’\- o T
Headitite heactine Statutory Heaalima rgadtng Statutory
€milion Ermellion £rullion mihan Lmithon Cmilhan
Profit / {(loss) before taxathn 382 (93) 289 500 (96) 404
Tax at UK statutory rate of 18% (2016/17 18.972% 72 (18} 54 100 {23} 77
Dhfferences in effective overseas tax rates 4 {1) 3 2 1 3
Adjustments in respect of prior years (2) 2) @) (9) (1) 10
ltems attracting no tax rehief or habiity 6 5 11 21 5 26
Movement in unprovided deferred 1ax {1} (10) (11) - 1 1
Total tax charge / (credrt) 79 {26} 53 14 (11 97

The effective tax rate on headine earnings of 71 (2016 17 22%) has decreased due to changes in statutory tax rates in
both the UK and Nordics.

[tems attracting no tax retief or habiity relate prinanly to non-deductible i2ase exit costs and capital expenditure upon
which no tax deduction is avarable iri respect of capital allowances

Movement in unprovided deterred tax in nun-headiune relates to the recoynition of a previously unrecognised deferred tax
asset in Greece, which we are now recogrising gue to strong performance of the Greek business

A further reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 Apnl 2020 fas been substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and has been used In the recognition of deferred tax balances

c) Deferred tax

Accelerated Retirement Losses Other
capital benefit carred temporary
allowances obhligations forward differences Total
o £millon Lmdlion Emllllon B tnllﬂ?n . jmfnllgn
At 30 April 2016 (24} 84 3 56 119
Charged directly ta income statement 1) — — (4} (15)
Credited / (charged) to equity - 15 - (4 i
Reclassification 1 - - o =
At 29 Apnil 2017 134) 99 3 47 115
Credited directly to income statement 2 - — 7 9
(Charged) / credited to equity -~ (20) - 1 Q9
At 28 April 2018 {32} 79 3 55 105
Deferred tax comprises the following halances
28 Apnt 29 Apri
2018 2017
Lrowlbon Fm\\l\roin?i
Deferred tax assets 240 253
Deferred tax habilities (138)  (138)
) 105 115
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7 Tax continued

¢} Deferred tax continued
Analysis of deferred tax relating to terms {chargedy » credited to equity in the pencd

Defined be?\éﬂt pensmr; schemes
Share-based payments
Other temporary differences

Year ended
28 Apnl
2018
£million

‘fear ended
28 Apni
2017
L£rmiltion

{1

2

ey

15
{1}
(3)

11

The Group has a current tax credit of Cd4 million (201617 £8 milhon) through equity which consists of a credit of £5 milion
{2016/17. £6 million) 1n relation tu pensions and a charge of €1 milhon : 2016/17 credht of £2 milion) in respect of other items.

The Group has total unrecognised temporary differences relating 1o gross tax losses of £1,074 mullion (2016/17: £1,404
rmilllon) and the deferred tax asset I1s estimated as £184 milhon (201617 £253 milion}. No deferred tax asset has been
recagrmised in respect of the losses due to the majonty of the losses being capital losses and, for trading losses, there is
lack of certainty regarding the availabinty of tuture taxable profits The unrecognised tax losses may be carned forward

indefinitely.

There were no temporary differences agsocated with undistributable sainings of subsidiaries or joint ventures for which

deferred tax habiities had nat been recogrised at the end of either year

8 Earnings per share

Year ended
Year ended 29 Apnl
28 Aprik 2017
2018 {restated)
Emilhon Smithon
Headline earnings
Qwumgpperatlons __39:_5 ____396_
Total earnings / (loss)
Continuing operations 236 307
Discontinued operations 0
i’bt?iﬁ o h 166 295
Mnllmﬂ B Mulhorf\i
ng_gt_e& a\;é;a_ge number of shares
Average shares In 15sue 1,157 1,152
Less average holding by Group £B1 ] ﬂ) N \{,1),
For basic earnings per share 1,156 1,151
Dilutive effect of share options and other incerntive sthemes 47 4
For diluted earnings per share 1,160 1.155
Pence Pence
éém;—ezarn_ir;gs per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations: 14.4 256
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations ] _60 mne
Continuing operations 20.4 26 7
Adjustments for non-headline - contnung operations (net of taxahom __5.8_ o 6_8_
ﬁe‘éa_li?e bha_éic earnings per share 26.2 335
Diluted earnings per share
Total (continuing and discontnued operations 14.3 25.5
Adjustrnent in respect of discontinued operations B 6._(L ~ l
Coin_tf'_mjw:g oberatmns 20.3 26.6
Adjustments for non-headhne - ¢ ontinuing Cperations (et of taxation - 5.8 N ‘6 8_
Headline diluted earnings per share 26.1 33.4
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8 Earnings per share continued

Basic and diiuted earnings per share ate based o the proiit for the perod attributable to equity shareholders. Headline
eamnings per share 1s presented in order 1o show the underlyng performance of the Group Adjustments used to determine
headline earnings are descrnbed further i note J

9 Goodwill
28 April 29 Aprl
2018 2017
- £million milhon
At beginning of periad 3,111 3,054
Additions - 4
Disposals (33} -
Foreign exchange B i i . 19 33
At end of penod T N o 3,088 3,111
Cost ) 3,088 3,111

Accumulated imparment — _—
3,088 3,111

a) Carrying value of goodwill

The components of goodwill comprise the followng businesses

28 Apnil 29 Apni
2018 2017

e e o emes fmiltian fmilion
UK & Ireland 2,065 2 066
Nordics 1,023 1,014
Spain . ~ a3

3,088 3111

b} Goodwill impairment testing

As required by I1AS 36, goodwill 1s subject to annual imparment reviews  1hese reviews are carned out using the following
critena;

* bysiness acquisiticns generate an attributed amount of goodwill.

* the manner in which these businesses are run and managed 13 used to determine the CGLU grouping as defined in IAS 36
‘Impairment of Assets’,

* the recoverable amount of each CGU group 15 deternined based on calculating its vaiue in use {*VIU’),

 the VIt 1s calculated by appiying discounted cash flow moedefing to management’s own projections covering a five-year
perod;

cash flows beyond the five-year penod are extrapolated using a long-term growth ratg equivalent to long-term forecasts
of Gross Domestic Praduct ('GDP’) growth rates for 1he relevant market and

+ the ViU 1s then compared 1o the carrying amount in order to determine whether impairment has occurred
The key assumptions used i calcuiating viailue in use are

* management's projections.

* the growth rate beyond five years and

¢ the pre-tax discount rate
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9 Goodwill continued

b) Goodwill impairment testing contimued

The long term projections are based on board approved budgets for 2018/19 together with the CGU management
approved three-year strategic plans as a base extrapolated to five years. These projections have regard to the reiative
performance of competitors and knowledge of the current market together with management's views on the future
achievable growth in market share and impact of the commutted initiatives The cash flows which derive from these
five-year projections include ongoing capital expenditure required to develop and upgrade the store network in order to
maintain and operate the businesses and to compete in their markets {n forming the five-year profections, management
draws on past expernence as a imeasure to forecast tuture performance

Key assumptions used in determining the five year projections comprise the growth in sales and costs over this penod.
The compound annual growth rate in sales and costs can rise as well as fall year-on-year depending not only on the vear
five targets, but also on the current financial year base These targets when combined, accordmgly drive the resulting
profit margins and the profit in year five of the projections which 1s in turn used to calculate the terminal value in the VIU
calculation. Historical amounts for the pusinesses under impairment review as well as from other parts of the Group are
used to genarate the values attributed 1o these assumptions

The value attributed to these assumptions for the most sigmificant compaonents of goodwill are as follows

Growth rates used were determined based on third-party long term growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP
agrowth rate for the terntonies in which the busiesses operate The pre-tax discount rates applhied to the forecast cash
flows reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the rnisks spacific to the CGUs.

2B Apnl 2018 29 Aprk 2017
Compuund  Coempuund Cope pouiin Camngauerd
annual annual  Growth rawe Pre-tax AnnGa) arnnual - Growth rate Pre-tax
growih n growth im  beyond five discount darawthon yowth . beyond five discount 2]
sales costs years rate sdles couts years rate ‘é
UK & Ireland 1.2% 1.6% 1.8% 8.6% 2 7% 26% 20% 82% £ 1‘
=
. |
Nordics 2.9% 2.9% 1.7% 8.6% 2.6% 2.6% 18% 8.4% g
3
%}
<
@
£
w

¢} Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on &ach of the base case assumplions used for assessing the goodwill with other
vanables held constant Consideration of sensitivities tc key assumptions can evelve from one financial year to the next.
The directors have concluded that there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions which would cause the
carrying amount of goodwill to exceed 1ts valusn in use
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10 Intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Customer Software

Brands relationships Sub-total and licences Total
- L fmshon £madhion fmltlu?_n _Eitl_rio_r!__ _E"_'l‘","l_
Balance at 30 Apnl 2017 209 23 322 231 553
Additions — - — 90 a0
Amortisation {25) @ 32) (70) {(102)
Reclassified to assets held for sale - - — {8} (8}
Disposed with subsidiary {1) — (1) 2 ic}]
impairment m - {1) (54} (55)
Foreign exchange 2 - 2 1 3
Balance at 28 April 2018 274 16 200 188 478
Cost 374 73 447 459 906
Accumil‘_ated ale"EtsatiOﬂ and impairment losses (100} (57) (157) (271) {428)
Balance at 28 April 2018 ) 274 16 200 188 478

Acquisition Intangibles

Software
Customer and
Brands relationships Sub-total ficences Total
L o fmillion fmilhon £rlhon €milign £million
Balance at 1 May 2016 317 31 348 192 540
Additions - - - 97 97
Amartisation 126) 8 (34) (57) (g1}
Impairment - - — 3 3
Foreign exchange 8 — 8 2 10
Balance at 28 April 2017 209 23 322 231 553
Cost 402 73 445 376 821
qumulatgcj amortisation and impanment losses 173 (50 {123) (145) {268)
Balance at 29 Aprif 2017 299 23 322 231 553

Software and licences include assets with a cost of £20 million (2017 £24 mulhan) on which amortisation has not been
charged as the assets have nct yet been brought nto use

The wnpairment recogrised in 201718 pumanly represents the impairment of honeybee intangible assets of £54 millien on
classification as a held-for-sale asset as discussed in Note 24 This has been recorded within discontinued operations in
operating expenses

Individually material intangible assets
Customer relationships and brands nclude intangible assets which are considered individually material to the financiat
statements. The primary intangible assets, ther net baok vaiues and remaring amortisation perods are as follows.

Remaning

Net book  amertisation

value perod

Ermillion Years

CurrysPCWorld 128 12
Elgiganten 58 12
Elkjep 44 12
Gigantt 30 12
Simplifydigital 12 3
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11 Property, plant & equipment

Fixtures,
fittings
Land and and other
Burdings equipment Totat
e el ol . Emlll_lf)n im_“lon 7777€m|!li9n7
Balance at 30 Apnl 2017 92 328 420
Additrons 4 93 97
Depreciation (10) (92) (102)
Disposais {9) {2} {11)
Disposed with subsidiary — (10} (10)
Impairment — 1 (1)
Foreign exchange UL .
Balance as at 28 April 2018 77 317 394
Cost 109 673 782
Accumulated depreciation {32) ) _(356) (388)
Balance as ;f 28 Aprii 2(7)'18 }:} :ﬁ 77 :547
irlg[uded in net b_gg_lg value as at 28 April 2018 . o
Land not debreuated - - -
Assets in the course of construction — 72 72
Assets held under finance leases 47 - 47
Fixtures
fittings
Land and and other
baldings equipment Total
Cmillign Cmilhion Crilhon
Balance at 1 May 2016 100 266 366
Additions 4 147 151
Depreciation {8) (87) (95)
Disposals %) (3} {7
E)reigg gi«ihange ) — 5 5
Balance as at 29 Apnil 2017 92 328 420
Cost 118 606 724
Accumulited depreciation {26) @278 753074)7
Balance as at 29 April 2017 92 328 420
Included in net book value as at 29 Agpril 2017 ) L
Land not depreciated 8 — 8
Assets in the course of construc tor — 52 50
Assets held under finance leases 51 — 51
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12 Interests in joint ventures, associates and investments

interests in joint ventures
The principal Interests in joint ventures are as follows

28 Aprd 29 Aprit

2018 2617

Name o Courtr, of ncaparation or registration Mature of Du3INess interest . interest

Sprint Connect LLC United States of Amenica Distrnbubion 0%  50.0%

The Group’s interests m jomt ventures and asscciates are analysed as follows:

28 Apnil 29 Apnil

2018 2017

N - Lrrtiron Limfiron

Opening balance 18 5

Additions 3 29

Share of results 3} {17

Foreign exchange gain — 1
Disposals 17)

Closing balance 1 18

On 7 June 2017 agreement was reachead to dispuse of the Group's 50% nterest in the Spnnt Connect LLC joint venture to
Sprnt Corporation £ril gain o1 loss was recogrised n relation to the disposal The share of results of the operation to the
date of disposal have been classified as discentinued (23 milhion loss. 2016717 217 mulhon loss) together with additional
costs of £6 million incurred by the Group post closure (seg note 24}

The remaining associate investments (1 aullion relate o nvestments nend by our Nordics operations through the franchise
network,

Investments
28 April 29 Apni
2018 2017
Emillion Crmilion
Investments classified as avalable-for-sale 17 19

In November 2013, the Group disposed of ('s Uniewro operations, and retained an investment ot 14 96% n Itahan
Electronics Holdings s.r i (IEH), a holding company which in turn owned 1004% of the Unieurc operations The investment
was Initially recognised at £mit based on the fair vdlue of the retained interest In March 2017, Unieuro undertook an

IPO for 31.8% of its shareholdings, v.hich reduced the Group s nvestment to 10 2% of the Unieuro operations. Given

the successful IPO, a readily-determinable fair value 1s available based on the market price of the histed shares, and

the investment has therefore been valued at £17 mulion The movement in investment value has been taken to other
comprehensive income as classified as an "available-for-sale’ investment The fair valuation techniques used are outlined in

note 25,

13 Inventory

28 April 29 Apnl

2018 2017

Lrmullion fﬂlﬂl?n

ﬁmsheﬂ goods and goods for resale 1,145 1,107
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14 Trade and other receivables

Trade recevables

E§§FE@,"E‘9’1@F bad and doubtiuf depts

Prepayments
Other recewvables
Accrugd ncome

28 Aprit 2% Aprit

2018 2017

£mullion Cmuitlion
1,400 1436
a8

1,387 1,418

92 103

114 115

68 28

1,661 1,664

Non-current
Current

507

531

1,154 1,133

1,661

1,664

The rajonty of trade and other recevables are non-mterest beanng Non-current recevables mamly compnse commussion
recelvable on sales, as described In note 25 Where the effect 1s material. trade and other receivables are discounted
using discount rates which reflect the relevant costs of tinancing The carrying amount of trade and other receivables

approximates far value

28 Apry 201§ - N 29 :’\En! 201 7_.
Gross trade Net trade  (arows rade Net trade
receivables Provision recevables recevables Provision  recewabies
TLmilhon Lmulon frlhon Crmilion Lmilon Lmilhion
rw?rﬁ_éf gfé?ﬁ tradé receivables and provisions: - o -
Not yet due 1,306 (1) 1,305 1.284 (5) 1,279
Past d;é:ﬁiﬁi -
Under two months 48 (1) a7 108 - 108
Two 1o four months 15 - 15 22 - 22
Qver four months K3 (171) i 20 2277 o (L),,,, _i
ST 94 (12) 82 152 RERREN
_______ ’ 1,400 (13) 1,387  1.436 (18 1,418
Movements n the provision for impairment ot trade recevables 1s as follows
28 April 29 Apnl
2018 2017
Emillioh milion
QOpening bale_lng- ) ) {18) (20}
Charged to the income statemert 2) 8
Recevables written off as irrecuverable 2 10
Amounts recovered dunng the year 2 -
Disposal of businesses 777‘3 -
Closing balance (13) (18)

The Group's trade recevables ncluded the tollowing amounts which were past due. but for which the Group has made no

provision based on historical rates of recoverability

Gﬁder two months
Two to four months
QOver four months

28 April
2018
£mitlion

a7
15
20
82

29 Apnl
2017
£rmillion

108
22
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15 Cash and cash equivalents

28 April 29 April
2018 2017

—— fmikon - Fution
Cash at bank and on deposit 228 209

Cash at bank and on deposit Includes short-tenn bank deposits which ar. availlable on demand Within cash and cash
equivalents, £60 milion {2017 £62 million) 1s restricted and predorminantly compnses funds held by the Group’s insurance
businesses to cover regulatory reserve requirements. These funds are not avalable to offset the Group's borrowings.

16 Trade and other payables

28 Apnl 2018 29 Apnl 2017

T T T hen
Current  Non-current Current current

e Emithon £miltion fmdlhon_  Emiion
Trade payables 1,739 — 1,689 —
Other taxes and sccial security 275 - 245 —
Other creditors 31 139 141 178
Accruals 300 39 368 49
Deferred income 160 140 159 141
2,505 318 2,502 368

Non-current other creditors relate principally to propeny leases that are deemed to be over-rented which arose from
acquisitions. These liabilities are unwound over the period of the relevant fease, of up to 20 years. The carrying amount of
trade and other payables approxunates ther far value

Included in trade payables are amounts due where extended payment terms have been requested by the Group and
agreed with the supplier. These terims are made available and administered under arrangements between the supplier and
third party banks for which a fee 1s payable by the Group The total amount outstanding on such extended payment terms
at 28 Apnl 2018 1s £97 mithon (2017 £112 milhon: These arrangements do not provide the Group with a significant benefit
of additional financing and accorchingty are classihed as trade payables

17 Deferred and contingent consideration

28 April 2018 29 Apil 2017

Current  Non-current Current Non-current

Emilhen Emilhion frmlhon Crmithon

Deferred and contingent consideration 1 12 8 14

28 April 29 Apnk

2018 2017

£milhon Lrmihon

Operung balance 22 33

Settlements (7 (11)
Change in valuation (see note 4) ) @ -

Closing balance 13 22

Earn-out consideration of up to €13 million s pay.able in cash (2017 £22 million) and s contingent on the performance of
Simplifydigital and the Epoqg kitchen fusiness against earnings growth targets over a perod of up to three years from the
balance sheet date. The far value of contingent consideration arrangements has been estimated by applying the income
approach. A reduction in growth assumptions used in the fair value methodology would result in a reduction in the amount

of contingent consideration payatl-
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18 Loans and other borrowings

28 April 29 Apnl
2018 2017
e frilhon _ Smikon
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts 43 10
Loans and other borrowings ) 20 -
o ST ) ) i N T &3 10
Non-current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings i 329 381
a . . - 392 391

Commutted faciities

E800 rmulliorr Revalvirng Credit Faciity

In October 2015 the Group signed a five-year €800 mullion Revolving Credit Faciity {{RCF’) with a number of relationship
banks; this facility was extended 1 October 2016 and 2017 by an additional year and the facility currently expires Qctober
2022 The interest rate payable tor drawings under this facibty s at a margin over LIBOR [or other applicable interest basis)
for the relevant currency and for the appropriate penod. The actual margin apphcable te any drawing depends on the fixed
charges cover ratio calculated 1n tespect of the most recent accounting penad. A non-utilisation fee 1s payabie in respect of
amounts available but undrawn under this facility and a utihsation fee s payable when aggregate drawings exceed certain
levels

£2580 rutiron Revolving Credit Faciity
In October 2016, the Group sigred a four-yes €250 mulbon RCFE with a group of refationship banks, this faciity 1s on
broadly similar terms to the £800 mulhon RCE

€50 mullior term loan
Alsa in October 2018, the Group signed a fotr vear termi loan of « 58 mulion with BBVA The termis of this facility are alsa
broadly similar to the £800 million RCF

Bank overdraft ana other unconwintted faciities

The Group atso has overdrafts and short-term money market ines from UK and European banks denominated in Sterling,
Euro and other European currencies, all of which are repayable on demand Interest 1s charged at the market rates
applicable In the countries concerned and these facilities are used to assist in short-term hguidity management. Total
avaitable facilittes are £109 millicrr (2017, £139 rmithon)

All borrowings are unsecured

19 Finance lease obligations

28 April 2018 B 28 Apnl 2017
" Presemt
value of Present value
Minimum minamum Mirmmum of miremum
iease lease lease lease
paymenis payments payments payments
Ermlhon £milhon Crnillicn - Em:lh#ol’
Amounts due:
Within one year 9 8 9 8
In more than one year and not more than tive years 37 27 37 29
In more than f_nyﬁeiyears 92 50 103 _527
138 85 149 89
tess future finance charges (53} — By =
Present value of lease obligations 85 85 89 89
Less amounts due within one yeau (3) {3} S . <
Amounts due after more than one yea 82 82 86 86

The majonty of finance leases telate to properties 1N the UK where obligations are denammated in Sterling and remaining
lease terms vary between 8 and 18 years he effective borrowing rate on individual leases ranged between 5 51% and
9.29% (2017 5 51% and 9 29%) Interest rates are fixed at the contract date These obligations are secured over the
related leased asset All leages are on a fixed repayiment basis and ne arrangements have been entered into for contingent
rental payments
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19 Finance lease obligations continued

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured hy the lessors’ nghts cver the leased assets disclosed in

note 11.

20 Provisions

28 Apr) 2018 29 Apri 2017
Reorg- Reurgy ’ T
amisation Sales Property Cther Totat EIREAUTG Saley Propurty Other Total
e emillion Ermmilion Crmallion Crmithion Emilhon £mithen Crullor Cimilbion El:mihon Enpjllucn
At beginning of period 12 10 62 21 105 12 8 a0 15 125
Additions 18 11 47 2 78 16 30 29 11 86
Released in the period (1) - (16) (3) (20} — — (24) (1 {25)
Utihsed n the penod (15) (10) {29} (9] (63) (16} (29) {34) 4 (83)
Disposed - 1} — — (1) — — — — —
fg_rglgn exchange 1 - {1) - - -- 1 1 — 2
At end of period B 15 10 63 11 90 12 10 62 21 105
Analysed as:
Current 13 9 34 11 67 12 8 43 21 84
Non—gl._ur_rin'lt 2 1 29 - 32 — 2 19 - 21
15 10 63 11 99 12 10 62 21 105

Reorganisatien provisions rejate principally to redundancy costs and other onerous contracts ansing as a result of
reorganisation, and are only recognised where plans are demanstrably cammuitted and where appropnate communication

to those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet date

Sales provisions relate to ‘cash-back’ and similar promotions, product warrantes, product returns, and network operator
performance penalties The anticipated costs ot these items are assessed by reference to histoncal trends and any other

information that 1s considered to be relevant

Property provisions relate manly to costs associaled with operating lease early exit premiums, onerous leases and
provisions for dilapidations. Gther piovisions retate to warranties provided in refation to business disposals and provisions
in respect of the expected costs of msuraince clams, contingent llabihties recognised through business combinations, and

ather onerous contracts

Non-current provisions are expected to be utiised over a penod up to ten years

21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations

28 April

2018

£miflian

Retirernent benefit obligations - UK 470
. - Nordics 2

472

29 Apnl
2017
Fmullion
589

2

591

The Group operates a defined benefil and a number ot defined contnbution schemes The principal scheme which
operates in the UK includes a funded final salary defined benefit section whose assets are held in a separate trustee
administered fund. The scheme 1s valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contributions are assessed

in accordance with the actuary's advice Since 1 September 2002, the detined benefit section of the scheme has been
closed to new entrants and on 30 Apnl 2010 was closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contribution
section being offered to those active members of the dehined benefit section at that time, Membership of the defined

contribution section is offered to eligihle employees

In the Nordics division, the Group operates small tunded secured definedd benefit pension schemes. which are also closed
to new entrants, with assets held by a life nsurance company as well as an unsecured pension arrangemeant. In addition,

contributions are made 10 state pension schemes with defined benefit charactenstics
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21 Retirement and other post-empioyment benefit obligations continued

The defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group to actuanal nsks such as longer than expected longewity of
members, lower than expected return on investments and higher than expected inflation. which may increase the liabilities
or reduce the value of assets of the plans

a) Defined contribution pension schemes

The pension charge in respect of detined contribution schemes was 26 milhon (2016717 £24 million).

b) UK defined benefit pension scheme - actuarial valuation and assumptions

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carned out as at 31 March 2016 and showed a shortfall of assets compared
with iiabifities of £560 mithen. A recovery plan based on this valuation was agreed with the Trustees such that
contributions In respect of the scheme will iIncrease 1o £46 million per year starting from the 2017/18 financial year until
2028/29, with a final payment of £25 million in 2029/30 As a result of the valuation, dunng the prior year the Group agreed
to pay an amount of £7 million 1 addhtion to the previcusly agreed contnbution of £38 mithon, therefore total contnbutions
paid N 2016/17 were €43 million The next trienmal valuation will be as at 31 March 2019

The principal actuarial assumptions as at 31 March 2016 were

Rate per annum

Discount r;liéifcr)r accru;d benents Growth portfolio a 4.63/;'
Matching particho 2.2%

Rate of increase to pensions 0% — 3.6%

Infiation _30%

1t The discount rate 15 based on o Ited te Hsking methodology whoh assumes the Scheme s investment strategy switches investments from
growth assets (such as eguities! 1o matching assets such as bonds) and muit asset credit over a penod of 10 years from 2026 to 2036 so
that in 20 years' tmie the asset portfzho s proged ted to be 904 invested in matching assets and multi-asset credit

At 31 March 2016. the market value of the scheme’s investments was £930 million and. based on the above assumptions,
the value of the assets was sufticient to cover 62% of the benefits accrued 10 members with the liabilities amounting to
£1,490 million

c} UK Defined benefit pension scheme -~ {AS 19

The following summarises the camponents of vet defin.ed benefit expense recagrised i the consofidated mcome
statement, the funded status and amounts recogrised in the consoldated balance sheet and cther amounts recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income  The methods set out N 1AS 19 are different from those used by the scheme
actuanes in determining funding arrangemenis.

() Principal assurptions adopted
The assumptions used In calculating the expenses and obligations are set by the directors after consultation with the
independent actuartes

28 Apnl 29 April
2018 2017

Rates per annum
Discount rate 2.8% 2.6%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment ¢ deterred pensions (pre /7 post Apnl 2006 accrual)  3.1% / 2.2%  3.2%/22%
3.1% 3.3%

Inflation

The Group uses demographic assumptions underlying the last formal actuanal valuation of the scheme as at 31 March
2016. In particuiar, post retirement mortality has been assumed 1o follow the standard martality tables ‘52° Al Pensioners
tables published by the CMI based on the expenence of Selt Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with multiphers of
100% for males and 1059 for females In addition, an allowance has been made for fulure improvements in longevity from
2003 by using the new CMI 2015 Core projechions with a long term rate of improvernent of 1 5% per annum for men and

1 25% per annum for women Appiying such lables results i an average expected longewity of tetween 87.6 years and
89.8 years for men and between 89 (0 ,ears 1d 90 9 years for women for those reaching 65 over the next 20 years,
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued

¢) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - 1AS 19 continued

(it Amounts recogrised in consohdated income staterment

Year ended Year ended
28 Apnil 29 apnl
2018 2017
Emi!{ugn ) Emwlon
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation (note 4) 14 16
(it} Amounts recogrised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year ended Year ended
28 Apri 29 Apri
2018 2017
£million Lrnillion
Remeasurement of definad benefit obligation  actuanal gains / (losses) ansing from
Changes In financial assumptions 124 (374]
Experience adjustments (10 58
Change 1in demographic assumptions - 2)
Remeasurement of scheme assets
_5ctual return on plan assets (excluding amounts nciuded N net nterest expense) 27 174
Cumulative actuanal gan / {loss) a7 (144)
(fv] Amounts recogmsed n the consolidated batance sheet
28 April 29 Apnl
2018 2017
o o fmilhon Crmhon
Present value of defined benefit cbligations (1,584) (1,714}
Fair value of plan assets 1,114 1,125
Net abligation (470) (589)
Changes n the present vaiue of the defined benehit obligation
28 Apnil 29 Apni
2018 2017
£milion fmillion
Opening obligation 1,714 1,395
Interest cost 44 48
Remeasuremants In other comprehensive ncome - actuanal losses ¢ (gams) ansing from changes i
Financial assumptions {124} 374
Experience adjustments 10 (58)
Demographic assumptions — 2
Benefits paid_ ‘o 40
Closing obligation 1,584 1,714

The weighted average maturity protile of the definad benelit cbligation at the end of the year 15 12 years (2017: 20 years),
comprsing an average maturity of 23 years (201, 24 vears for deferred members and 11 years (2017: 12 years) for

pensioners.

Changes i the fair value of the scherne ausets

Openuﬁg fa}r \}_alue

Interest income

Employer special contributions

Remeasuremenis in ether comprenansive income
Actual return on plan assets {excludging inferest ncome)
Benefits paid

Closing fair value

28 April
2018
Lrrullion
1,125
30

46

27
(60)
1,114

Z9 Apnl
2017
Eracdhon
923
32

43

174
(47)
1,125
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued

c} UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19 continued

Analysis of scheme assets

QOverseas and glebal equities T 1sted
Diversified growth - Listed
Muitr-asset credit funds - Listed

- Uniisted
Private equity — Unhsted
Private cradit - 1isted

- Unhsted
Property - Unlisted
Corporate bonds - 1isted
Liability driven investments ('LDIs" - tsted
Cash and cash nstruments - Lnlisted
Other . Linhisted

28 April
2018
E£million

267
79
76
53
22
61
36

2
a1
as57
89
1

1,114

29 Agnl
2017
Lrmilon
320
115
45
43
30

70

21

14

a0
310
66

1

1,125

The investment strategy of the schieme is determined by the ndependent Trustees thraugh advice provided by an

independent nvestment consultant The Trustee's objective 1s to achieve an above average long term return on the
Scheme’s assets from a mixture of capital growth and income. whilst managing investment rnsk and ensuring the strategy
remains within the guidehines set cut in the Pensions Act 1995 and 2004 and the Scheme’s Statement of Investment
Principles. In setting the strategy. the nature and duration of the Scheme's liabilities are taken into account, ensuning that
an Integrated approach 1s taken to investment nsk and both short term and long term funding requirements. The scheme
invests in a diverse range of asset classes as set out above with matching assets pnmarily comprising holdings in (inflation

linked giits, corporate bonds and hability driven investments

To reduce volatility nisk a hability dnven investiment (LDI) strategy forms part of the Trustee's management of the UK

defined benefit scheme’s assets, ncluding government bonds corperate bonds and dervatives Repurchase agreements
are entered into with counterpar ies 1o better oifset the scheme's exposure to interest and inflation rates, whilst remaming
invested in assets of a similar nsk protile Interest rate and mntlation rate derivatives are also employed to complement the

use of fixed and index-nked bonds n matching the profile of the scheme’s habilites

Actual return on the scheme assets was a loss of £27 milhon 12016/, gain of £174 milhon)

{vi Sensitivihes

The value of the UK defined benefit pension . heme assets are sensiive to market conditions, particularly equity values
which compnise approximately 33% of the scheme’s assets Changes in assumptions used for determining retrement
benefit costs and liabiities may have A material impact on the 2017/13 income statement and the balance sheet. The main
assumptions are the discount rate. the ate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate The following table provides an
estimate of the potential impacts of each of these vanables it appliad to the current year consolidated incormne statement

and balance sheet,

Net finance costs ﬂet defici‘tri
Year ended Year ended
28 April 29 Apnn 28 Apnil 29 April
2018 RN 2018 2017
Emilien Srrullion £million Lrnillion
Positive / (negative) effect
Discount rate 0.25% inciease 1 2 75 9z
Inflation rate: 0.25% mncrease’ 2 (2 (67) (74
Mortakity rate 1 year increase @) 1) (63) (69)

T Theincrease in scheme benefits pro e 1o mzmbers onoetirement 1s sutjer 1o aninflaton cap

Thne sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative ot the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as
it 1s unfikely that the changes in assumpbions would cccur N sclation of ene ancther as some of the assumptions may be

correlated
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit abhigations continued

d) Other post-employment benefits ~ IAS 19

The Group offers other post-amployment benefits to employees in overseas terntories, In particular in Greece. These
benefits are unfunded At 28 Apnl 2018 the net athigation in relation to these benefits was £4 million (2017; £3 million}.

22 Share capital, retained earnings and reserves

a) Share capital

28 apr) DU AEr. 28 Apri 29 Apri

2018 201, 2018 2017

mithion malion £million Ermithion

Authorised, allotted, called-up and fully paig ordinary shares ot O 1p each 1,158 1,163 1 1
24 April 29 Apr | 28 April 249 Apnl

2018 201+ 2018 2017

L o o ”riulllgll \11|\\10rj7 Em[il[og fmllllqn
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each inissue at the beginning of the period 1,153 1,151 1 1
Issued during the peniad 5 2 — -
Ordinary shares ot 0.1p each n issue at the end of the penicd 1,158 1,153 1 1

During the year ended 28 Apnl 2018, 4,841 233 (2016/17 1,725,661) ordnary shares with nominal value of 0.1p each were
issued for consideration of £1 mithon 12016 17 £ 1 milhon) to satisfy exercises of share options awarded under the Group’s
SAYE schemes.

b) Retained earnings and reserves

Movernent In retained sarnings and reser.es during the reported penods are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Retained earnings at 28 April 2018 ncludes £17 mlhon of gains (2017 £4 mulhon of gains) associated with dervatives
which were designated and eftecti e as cash flow hedges and interest rate hedges Own shares held by the Group’s EBT
are recogrised in retained earnings — refer to nate 5 for further nformation  The demerger reserve arose as part of the
demerger cf the Group from TalkTalk 1 2010

23 Equity dividends

28 Apnil 29 April
2018 2017
Emilhon [‘rnl\l_uf:L
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity shareholders in the penod
- on ordinary shares of 0.1p each
Final dividend for the year ended 30 Apri 2016 of 6.50p per ordinary share - 75
intenm dividend for the year ended 29 Apni 2017 of 3.50p per ordinary share — 40
Final dividend for the year ended 29 Apnl 2017 of ¥ 75p pei ordmary share 89 -
Interim dividend for the year ended 28 Apnil 2018 of 3 50p per ordinary share ] 4 -
130 115

The following dstribution 1s propased but nad not been etfected at 28 Aprl 2018 and 15 subject to shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Emilan

Er?a] (-:Jn_uc_:lg})d"ior the year ended 28 Apnl 2018 ot 7 75p per ordinary shiare: 90
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24 Discontinued operations and assets held for saie

Spain

On 29 September 2017, the Group compieted the disposal ot The Phone House Spain S.L U, Connected World Services
Europe S.L and Smarthouse Spamn S A which together represented the trading aperations m Spain Total consideration
of 58 millicn (£51 millon) was received and cash of 13 mulhon (£11 mifhon) was disposed., A gain of £1 miliion arose

on the disposal, being the difference between the proceeds of disposal and the carrying amount of the subsidianes’ net
assets and attributable goodwill The trading results of the operations up to the date of disposal have been classified as
discontinued (£mil, 2016/17 €9 million profit}

honeybee

On 4 May 2018, the Group agreed to sell the honeybee operatiens through an asset sale, which was compieted on 31 May
2018. These operations have been classified as a disposal group held tor sale and presented separately in the balance
sheet. An impairment of £55 nullion was recognised on classification 1o assets held for sale, representing the difference
between the expected proceeds and the booh value ot the related assets The impairment, together with the trading loss
recognised durng the year of £21 miilien (201617 £11 muthon 10$s). have been classified as a discontinued operation,

Sprint

On 7 June 2017 agreement was reached to dinpose of the Group's 50'% mterest in the Spnnt Connect LLC joint venture
to Sprint Corporation Praceeds of $22 mullior (£17 mulion) was recenved. £nif gain or loss was recogrised in relation to the
disposal The share of results of the operation to the date of disposal have been classified as discontinued (£3 mullion loss,
2016/17: £17 million loss; together vatn addional custs of o mulion mcurred by the Group post closure

Other

As previously reported the sale ot operaticns i Germany was completad on 5 May 2015, the Netherlands on 30 June 2015
and Portugal on 31 August 2015 A net gan ot £1 mithon has been recognised in relation to reversal of previously held
provisions.

For 2016/17, the net protit of €4 millcn primarnly related to a repayment of a previously impaired loan in relation to Unieuro

a} Profit / (loss}) after tax - discontinued operations

Year ended 28 Apnl 2018

Sprint Joint

honeybee Spain Venture Other Total
Erllion Erilhon Ermullion Lmillion ?mnllmn
Revenue 3 144 - -~ 147
Expenses (24} {144) {6) - (174}
Impairment of assets (55) - —_ — {55)
Share of results of joint venture - - (3} - 3
Investment Income - - - - =
Prafit / (loss) before tax (76) - 9} - (85)
Income tax 13 - - - 13
(Loss} / profit on disposal - 1 - oz
T (63) 1 {9) 1 (70)
Year erded 29 Apnl 2017 irestated)
speant Joint o D
|y b Soan VI ILre Other Total
Al v Snhan Cradlon rmiliion Lmiflion
Revenue 16 323 - — 338
Expenses {26) (312 {1; 1) (340)
Share of results of joint venture — (17 — (7
Investment income . - 5 5
Profit / (loss) before tax (11 11 18) 4 14)
Income tax 4 (23 — _ 2
{Loss) / profit on disposal - - — —
S 7 (7 9 {i8) 4 12)
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24 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

h) Cash flows from discontinued operations

The net cash flews incuned by the discontinued operaton dunng the year are as follows. These cash flows are included
within the consolidated cash flow statement

Year ended 28 Apnl 2018

Sprint Joint
honeybee Spain Venture Other Totai
o £milhon £milion Cmilhon E"‘"l'f'l,,, Eryﬁgrl
Operating activities u] @3 2) 1 (11)
Investing activities {12} 44 14 - 46
Financing activities L o o - — — —_ —
(19) a1 12 1 a5

Tear ended 29 Apnl 2017 nestated)

Spnnt Jonn
o Lpadn \enlure Qtnet Total
- o i llen Crmlhorn Clvjwlliom 'milon -
Operating actiities (121 14 1) (1) -
Investing activities 16) 5) {(29) 22 {28)
Financing activities B i — — — —
(28) 9 (30) 21 {28)

¢} Assets and liabilities held for sale

The assets and liabilities held for sale relate 10 the honeybee operations The major classes of assets and liabiities
compnsing the operations classified as held for sale are as follows.

28 Apnl
2018
. . } . __ tmithon

Intangible assets 8
Trade recevables 9
Total assets classified as held for sale 17
Deferred income _ .2
Total liabilities classified as held for sale 2
Net assets of disposal group 15

25 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments

Financial instruments that are measwred at fair value m the financial statements require disclosure of fair value
measurements by level based on the following far vaiue measurement fuerarchy

« Level 1 - guoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets tor identical assets and habihties,

e Level 2 - inputs other than guoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or hability either directly
(that 15, as prices) or indirectly (that 1s. derived from prices), and

* Level 3 — inputs for the asset or llability that are not based on observable market data (that 15, unobservable inputs}.

The Group has assessed network comnussion recevables to meet the definihon of loans and receivables as defined in

IAS 39 and are therefore accounted for at amortised cost The measuremeant of certan network commission recevables

is a key source of estimation uncertainty, an explanation of the valuation method and an analysis of the sensitivity of the
carrying value of recewvables to the assumphions and estimates of this method has been provided below in note 25(h) The
carrying value of such angong tetwork cammission recevables (net of cammission recaived at the point of connection} s
£1,057 million (2017 £1.014 millions I network commission recaivables were alternatively classified at far value through
profit and loss these recevables would be categotised as level 3 n the far value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use
of sigrificant unobservable inputs Under thig alternative measurement basis therr far value 1s approximately equal 10 their
current carrying value
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25 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

An explanation of the valuation methodologies and the inputs to the models are provided below for network commussion

Available-for-sale financial assets, in relation 1o listed wvastrments held. are categonsed as level 1.1n the fair value hierarchy
and are valued based on quoted bid prices in an active marhet

Contingent consideration 1s categorised as level 31n the fair value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use of significant
unobservable inputs  An explanation af the valuation methoadologies and the inputs to the valuation model 1s provided in

note 17

The sigrificant inputs required to fair value the Group's remainmg hinancial instruments that are measured at farr value on
the balance sheet, baing derivative financial assets and habilities, are cbservable and are classified as level 2 in the far
value hierarchy. There have also teen no transfers of assets or habilities between levets of the farr value hierarchy.,

Fasr values have been arrnived at by discounting future cash flows (where the impact of discounting 1s matenal), assuming
nc early redemption, or by revaluing forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to pericd end market rates as

appropriate to the instrument.

The directors consider that the bock value of hnancial assets and labdities recorded at amortised cost and their fair vaiue

are not materally different

The book value and far vafue of the Group’s tinancial assets. habiihes and dervative financial Instruments are as follows:

Investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other recevables excluding derivative tinancial assets

Net derivative financiai assets
Net denvative financial labibities
Trade and other payabies "

Finance leases -

Deferred and contingent consicieration
Loans and other borrowings

28 Apnil
2018
Emithon B
a7
228
1,569
20
(2,623)
{86)
(13)
{392)

23 April
2017
Limllion
ERCE
209
1,564
4
(2,570)
(89
(22)
{391)

{1} Held as an avalable-for-sale asset

{2) Classified as foans and receivables and held af an orhised rast

13} Held at fair value through profit anda 'css
{4) Held at amortsed cost

Offsetting financial assets and financial habilities

The Group has forward foreign exchangs contracts and cash that are subject 10 enforceable master netting arrangements.

() Financial assets

Grogs amounts ot

recagnised financial

Gross amounts of

recognised financial

nabiities set off un

MNet amounts of
financial assets
presented in the

Fwnancial
mstruments not set
off 1n the balance

28 Apnil 2018

assats the balance sheet balance sheet sheet Net amount
Lmilian £miliion £mullion frrﬂhon ) B £miihon
Forward foreign exchange contracts 27 — 27 ) 20
Cash and cash equivalents 1.383 (1,1551 228 = L 2_287
1,410 (1,155) 255 [14] 248
29 Apnl 2017
e W et iunt s ot
L FIRN) fn il T cal fINAr s esets  binancial astruments
| wote ot ot aEtan oo presented N e not set off Inthe
[ LN o buslances sheet tzalane e sheet MNet amount
18 Lo sl o Pmillion Emithon
Forward foreign exchange contracts 17 17 {11) 6
Cash and cash equivalents 2120 11011} 209 - 729977
257 (1911 226 {11) 215
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25 Financial risk management and derwative financial instruments continued

{1} Financial habiities

28 April 2018

Gross amounts ot Net amounts of Financial

Gross amounts of recognised financial financial habiities  instruments not set

recognised financiad  assets set off In the presented in the off in the balance
flabiltes balance sheet balance sheet sheet Net amount
Lrmlhion Emilion £millicn Eemillion Emullion
Forward foreign exchange contracts {7} - @) 7 -
Cash and cash equivalents {1,198) 1,155 {43) - (43)
(1,205) 1,155 (50) 7 {43)
29 Apnl 2017

LAl Ohs AInSunts Lot Net amoun.s nf

VarGsL Lo ants Ot rewOgEd e fmang o financiat hatihties  Fosancal imstruments

L e nar L i aelE et orF i e presented 11 the rnot set gff in the
[NLTINENE AT e Lleet LIANCE HHeet balance sheet Net armount
e T lnr Cerllion Lrrthon Lmuhion
Forward foreign exchange contracts (13) — 13) 11 2)
Cash and cash equivalents (1.921) 1.911 10 - {10)
11.934; 1.911 123 11 112)

a) Financial risk management policies

The Group’'s activities expose 1t to certain financial nsks including market nisk isuch as foreign exchange risk and interest
rate risk), credst risk and higusdity nsk The Group s treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by
the Board, uses certain financial instruments to mitigate potentially adverse effects on the Group's financial performance
from these rigks. These financial instruments conwist of bank lcans and deposits, spot and torward foreign exchange
contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps

Throughout the period under review. In accordance with Group policy, no speculative use of derivatives, foresgn exchange
or other instruments was permitted Nc contracts wath embedded dernvatives have been identified and, accordingly, no
such derivatives have been accounted for separately.

b) Foreign exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions that are dencminated in foreign currencies and as a consequence has exposure
to exchange rate fluctuaiions These exposures primarily anse from inventory purchases, with most of the Group’s
exposure being to Euro, Nerwegian Krone and LS Dollar fluctuations. The Group uses spaot and forward currency contracts
to mitigate these exposures, with such contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year.

The translation risk on converting overseas currency profits or losses 1s not hedged and such profits or losses are
converted into Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the year The Group’s principa! transiation currency
expasures are the Euro and Narweyian Krone

At 28 April 2018, the total notional principal amount of outstanding currency contracts was £1,718 millien {20177 £1,358
million) and had a fair value of £20 milhan asset 12017 U4 millien asset) Monetary assets and lhabilities and foreign
exchange contracts are sensitive to movements i forergn exchange rates This sensitivity can be analysed in comparison
to year end rates (assuming all other vanables remain constant} as folliows

Year ended Year ended
28 April 2018 29 Apnl 2017

Effect on Effect on

headling headne
profit before Eftect on profit before Effect on
tax total equaty tax total equity
Lovtrthon £renllean Pritieary Crmithor
10% movement in the US doliar exchange rate - 13 _— 5
10% movement in the Euro exchange rate - 59 — 56
10% movement n the Swedish Krona exchange (.ute - 28 - 24
10% movement in the Damish Krone exchange rate - 26 — 13
10% movement in the Norwegian Krone exchange rate - 17 - 17
10%6 movement in the Chmese Yuan Offshore exchange rate - & — 6
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25 Financiai risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

c} Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arses primarily on cash, cash equivalents and loans and other borrowings, all of which are

at floating rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group to cash flow interest rate rnisk. These floating rates are
linked to LIBOR and other mterest rate hases as appropriate to the mstrument and currency Future cash flows anising from
these financial instruments depend on interest rates and perieds agreed at the time of rollover. Group policy permits the
use of long term interest rate derivatives in managng the nsks asscciated with movements in interest rates.

The effect on the ncome statement and equity of 1% movements in the interest rate for the currencies in which most
Group cash, cash equivalents, Inans and othel barrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most dervative
financial instruments 1s based s as follows, assuming that the vear end positions prevai throughout the year:

Year ended Year ended
28 April 2018 29 Apnl 2017
Effect on Effect on
headline Effect on headhine Effect on
profit before total equity profit pefors total equiity
tax mcrease increase / lax ncrease / ngrease f
/ {decrease) {decrease) idecrease; (decrease)
Emulhon Lmillion milhon Cmillion
1% mcrease in the Sterling interest rate - - 1 1

d) Liquidity risk

Liguidity nsk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty In meetng the obhgations associated with its financial
habiities that are settled by delivening cash or another financial asset The Group manages its exposure to hguidity nisk by
reviewing regulatly the long term and short term cash flow projections for the business aga:nst the resources available to 1t

In order to ensure that sufficient funds are available tor cngoing and future devetopments, the Group has committed bank
facilities, excluding overdrafts repayable on demand totalling £1.050 mullion (2017 £1.050 milhon}. Further details of
comimitted borrowing faciithes are shown i aate 18

The table below analyses the Group’s financiat habihties and derivative assets and habilities into relevant matunty
groupings. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including both principal and
interest flows, assuming that interest rates rteman constant and that borrowings are pard n full in the year of matunty

In more than
one year but

not more
within than five in more than
one year years five years Tota)
Ermilion fmillion Emillion £m|l|EL
28 April 2018
Finance leases 9 (38) (92) {139)
Dervative financial instruments  payable
Ferward foreign exchange contracts {1,697) - - {1,697)
Interest rate swaps (1) - - (1)
Derivative financial instruments - recevable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,718 - - 1,718
Loans and other borrowings (70) (357) - (427)
Deferred cansideration (1) (12 - (13)
Trade and other payables {2,345) {178} —~ {2,523)
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25 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
d) Liquidity risk continued

Inmue tan
HRE vear but

net more
Wit than Tve " mgre than
o Lol Fears flve years Total
e S hon Lrilhon Fnﬂ]n __Em\\llO’L
29 April 2017
Finance icases 9) (37 (103) (149)
Derwative financial nstruments - payable

Forward foreign exchange contracts (1,358) - — {1,358)

Interest rate swaps )] {1) - {2)
Denwative financial instruments — receivable,

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1.362 — — 1,362
Loans and other borrowings an (408) - (425)
Deferred consideration (8) (14 - 22)
Trade and other payables (2.343) {(227) - (2,570)

e) Credit risk

Credit nsk is the nsk of financial loss to tha Group if a counterparty tails to imeet its contractual obligations. and arises
principally from the Group’s receivables frum consumers The Group's exposure to credit nisk s regularly monitored and
the Group’s policy 1s updated as appropriate

Tha majority of the Group’s trade receivables are balances due from MNOs, which are generally major multi-natronal
enterprises with whom the Group has well-established relationships and are consequentiy not considered to add
significantly to the Group's credit nsk exposure 1n addition credit nisk 1s alse inherently associated with the MNO end
consumers. Details of the sensitivity analysis of a change in credit nsk associated with the MNO consumer 1s detalled
below (consumer default rates) Exposure to credit risk associated with the MNO consumer 1s managed through an
extensive consumer credit checking process prior to connection with the network The large velume of MNO consumers
reduces the Group’s exposure to concentration of credit risk

The Group's trade recewables also nclude baland 2s due frum equipment manufacturers, deaters and Connected

World Services consumers, business 1o busingss consumers and consumer credit receivables Where it 1s gonsidered
appropriate, the Group obtains credit mswance on accounts receivable Provision is made for any recewvables that are
considered to be imrecoverable Details of trade recevablies which are past due but not impaired are provided in note 14.

The credit nsks on cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instrurnents are closely monitored and credit ratings
are used in determiming maximum counterparty credrt risk

The Group's funding 15 reliant on its £1,050 million bank tacilities, which are provided by nine banks; these institutions are
considered to be adequately capitalised to continue to meet ther obligations under the facility

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements. which is net of impawment losses, represents
the Group's maximum exposure to credit nsk

f) Capital risk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as going concerns, whilst
maximising the return to shareholders through o sutable mix of debt and equity The capital structure of the Group
consists of cash and cash equivalents. loans and other borrowings and equity attnibutable to equrty holders of the
Company, cCoOmpnsing issued capital reseives anv accumulated protits £ xcept in relation to manmum capital requirements
in its INsurance business, the Group s not supject to any externally imposed capital requirements The Group monitors its
capital structure on an cngoing basis ncluding assessing the nsks associated with each class of capital
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25 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

g) Derivatives

Dervative financial instruments compnse forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate
swaps. The Group has designated financial instruments under IAS 39 as follows:

Cash flow hedges

At 28 Aprit 2018 the Group had forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notwonal value of £1,485
million (2017: £1,190 million) and a fair value uf £19 million asset (2017 £6 million asset) that were designated and effective
as cash flow nedges These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging from one menth to one year The fair value
of denvative foreign exchange conlracts and toreign exchange swaps not designated as cash flow hedges was £1 milion
asset (2017 €2 milion lability)

inferest rate swaps

The Group held interest rate swaps with a notional value of £130 million 12017 £60 mithon) and a fair value of £1 mitlion
asset (2017; Cnily whereby the Group receves a floating rate of interest based on LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate.
These contracts mature between June 2018 and June 2021

h) Network commission receivables consumer behaviour risk

Under certain arrangements with MNQOs the commussion recevable tor the monthly consumer connections to the MNOs
depends on consumer behaviour after the pont of connection A discounted cash flow methodology 1s used to measure
the fair value of the revenue and associated (ecevables in the month of connection, by estimating ali future cash flows that
wiil be recewed from the MNG ana discounting these based on therr timing of receipt. Subsequently network commission
recevables are measured at the present value of the estimated tuture cash flows discounted using the effective interest
rate determined in the month of connection

The key inputs to the model are

* revenue share percentags - the percentage ot the consumer s spend (to the MNO) to which the Group 1s entitled;
* MINIMUm contract perniod - the length of contract entered into by the consumer,

¢ out-of-bundle spend - addwional spend by the consumer measured as a % of total spend,

* consumer default rate - rate at which consumers discconnect from the MNO,

e spend beyond the nitial contract period - period of time the consurmer remains connacted to the MNO after the initial
contract term, and

* upgrade propensity — the % of consumers nitially connected by the Group estimated to be subsequently upgraded by
an MNO

The last four nputs are estimated based on extensive histoncal evidence obtained from the networks, and adjustment 1s
made for the risk of potential changes m consumer behaviour Reliance on historical data assumes that current and future
experience will follow past trends lhere 1s therefore a nisk that changes n censumer behaviour reduce or increase the total
cash flows ultimately reahsed over the torecast penod Management make a guarterly, and the directors a twice-yearly
assessment of this data to enswe this continues to refiect the best estimate of expacted future trends.
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25 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

h) Network commission receivables consumer behaviour risk continued

The tables below provide the sensitivity of the carrying value of the network commussion recevables to a reasonably
possible change in input to the discounted cash flow model over the next 12 months. The gross value of the netwark
commission receivable subject 1o the below sensitivitigs 1s £1 545 mullion (2016/17 £1,681 millhion)

28 April 2018

Unobservable mputs

Qut-of-bundle spgr;d

Consurr;er défauft rate

Spend after the Inhial contract term

Upgrade propéns}ty

29 April 2017

Unobservable inputs

Out-of-bundie speﬁd

Consuﬁ?er dé-fal;ulzt_;ate

Spend after the inshial contract term

Upgra;dé- propénsﬁy

Helationship of unobservabie inputs to
remeasurement of carrying value

The higher the spend. the higher
the carrying value

The tugher the default rate, the
lowel the carrying value

The higher the spend the highet
the carrying value

The mgher the propensity the
higher the carrying value

Relationship ot uncbservable mputs to
reriedasurement of carrying vafue

1he higher the spend, the higher
the carrying value

The higher the default rate. the
lower tha carrying value

The higher the spend  the higher
the carrying value

[he Ingher the propansity, the
higher the carrying value

Sensitwity '

Favourable
Erllion

15

37

27

Unfavourable
Ermilion

(15)

{7}

@7

(27)

Sensitivity '

Favourable
Lrmiifion

57

29

25
35

Unfavourable
Lmhon

{57)

29)

25)
135}

Hange®

8.7% - 15.4%

2.6% - 16.9% -
New subscribers
0.5% - 2.4% -
Upgrades

1.7 months -

4.1 months

12.2% - 35.6%

Range'®

7.0% - 22.0%

15% - 15.9% -

New subscribers
06% -4.6% -
Upgrades

15 months‘—
7.7 months
10.0% - 36.4%

(1) The sensitivity represents the favourabie and unta. ouratle eftect on the income statement of remeasurnng the carrying value for 2
reasonably posaible change in the value of the input used Whist the nature of mputs 1s consistent across all MNOs the value applied differs
on a MNO by MNQ basis The sensitaily analyais pertormed has apphed a reasonaply possible change on an input by input and MNO by
MNO basis The amounts shown above are the cumuative sensitvities for each input across all MNOs

(2) The reasonably possible range disclosed 15 based or the nigh and iow range of each unobservable nput, across ail MNOs, based on
the movements seen in the fast three years and our « cnsigeraton of reascnable 1uither changes in consumer behaviour in the following
12 manths. The sensaitivities which LUt within this range have Lesn apphed to the unobservable nputs on a MNO by MNO basis on the
relevant element of the gross recewvable

(3] The value of commission recervable used for consurner default rate 1gpresents tiv tatal of in-contract commrssions for the relevant MNOs,
as the percentage default rate applied s ove this 1ot balance

Changes in range of assumptions

Ranges of assumptions used in the sensitivity analysis above evolve year on year to reflect the latest data provided by the
MNOs and actual vanances experienced by management and censideration of future changes in consumer behaviour

In the current year the range of sensitvities in relation to consumer default rates for new subscribers have decreased
reflecting the increasing average consumer guabty connected 1o the MNOs and stabilisation of the default rates seen. Qut
of bundie spend ranges have decreased to reflect the derecogmition of £L) roaming related out-cof-bundle spend.

We consider that there are significant mterdependencies between movements in the vanous inputs, in particular experience
shows an inverse relationship between upgrade propensity and spend after the inmial contract term (a decrease in the
penod of spend after the imtial terms leads to an ncrease in upgrade propensity), and therefore these sensitvities should
not be considered in aggregate 1he sigrnhcant unobservable mputs in determinng the amortised cost carrying values
used In the table above are the same sigrificant unobservable nputs that would be required If the network commission
receivabie was measured at farr value on the halance sheet i addition the fair value would be impacted by changes in
interest rates and counterparty crecit risk

146 Dixons Carphone ple Annual Beoott g Acconats 207 ¢



25 Financial risk management and denvative financial instruments continued

h) Network commission receivables consumer behaviour nsk contnued

Changes i relation to network commission receivable, for cansumer connections recognised in previous years, due to
changes in assumptions or recognmon of previgusly unrecagnised elements of commissicn resulted n a decrease in
revenue of £20 milion in the current year (2016/17 £21 millkon increase in revenue) In the current year, this principally
relates to changes in anticipated out-of bundie spend assumphions tollowing EU roaming legislation changes, a net
decrease In spend after the imitial contract term offset by settiement of receipts due from MNOs for consumers connected
In prior periods. in 2016717, thus principally refated to changes in anticipated out-of-bundle spend assumptions following
EU roamung legislation changes If these amounts relating to consumer connections onginating in previcus years were not
recognised in the current year, certamn amounts would have been expected to be recegrised in future periods, which would
decrease future revenues by £12 million (2016/17 £26 million increase), and decraase current year revenue by £17 million
{(2016/17: £11 million decrease)

Payment terms with the MNOs are based on 4 mix of cash recewed upon connection and future payments as the MNO
receives monthly instalments from end conswumers over the e of the consumer contract The gross commission recevable
I any month s settled for certam MNQOs net of 1/24th of the amount receved on connection. Intial commission receved
not yet subject to net settiement 1s subject to clawback should the consumer default on its contract with the MNO. The
total gross network convrmission recenable at 28 Apri 2018 1s £1,545 rlhon (29 Apnl 2017 £1.581 milhon} which is offset
by commission received of £488 million (29 April 2017 £567 milhan), resulting in a net network commission recetvable of
£1,057 milhion (29 Apnl 2017 £1,014 yilliony

Cash flows in association with the natwork recaivable 1re receved over a period of 1-5 years The expected tining of net
cash flow settlement of commission 1s as follows,

28 April 29 Apnl
2018 2017
— _Emibon - smibon
Net network commission receivable in less than 1 vear 587 526
Net network cammission receivabie iy more than 1 year 470 488
Net nertworlza)mmis's'iion receivable presented in the balance sheet 1,057 - TD_M_J,
26 Notes to the cash flow statement
a} Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
Year ended
Year ended 29 Apnl
28 Apnil 2617
2018 restated)
Erlion £rmallion
Profit before interest and tax - continuing cperations 321 436
Profit before interest and tax — discontinued operations (83) (19
Depreciation and amortisation 204 186
Investment income - (8)
Share-based payment charge 14 17
Share of results of joint ventures 3 17
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 2 —
Profit / loss on disposal of fixed assets, (1) 3
Impairments 5% - -
E)p:e?aimé?as;h flows betore movements in veorking sapitdl 512 632
Movements in working capial
Increase in nventory (72} 112)
Increase in recevables (32) (130)
increase in payables 17 110
Decrease in provisions (5) B (?Ql
(92) (154)
Cash generated from operations 420 478

The presentation of the above reconciliation and statement of cash flows nclude both continuing and discontinued
operaticns. Comparative amounts have been presented accordingly
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26 Notes to the cash flow statement continued

b} Analysis of net debt

Other
RN non-cash Currency 28 Apnl
R Cash flow  movements translation 2018
o trdier Emilion _ Err]llllon Em_llll_o_n_ o _f:_r_mlhon
Cash and cash equivalents 209 21 — @ 228
Overdrafts {10 (33) - - 43)
- ’ 199 12 - @ 185
Borrowings due within one year (20) - - (20)
Borrowings due after more than one year 1331 52 - - (329)
Oblgations under finance leases 89) 10 (6) — (85)
- L 170) 42 6) - @434
Net (debt) / funds [(271) 30 (3] {2) (249}
Othet
f G T-oash Currency 29 Apnl
g Cash ', nasements transiation 2017
U co AT Carll o Prralhorn Sonlhon
Cash and cash equivalents °33 (39) - T 15 209
Overdrafts ) - 10y — - (10)
. L 233 (49) - 15 199
Borrowings due within one year — - — - —
Borrowings due after more than one year 109 28 — — (381}
thons under finance leases (91) 8 (6) — (89)
o (500) 36 (6) R C 2L
Net (debt) / funds 1267) (13} (6) 15 (271)
¢} Reconciliation of cash inflow from pperations to free cash flow
Year ended ‘Year endad
28 Apni 29 April
2018 2017
Lowdhian Lmidton
baéh_ln_ﬂow 1-‘r;>;n operations 420 478
Operating cash flows from discontinued cperatiuns” 11 n
Taxation (63) 71
Interest, faciity arrangermnent fees, dmvidends from nvestments and repayment of finance leases (24) (15)
Capital expenditure (173) (222)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 2 g
Other movements L
Free cash flow 172 178

(1} Operating cash fiows “rom discontiiLed opetions L emeved i the anove (+Conailiation as free cash flow s presented on a continuing
basis

1‘48 7Di);6ns Carphone pl¢ Arvudt Bepoit wied Ace ants P01, 18



26 Notes to the cash flow statement continued

d} Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below detals changes i the Group's habihties ansing from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes Liabilities ansing from fimancin, activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's conschidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities

hsposal
Financing of finance Other
RSN cash flows leases changes" 28 Apni 2018
e £mdllion fmilion emillion £mihion
Loans and other borrowings (note 18) (381 32 — — (349)
Finance iease hiabilities inote 1491 (89} 10 2) 4) (85}
Other financing accruals {1} 19 - (18) -
471) 61 2) (22) {434)
) Gther changes Inciude interest acc unls
27 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Group s subsidiary undertakings, which are 1elated parties, have been eliminated on
consoldation and accordingly are not disclosed See note 5 {a) for details of related party transactions with key
management personnel.
The Group had the following transactions and balances with its assoclates and joint venture:
28 Apnil 28 Apnil
2018 2017
I L Emllllﬂll Crion
Revenue from sate of goods and sarvices 11 11
Amounts owed to the Group 2 6
All transactions entered into with related parties were completed on an arm's length basis
28 Capitali commitments
28 April 29 Apnl
2018 207
£mullion £mifhon
Intangible assets 29 18
Praperty, plant & equipment - 23_.k,, _ 23
Coentracted for but not provided for in the accounts 52 41
29 Operating lease arrangements
The Group as a lessee
Total undiscounted future committed payments due for continuing operations are as follows.
28 April 2018 _ E_Q_Emrll ZEH’_
Land and Ltand and
buildings Other assels buidings  Other assets
Cmilhon Emilhon fmilion Crilion
Total undiscounted future committed payments due
Within one year 324 14 343 14
Between two and five years 917 17 1,032 24
After five years 591 - 644 .
1,832 3 2,018 38

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payable for retail. distrbution and office properties, as well as vehicles,
equipment and office equipment Contingent rentals are payable on certam retail store leases based on store revenues and

figures shown mnclude ary the taimu rental commponant

The above figures includa comimitted payments under onerous lease contracts for which provisions or accruals exist on the

balance sheet, nciuding those foi businesses oxited

The future mInImum sup-lease paymants expected 1o be received under non-cancellable sub-leases 1s £6 milion (2017,

217 mithon)
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30 Contingent liabilities

In recent years the Group has entered into agrezments lo dispose of certaun operations. As part of these disposal
agreements, the Group has provided the acquirer with general and tax-related warranties At the date of signing these
financial statements. some of these warranties remain open and it 1s possible that claims could anse under these
warrantres. Due to the nature of these contingent llabilities 1t 1S not practicabte to estimate ther timing or possible financral
impact.

The Group I1s subject to periodic tax and regulatery audits and investigations by vanous authonties covernng corporate,
employee and sales taxes and other regulations across various junsdictions in which the Group operates Applicable laws
and regulations are subject to differing nterpretations and the resolution of a final position, through negotiation or Iitigation,
can take several years to complete

Where 1t 1s considered that future habihties are more likely than not to anse, an appropriate provision 1s recorded n the
financial statements. Detatls of uncertam tax provisions. judgements taken and nsk of matenal changes to the value of
associated habilities 1n the next inancial year are disclosed in note 1{t).

31 Restatement of comparative information

As set out In note 24, the Spain operations the results of the Sprint Joint Venture and the honeybee operations have

been classified as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5 "Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations’ In accordance with the requiiements comparative results for the year ended 29 April 2017 have been restated
accordingly

a) Consolidated income statement
The impact of the restaterment on the consolidated iIncome statement has been set out below

o e Nor heaghne 1esults Total
NRAIVIR Nie
3 o S
Lre 1Cusl, "o Y TP I Jont 201817 Z016:17 as
reputtes oo 4 = S Lehilie =5 L epet e DRe Dhad Tl venture restated restated
il Vi i Al Saleer Y Tomen sl i on Cmillion Cmatlion

Continuing operations

Revenue 1J,28C R e d — 10,242 - - - 5 10,247
Profit / {loss) from ’
operations before
share of results of joint

ventures 517 v 1 — 516 9 - 1 1 {80) 436
Share of results of joint

ventures - - - [ - - 17 — -
Profit / {loss) before

interest and tax 517 " (12, —_ 216 (9 — 1 18 180) 436
Net finance costs {16} - - - (16) M - - - (16) (32)
Profit 7 {loss) before tax 501 1 1 - 500 1% — 1 13 986) 404

Income tax (expense) /

credit 110 T . - {114) 1 - - — 17 @7
Profit / (joss) after tax —

contimiuing operativns 384 (1in — 386 by - i 13 {79y 3067
Loss after tax -

discontinued cperations - — | i 4 (18 (12 (12)
Profit / {loss} after tax

for the period 34 th — 386 [T 155 14 — 91N 295
Earnings per share

{pence} i

Basic ~ continuiny

operations 13 Bp 33 5p 267p
Diluted - continuing

operations 337 33 4p 26 6p
Basic - total 256p
Dduted — total 255p

Cost of sales, gross profit and operating expenses measures are disclosed in note 3
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31 Restatement of comparative information continued

a} Consolidated income statement continued

Segmental information

The comparative segmental information provided in note 2 has been adusted to reflect the above reclassifications.

As set out In note 2 (b), durng the year the segmental results were restructured. Both the Sprint Joint Venture and the
honeybee operations were previously part of the Connected World Services segment, which was spiit and moved to either
the relevant geographic segment or a honeybee segment, which has now been removed The Spain operations were
previously presented within Southern burope

b} Other disclosures

In accordance with the policy as set out 1 neie 1, there have been no restatements rmade to the consolidated balance
sheet, consolidated statement of comprehensive Income, consolidated statement of changes in equity or consolidated
cash flow statement, as these statements Jo not separately distinguish headhine and non-headline measures.

c) Free cash flow

Year ended 29 Aprl 2017

B4 rreniGusl,

reported noneybee Span Total
L B CTihon Tiriihon fmihon rmiflion
Headline EBIT 517 1 12y 516
Depreciation and amortisanon 152 (9} (3) 140
Working capital (104) 9 _ (95)
Capital expenditure (242} 15 5 (222)
Taxation (72 — 1 71
Interest {23) - - (23)
Other items 2 — - 2
Free cash flow before restructunng items ' o3 26 W T oar
Restructuring costs (70) _ 1 ©9)
Free cash flow — continuing operatuons ’ 160 26 o 777(3) ‘_,W
Dwidends (115) - - {(115)
Acquisitions and disposals including discontinued operations (25) (€6) 8 {43)
Pension contnibutions {43) _ _ 43)
Other 19 — - 19
Movemnent in net debt 77(74) - = 77(@)
Opening net debt 267) _ — 267)
Closing net debt (271 - - Ten

32 Events after the balance sheet date
As discussed in note 24, the Group completad the sale of the honeybee operations through an asset sale on 31 May 2018.

On 4 May 2018, the Group agreed to closg 92 Carphone Warehouse stores in the UK 0 the 2018/19 financial year as part
of wider strategic initiatives Belated costs and prowvisinns will be recorded in the 2018719 financial year
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Company balance sheet

28 Apni 29 Apnl
2018 2047
Notg emililon fmillion
Fixed assets
investments in subsidiaries Cc4 727,§7777 __2.62
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 178 223
Debtors: due within one yeat of5} 2,208 2,194
Derwvative assets Cc7 34 30
2,420 2,447
Creditors., amounts falling due within one year [of3] (1,886) {1,750}
Egm.vatlvela_l_:uhnes C7 (32) (32)
Net c}r:é-nt asgeis o ) 502“ o 5(_3_5_
Tota! assets less current liabilities 3,179 3,343
Provisions c8 - (12)
Loans payable Ca {329) (381)
Net assets 5,550 - 2,95(7
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital c10 1 1
Share premium reserve C10 2,263 2,260
586 689

ﬂofi_t and Ioss account

2850 2950

The Company’s profit for the year was £28 milhan (2016717 £18 mullion)

The financial statements of the Company iregistered number 07105905) were approved by the Beard on 20 June 2018 and

signed on its behalf by

Alex Baldock, Humphrey Singer,

Group Chief Executive
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Company statement of changes in equity

At 1 May 2016

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income and axpense for the year

Issue of own shares
Equity dividends

At 29 April 2017

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive iIncome and expense for the year

Issue of own shares
Equity dividends

At 28 April 2018

Share

Cualled-up premium Profit and
share captal reserve loss account  Total equity
Lreullion Lmilion ,,gm'"in,“,, ) ?ﬂljlor_l
1 2.256 786 3,043
- - 18 7] 8_\7
— - 18 18
- 4 - 4
- - i 9
1 2.260 689 2,950
- - 28 28
- - 1
- - 29 29
- 3 {2) 1
- = (30 (130
1 2,263 586 2,850
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Notes to the Company financial statements

C1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The Company Is incorporated in the United Kingdom  The tinancial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis {see note 1 to the Group financial statements)

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 The Company
meets the definition of a quaifying entity under FRS 100 (Financral Reporting Standard 100} issued by the Financal
Reporting Council. Accordingly, the financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101
{(Financial Reporting Standard 101} *Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council,
tncorporating the Amendments to FRS 101 ssued by the Financial Beporting Council i July 2015

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has takern advaniage of the disclosure exemptions avallable under that standard in
relation to share-based payments financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in
respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow staterment and cenan related party transactions

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the conschdated financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared on the historcal cost basis except for the re-measurement of certain financial
instruments to far value The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 1 to the Group
financial statements except as noted helow

Investments in subsidianies are stated at cost less where approprnate provsions for impairment

C2 Profit and loss account

In accordance with the exemption perrmitted by section 108 of the Comp.anies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of the
Company 1s not presented separately The profit tecogrised for the year ended 28 April 2018 was £28 million (2016/17:
£18 million). Information regarding the audit fees for the Group 1s provided in nete 3 to the Group financial statements

C3 Equity dividends

Details of amounts recogmsed as distributions to shareholders in the period and those proposed are detailed n note 23 of
the Group financial statements.

C4 Fixed asset investments

28 April 29 Apnl

2018 2017
. ) Emulhor] £mtion
Opening batance 2678 2678
impairrments m )
a;)snng bre;llar{ce_h _-5:677 o 2,(58_
Cost 2,776 2,776
Accumulated impairments (99) - (98}
Net carrying ameunt 2677 2,678

Fixed asset investments comprise nvestments 7 subsidiary undertakings and other minonty investments, Detaus of the
Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings are provided in note (.11

C5 Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

28 April 2% April

2018 2017

£miihon i‘rn[IILm

Amounts cwed by Group undertakings 2,199 2,183
Deferred tax asset 1 1
Prepayments 6 7
Qther debtors . 2 ) 3

2,208 2104

Amourits owed by Group undertakings are repayable within 12 months ot the balance sheet date

C6 Creditors; Amounts falling due within one year

28 Aprd 29 Apnl
2018 2017
Emulhon Crullion
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Amounts owed to Group undentakings 1,598 1,676

Other creditors — 1
Overdrafts 267 72
Short term borrowing 20 -
Ac_g[uﬂs1 and deferred income . 1 T

C7 Perivatives

28 Apri) 29 Apr)

2018 2017

_____ £rmillion Tmiliion

Cross cdl:rieir;cy interest rate swaps T -

Foreign exchange contracts 33 30
Derwvative assets 34 30

Cross currency iNterest rate swaps - (1}

Foreign _exchange contracts (32) 31
Dervative labilities B2 (32

Interest rate swaps convert floating rate debt 13 month Libar plus a margin} to a fixed rate

This value 1s deterrmined using forward exchange and interest rates derved from market sourced data at the balance sheet
date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value {level 2 classification). See note 25 for further details.

C8 Provisions

28 April 29 Aprl

2018 2017

- [ i ,,,Emi"',o,L,, Cmillion

Opening balance 12 1

Additions - 11

Released 3} -
Utl|l$eq (9} -

Closing balance - 12

The provisions recorded primarily relate 1o the share plun taxable benefit compensation as discussed in note 4 to the
Group financial statements

C9 Loans payable

Details of loans payable are provided in note 18 to the Group financial statements

C10 Calied-up share capital and share premium

Details of movements i called up share-capital and share prermium are disclosed in note 22 to the Group financial
statements
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€11 Subsidiary undertakings

a) Principal subsidiaries as at 28 Apnl 2018

The Company has investments In the tallowing principal subsicdiary undertakings  All hoidings are in equity share capital

and give the Group an effective holding of 100% on consolidation.

Carphlone Warehouse Eurape

Limited

Dixons Carphone Holdings

Limited

Dixons Retail Group Limited

Dixons South East Eurepe

AEVE

DE;G lnternatlonél Holidings

Limted

DSG Retail Irelang Limsted

DSG Retal Limited

Elgiganten Aktiebotag

ElGiganten A/S

g Norde AS.

Elkap Norge AS

Gigantti Oy

Hone)}b‘ééb}g:tai Solutions

Lmited!

New Technclogy Insurance

?hé Carpr-{o_ne Wéir_éh-ouse

Limited

The Carphon_e Warehouse

Limsted

Haw Cered ofte eoaodres

1 Partal Way, London, W3 6RS

1 Portal Way, London, W3 BRS

1 Portal Way, London W3 6RS

141 ki Athens - Lamia, National
Road & 2 spihas Street 14452
Metamorfost Attiki, Athens

I Portal Way. London, W3 6R5

40 Upper Mount Street
Dublin 2 D02 PREY

1 Porta) Way, London W3 GRS

Box 1264 164, 29 Kista,
Stockholm

Arne Jacobsens Alle 16 2 sal
Kobenhavn S, 2300 Copenhagen
i Nrydalsvenen 18A. NO-0484 Oslo
7 Soiheu‘n;é]en 10, NO 1473
Lorenskeg

Toolonlahdenkatu 2. FI-00100,
Helsink:

1 Pgrtal Way, London W3 6RS

3rd Floor. tlerming Court,
Fleming s Place,
Dubiin 4, D04 N4X9

1 Portal Way London W3 6RS

10 Upper Mount Street,
Dubin 2. DOZ2 PRE9

* Interest held directly by Dixons Carpltone 3
" This 1s the only interest of Dixons Carphone |« anecty onawdrecthy n this Cicess 1 shares

o drg cT e LS poranan

Vi gistratiun

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingagom
Greece

Unitedt Kingdom

Ireland

United Kingdom

Swerten

Denmark
Norway

Norway
Finland

United Kingdom
Ireland

United Kingdom

Ireland

Liare Classies held
A & B Ordinary

Orrdlnary
Defetfed
A O-r-'-c_h-nary
B Ordinary

Qrdinary
Deferred

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Irredeemable
Cumulative
Preference and
Qrdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordma};/

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Orcinary

1 Honeybee Digital Soluticns Lituted cranged its name to CPW Technology Servic=s Limited on 30 May 2018
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% held  Business activity
o Holdlngﬁ
company
10-
100" Holding
84 6 company

100"

100 Holding .
100* company

100

100 Retau
100 Holding
company
100 Retal
100 Retall
100 Retall
100 Retall
100 Retai
100 Retail
100 Retall
100 T

100 Insurance

100 Retail

100 Retail



C11 Subsidiary undertakings continued

b) Other subsidiary undertakings

The following are the other subsidiary undertakings of the Group. all of which are wholly owned unless otherwise indicated.
All these companies are aither holding companies or provide general support to the principal subsidianes iisted on the

previous page.

Alfa s.r.h.

Carphoﬁél’\farehouse Ireland Mobile

tﬂnlﬁteﬂ {m__ll_qur»rdratlon)

CCC Nordic A/S’

Charterhouséif\.;'la‘nagemem Limited
(in drssolution _

Codic GmbH {in hguidation)
Car;e_zae_d World Services
Bistributions Limited
Connected World Services LLC

Eoin‘r{;:tédﬁvi\farld Services
Netherlands BV _

Connected World Services SAS

Qf!\;’__/i_é_ton FwéiLl_rri\tiedm’

CPW Acton One Limuted

;C__-Figraﬁds 2_I_;|h1|ted
CPW Consultancy Limited (in
dissolution}

CPW CP Limited_
CPW GC Holdings BV

GPW Tulketh Mill Lonied
DISL 2 Limited

DISL Limited

Dixons Carphone CoFE s.ro.

Dixons Deutschiand GmbH

Pewstered Office L ey

Via monte Napoleone n 28,
20121 Mijano

AU Upper Mount Street.

Dublin 2. D02 PRBS

Arme Jacobsens Alle 15, 8 .
2300 Kobenhavn 5

6th Floor, Victory House
Prospect Hill, Douglas. IM1 1EQ
Eschenhaimer Anlage 1. 60316
Frankfurt

1 Portal Way London W3 683

2711 Centervilie Road. Suite 400
Wilrmington DE 19808

Watermanweg 96, 3067 GG
Rotterdam

26 rue de Cambaceres, 75008
Paris

1 Portal Way London W3 8RS
61h Floor, Victory House,
Prospect Hill Douglas, IM1 1EQ
1 Partal Way, London, W3 6RS

1 Portal Way. London, W3 8RS

1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS

terikerbergweg 238 1101 CM
Amsterdam

1 bortal Way, London, W2 6RS
Gth Floot, Victory House.
Prospect Hifl Douglas, IM1 1EQ

6th Floor. Victory House,
Prospect 11l Douglas. IM1 1E£C

Trita, 491, 5, 602 00 Brno

Oftostralie 21, 80333 Munich

" Interest held directiy by Doy Carphone pic

2 COC Norche AS waus called NSS | nancals Avs ontl | May 801

Lounley O v orporation
Cr registrancn

Italy
Ireland
Denrmark

Isle of Man

Germany

Umtéd Kingdom
United States
Netherlands

France

_ United K[p;g_c_iém
Isle of Man
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Netherlands
United K;ngdom

Isie of Man
Isle of Man

Czsech Repubiic

Germany

5§nare CIaE-i(ESJ heid o f/gﬂe&
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
. _Ordnary 100
Qrdinary 100”
_Ordinary 100"
Ordinary 100"
Ordmary 100
Ordinary 100°
Orchnary 100"
Ordinary 100
AB.C&D
Preference and 1006
Ordinary B L
Business
1
Shares i??_
Crdinary 100
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C11 Subsidiary undertalangs continued

b) Other subsidiary undertakings contiued

Name

Dixons Sourcing Lirruted

Dixons Stores Gr(‘mp-Retad MNorway
AS

Dixons :!-!'3\-1-9_[-_5__I’|-_§I;nr \equndat_lom
DSG Boxmoor Limited® (in
dissolution)

DSG Card Handling Services Limited

DsG E&E’a[@ Sierrv@;eisile;ted
DSG European investments Limited

DSG Hong Kong Sourcing Lamited

DSG International Belgium BVYBA

Limited
BSaG International Treasury
Management Limited” (in dissolution)

DSG Ireland Limited

DSG KHI Limited

DSG Overseas Investments Limited
58(3 Retait _Ir_e:l_and Pension Trust
bimted
El-Giganten Logistik AB
Elkep Kieiverenga AS
Epog Logistic OC k s
ID Mobile Limited

InfoCare CS AB

InfoCare Workshop AS

InfoCare Workshop Oy

Poedpa 2 61 O w3 -

31:F, AXA Tower Landmark East
100 How Ming Street

Kwun Tong Kowloon

Nydalsvelen 184, NO-0484 Osic
Foro Buonaparte 70, 20121, Milan

1 Portal Way, London. W3 6R5S

1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS

1 Portal Way, Lonaén. W3 6RS
1 _Ff‘p[tg( Way. Londen, W3 6RS

7 ﬁ?ﬂ/F. AXA Tower Landmark East,

100 How Ming Street
Kweurt Tong Kowloon

Havenlaan 86C. Box 204, B-1000
Brussels

i Portal Way, London, W3 8RS

1 Portal Way London. W3 8RS

London W3 6RS
London, W3 8RS

1 Porlal Way
1 Portal Way
1 Portai Way London W3 6RS
i0 Upper Mount Street

Dublin 2, DO2 PRBSY

Mobelvagen 51, 556 52 Jonkoping
MNydalsveien 18A, NO-0484 Oslo
Evropska 868, 664 42 Modfice

1 Portal Way. London, W3 6RS
Arabygatan 9, 35246 Vaxjo
___Kronobergs fan
Inaustrlvegen. 53, 2212,
Kengsvinge:

Stlvastintie 1. 01510, Vantaa

3 D8G Boxmoor Limited was dissolved on 1R, Zl0e
4 DSG International Treasury Managerm=t Liated weas dissot =0 o0 1 May 2018

Lt G rpcdat an
L registiation Shre c\ﬂsSliiSJ_[\eld o 7%_:197\74:1”
Hong Kong Ordinary 100
Norway Ordinary 100
ltaly Ord-;r;gary 1@9
United Kingdom Ordinary 100
' Cumulatve ¢
United Kingdom & D Preference 100
_and Ordinary
United Kingdom Crdinary 100
United Kingdom Ordinary 100
Hong Kong Ordinary 100
Belgium Ordinary 100
United Kingdom Ordinary 100
United Kingdom Ordinary 100
United Kingcom Ordwary 100
United Kingdom Ordmary 100
Preference,
United Kingdom B Preference 100
and Ordinary L
Ireland Ordinary 100
Sweden Ordlrlg_rg ) 7@_
Norway Ordinary 100
Czech Republic Ordinary 100
United Kingdom_ Ordinary 100
Sweden Crdinary 100
Norway Ordinary 100
Finland - Ordl‘nér_l- N 100 )



C11 Subsidiary undertakings contimued

b) Other subsidiary undertakings continued

Name

Kereru Limited ) o

Kungsgatan Concept Store AB
Mastercare Senvice and Distribution
Llrrwlted

Mohua Limited

MTIS Limited

(‘)-é‘;AA—:éBJaaéde Gestora De
Partcipagdes Socials, Lda

Osfone Comercio de Aparelhos de
Telecomunicagbes Lda

Ostone Negocios — Comercio de
Aparelhos de Telecormunicages, t da

PC City (France) SNC

PC City Norge AS
Pelham Lirmited in dissoiution)

Petrus Insurance Company Limited

Simplify Digital Limited

TalkM Limited

Team Knowhow Limited

The Carphone Warehouse (Digital;
Limited

The Garphone Warehouse Resources
Limited {n dissolution)
The Carphene Warehouse UK
Limited

The Phone Housé Holdings (UK}
Limited

* Interest held directly by Dixons Carphon= plc

c) Other significant sharehoidings

Name

Elljop Flordans AS

Lountr, O ruGraoration

elagistered ofnl e a esn o 1edistration Share classies) he\dﬂ o % held
1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom _ Ordinary 100
Box 1264, 164, 29 Kista, Stockholm Sweden Ordinary 100
1 Portal Way, London. W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS  United klngdom f(_)_rdlrr];adi 716i
3rd Floar, Fleming Coutt
Fleming’s Place. Ireland Ordinary 100
Dubhin 4, D04 N4X9 o
R Latinc Coelhon 13
1050132 Lisbon PPItLE,aI 7 Ordnary B 100
R Latinc Coelho 013
P
1050-132 Lisbon ortugal Ordinary 100
R Latino Coelho n'13.
1050-132 Lisbon Portugal Ordinary 100
52 rue de la Victowre
75009 Pars France Partz_"lers_mp EO_
Nydalsveien 18A NO-0484 Uslo Norway Ordinary 100
Bth t loor, Victery House
Prospect Hill. Douglas. IM1 1EQ isle of Man _Oltdlﬁar{ ) 1_(30_
2 Insh Town Gibraltar ~ Ordinary 100
1 Portal Way. Londen, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
t Portal Way. London. W3 GRS Umited Kingdom Ordinary 100
1 Portal Way. London, W3 RS United Kingdom Ordhnary 100
1 Portat Way. London, W3 6RS  United Kingdom Ordinary 100"
6th Floor, Victory House, 7 o
! . Isle of 100"
Prospect Hill. Douglas. IM1 1EQ sie of Man N Ordm;_':lrz_ O?_
1 Portal Way London, W3 6RS United Kingdorm Ordinary 100
1 Portal Way, LLondon, W3 6R5 United Kingdom Grdinary 100
The following are the other sigruhicant shareholdings of the Company  all of which are held indirectly.
Coe b euEciato Business
S s o e il Soreg atration 5d B L 3ab held "/nﬂe[d ,,,\jg‘v“y,,
Fuglesksgergata 10. 69056 Floro Naorway Ordinary 30 Retail
5 3 a7
Amerika Plads 37 Denmark Ordinary 40 Retail

F Group A/S (iIn hgquidation;

DK-2100 Kobenhavn O
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company financial statements

C11 Subsidiary undertakings contnued

d) Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The followng subsidiaries, ah of which are mcorporated in England ana Wales are axempt from the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual acc.ounts by virtue of section 479A of that Act.

Name o Copipe, *Pqnshahor_\_ﬂumher .
Carphone Warehouse Europe Limited 06534088
CPW Acton Five Limiteg 05738735
CPW Brands 2 Limited 07135355
CPW CP Limited 06585457
CPW Tulketh Mill Limited 06585719
DSG Card Handling Services Limitea 04185110
DSG Ewropean Investments Limited 03891149
DSG Internationat Holdings Limited 03887870
DSG International Retad Propertes Limited 00476440
DSG Ireland Limited 00240621
DSG KHI Limited 09012752
DSG Overseas Investments Limited 02734677
The Carphone Warehouse (Dignal) Linmited 03966947
The Carphone Warehouse UK Lirmted 03827277
The Phone House Holdings (UK) Limited 03663563
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Five year record (unaudited)

Income statement - Headline and Pro forma

20t1/18 RVELS 201518 201415 2013744

Crmulhon Seillion Crouilion Proulhion Limilion
Headline! ’ S
Revenue 10,525 10,242 9,445 7.899_____ _1_,4_49
Profit after tax — wholly owned operations 303 386 352 290 91
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (after tax) — - — — 3
Net profit after tax 303 386 352 200 94
Earnings per share
- Basic 26.2p 33 5p 30 6p 30.2p 17 Op
- Diluted 26.1p 33 4p 29 6p 29.2p 16 8p
Pro forma headline results®
Revenue 10,525 10.242 9,445 9,394 9,258
BT 400 516 486 420 344
Interest (18) (16) 22) (@33 (43
Profit before taxation 382 500 464 387 309

(1) Headhne results - conunuing ope ations reflect the statutory results of the Group excluding items classified as non-headline.

(2) Proforma results are presented as thougn the Do ans Retan Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisiion had oceurred at the beginming of the
five-year penod This financial inforiaation has been prepared by aggregating the hve year records presented by Carphone Warehouse in its
2013/14 annual report and accounts on cage 97 and by Dixons Retail snats 21013-13 annuai report and accounts on page 127, and adjusting

for discontinued operations

(3) Headline results have been restate 1 to retlect the iassiicaton of the Spanisn operations and the honeybee operations as discontinued, For

further details see note 31 fo the financal statements
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Investor infarmation

Shareholder and corporate information

Dixons Carphone plc 1s histed on the mam market ot the
Leondan Stock Exchange (stock symbol” DC) and s a
constituent of the FTSE 250.

Registrars

Equinits

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
BN99 6DA
United Kingdom

0371 384 2089 (UK only]
+44 (0121 415 7047 (from outside the UK)

Lines are open from 8.30am to 5 30pm Monday 1o Friday
(UK time}, excluding public holidays in England and Wales

You can manage your shareholdings s1a an electromc
communications service called Shareview at

www . shareview.co uk To register, you will need |, our
sharehoider reference number. which can be foard on your
share certificate, dividend confirmation or torm of proxy
Registration and use of the sarvice 1S free

Financial calendar

Ex-dividend date (final dvidend 201718y 23 Aug 2018
Record date (final dividend 2017/18) 24 Aug 2018
Annual General Meeting 6 Sep 2018
Intended dividend payment date 21 Sep 2018
(final dividend 2017/18}

American Depositary Receipts (‘ADRs’)

Dixons Carphone plc has estabhshed a sponsored Level

1 ADR program and has appointed Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas {'Deutsche Bank’) as the depositary
bank. The ADRs trade on the US over-the-countgr 1 OTC)
market under the symbol DXCPY (they are not Iisted on a
US stock exchange) Each ADR represents two ordinary
shares in Dixons Carphone pic

Contact details for ADR investors and brokers

Deutsche Bark ADR broker services (deshs
New York. +1 212 2509100
{ondon: +44 (0)207 547 6500 (from outsih: the UK

Contact details for registered ADR holders

For Deutsche Bank Sharehoider Services
Amernican Stock Transfer & Trust Compary, (AST
Operations Center

6201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn, NY 11219

United States

Emay: DB@amstock.com
Toll free number: (866) 249 2593 {trom within the US5)
Direct dial, +1 718 921 8124 (from outsige the US:

1_é2 “D_ixons Car-phone plc Annugt Beport snd Azcreants 2017 01E

Registered office / Head office

1 Portal Way

London

W3 8RS

United Kingdom

+44 {0) 203 110 3251
www cixonscarphone com

Company registration number

071058905

Company Secretary
Enquiries should be directed to:

Nigel Paterson
General Counsel and Company Secretary
cosec@dixonscarphone com

Investor relations
Enqgunies should be directed to-

Assad Malic. IR, PR & Corporate Affairs Director or
Mark Reynolds. Head of Investor Relations
r@dixonscarphons com

Advisors

Auditos

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A 3827

www delortte com

Joint Stockbrokers
Deutsche Bank AG

1 Great Winchester Street
London

EC2N 20B

www db com

Ciuigroup Giobal Markets Limited
33 Canada Sguare

Canary Wharf

Londaon

F14 5LB

WwWW Citigroup com



Glossary and definitions

Aiternative performance measures (‘APMs’)

In the reporting of financial iInformation, the Group uses certain measures that are not required under IFRS. We consider
that these additional measures (commonly referred to as "alternative performance measures’) provide additional information
on the performance of the business and trends 1o shareholders These measures are consistent with those used internally,
and are considered critical to understanding the financial performance and financial heatth of the Group. APMs are also
used to enhance the comparabihity of information between reporting penods, by adjusting for non-recurring or items
censidered to be distortive on trading performance which may affect IFRS measures, to ad the user in understanding the
Group's perfarmance These alterniative performance measures may 1ot be directly comparable with other simmlarly titted
measures or ‘adjusted’ revenue or profit measures used by other companies, and are not intended to be a substitute for, or
supenor to, IFRS measures

Headline and non-headine medsures

The Group’s income statement and segmental analysis idenlify separately headiine performance and non-headline items.
Headline performance measures reflect adjustments to total performance measures The directors consider ‘headline’
performance measures to be an informative addittonal imeasure of the: ongoing trading perfermance of the Group. Headline
results are stated before non-headline tems

Non-headhne items consist of the results of discontinued operations or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation of
acquisition intangibies. acquisition related costs any exceptional iteins considered sufficiently maternial that they distort
underlying performance (such as re-organisation costs, impainment charges, property rationalisation costs and other non-
recurnng charges), income fron previously disposed operations and net pension interest costs.

ltems excluded from headline results can evolve from one inancial year to the next dependwng on the nature of exceptional
tems or one-off type activities Where appropriate for example where a business 1s classified as exited / 10 be exited,
comparative information s restated accordingly

Local currency

Some comparative performance measures are translated at constant exchange rates, called ‘local currency’ measures
This restates the pnor period results at a common exchange rate 1o the current year in order 10 provide appropnate year-
on-year mavement measures without the impact of foreign exchange movements

in response to the Guidetines on Alternative Performance Measures issues by the European Secunties and Markets
Authonity ('ESMA), we have provided additional infermation on the APMs used by the Group below.

Alternative performrance Closon LRRTERY Be oo e LRy

measure LTI ety

Revenue measures

Headline / non-headline  Revenug
revenue

See note 2 and 4
and note 31 for
details of restated
amounts for
201617

No rhrect equivalen Not apphcable
change

Lo fatonad Laroose

Headline revenues represent the cngong revenues
of the Group, and are adjusted to remove nan-
headhne revernue items In the current and restated
comparative periods. this relates to the iD mobile
operations in Republic of kreland, which 1s classified
as a ‘business to be exited’ and therefore presented
I non-headiine results

Like-for-like revenue I1s calculated based on
headline store and internet revenue using constant
exchange rates, New stores are included where
they have been open for a full financial year both
at the begmning and end of the financial penod.
Revenue from franchise stores are excluded and
closed stores are excluded for any period of
closure dunng erther penod. Customer support
agreement. Nsurance and wholesale revenues
along with revenue from Connected World Services
and other non-ratail businesses are excluded from
like-for-like calculations We consider that LFL
revenue represents a useful measure of the trading
performance of our underiying and ongoing store
and online portfolo
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Glossary and definitions

Alternative performance Ciseat €400 et vas P Foooang i b e IFRE
measure INsdse I e

Local currency % changs Revenue compared Not applable
ta prior penod
consolidated at a
constant exchange
rate

Profit measures

Headhne / non—headlmé Profit / {loss) befo;e See note 2 and 4

profit / (loss) befare tax,  interest and tax and note 31 tor

EBIT and profit / (ioss) profit / (loss) after detalls ot restated

after tax interest and tax amounts for
201617

E[EIT ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ Profit / lloss) befo_re No reconciling items

interest and tax

Other earnings measures

Headline / non-headline  Net finance costs See note 3
net finance costs

Headline / non-headhine  Income tax expense See note 4
Ingcome tax expense / 7 credrt)
{credit)

Headiine / Total effective  No direct aquivalent
tax rate

Earnings per share measures

Headline basic EPS - Statutory FPS figuressee note 8
continuing operations,

headine diluted EPS ~

continuing operations,

headline basic EPS - total,

headhne diluted EPS

total

?64 Bixons Carphone plc Annual Repcrt and Acecunts 2017 18

[yt and purg oee
Reflects total revenues on a constant currency and
penod basis Provides a measure of performance
excluding the impact of foreign exchange rate

movements

As discussed above, the Group uses headline profit
measures in order to provide a useful measure of
the ongoing performance of the Group. These are
adjusted from total measures to remove ‘non-
headiing’ itermns. the nature of which are disclosed
above o ]
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 1s directly
comparable to profit / (loss) before tax. The
terminology used 13 consistent with that used
histoncally and n external communications

Headline net finance costs are adjusted from total
finance costs to remove non-headtine finance
cost tems. Non-headhine finance costs includes
the finance charge of businesses to be exited,

net pension interest costs, finance iNncome from
previously disposed operations not classified

as discontinued and other exceptional items
considered so one-off and matenal that they distort
underlying finance costs of the Group. Under 1AS
19 "Employee Benefits', the net interest charge

ot defined benefit pension schemes 1s calculated
based en corporate bond yield rates at a specific
date. which, as can vary over time, creates volatility
n the ncome statement and 1s unrepresentative of
the actual investment gains or losses made on the
habulities Therefore this tem has been removed
from our headline earnings measure In order to
remove this non-cash volatiity o
Headime income tax expense / (credit) represents
the income tax on headline earnings Non-headfine
income tax expense / (credit) represents the tax
ontems classified as ‘non-headline’, either in the
current year, or the current year effect of pnor year
tax adjustments on items previously classified as
nuri-headline We consider the headline ncome
tax immeasures represent a useful measure of the
ongoing tax charge / credit of the Group
The effective tax rate measures provide a useful
indication of the tax rate of the Group Headine
eftective tax 15 the rate of tax recognised on
headline earnings, and total effective tax 15 the rate
of tax recognised on total earmngs.

EPS measures are presented to reflect the impact
vt non-headhne lems in order to show a headline

t S figure, which reflects the headline earnings per
share of the Group We consider the headline EPS
provides a useful measure of the ongoing earnings
of the underlying Graup



Alternative performance
measure

Freé _('_ng ﬂow7

Net debt

Other measij}éé
Return on Capital
Employed (ROCE)

Pro forma results

Cash flow measures

Clasr. vou e Fluiar B it o IFRS
TR RRE LSRR Y

Casn generated frcm See note 26
cpelations

Cash and cash See note 26
equivalents less

loans and other

porrowings and

finance lease

obligations

No direct egquivalent Not applicable

[ nhiow) and pue o Se

Free cash flow compnses cash generated from
+{utiised by} continuing operations ncluding
restructunng costs. but before cash generated from
/ (utihsed by) businesses exited / to be exited, less
net finance expense, less income tax pad, less net
capital expenditure and before any special pension
contributions and dividends i
Compnses cash and cash eguivalents and short
term deposits, less borrowings and finance lease
creditors We consider that this provides a useful
measure of the indebtedness of the Group.

Calculated on a pre-tax and lease adjusted basss.
I'he return 1$ based on headline EBIT, adjusted to
add back the interest component associated with
capitalsing operating lease costs., Capital employed
Is based on net assets including capitalised leases,
but excluding goodwili. ¢ash, tax and the defined
benefit pension obligatons. The calculation s
performed on a moving annual total in order to best
match the return on assets in a year with the assets
in use duning the year to generate the return We
consider this a useful measure to understand how
the Group has used the capital employed during the
period

In previous perniods (up to the annual report and accounts 2015/186), the Group presented ‘pro forma’ comparative financial
infarmation in order to reflect results of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail throughout the comparative penods
as If the Merger on 6 August 2013 had occurred at the start of the 201314 financial year In the current year, pro forma
information 1s not presented as does not affect the comparative periads for the current year, ather than in the five year
summary. For information on the pro forma financial information and reconcihations please refer to the annual repert and

accounts 2015/16
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Glossary and definitions

Other definitions

The following defimitions apply throughout this Atnual Report and Accounts unless the context otherwise requires:

Acquisition intangibles

ADRs
ARPU

B2B o

BestEﬁy o

Best Buy Eu_r;r:'o;

Board

Businesses to he exited

Carpha\;,ﬁcaaﬁc;n; Warehouse
or Carphone Group

cGu

Compan} or the Company

CPW Europe

CPW Eu;dpe Acﬁuiéitibh

_D—ixons or Dixons hét_a_il )
Dixons -C_anFar-\é_c-:r Group

Dixons Retail Mert;;er or Merger

EBT

ESOT

Acquired intangible assets such as customer bases, brands and other mtanglbie

assets acquired through a business combination capitalised separately from goodwill.
Where businesses have grown organically rather than threugh acquisition, there 1s no
amortisation of acquired intangibles and therefore the non-cash amortisation charge
15 removed from our headhne earnings measures in order to increase comparability

between seqgments

American Depositary Receipts

Average monthly tevenue per uset

Busmess to business

Best Buy Go . Inc (ncorporated i the United States) and its subsidianes and
interasts i oint ventures and associates

Best Buy Europe Distnbutions Limited and its subsidianes and_ |ntere-st"s i jont
venlures and associates (incorporated in England & Wales)

The Board of Directors of the Company

Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group Hés exitéd r;‘arricio?ﬁ_m_lited
to or commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do not meet the definition
of chscontnued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are matenal to the results or

operations of the Group Comparative results in the statermment of comprehensive

Income and the notes are restated accordingly for the impact of businesses exited or

o be exited

The Company or Group prior 10 the Mergér on6 Augaé{ 5014

Cash Generating Uit

Dixons Carphone plc tncorporated in anlanci_and Wates under the A(_:t with

registered number U7 105905), whose registered office 1s at 1 Portal Way, London W3

6RS
Customer Relationship Management
The contimuing business of the Carphone Group

Besi Buy Europe's core continuing operations

The Company's acguisition of Best Buy's interest m CPW Europe, which completed

on 26 June 2013
The Connecied Wurld Services divinion of the Company
Dixans Retail pic and s subsidiary companies

The Company, its subsicharies, interests in joint ventures and other investments

The all-share merger of Dixons Retail plc and Carphone Warehouse E which
occurred on 6 August 2014

imployee benefit trust
Frauployee share ownerstup trust

He: Majesty s Revenue and Customs

houneybee 15 our proprietary IT software, developed in-bouse intially to serve aur

mobile phone consumers It s a unigue omni-channel, mulb-industry software that

spnphfies the delivery and management of complex digital customer journeys.

internaticonal Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
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Marl(:tﬁabsition

MNG
MVNO

New CPW

Old 6;ﬁhoné Warehouse

RCGF

Sharesave or SAYE

SIMO

Special pension contributions
Sprint v

SWAS
?alkfém_;}_‘i‘;ikTalk Group
TSR

Wain Mobii; France

Ranking against competitars in the electncal and mobile retall market, measured
by market share Market share 15 measured for each of the Group's markets by
romparig data for revenue or volume of units sold relative to similar metrics for
competiors in the same market

Maobile network aperator

Mobile virtuat network operato

Dixons Carphone Holdings Limited. previously calied New CPW Limited (lric-(-)rporatea
in England and Wales)

Net Promoter Score, a rating used by the Group tc measure custorners’ likellhood to
recommend s operations

TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited {previously called The Cé}pToﬁe WérieFoiu;eEroup
PLC) incorporated in England and Wales)

Revolving credit facdity

Save as you earn share schame

Sales of SIM-only contracts, without attawchéd handsét

Represent contributions made under the schedule of contributions agreed with the
scheme trustees following the 2018 trienmal review

vanture held with Sprint LLC in the USA

Stores vithin a-store

IaikTalk Telecom Group PLC and its subsidiaries and other mvestn&enis

Total shareholder return

United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applcable Iawi

Omer Telecom Limited (incorpos ated i England and Wales) aﬁd ]{gsut;sﬁgrlesﬂ
operating an MYNQO n France as a jomnt venture between the Company, Bluebottle UK
Limited and Financom S A.S

Weightad avelage exercise price
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Dixons
Carphone

[Dixons Garphone plc

1 Portal Way

Landon

Y3 BRS

Uaited Kingdom

Telephone +44 (0) 203 110 3251
Eiranl r@dixonscarphone com
Ly dixanscarphone com



